TRANSITIONS IN HEALTH, EMPLOYMENT, SOCIAL ENGAGEMENT AND INTERGENERATIONAL TRANSFERS IN SINGAPORE STUDY) – I

> Descriptive Statistics and Analysis of Key Aspects of Successful Ageing

> > Angelique Chan Rahul Malhotra Normala Bte Manap Yi Yuan Ting Abhijit Visaria Grand Hak-Land Cheng Veronica Shi Min Goh Peter Kay Chai Tay June May Ling Lee Ad Maulod



Funding

Transitions in Health, Employment, Social Engagement and Inter-generational Transfers in Singapore Study (THE SIGNS Study) Study – I was funded by Singapore's Ministry of Health (MOH) under agreement number MOH-NUS RL2015-053. We also acknowledge funding for dynamometers and electronic blood pressure monitors used in THE SIGNS Study – I through a grant obtained by the Nihon University Population Research Institute from the "Academic Frontier" Project for Private Universities: matching fund subsidy from Japan's Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT), 2006-2010.

Author Contributions

A Chan and R Malhotra, the Principal Investigator (PI) and Co-PI, of THE SIGNS Study respectively, supervised the data collection, and contributed to development of the study questionnaires, development of data analysis plans, interpretation of analysis findings, and writing or editing of all chapters of the report. NB Manap contributed to interpretation of the analysis findings, especially in terms of their relevance for health and social care policies, and to writing or editing all chapters of the report. YY Ting conducted and interpreted the data analysis for the chapters providing descriptive statistics, and contributed to development of data analysis plans and interpretation of analysis findings for the chapters providing descriptive statistics, and in writing or editing these chapters. A Visaria and GH-L Cheng, VSM Goh, PKC Tay, JML Lee and A Maulod conducted and interpreted the data analysis for the data analysis for the analysis for the analysis for the analytical chapters they authored, and wrote the first draft of these chapters. JML Lee also contributed in the supervision of data collection.

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge DB Matchar and T Østbye, Co-Investigators of THE SIGNS Study. We also acknowledge the contribution of S Ang and Shweta Ajay in development of the study questionnaires and supervision of data collection, and of Y Saito in development of the study questionnaires.

Suggested Citation

Chan A, Malhotra R, Manap NB, Ting YY, Visaria A, Cheng GH-L, Goh VSM, Tay PKC, Lee JML, Maulod A. *Transitions in Health, Employment, Social Engagement And Intergenerational Transfers In Singapore Study (THE SIGNS Study) – I: Descriptive Statistics and Analysis of Key Aspects of Successful Ageing.* 2018. Singapore: Centre for Ageing Research and Education, Duke-NUS Medical School.

Centre for Ageing Research and Education

Duke-NUS Medical School 8 College Road, Singapore 169857 care@duke-nus.edu.sg www.duke-nus.edu.sg/care

Transitions in Health, Employment, Social Engagement And Intergenerational Transfers In Singapore Study (THE SIGNS Study) – I: Descriptive Statistics and Analysis of Key Aspects of Successful Ageing. December 2018

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	11
Chapter 1: Introduction	20
Chapter 2: Methodology	24
Chapter 3: Demographic Characteristics: Descriptive Statistics	
Chapter 4: Physical and Functional Health: Descriptive Statistics	41
Chapter 5: Psychological Health: Descriptive Statistics	62
Chapter 6: Health Behaviours: Descriptive Statistics	66
Chapter 7: Correlates of Healthcare Utilisation	
Chapter 8: Social Engagement: Descriptive Statistics	94
Chapter 9: Correlates of Social Networks and Participation	
Chapter 10: Provision and Receipt of Transfers: Descriptive Statistics	112
Chapter 11: Predictors of Support Provision to Family Members	114
Chapter 12: Work and Retirement: Descriptive Statistics	
Chapter 13: Correlates of Work and Early Retirement	
Chapter 14: Life Long Learning: Descriptive Statistics	148
Chapter 15: Impact and Determinants of Lifelong Learning Among Older Singaporeans	150
Chapter 16: Volunteering and Monetary Donation: Descriptive Statistics	
Chapter 17: Predictors of Formal and Informal Volunteering	167

List of Tables

Chapter 1: Introduction	20
Chapter 2: Methodology	24
2.1: Interviewer visits to potential respondents and successful interviews	25
2.2. Calculation of the survey response rate	25
Chapter 3: Demographic Characteristics: Descriptive Statistics	31
3.1a Age by Gender and Ethnicity	31
3.1b Age by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	31
3.2a Gender by Age Group and Ethnicity	32
3.2b Gender by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	32
3.3a Ethnicity by Age Group and Gender	32
3.4a Educational Level by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	33
3.4b Educational Level by Living Arrangement	33
3.5a Detailed Living Arrangement by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	34
3.5b Detailed Living Arrangement by Educational Level	34
3.6a Housing Types by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	35
3.6b Housing Type by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	35
3.7a Marital Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	36
3.8a Number of Living Children by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	36
3.8b Number of Living Children by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	37
3.9a Total Monthly Household Income by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	37
3.9c Total Monthly Household Income by Living Arrangement	38
3.10a Income Adequacy by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	39
3.10b Income Adequacy by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	39
3.11a Religion by Age Group	40
Chapter 4: Physical and Functional Health: Descriptive Statistics	41
4.1a Self-Rated Health, Overall by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity	41
4.1b Self-Rated Health, Overall by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	41
4.2a Number of Chronic Diseases (Mean, None/At Least One and Categorized) by Age Group, Gen and Ethnicity	der 42
4.2b Number of Chronic Diseases (Mean, None/At Least One and Categorized) by Educational Lev and Living Arrangement	el 42
4.3a High Blood Pressure or Hypertension by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	43
4.3b High Blood Pressure or Hypertension by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	43
4.3c Prescription Medication for High Blood Pressure or Hypertension by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity	44
4.3d Prescription Medication for High Blood Pressure or Hypertension by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	44
4.4a High Blood Cholesterol or Lipids by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	45

4.4b High Blood Cholesterol or Lipids by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	45
4.4c Prescription Medication for High Cholesterol or Lipids by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity	
4.4d Prescription Medication for High Cholesterol or Lipids by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	46
4.5a Cataract by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	47
4.5b Cataract by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	47
4.6a Joint Pain, Arthritis, Rheumatism or Nerve Pain by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	48
4.6b Joint Pain, Arthritis, Rheumatism or Nerve Pain by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	48
4.7a High Blood Sugar or Diabetes by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	49
4.7b High Blood Sugar or Diabetes by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	49
4.7c Prescription Medication for High Blood Sugar or Diabetes by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity	50
4.7d Prescription Medication for High Blood Sugar or Diabetes by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	50
4.8.1a ADL Difficulty by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity - Part (i)	51
4.8.1b ADL Difficulty by Educational Level and Living Arrangement – Part (i)	52
4.8.3a IADL Difficulty Status (Due to Health/Physical Reason) by Age, Group, Gender and Ethnicity Part (i)	у – 54
4.8.3b IADL Limitation Status (Due to Health/Physical Reasons) by Educational Level and Living Arrangement – Part (i)	55
4.9b BMI, Mean and Categories, by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	57
4.9c BMI, Mean and Categories, by Education Level and Living Arrangement	59
4.10b Blood Pressure by Education Level and Living Arrangement	60
4.11a Hand Grip Strength by Age Group and Ethnicity	61
4.11b Hand Grip Strength by Education Level and Living Arrangement	61
Chapter 5: Psychological Health: Descriptive Statistics	62
5.1a Depressive Symptom Status (Mean CES-D Score and Clinically Relevant Symptoms) by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	62
5.1b Depressive Symptom Status (Mean CES-D Score and Clinically Relevant Symptoms) by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	62
5.2a Personal Mastery (Pearlin Mastery Score – Mean and Tertile) by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	63
5.2b Personal Mastery (Pearlin Mastery Score – Mean and Tertile) by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	63
5.3a Control, Autonomy, Self-realization and Pleasure Scale (CASP) Score by Age Group, Gender a Ethnicity	nd 64
5.3b Control, Autonomy, Self-realization and Pleasure Scale (CASP) Score by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	d 64
5.4a AMT score by Age Group and Ethnicity	65
5.4b AMT score by Education Level and Living Arrangement	65
Chapter 6: Health Behaviours: Descriptive Statistics	66
6.1a Smoking by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	66
6.1b Smoking by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	66
6.2a Physical Activity by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	67

6.2b Physical Activity by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	67
6.3a Blood Stool Test by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	68
6.3b Blood Stool Test by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	68
6.4a Pap Smear Test by Age Group and Ethnicity	69
6.4b Pap Smear Test by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	69
6.5a Mammogram by Age Group and Ethnicity	70
6.5b Mammogram by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	70
6.6a Last Blood Pressure Check by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity	71
6.6b Last Blood Pressure Check by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	71
6.7a Last Blood Test Check for Diabetes or Blood Sugar Level by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity	72
6.7b Last Blood Test Check for Diabetes or Blood Sugar Level by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	72
6.8a Last Blood Test Check for Blood Cholesterol or Lipid Level by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity	73
6.8b Last Blood Test Check for Blood Cholesterol or Lipid Level by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	73
6.9a Prescription Medication Use by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	74
6.9b Prescription Medication Use by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	74
6.10a Medication Adherence by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	75
6.10b Medication Adherence by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	75
6.11a Medisave Account by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	76
6.11b Medisave Account by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	76
6.12a Healthcare utilisation by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	77
6.13a English Health Literacy (Adequacy and Mean Health Literacy Test for Singapore [HLTS] Score by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	re) 79
6.13b English Health Literacy (Adequacy and Mean Health Literacy Test for Singapore [HLTS] Scorby Educational Level and Living Arrangement	re) 79
Chapter 7: Correlates of Healthcare Utilisation	80
7.1. Older person characteristics associated with primary care (general practitioner and polyclinic) outpatient visits in the last 3 months: Results of the adjusted two-part model ⁺	85
7.2. Older person characteristics associated with tertiary care (specialist outpatient clinic and private specialist) outpatient visits in last 3 months: Results of the adjusted two-part model ⁺	87
7.3. Older person characteristics associated with hospital emergency room visit in the last 6 months: Results of the adjusted logistic regression model $(N=1879)^+$	88
7.4. Older person characteristics associated with hospital admission in the last 12 months: Results of the adjusted logistic regression model ($N=1873$) ⁺	90
Chapter 8: Social Engagement: Descriptive Statistics	94
8.1a Living Alone by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	94
8.1b Living Alone by Educational Level	94
8.2a Loneliness by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	96
8.2b Loneliness by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	96
8.3b Lubben Social Network Scale Revised (LSNS-R) Score (Continuous and Tertiles) by Education Level and Living Arrangement	ial 97

8.4a Attendance of Social Activities by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	98
8.4b Attendance of Social Activities by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	
Chapter 9: Correlates of Social Networks and Participation	100
9.1. Sample statistics	101
9.2. Factors associated with the strength of social networks outside the household among older adu (aged $60+$), in Singapore	ılts 104
9.3. Factors associated with older adults (aged 60+) social participation at Residents' Committee (RC)/Community Club (CC) etc. and Senior Activity Centre (SAC) for exercise/activities. Occasionally and At Least Weekly versus Not at All.	106
9.4. Factors associated with older adults (aged 60+) social participation for walking for exercise purposes and attending religious activities. Occasionally and At Least Weekly versus Not at All.	107
Chapter 10: Provision and Receipt of Transfers: Descriptive Statistics	112
10.1a Provision of Transfers by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity	112
10.1b Provision of Transfers by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	112
10.2a Receipt of Transfers by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity	113
10.2b Receipt of Transfers by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	113
Chapter 11: Predictors of Support Provision to Family Members	114
11.1. Descriptive statistics of the analytical sample (N= 2008)	115
11.2. Correlation between support provision and support receipt (N= 2008)	117
11.3. Predicting provision of financial support (no provision of financial support as the reference g $N=2008$)	roup; 117
11.4. Predicting provision of housework support (no provision of housework support as the reference group; $N=2008$)	nce 118
11.5. Predicting provision of emotional support (no provision of emotional support as the reference group; N= 2008)	e 119
Chapter 12: Work and Retirement: Descriptive Statistics	122
12.1a Current Work Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	122
12.1b Current Work Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	122
12.2a Early Retirement among Retired/Not Working by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	124
12.2b Early Retirement among Retired/Not Working by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	nt124
Chapter 13: Correlates of Work and Early Retirement	126
13.1: Bivariate distribution of current full-/part-time work among ever-worked older Singaporeans age groups, 2016-2017	by 130
13.2: Results of logistic regression models predicting current full-/part-time work among ever-wor older Singaporeans by age groups, 2016-2017	ked 132
13.3: Bivariate distribution of early retirement among older Singaporeans currently retired/not wor by age groups, 2016-2017	king, 136
13.4: Results of logistic regression models predicting early retirement among older Singaporeans currently retired/not working by age, 2016-2017	138

List of Tables

13.5: Bivariate distribution of looking for work in last four weeks among older Singaporeans current retired/not working, 2016-2017 (n=2001)	ntly 141
13.6: Results of logistic regression models predicting looking for work in last four weeks among ol Singaporeans currently retired/not working, 2016-2017 (n=2001)	der 143
Chapter 14: Life Long Learning: Descriptive Statistics	148
14.1a Number of Courses/Trainings Taken by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	148
14.1b Number of Courses/Trainings Taken by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	148
14.2a Primary reason for Course/Training Engagement by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	149
14.2b Primary reason for Course/Training Engagement by Educational Level and Living Arrangem	ient 149

Chapter 15: Impact and Determinants of Lifelong Learning Among Older Singaporeans	150
15.1: Demographic, social and health factors associated with engagement in learning, and the prim reason or motivation to engage in learning	nary 153
15.2: The effect of engagement in learning on social networks	155
15.3: The effect of engagement in learning on depressive symptoms	155
15.4: The effect of engagement in learning on loneliness	155
15.5: The effect of engagement in learning on quality of life	155
15.6: The effect of engagement in learning on control	155
15.7: The effect of engagement in learning on autonomy	156
15.8: The effect of engagement in learning on self-realization	156
15.9: The effect of engagement in learning on pleasure	156
Chapter 16: Volunteering and Monetary Donation: Descriptive Statistics	163
16.1a Frequency of Formal Volunteering by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	163
16.1b Frequency of Formal Volunteering by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	163
16.2a Frequency of Informal Volunteering by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	165
16.2b Frequency of Informal Volunteering by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	165
Chapter 17: Predictors of Formal and Informal Volunteering	167
17.1. Descriptive statistics of the analytical sample (N= 1972)	169
17.2. Predicting formal volunteering (no volunteering as the reference group; N= 1972)	172
17.3. Predicting informal volunteering (no volunteering as the reference group; N= 1972)	173

List of Figures

3.9b Total Monthly Household Income by Educational Level	
4.8.2 Requirement of Assistance/Device for ADL by Gender	53
4.8.3 Requirement of Assistance/Device for IADL by Gender	56
4.9a Distribution of BMI categories	57
7.1. Distribution of primary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months (N=1880)	
7.2. Distribution of tertiary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months (N=1880)	
7.3. Distribution of hospital emergency room visit (yes/no) in the last 6 months (N=1879)	
7.4. Distribution of hospital admission (Yes /No) in the last 12 months (N=1873)	
8.1c Reasons for Living Alone	95
12.1c Reasons to Be Working	123
12.2c Reasons for Early Retirement among Retired/Not Working	125
13.1: Reasons for working among currently working older adults aged 60+ (n=1451)	133
13.2: Reasons for working among currently working older adults aged 60-69 (n=1075)	134
13.3: Reasons for early retirement among older adults aged 60+ who reported that they retire (n=945)	d early 139
13.4: Reasons for early retirement among older adults aged 60-69 who reported that they reti (n=449)	red early 140
16.1c Types of Formal Volunteering	164
16.2c Types of Informal Volunteering	166

List of Appendices

Table A3a Citizenship Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	177
Table A3b Citizenship Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	177
Table A3c Ethnicity by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	177
Table A3d Property Ownership by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	178
Table A3e Property Ownership by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	178
Table A3f Marital Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	178
Table A3g Number of Persons Living in the Household by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	179
Table A3h Number of Persons Living in the Household by Educational Level and Living Arrange	ement
	179
Table A31 Religion by Gender and Ethnicity	179
Table A3j Religion by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	179
Table A4a Vision and Hearing Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	180
Table A4b Vision and Hearing Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	180
Table A4c Heart Attack, Angina, Myocardial Infarction by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	181
Table A4d Heart Attack, Angina, Myocardial Infarction by Educational Level and Living Arrang	ement
Table A4g Other Forms of Heart Diseases by Age Group, Gander and Ethnisity	101
Table A4b Other Forms of Heart Diseases by Age Group, Gender and Living Arrengement	105
Table A4n Other Forms of Heart Diseases by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	183
Table A41 Cancer (Excluding Skin Cancer) by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	184
Table A4J Cancer (Excluding Skin Cancer) by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	184
Table A4k Cerebrovascular Disease (Such as Stroke) by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	185
Table A4I Cerebrovascular Disease (Such as Stroke) by Educational Level and Living Arrangem	ent185
Table A4m Dementia by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	186
Table A4n Dementia by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	186
Table A4o Chronic Respiratory Illness by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	187
Table A4p Chronic Respiratory Illness by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	187
Table A4q Digestive Illness (Stomach or Intestinal) by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	188
Table A4r Digestive Illness (Stomach or Intestinal) by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	nt.188
Table A4s Renal/Kidney or Urinary Tract Ailments by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	189
Table A4t Renal/Kidney or Urinary Tract Ailments by Educational Level and Living Arrangeme	nt . 189
Table A4u Ailments of the Liver or Gall Bladder by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	190
Table A4v Ailments of the Liver or Gall Bladder by Educational Level and Living Arrangement.	190
Table A4w Chronic Back Pain by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	191
Table A4x Chronic Back Pain by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	191
Table A4y Osteoporosis by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	192
Table A4z Osteoporosis by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	192
Table A4aa Fractures of the Hip, Thigh and Pelvis by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	193
Table A4ab Fractures of the Hip, Thigh and Pelvis by Educational Level and Living Arrangemen	t193

Table A4ac Other Fractures by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	194
Table A4ad Other Fractures by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	194
Table A4af Glaucoma by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	195
Table A4ag Glaucoma by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	195
Table A4ah Age-Related Muscular Degeneration by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	195
Table A4ai Age-Related Muscular Degeneration by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	196
Table A4aj Autoimmune Disorder by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	196
Table A4ak Autoimmune Disorder by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	196
Table A4al Chronic Skin Conditions by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	197
Table A4am Chronic Skin Conditions by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	197
Table A4an Epilepsy by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	197
Table A4ao Epilepsy by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	198
Table A4ap Thyroid Disorder by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	198
Table A4aq Thyroid Disorder by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	198
Table A4ar Migraine by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	199
Table A4as Migraine by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	199
Table A4at Parkinsonism by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	199
Table A4au Parkinsonism by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	199
Table A4av ADL Limitation Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity – Part (ii)	200
Table A4aw ADL Limitation Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement - Part (ii)	201
Table A4ax Requirement of Assistance/Device for ADL by Age Group and Ethnicity	201
Table A4ay Requirement of Assistance/Device for ADL by Education Level and Living Arrangen	nent 201
Table A4az IADL Limitation Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity – Part (ii)	202
Table A4aaa IADL Limitation Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement - Part (ii)	203
Table A4aab Requirement of Assistance/Device for IADL by Age Group and Ethnicity	204
Table A4aac Requirement of Assistance/Device for IADL by Education Level and Living Arrange	ement 204
Table A4aad Limitation in Activities Due to Health Problem by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	204
Table A4aae Limitation in Activities Due to Health Problem by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	204
Table A6a Healthcare Utilisation by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	205
Table A6b Healthcare Utilisation by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	206
Table A6c Length of Last Admission to Public or Private Hospital by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	206
Table A6d Length of Last Admission to Public or Private Hospital by Educational Level and Livir Arrangement	1g 207
Table A6e English Reading Ability by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	207
Table A6f English Reading Ability by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	207
Table A6g Chinese Reading Ability by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	207

List of Appendices

Table A6h Chinese Reading Ability by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	.207
Table A6i Malay Reading Ability by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	.207
Table A6j Malay Reading Ability by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	.208
Table A6k Tamil Reading Ability by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	.208
Table A6I Tamil Reading Ability by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	.208
Table A6m Reading Ability in Other Languages by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	.208
Table A6n Reading Ability in Other Languages by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	.208
Table A7A. Distribution of older person characteristics, and their association with number of prima care (general practitioner and polyclinic) outpatient visits in the last 3 months: Results of the unadjusted two-part models	ıry 209
Table A7B. Distribution of older person characteristics, and their association with number of tertiar care (specialist outpatient clinic and private specialist) outpatient visits in the last 3 months: Results the unadjusted two-part models	y s of 211
Table A7C. Distribution of older person characteristics, unadjusted and adjusted odds ratio forEmergency Room visits during the last six months (N=1879)	.213
Table A7D. Distribution of older person characteristics, unadjusted and adjusted odds ratio for hosp admission during the last one year (N=1873)	oital .215
Table A8a Attendance of Religious Services, Praying in Private Places and Importance of Religion Life by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	in .217
Table A8b Attendance of Religious Services, Praying in Private Places and Importance of Religion Life by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	in .218
Table A12a Current Engaged Occupation by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	.219
Table A12b Current Engaged Occupation by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	.219
Figure A12c Employment Seeking among Retired/Not Working	. 220
Figure A12d Reasons for Seeking Employment among Retired/Not Working	.220
Figure A12e Reasons for Not Seeking Employment among Retired/Not Working	. 221
Table A12f Longest Engaged Occupation by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	.221
Table A12g Longest Engaged Occupation by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	. 222
Figure A12h Never Worked	.222
Figure A12i Reasons for Not Seeking Employment among Never Worked	.223
Table A16a Donation of Money by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	.223
Table A16b Donation of Money by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	.223
Table A16c Frequency of Donation of Money by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity	.224
Table A16d Frequency of Donation of Money by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	. 224

Executive Summary

We summarise below the key findings from the Transitions in Health, Employment, Social Engagement and Inter-generational Transfers in Singapore Study (THE SIGNS Study) – I, a nationally-representative survey on transitions in health, employment and social lives of 4549 community-dwelling older Singaporeans, aged 60 years and above. THE SIGNS Study – I was conducted in 2016-2017 by the Centre for Ageing Research and Education (CARE), Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore.

1. Demographic characteristics

- The average age of older Singaporeans included in the survey was 70.9 years. Those aged 60-69 years formed the largest proportion (53%), followed by those aged 70-79 years (31%) and 80 years and above (16%).
- More females (53%) than males (47%) were surveyed.
- Majority were of Chinese ethnicity (83%), followed by Malays (10%), Indians (6%) and Others (1%).
- In terms of educational level, 28% had no formal education, 31% had primary education and 29% had secondary education. T with tertiary education constituted the smallest percentage (13%).
- Most were living with a child and their spouse (42%), followed by those who lived with their spouse (23%), or with a child only (20%). A minority were living alone or only with a foreign domestic worker (8.8%), or with others only (6.4%).
- The most common type of residence were 4-room HDB flats (36%). The same proportion (24%) resided in 3-room and 5-room flats, while fewer lived in 1-2 room flats (8%) and private housing (9%).
- While the majority were currently married (67%), 21% were widowed, 8% had never married and 4% were divorced.
- On average, older Singaporeans had 2.6 living children, with a higher average among those aged 80 years and above (4.2) compared to those aged 60-69 years (2.0). Across ethnicities, Malays had a higher average number of living children (3.3), compared to Indians (2.7), and Chinese (2.5) and Others (2.2).
- Majority followed Buddhism or Taoism (55%), followed by Christianity (18%), Islam (12%), and Hinduism (3%).

Income and financial adequacy

- In terms of total monthly household income, the largest proportion comprised of those reporting a monthly income of \$1000-\$1999 (17%) followed by those reporting \$5000 or more (15%).
- About 30% of older Singaporeans reported that they had 'enough money with some left over' this proportion declined with age from 60-69 years (33%) to 80 years and above (25%). Nearly half (49%) reported having 'just enough money and no difficulty'. The proportion of those who reported 'some or much difficulty in meeting expenses' was the highest for those aged 70-79 years (21%), and lower for those aged 60-69 years (17%) and 80 years and above (18%)

• Among the three major ethnicities, the proportion of those who experienced 'some or much difficulty in meeting expenses' was the highest among Indians (31%), followed by Malays (28%) and Chinese (16%).

2. Physical and Functional Health

Self-rated health

• Overall, about 38% of older Singaporeans rated their health as fair or poor (versus excellent or very good or good). This percentage increased with age, reaching 50% among those aged 80 years and above.

Chronic diseases

- 38% of older Singaporeans reported being diagnosed with three or more chronic diseases. This percentage increased with age from 31% among those aged 60-69 years to 49% among those aged 80 years and above. Indians (54%) compared to Malays (42%), Chinese (36%) and Others (25%) were more likely to have been diagnosed with three or more chronic diseases.
- The five most common chronic diseases older Singaporeans reported having been diagnosed with, were high blood pressure (56%), high blood cholesterol (49%), cataract (31%), joint pain, arthritis, rheumatism or nerve pain (29%) and high blood sugar or diabetes (25%).
- The proportion of older Singaporeans who had been diagnosed with high blood pressure was highest among those with no formal education (62%). The proportion decreased as level of education increased.
- Indians (44%) were most likely, to have been diagnosed with high blood sugar or diabetes, whereas Others (18%) were the least likely.

Activity of daily living (ADL) and Instrumental ADL (IADL)

- About 9% of older Singaporeans reported having difficulty with 1 or more ADLs. Of this percentage, 4% reported difficulty with 1-2 ADLs and 5% with 3 or more ADLs. More females (13%) reported ADL difficulties than males (5%).
- About 20% of older Singaporeans reported having difficulty with 1 or more IADLs. Of this percentage, 12% reported difficulty with 1-2 ADLs and 9% with 3 or more IADLs. The proportion with any IADL difficulty increased with age, and was higher among females (23%) than males (18%).

Body mass index (BMI)

• The most prevalent BMI category among older Singaporeans was preobesity (42%), based on the Asian BMI categorization. Nearly 20% of older Singaporeans had obesity.

Blood pressure

• The mean systolic and diastolic blood pressure was 138.4 mmHg and 75.1 mmHg respectively. While the mean values of systolic blood pressure increased with age, those for diastolic blood pressure declined with age. Both mean values were slightly higher for males versus females, and the highest for Malays across the 3 major ethnicities.

Hand grip strength (HGS)

- The average HGS among older Singaporeans was 21.1 kg. It decreased with age and was lower among females (16.0 kg) compared to males (26.9 kg). Among the three major ethnicities, the Chinese had the highest average HGS, followed by Malays and Indians.
- An education gradient was observed, with average HGS values increasing with education.

3. Psychological Health

- About 12% of older Singaporeans reported clinically relevant depressive symptoms. This proportion increased with age, and was the highest among Indians (19%).
- About 85% of older Singaporeans were in the lowest or middle tertile of the Pearlin personal mastery scale. Nearly half of the males were in the lowest tertile, whereas about half of the females were in the middle tertile.
- The average quality of life (QoL) scores decreased with age, were higher for females versus males, and comparable across the three major ethnicities.

4. Health Behaviours

Smoking

- About 3 in 4 older Singaporeans had never smoked. This proportion was lowest among those aged 70-79 years (73%).
- On the other hand, a higher proportion of those aged 60-69 years were current smokers (13%) compared to those aged 70-79 years (11%) and those aged 80 and above years (6%).
- A significant majority of females had never smoked (97%) compared to almost half of the males who had never smoked (49%).

Physical activity

• Two-thirds of older Singaporeans met the World Health Organisation (WHO) recommendations on physical activity for health. As age increased, the proportion of those who met the WHO's recommendations decreased. Fewer females (60%) than males (74%) met the recommendations, while Malays had the lowest percentage of those who met the recommendations (52%) among the ethnic groups.

Health checkup/screening

- Nearly half of older Singaporeans across age groups and gender had never undergone screening for colorectal cancer. The proportion who underwent this screening within the last year declined with age and was higher among males.
- Nearly 2 in 5 older Singaporean women had never undergone a Pap smear test. Among those aged 60-69 years, only 31% had undergone the test within the last 3 years.

- Nearly 2 in 5 older Singaporean women had never had a mammogram. Among those aged 60-69 years, only 27% had undergone the test within the last 2 years.
- The vast majority of older Singaporeans (94%) reported to have had their blood pressure measured within the last 2 years. The percentage was lowest among Malays (92%) and those aged 60-69 years (93%).
- Nearly 9 in 10 of older Singaporeans reported to have had a blood test for diabetes or blood sugar level within the last 3 years. This proportion was higher among males (92%) than females (87%), and higher for Indians (96%) than Chinese (90%) and Malays (89%).
- Similarly, 91% of older Singaporeans had a blood test for cholesterol or lipid level within the last 3 years. This proportion was higher among males (93%) than females (89%), and highest for Indians (96%) compared to Malays (90%) and Chinese (90%).

Prescription medication use and adherence

- Nearly 3 in 4 older Singaporeans took prescription medications on a regular basis, and 14% took 5 or more prescription medications on a regular basis.
- The proportion of older Singaporeans who forgot to take their prescription medications at times was the highest among those aged 60-69 years (29%) than those aged 70-79 years (26%) and lowest among those aged 80 years and above (21%).

Health insurance

• The vast majority of older Singaporeans (94%) had a Medisave Account. About one-third had private health insurance and one-fifth had health benefits through their current or previous employer.

Healthcare utilisation

- Considering the 3 months prior to their survey interview (hereafter, past 3 months), the type of health professionals whom older Singaporeans had visited at least 1 time were a doctor at a polyclinic (42%), followed by a private general practitioner (31%). A higher proportion had consulted specialists at a specialist outpatient clinic than at a private practice, overall and across demographic groups (age groups, gender and ethnicities). And, 11% of older Singaporeans had consulted Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) practitioners or traditional healers.
- The proportion with at least 1 visit to a *private GP* in the past 3 months was comparable (\sim 30%) across age groups, gender and the three major ethnicities.
- The proportion with at least 1 visit to a *doctor at a polyclinic* in the past 3 months was similar among those aged 70-79 years (47%) and 80 years and above (46%), but lower for those aged 60-69 years (38%). This proportion was slightly higher among males (43%) versus females (41%), and highest for Indians (48%) across the three major ethnicities.
- The proportion with at least 1 visit to a *doctor at a specialist outpatient clinic* in the past 3 months increased with age, but was similar for males and females. Across the three major ethnicities, it was the lowest for Malays (19%) and the highest for Indians (32%).

- The proportion with at least 1 visit to a *specialist doctor in private practice* was low, around 4%, across age groups, gender and the three major ethnicities.
- The proportion who had consulted *Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) practitioners or traditional healers* in the past 3 months was slightly higher in the younger age groups and for females (12%) versus males (10%), and was the highest for Chinese (13%) across the three major ethnicities.
- Overall, 8% of older Singaporeans had visited a *hospital emergency room* in the past 6 months. This proportion increased with age, was comparable across gender, and was the highest for Indians (12%) and Malays (11%).
- Admission to a public or private hospital in the past 12 months was reported by 12% of older Singaporeans. This proportion increased with age, was higher for males than females, and was the lowest for Chinese (13%) across the three major ethnicities.
- Admission to a nursing home in the past 12 months was low overall, at less than 1%.

English health literacy

• Nearly 3 in 4 older Singaporeans had limited English health literacy. This proportion increased with age, and was the highest among Malays (81%).

Analysis of the Correlates of Healthcare Utilisation

- Older Singaporeans with low personal mastery and poor physical health had more primary care outpatient visits, tertiary care outpatient visits, at least 1 hospital emergency room visit and at least 1 hospital admission.
- Loneliness was associated with a lower use of tertiary care outpatient and hospital emergency room services.
- Malay ethnicity was associated with greater use of hospital emergency room and hospital inpatient services, and lower use of tertiary care outpatient services.
- Paying heed to the impacts of psychological factors, such as personal mastery, and social factors, such as loneliness, ethnicity and socio-economic status, in addition to the commonly considered physical health factors, in influencing healthcare utilisation among older Singaporeans is critical when planning changes and developments to Singapore's healthcare system.

5. Social Engagement

Living alone

- About 9% of older Singaporeans lived alone. This proportion increased with age, was higher for females (11%) relative to males (6%), and was the highest for the Chinese (9%) compared to Malays (6%) and Indians (5%).
- Among those who lived alone, the top three reasons given for living alone were that they chose to live alone (46%), that they had outlived their family members (20%) and that they had never had children (17%).

Social network outside the household

• The extent of social network outside the household was the highest among older Singaporeans aged 60-69 years, and declined with age.

Attendance in social activities

- The most frequent social activity was visiting a church, mosque or other place of worship (72% participants visited at least weekly or occasionally).
- Around half (53%) went for a walk for exercise at least weekly or occasionally, while only 17% and 13% attended neighbourhood events and senior activity centre (SAC) at this frequency, respectively.

Loneliness

• Nearly a third of older Singaporeans (34%) reported being sometimes or mostly lonely. This proportion increased with age, reaching 40% among those aged 80 years and above. More males (37%) reported being sometimes or mostly lonely, relative to females (31%).

Analysis of the Correlates of Social Engagement

- Multivariate analysis of social networks indicated that older persons with weaker social networks were more lonely and depressed compared to those with stronger social networks.
- A key barrier to older Singaporeans' social connectedness, in terms of both their social network and participation in social activities, was their IADL limitations. Additionally, individuals who were not married, older, and lived in 1 or 2-room flats had weaker social connections.
- Social and community agencies can intensify outreach efforts to groups and individuals at a higher risk of weaker social connections. Additionally, they can organise activities and programmes that are more targeted and responsive to the preferences of specific older adult sub-groups such as men and Malays, who are less likely to participate in SAC-organized activities.
- Given the preponderance of participation in religious activities, initiatives to enhance social connectedness among older Singaporeans can consider structuring activities using various religious platforms.

6. Provision and Receipt of Transfers

- The most prevalent provision of transfer by older Singaporeans was provision of emotional support (41%). Those aged 60 to 69 years (versus older) and males (versus females) were more likely to provide support.
- Overall, 57-61% of participants received transfers in the past 12 months. The most prevalent receipt of transfer was receipt of monetary support (61%). Across age groups, those aged 80 years and above received the most transfers.
- Females were more likely to receive monetary and emotional support.
- Males were more likely to receive housework help.
- Males were more likely to provide support of all types, including monetary, material and emotional support, as well as housework help.

Analysis of the Correlates of Transfers

- Older Singaporeans who were employed, had a higher level of education, and had better functional health were more likely to provide support to their kin. Simultaneously, older age and greater functional limitations were associated with a lower chance of offering help.
- The strength and quality of family networks outside the household were positively related to support provision. Receipt and provision of support were positively associated with each other, indicating the significance of the reciprocity norm of family support in Singapore.
- With Singapore's policy focus on enhancing the health, social connectedness and financial status of older Singaporeans all of which were positively associated with provision of transfers one may expect that future cohorts of older persons will continue to provide support to younger members of their family and community.

7. Work and Retirement

Current work status

- About one-fourth (24%) of older Singaporeans worked full-time, and 13% worked part-time, with both proportions declining with age. Overall, a lower proportion of females worked full-time (14%) compared to males (36%).
- In the 60-64 year age group specifically, 27% of males and nearly half (49%) of the females were not working.
- The most common stated reason for working was income (included in 77% of the responses), followed by maintenance of good health (50%), and enjoying work (41%). Social contact and contribution to society were included in 31% and 18% of the responses respectively.

Early Retirement

- The proportion of older Singaporeans who reported that they had retired early was 39% overall, with the highest being those aged 60-69 years (51%), followed by those aged 70-79 years (34%) and those aged 80 years and above (22%). The proportion of females who had retired early (49%) was nearly twice that of males (26%).
- The most frequently cited reason for taking early retirement was caregiving responsibilities: taking care of a family member, relative, or friend (45% overall, 60% and 10% among females and males respectively), followed by the participants' own ill health (26% overall, 19% and 43% among females and males respectively). Reasons related to the workplace, such as made redundant/had no choice (14%), fed up with job and wanted a change (7%), and offered early retirement incentive (2%) when combined, formed the third most frequently cited reason.

Analysis of the Correlates of Work and Retirement

• Current employment was negatively associated with both functional limitations and chronic diseases. Older persons who were currently not working and had chronic diseases were less likely to be looking for work compared to those without chronic diseases.

- Workplace adaptations and interventions such as more age-friendly physical environments, greater availability of part-time or more flexible hours, may encourage older workers to work longer.
- Females compared to males were more likely to have retired early, less likely to be currently working, and also less likely to be currently looking for work, even after accounting for demographic, socioeconomic and health differences across gender.
- Enabling females at all ages to remain in and return to the workforce is a key policy challenge for policymakers that requires a focus on providing females with appropriate alternatives for their caregiving responsibilities.
- Older persons who reported difficulty in meeting monthly household expenses were less likely to be currently employed, but more likely to be looking for work compared to those who reported adequate income.

8. Lifelong Learning

- Over the past 12 months, 13% of older Singaporeans had attended a course/training in the past 12 months. This proportion comprised of 8% who took 1 course/training, 3% who took 2 courses/trainings, and 2% who took3 or more courses/trainings.
- The highest proportion who had attended a course/training was among those aged 60-69 years (18%), followed by those aged 70-79 years (11%) and 80 years and above (2%).
- The proportion who took only 1 course/training was marginally lower for females (8%) than males (9%), though the distribution between genders was more equal among those who took 2 or more courses/trainings. Indians and Others were the most likely to have taken a course/training, and had the highest proportion of having taken 3 or more courses/trainings.
- Among those who attended courses/trainings, an equal proportion took them for only job-related reasons (48%) and only non-job related reasons (48%) The remaining 4% took them for both job and non job-related reasons.
- The proportion of those who took courses/trainings for only *job-related* reasons was the highest among those aged 60-69 years (52%), followed by those aged 70-79 years (40%) and 80 years and above (16%). More males (65%) took courses/trainings for only *job-related* reasons versus females (31%). This proportion was highest among Indians across the three major ethnicities.
- The proportion of those who took courses/trainings for only *non job-related* reasons was the highest among those aged 80 years and above (84%), followed by those aged 70-79 (56%) and 60-69 years (44%). More females (64%) took courses/trainings for only *non job-related* reasons versus males (31%). This proportion was highest among Chinese across the three major ethnic groups.

Analysis of the Correlates of Lifelong Learning

• Engagement in learning was positively associated with social networks outside the household.

- Those who engaged in learning were more likely to be younger (aged 60-69 years), female, have formal education, Malay, working full-time, and have better health and functional status.
- Males, those of Malay and Indian ethnicity, and those working full-time were more likely to attend courses/trainings for job-related reasons. On the other hand, females were more likely to attend for non-job related reasons.
- Lifelong learning can be made more inclusive by specifically targeting those who face barriers to participation, such as those at older ages, those of a low socioeconomic status, and in poorer health. It is also important to adapt course/training content and pedagogy in order to meet the developmental and learning needs of older persons.

9. Volunteering and Monetary Donation

Formal volunteering

- About 14% of older Singaporeans had engaged in formal volunteering in the past 12 months. Those aged 60-69 years were most likely to engage in formal volunteering (17%), followed by those aged 70-79 years (12%), and 80 years and above (5%). This proportion was comparable among males and females (14%).
- Among those who had volunteered formally in the past 12 months, the three most common ways of volunteering were organizing or helping to run an activity or event (48%), visiting people (32%), and befriending or mentoring people (24%).

Informal volunteering

- About 20% of older Singaporeans engaged in informal volunteering in the past 12 months. Older Singaporeans aged 60-69 years had the highest proportion of engagement in informal volunteering (26%), followed by those aged 70-79 years (19%) and 80 years and above (7%). Males were more likely to engage in informal volunteering (24%) versus females (18%).
- Among those who had volunteered informally in the past 12 months, the three most common ways of volunteering were helping a person keep in touch with someone who had difficulty getting out and about (55%), helping a person in shopping, collecting pension or paying bills (22%), and helping transport or escort someone (17%).

Analysis of the Correlates of Volunteering

- More educated older persons, those with strong social networks outside the household and those with more frequent social participation were more likely to volunteer both formally and informally.
- The oldest-old, those with higher depressive symptoms, and males overall were less likely to volunteer informally.
- Given the association between social engagement and volunteering, merging these two aspects together through creative localized community activities into programmes can facilitate a wide appeal.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Angelique Chan

In 2015, the Singapore Ministry of Health (MOH) commissioned the Centre for Ageing Research and Education (CARE), Duke-NUS Medical School, to conduct a longitudinal study on productive and active ageing in Singapore. In partnership with MOH, CARE developed the *Transitions in Health, Employment, Social Engagement, and Intergenerational Transfers in Singapore Study* (THE SIGNS Study). The goal of this longitudinal study is to provide evidence for policy makers interested in promoting productive and active ageing among the older population in Singapore. Specifically, it is designed to identify the patterns, determinants, and outcomes of health, work, retirement, social engagement, volunteerism, and intergenerational transfers among older Singaporean citizens and permanent residents, aged 60 years and above.

This report is a synopsis of the results from the first wave (THE SIGNS Study - I) of the longitudinal study, which CARE conducted in 2016-2017. As such, it presents a snapshot of productive and active ageing in Singapore in 2016-17.

Singapore's population is ageing rapidly. Recent estimates suggest that by 2030, approximately one-quarter of the population will be above the age of 65. Longevity has been increasing steadily in Singapore; average life expectancy is currently 82 years. Concomitantly, fertility rates are at record low levels (1.19 children per average woman).

One of the challenges in this demographic environment is how to extend health span, that is, how to extend the number of years that individuals spend productive and active, and in good health. In order to answer this question, we need information on how individuals age over time. In THE SIGNS Study we will be following a cohort of older Singaporeans aged 60 years and above at least twice (2 years apart) in order to investigate the influence of growing older on activity, productivity, and health. Firstly, we seek to understand whether expanding the definition of productivity to include volunteerism is significant in the Singapore context. Post retirement, individuals may perform various roles within and outside the family. Volunteerism is one such role that the government would like to encourage as volunteerism has been shown to be associated with better mental and physical outcomes among those who volunteer.

A second way in which older adults may remain active and productive is via providing intergenerational transfers within the family. At present, many older adults already do provide intergenerational transfers, however, in this report we will quantify the extent to which older adults provide support within the family as well as the extent to which they receive support. These data will also give us an idea of intergenerational solidarity among multigenerational Singaporean families today. A third area of active and productive ageing may be realised via life-long learning. The recently introduced National Silver Academy represents strong government interest in providing older adults with avenues to participate in learning for learning's sake, not only for skills development. This innovative scheme provides individuals with S\$500 to take courses provided under the NSA. In this report we examine the characteristics of older adults who participate in life-long learning in order to identify target populations that can be better encouraged to participate.

This report also contains information on the work and retirement patterns of adults aged 60 years and above in Singapore. The longitudinal nature of the data will allow for defining predictors of transitions in and out of the labour force. The report will contain information on physical and mental health as potential drivers of retirement. We also consider family care needs as "push factors" out of the work force. In this baseline report we will be unable to speak to predictors of transitions in and out of the labour force, however, we can provide baseline descriptions of the proportion of older adults who are working or retired, stratified by key social, demographic, and health characteristics.

Given the key importance of health as a predictor of activity and productivity in later life, we spend some time in this report describing the current mental and physical health of older adults aged 60 and above in Singapore. We also include a description of their health behaviours in order to identify target populations for improving health behaviours.

Health care utilisation patterns of the older population are essential to understand in order to generate evidence for planning. We examine the correlates of healthcare utilisation in this report. While the cross-sectional data limits us to examining correlates, the follow-up data will allow us to examine predictors of healthcare utilisation in more detail. The report also includes a section on health literacy in order to gauge the health literacy of our older population (60+) and the correlates of lower health literacy.

In all our analyses we acknowledge the presence of a cohort effect such that the young-old will differ in outcomes compared to the oldest-old. We thus stratify our descriptive analyses by age categories: 60-69, 70-79, and 80+. We are also cognizant of the fact that men and women age differently and that the level of education has been shown to impact behaviours and outcomes among older adults. Thus, in our descriptive analyses we stratify by gender and education level.

An interesting addition to the reporting on the descriptive data for this report is the stratification by living arrangements. Recently, there has been a steady increase in the proportion of one and two-person households. As this is a growing trend in Singapore, we stratified the data by living arrangements in order to examine whether persons who

live alone have worse outcomes. This will be valuable information for policy makers involved in housing policy.

This report includes both descriptive and analytical chapters. A descriptive chapter consisting of bivariate associations on a topic is presented, followed by a more analytical chapter that uses multivariate analysis to take a deeper dive into the topic. The deep dive is not exhaustive, and we will continue further analyses of the data and also discuss specific research questions in conversations with MOH.

The methodology of the survey and a brief description of various scales used in the survey are presented next. This is followed by descriptive data on demographic characteristics, physical and functional health, psychological health, and health behaviors. Substantive chapters are presented on healthcare utilisation, social engagement, social networks and participation, intergenerational transfers, work and retirement, lifelong learning, and volunteering.

The report findings reinforce the notion that older adults are not a homogenous group but rather differ significantly by age, gender, ethnicity, and educational level. In most of the substantive chapters in this report, the recommendation is for more targeted policies and programs to address objective and subjective concerns of older Singaporeans.

Key findings from the report include the significant influence of psychological health (personal mastery and loneliness) on health care utilisation. Lower levels of personal mastery are associated with higher healthcare utilisation. Being lonely, on the other hand, is associated with lower levels of healthcare use. Approximately one-third of older adults forget to take their prescription medications. In addition, one-third of older adults report daily pain which would significantly decrease their quality of life. Continuing with health related factors, 42% of our sample were categorized at preobese, highlighting the need to address lifestyle habits among older adults.

This report also addresses social engagement and participation with others living outside the household, and intergenerational transfers within families. Social engagement and participation is mainly limited by the presence of instrumental activities of daily living which highlights the need to improve access to services such as financial management, and environmental access in order to allow older adults to go about their daily activities, e.g., grocery shopping, using public transport. Within families, 40-60% of older adults are connected in some way; either receiving or providing support (financial, emotional, housework help, material support). Conversely, a large proportion of older adults are not receiving or providing support suggesting a need to improve intergenerational ties in the current environment. We have also found in CARE's previous research that over time, younger Singaporeans have been providing more financial support and less time support, which may lead to disengagement across the generations.

The final sections of the report focus on work and retirement, lifelong learning and volunteering. Interesting findings emerge from each of these contexts. In terms of work and retirement, we see that older women retire early primarily in order to provide care to others. Older men, on the other hand, retire early mainly for their own health reasons. Older adults who continue to work cite financial reasons as the main factor. Older females are more likely to cite social engagement and enjoying work as reasons to continue to work compared to older men.

Lifelong learning is not a major activity in the lives of older Singaporeans. Only 13% of older Singaporeans took a course in the 12 months prior to our survey. Major barriers to learning include older age (70+), lower socioeconomic status, and poor health. Older women are more likely to engage in lifelong learning compared to older men. These age, gender, socioeconomic and health difference are important factors to consider in increasing access to lifelong learning.

In addition to work and lifelong learning, productive and active ageing can involve volunteering. In fact, volunteering has been shown to significantly increase quality of life generally of older adults. Given the positive association between volunteering and well-being, the Singapore government has been encouraging older adults to volunteer. At present, our data shows that 14-20% of adults over age 60, engage in some form of volunteering; either formal or informal. More educated older persons, those with strong social networks outside the household and greater social participation were more likely to volunteer formally as well as informally. Older males are less likely to volunteer compared to older females. These results suggest the need to develop more opportunities for older men to volunteer.

This report provides a rich and detailed description of the lives of older Singaporeans aged 60 years and over. There are areas to be addressed in order for older adults to have productive and active lives. The report is comprehensive in highlighting what these areas are in order to inform on-going policy discussions and stimulate innovation.

Chapter 2: Methodology

Abhijit Visaria, Rahul Malhotra, Angelique Chan

Transitions in Health, Employment, Social Engagement and Intergenerational Transfers in Singapore Study (THE SIGNS Study) - I is a nationally-representative survey of community-dwelling older Singaporeans (citizens and permanent residents) aged 60 years and above. The study received approval from the Institutional Review Board at National University of Singapore.

A representative sample of 9,736 Singaporeans aged 60 years and above, stratified by 5-year age groups from 60 to 84, and those aged 85 and above, gender, and ethnicity (Chinese, Malay, Indian, and Others) was drawn based on the estimated 2015 mid-year population distribution. Their names and addresses were made available by the Singapore Ministry of Health directly to a contracted independent survey firm. Individuals aged 75 years and older, and those of Malay and Indian ethnicity were oversampled by a factor of two to ensure that there were enough respondents for analysis in these groups.

All individuals in the sample (called potential respondents hereafter) were first sent a letter by post informing them that they had been randomly selected to participate in a study on transitions in health, employment, and social lives of the elderly, what their participation entailed, the amount of compensation the study provided, and contact information of a project manager if they had any questions about the study. The letter stated that an interviewer from the survey firm would contact them within the next six weeks to seek their participation in the study, and also provided telephone numbers and an e-mail address to contact if they wanted to opt out of the study.

Of all potential participants, 342 opted out by contacting the survey team after they had received the letter of intimation. An additional 2031 individuals refused to participate in the study when interviewers visited their address. A total of 2373 potential respondents (24.4% of 9736) thus refused participation in the survey.

814 potential respondents were deemed not eligible to participate in the study because they were either deceased or institutionalized in a nursing home, old-age care home, or jail at the time of the survey, or their registered address was found to be invalid. In 51 cases, this information was based on letters of intimation that were returned undelivered, with notifications that no one by the name of the addressee lived at the address; the addressee had moved without providing a forwarding address; the address was incorrect; the inhabitants of the address had refused to accept the letter; the location was vacant; or that the letter box was unavailable. In 763 instances, the letters of intimation were not returned undelivered but when interviewers visited the address, they found that no individual by the name of the potential respondent lived there; that the potential respondent had passed away or was now institutionalized; that the location was vacant; or in some cases that the building had been demolished.

Interviewers were required to make 4 attempts to meet a potential respondent before the potential respondent was deemed uncontactable. In a majority of cases (59.6%), respondents were interviewed the first time that an interviewer visited their address. About one-third (33.7%) of the respondents were interviewed during a second visit; thus about 93% of the interviews required one or two visits (Table 2.1).

1 1		
Visit number	Number of successful interviews	%
1	2713	59.6
2	1535	33.7
3	255	5.6
4	38	0.8
5	8	0.2

Table 2.1: Interviewer visits to potential respondents and successful interviews

The response rate presented in Table 2.2 below is calculated based on the number of successful interviews as a proportion of all potential respondents who were considered eligible for the study. We also present the proportion of successful interviews based on the number of individuals who could be contacted.

As seen in Table 2.2., 2000 potential respondents could not be contacted even after interviewers had visited their address 4 times. In most instances this was due to no one answering the door but the current status or location of the potential respondent could not be ascertained in any way. Therefore, we do not assume that they were not community-dwelling older adults at the time of the survey, and instead retain them as potential respondents who were eligible for the study in our calculation of the response rate.

А	Sample, i.e., potential respondents	9736
В	Potential respondents not eligible for the study	814
С	Eligible potential respondents (A-B)	8922
D	Eligible potential respondents who were uncontactable after 4 home visits, but	2000
	current status could not be ascertained	
Е	Number of eligible potential respondents who could be contacted (C-D)	6922
F	Eligible potential respondents who refused participation in the study	2373
G	Total non-responses (uncontactable + refusal) (D+F)	4373
Н	Successful interviews	4549
Ι	Survey response rate: Successful interviews as a % of all eligible potential	50.98%
	respondents (H/C*100)	
J	Successful interviews as a % of eligible potential respondents who could be	65.72%
	contacted (H/E*100)	

Table 2.2. Calculation of the survey response rate

The survey involved the administration of a screener followed by written consent taking, after which a main questionnaire was administered and then measurements were taken for an anthropometry and performance questionnaire. Initially, 4552 respondents were administered the screener and consented to participate in the study. However, 2 respondents withdrew their consent before starting the main questionnaire. Further, 1 respondent completed both the main questionnaire and the anthropometry and performance measurements, but later requested to withdraw from the study. No data that had been collected for these 3 individuals was retained in the study. Thus, the final number of respondents to THE SIGNS Study - I is 4549. All interviews were conducted face-to-face.

The screener, participation information sheet and consent form were administered using paper copies for all respondents. Computer Assisted Personal Interviewing (CAPI) versions for administration on tablets were developed for the main and the anthropometry and performance measurement questionnaires in English, Chinese, and Malay. The CAPI system was unable to host a Tamil questionnaire, therefore all participants who responded in Tamil (n=18) were administered a paper questionnaire. Interviewers also administered a paper questionnaire if they faced technical issues with the tablets. A total of 85 participants responded to the questionnaires on paper, the rest responding on CAPI.

The screener included the Abbreviated Mental Test – Singapore,¹ a cognitive status test. If a potential respondent answered fewer than 5 AMT-Singapore questions correctly (n=124), a proxy was approached for the study. A proxy was also eligible to answer the survey if the potential respondent (i.e. the index elderly) could not do so due to a physical or psychological issue such as hearing or speaking difficulty, memory loss or dementia, current sickness, etc. (n=340). The criteria for selecting a proxy respondent was they had to be aged 21 years and above, be either a family member or someone who had been living with the index elderly, and have been helping the index elderly in his/her daily living for some time. Out of 4549 respondents, there were thus 464 proxy respondents (10.2%). The index elderly remained eligible to participate in the anthropometry and performance measurements.

There were two versions of the main questionnaire, version A and version B. The decision to create two versions was based on feedback that some respondents in a pre-testing phase of the survey (n=48) found the questionnaire to be too long. Both questionnaires had modules on basic attributes and family make-up, social network, quality of life, volunteering, lifelong learning, employment, health status, physical disabilities and limitations, income and health insurance, and healthcare utilisation. Questionnaire A additionally included items on physical activity, medication use, health literacy, and a wider range of questions on health status and health behaviours. Questionnaire B was designed to be able to correlate physical health with psychological health and family relationships, and therefore uniquely included measures of religiosity, loneliness, depressive symptoms, personal mastery, and provision and receipt of transfers.

Stratified block randomization, with a block size of two, was used to assign respondents to either version A or B of the questionnaire, with the strata based on 5year age group, gender, and ethnicity. The randomization schedule, drawn up a priori, was hosted on a centralized online platform to which tablets being used for the CAPI administration of the survey could connect. After a respondent consented to participate in the study, the interviewer entered the age, gender, and ethnicity of the respondent on the opening page of the CAPI software, and the tablet then displayed either version A or version B of the questionnaire based on the randomization scheme. In the event a paper questionnaire was being administered, the interviewer called the project manager who consulted the online platform, made a manual entry, and conveyed the questionnaire version to be administered to the interviewer. Interviewers were not privy to the randomization scheme, and only found out the questionnaire version to be administered at the time of the interview.

The anthropometry and performance measurements included five measures: blood pressure, height, weight, hand grip strength, and walking speed. Prior to each, interviewers explained how the measurement would be conducted, asked questions specifically related to factors which would preclude the administration of the test (for example, if the respondent had a rash, swelling, wound, or bruise on the arm), and also demonstrated how blood pressure, hand grip strength and walking speed were measured. Measurements were taken when respondents confirmed that they understood the instructions and felt it was safe to do the test. Blood pressure was measured on the left arm, unless the respondent had a health condition that prevented it, in which case it was conducted on the right arm. Measurements were taken thrice at about a 1-minute interval between readings. Wherever used in this report, the blood pressure data pertains to the second and third readings. Hand grip strength data used in this report pertains to the measurements of the dominant hand.

Blood pressure was measured using Omron digital blood pressure monitors (Model No. HEM-762), weight using Omron digital weight scales (Model No. HN-286), and hand grip strength using Tanita hand grip meters (Model No. 6103).

Respondents were given tokens of appreciation for their participation in the survey in the form of S\$30 shopping vouchers if they answered the main questionnaire only, and S\$50 if they both answered the main questionnaire and participated in the anthropometry and performance measurements. A total of 4484 (98.6%) of the 4549 respondents received S\$50.

DESCRIPTION OF SCALES USED IN THE SIGNS STUDY – I

Depressive symptoms were assessed using the 11-item Centre for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression (CES-D) scale which has been designed as a measure for screening of depressive symptoms.² Respondents were asked to what extent in the past week had the eleven statements pertaining to appetite, sleep, sadness, energy, effort, loneliness, etc. been true for them. Response options included none/rarely (corresponding to a score of 0), sometimes (1) and often (2) and score are totalled including for 2 items where they are reverse-scored. The total scores can range from 0 to 22, with higher scores indicating a higher level of depressive symptoms.³

English health literacy (EHL) was assessed using the Health Literacy Test for Singapore (HLTS),⁴ which was adapted from the Short-Test of Functional Health Literacy in Adults.⁵ The HLTS comprises of 2 components, a 4-item numeracy test and

a 36-item reading comprehension test that consists of two prose passages. In THE SIGNS Study – I, only the 36-item comprehension component was administered since numeracy was not assessed. Respondents were allowed 7 minutes to complete the test. The cut-off between "limited EHL" and "adequate EHL" was set at 75% correct responses. Respondents who were unable to read English were not administered the test.

Loneliness was assessed using the 3-item UCLA loneliness scale.⁶ The scale asks respondents how often they (i) felt they lack companionship; (ii) felt left out; and (iii) felt isolated from others. Respondents answered on a 5-point scale, pertaining to never (scored as 0), rarely (1), occasionally (2), fairly often (3), or always (scored as 4). The total scores can range from 0 to 12, with higher scores indicating a greater extent of loneliness.

Personal mastery, i.e. the extent to which individuals feel in control of their lives, was assessed in the study using the 5-item Pearlin Mastery Scale.⁷ Respondents were asked how strongly they agreed or disagreed with statements that related to control over things, resolution of problems, changing important things in their lives, feeling helpless in dealing with problems, and feeling of being pushed around. Response choices included strongly agree (scored as 0), agree (1), disagree (2), and strongly disagree (3). The total score can range from 0 to 15 with higher scores indicating greater personal mastery.

Quality of Life (QOL) was measured using the CASP-12 scale,⁸⁻⁹ which comprises of 12 questions with four sub-scales on <u>Control</u>, <u>Autonomy</u>, <u>Self-realization</u>, and <u>Pleasure</u>. Respondents were presented with statements pertaining to each of these domains and asked to respond how often they felt that way. Response choices included often (corresponding to a score of 3), sometimes (2), not often (1), never (corresponding to a score of 0). The total score can range from 0 to 36, with a higher score indicating a higher quality of life.

Physical activity was measured using the WHO Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ).¹⁰ The GPAQ asks respondents about the time they spent in a typical week in vigorous and moderate activities at work and leisure, as well as during travel and sedentary behaviour. Respondents whose total physical activity Metabolic Equivalent (MET) minutes per week were greater or equal to 600 were classified as meeting the WHO recommendation on physical activity for health.

Social networks outside the household are measured using the 12-item Lubben Social Network Scale – Revised (LSNS-R),¹¹ modified in THE SIGNS Study – I to assess social ties with individuals outside the household. LSNS-R asks respondents about the number of and frequency of contact with relatives and friends. The scale asks six questions about the size of the network: (i) how many relatives/friends did the respondent see or hear from at least once a month; (ii) how many they felt at ease with to talk about private matters; and (iii) how many they felt close to such that they could call on them for help. Respondents answered on a 6-point scale corresponding to the responses of none, 1, 2, 3 to 4, 5 to 8, and 9 or more. The scale also asks respondents about the frequency of contact: (i) how often did the respondent see or hear from

relatives/friends with whom they had the most contact; (ii) how often would one of their relatives/friends talk to the respondent when the relative/friend had an important decision to make; and (iii) how often was one the respondent's relatives/friends available when the respondent had an important decision to make. Respondents answered on a 6-point scale pertaining to never, seldom, sometimes, often, very often, and always. The score for each item can range from 0 for never to 5 for always. LSNS-R thus has scores from 0 to 60, with lower scores indicating a higher risk of social isolation.

REFERENCES

- 1. Sahadevan S, Lim PPJ, Tan NJL, Chan SP. Diagnostic Performance of Two Mental Status Tests in the Older Chinese: Influence of Education and Age on Cut-Off Values. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*. 2000; 15: 234-241.
- 2. Kohout FJ, Berkman LF, Evans DA, Cornoni-Huntley J. Two Shorter Forms of the CES-D Depression Symptoms Index. Journal of Aging and Health. 1993; 5:179-193.
- Yokoyama, E., Kaneita, Y., Saito, Y., Uchiyama, M., Matsuzaki, Y., Tamaki, T., et al. (2008). Cutoff point for the 11-item shorter form of the CES-D Depression Scale. Nihon University Journal of Medicine, 50, 123–132.
- 4. Ko Y, Lee JY, Toh MP, Tang WE, Tan AS. Development and Validation of a General Health Literacy Test in Singapore. Health Promotion International. 2012; 27(1): 45-51.
- 5. Parker RM, Baker DW, Williams MV, Nurss JR. The Test of Functional Health Literacy in Adults: A New Instrument for Measuring Patients' Literacy Skills. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 1995; 10(10): 537-541.
- 6. Hughes ME, Waite LJ, Hawkley LC, Cacioppo JT. A Short Scale for Measuring Loneliness in Large Surveys: Results from Two Population-based Studies. *Research on Aging*. 2004; 26(6): 655-672.
- 7. Pearlin LI, Schooler C. The Structure of Coping. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour*. 1978; 19(1): 2-21.
- 8. Sexton E, King-Kallimanis BL, Conroy RM, Hickey A. Psychometric Evaluation of the CASP-19 Quality of Life Scale in an Older Irish Cohort. *Quality of Life Research*. 2013; 22:2549-2559.
- Kim GR, Netuveli G, Blane D, Peasey A, Malyutina S, Simonova G, Kubinova R, Pajak A, Croezen S, Bobak M, Pikhart H. Psychometric Properties and Confirmatory Factor Analysis of the CASP-19, A Measure of Quality of Life in Early Old Age: The HAPIEE Study. *Aging & Mental Health.* 2015; 19(7): 595-609.
- World Health Organization. Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ): Analysis Guide. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available at https://www.who.int/ncds/surveillance/steps/GPAQ/en/.
- 11. Lubben J, Gironda M, Lee A. Refinements to the Lubben Social Network Scale: The LSNS-R. *The Behavioral Measurements Letter*. 2002; 7(Winter 2002):2-11.

Chapter 3: Demographic Characteristics: Descriptive Statistics

This chapter presents descriptive statistics on the age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level, living arrangement, housing type, marital status, number of living children, household income, income adequacy and religion of THE SIGNS Study –I participants.

		Gen	der	Ethnicity			
	Total	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
		А	ge (weighte	ed %)			
n	4549	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34
Mean, years	70.9	70.3	71.5	71.1	70.1	70.5	70.4
SD, years	8.0	7.5	8.3	8.0	7.8	8.0	8.1
60-69 years	53.0	55.9	50.4	52.1	58.0	56.2	57.3
70-79 years	30.7	30.5	30.9	31.3	27.6	28.0	27.3
80 years and above	16.4	13.7	18.7	16.6	14.4	15.8	15.4

Table 3.1a Age by Gender and Ethnicity

The mean age of the participants was 71 years overall and similar across gender and ethnic groups. Those aged 60-69 years formed the largest proportion of survey participants (53%), followed by those aged 70-79 years (31%) and those aged 80 years and above (16%). There were fewer females in the 60-69 years age group (50%) compared to males (56%), but a higher proportion of females (19%) than males (14%) in the 80 years and above age group (19%). Across ethnicities, the Chinese had the lowest proportional representation in the youngest age group (52%, aged 60-69 years) but the highest representation in the oldest age group (17%, aged 80 years and above).

		Education	al Level Compl	Living Arrangement			
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living	
					Alone	Alone*	
		A	Age (weighted %	()			
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407	
Mean	75.7	70.0	68.4	68.8	70.7	73.6	
SD	8.7	7.2	6.5	6.5	7.9	8.2	
60-69 years	28.5	56.9	67.9	62.9	54.5	37.7	
70-79 years	37.8	30.4	25.0	29.1	30.1	37.2	
80 years and above	33.7	12.7	7.1	8.0	15.5	25.2	

 Table 3.1b Age by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The mean age of those with no formal education was higher (76 years) compared to those with higher educational levels. Increase in age was associated with a decrease in the level of education completed; those aged 70-79 years and 80 years and above were the highest among those with no formal education, while those aged 60-69 years had the highest proportion across all formal education groups. Those living alone were older on average (74 years) compared to those not living alone (71 years).

		Age Group			Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above					
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	3358	708	449	34	
	Gender (weighted %)								
Male	46.7	49.3	46.4	39.0	46.6	46.0	48.4	55.1	
Female	53.3	50.7	53.6	61.0	53.5	54.0	51.6	44.9	

Table 3.2a Ger	der by Age	e Group ai	nd Ethnicity
----------------	------------	------------	--------------

Between the genders, there were more female survey respondents (53%) compared to males (47%), with a greater difference at older ages. The highest proportion of males (49%) was in the 60-69 year age group and of females (61%) in the 80 years and above age group, reflecting the higher life expectancy of females in Singapore. The proportion of males and females among the Chinese, Malays, and Indians were more or less similar.

Table 3.2b	Gender by	Educational	Level and	Living	Arrangement
------------	-----------	--------------------	-----------	--------	-------------

		E	ducational I	Living Arrangement				
	Total	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*	
n	4549	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407	
	Gender (weighted %)							
Male	46.7	24.9	53.3	54.4	60.9	48.1	32.7	
Female	53.3	75.1	46.7	45.6	39.1	51.9	67.3	

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Three-fourths of older Singaporeans with no formal education were females (75%), whereas nearly two-thirds of those with tertiary education were males (61%). There was a higher proportion of females was higher living alone (67%) compared to those not living alone (52%).

		Age Group			Gender		
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	
Ethnicity (weighted %)							
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	
Chinese	82.9	81.6	84.6	84.4	82.6	83.2	
Malay	9.5	10.4	8.6	8.4	9.4	9.7	
Indian	6.1	6.5	5.6	5.9	6.3	5.9	
Others	1.4	1.6	1.3	1.4	1.7	1.2	

Table 3.3a Ethnicity by Age Group and Gender

Majority of the older Singaporeans were Chinese (83%), followed by Malays (9.5%), Indians (6%) and Others (1%) – these proportions were similar across age groups and gender. The weighted distribution of ethnicity by age-group and gender in THE SIGNS Study – I participants mirrors the national distribution, thus speaking to the representativeness of the study.

		Age Group		Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
			E	ducationa	l Level	(weighted	%)			
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34
No formal	27.5	14.8	33.9	56.7	14.6	38.8	28.8	25.5	19.8	1.3
Drimory	30.6	22.0	30.4	22.8	35.0	26.0	20.1	24.2	22.5	27.1
T Tilliar y	30.0	32.9	50.4	23.0	35.0	20.9	30.1	34.2	33.3	27.1
Secondary	29.2	37.4	23.7	12.7	34.0	25.0	28.2	36.3	32.9	25.2
Tertiary	12.6	14.9	11.9	6.2	16.4	9.2	13.0	3.6	13.5	46.4

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

While older Singaporeans were approximately equally distributed across the categories of no formal education (28%), primary education (31%) and secondary education (29%), only 13% had tertiary education. By age-group, the younger cohorts had higher educational attainment – about 52% of those aged 60-69 years had secondary or tertiary education, compared to 36% of those aged 70-79 years, and 19% of those aged 80 years and above. Females were more likely to have no formal education (39%) than males (15%), and less likely to have any of the higher levels of education. Among the three major ethnic groups, the Chinese had the highest proportion with no formal education (29%), compared to Malays (26%), and Indians (20%). On the other hand, Indians had the highest proportion with tertiary education (14%), followed by the Chinese (13%), and Malays (4%).

	Living Arrangement						
	Not Living Alone L						
Educational Level (weighted %)							
n	4136	407					
No formal education	27.1	31.3					
Primary	30.8	29.4					
Secondary	29.6	24.8					
Tertiary	12.4	14.5					

Table 3.4b Educational Level by Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' have been omitted.

Both the proportions for no formal education and tertiary education were higher among those living alone compared to those not living alone.
			Age Grou	ıp	Ge	nder		Ethn	icity	
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
			Detailed	Living Ar	rangem	ent (weigh	ted %)			
n	4543	2018	1499	1026	2114	2429	3352	708	449	34
Living alone or with maid only	8.8	6.3	10.7	13.5	6.2	11.1	9.3	5.7	5.3	16.0
With spouse only	22.8	22.1	27.8	15.9	26.7	19.5	23.6	17.1	19.9	30.1
With child only	19.6	10.6	20.2	47.3	7.4	30.2	18.7	24.6	24.2	16.5
With child and spouse	42.4	52.9	36.2	20.4	53.5	32.8	42.1	47.7	41.9	29.4
With others only	6.4	8.2	5.2	2.8	6.3	6.5	6.4	4.8	8.7	8.1

Table 3.5a Detailed Livin	g Arrangement by A	ge Group, Gender	and Ethnicity
---------------------------	--------------------	------------------	---------------

Majority of older Singaporeans lived with a child and spouse (42%), followed by those who lived with a spouse only (23%) and with a child only (20%). The proportion who lived alone or with a foreign domestic worker (maid) was the highest among those aged 80 years and above (14%) and the lowest for those aged 60-69 years (6%). A higher proportion of females lived alone or with a foreign domestic worker (11%) compared to males (6%), and this proportion, across the three major ethnicities, was highest for the Chinese (9%), followed by the Malays (6%) and Indians (5%).

	E	Educational Level Completed											
	None Primary Secondary Tertiary												
	Detailed Living Arrangement (weighted %)												
n	1388	1383	1261	503	4136								
Living alone or with maid only*	10.0	8.5	7.5	10.1	0.0								
With spouse only	17.3	23.3	25.2	28.4	25.0								
With child only	37.3	16.6	10.9	7.5	21.4								
With child and spouse	30.6	43.5	50.4	47.4	46.5								
With others only	4.8	8.1	6.0	6.6	7.0								

 Table 3.5b Detailed Living Arrangement by Educational Level

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Among older Singaporeans with no formal education, the highest proportion lived with a child only (37%), followed by those who lived with a child and spouse (31%). Those with higher educational levels and those not living alone were most likely to live with a child and spouse and then followed by living with a spouse only.

		A	Age Gro	up	Ge	ender	Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				Housing	Types (weighted	%)				
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
1-2 room	7.7	7.1	8.3	8.4	8.5	7.0	7.0	12.6	7.6	16.0	
3 room	23.8	22.7	25.5	24.2	23.1	24.5	23.9	25.7	24.1	3.6	
4 room	35.9	37.0	35.0	34.0	36.0	35.8	35.7	39.8	32.0	38.1	
5 room & above	23.7	25.3	22.7	20.4	24.0	23.5	23.9	20.8	26.9	20.3	
Private housing	8.8	7.9	8.5	12.6	8.4	9.2	9.4	1.2	9.3	22.0	
Shop house	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	

Table 3.6a Housing Types by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The largest proportion resided in 4-room Housing Development Board (HDB) flats in all age groups, genders and ethnicities. Between the three major ethnicities, a greater proportion of Malays (13%) resided in 1-2 room HDB flats as compared to Indians (8%) and Chinese (7%).

		Educationa	al Level Compl	eted	Living Arrangement		
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living	
					Alone	Alone*	
		Housin	g Types (weigl	nted %)			
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407	
1-2 room	10.3	9.4	5.9	1.8	5.8	27.4	
3 room	28.8	30.0	19.1	8.6	22.1	41.3	
4 room	39.4	38.6	35.7	22.0	37.3	22.4	
5 room & above	17.1	19.6	29.9	34.3	25.6	4.0	
Private housing	4.3	2.4	9.4	33.0	9.3	4.4	
Shop house	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.4	

 Table 3.6b Housing Type by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The highest proportion with no formal education and those with primary education lived in 4-room HDB flats (39%) followed by 3-room flats (29%). The highest proportion of those with secondary education lived in 4-room flats (36%) followed by 5-room flats (30%), whereas those with tertiary education were most likely to live in 5-room flats (34%) followed by living in private housing (33%). Older Singaporeans living alone were more likely to reside in 1-2 room flats (27%) or 3-room flats (41%) compared to those not living alone (1-2 room flats: 6%; 3-room flats: 22%).

A majority of the participants had joint ownership of the house they were living in with their spouse (47%) while 4.5% of the participants were living in public rental flats. The distribution of house ownership by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level, and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A3d-A3e.

		A	ge Gro	up	Ge	ender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-	70-	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
		69	79	above							
				Marital	Status	(weighted	%)				
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Married	66.9	76.2	66.3	38.0	82.1	53.6	67.1	66.5	64.6	66.1	
Widowed	21.1	9.3	22.7	56.2	7.2	33.3	20.3	25.7	26.7	10.8	
Separated from spouse	0.5	0.5	0.8	0.2	0.7	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.9	0.0	
Divorced	3.7	4.6	3.3	1.5	3.6	3.8	3.7	4.2	2.0	9.6	
Never married	7.7	9.3	6.9	4.0	6.6	8.7	8.3	3.1	5.9	13.5	

Table 3.7a Marital Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

At the point of the study, amajority of older Singaporeans were married, (67%), 21% were widowed, and 4% were divorced. The proportion of those who had never married was 8% overall, and highest for those aged 60-69 years (9%), followed by those aged 70-79 years (7%) and 80 years and above (4%). A third of the females were widowed (33%) compared to males (7%), indicating both the higher life expectancy of females and the spousal age gap.

The distribution of marital status by educational level and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Table A3f.

		1	Age Gro	up	Ge	ender	Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above							
Numbe					r of Livi	ing Childr	en				
Ν	4541	2018	1497	1026	2115	2426	3354	705	448	34	
Mean	2.6	2.0	2.7	4.2	2.4	2.7	2.5	3.3	2.7	2.2	
SD	1.8	1.2	1.6	2.5	1.5	2.0	1.7	2.1	1.6	1.6	

Table 3.8a Number of Living Children by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Older Singaporeans had an average of 2.6 living children with the number being higher among those aged 80 years and above (4.2) compared to those aged 60-69 years (2.0). Across ethnicities, Malays had the highest average number of living children (3.3) followed by Indians (2.7), and Chinese (2.5) then Others (2.2).

]	Educational L	evel Completed	1	Living Arrangement				
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*			
Number of Living Children									
n	1387	1383	1261	502	4131	406			
Mean	3.5	2.5	2.1	1.9	2.7	1.8			
SD	2.2	1.7	1.3	1.2	1.7	2.0			

Table 3.8b Number of Living Children by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The mean number of living children declined as education level increased– older Singaporeans with no formal education had the highest number (3.5), followed by those with primary education (2.5), secondary education (2.1) and tertiary education (1.9). Those living alone had an average number of 1.8 living children, lower than those not living alone (2.7).

The distribution of the number of persons living in the household by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A3g-A3h.

		A	Age Grou	р	Ge	ender		Ethn	icity	
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
Total monthly household income (weighted %)										
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34
<\$500	9.9	6.4	12.7	16.2	10.7	9.2	9.8	11.8	7.8	13.9
\$500-\$999	10.3	8.3	14.1	9.7	8.0	12.4	10.4	9.8	11.4	3.6
\$1000-\$1999	17.3	18.0	17.6	14.3	17.4	17.2	17.5	16.5	16.7	14.8
\$2000-\$2999	9.0	9.7	7.8	8.6	9.9	8.1	8.4	10.6	13.5	11.5
\$3000-\$3999	6.6	7.9	5.6	4.6	7.7	5.7	6.3	8.1	8.0	12.3
\$4000-\$4999	4.8	6.4	2.6	3.6	6.4	3.3	4.4	8.1	5.8	0.0
≥\$5000	14.8	20.5	8.5	8.2	20.6	9.8	15.0	9.8	16.3	30.5
Don't know/	27.4	22.8	31.2	34.9	19.5	34.3	28.3	25.3	20.6	13.4
Refused										

Table 3.9a Total Monthly Household Income by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

The largest proportion for total monthly household income comprised of those who reported \$1000-\$1999 (17%), followed by those reporting \$5000 or more (15%). Around 28% refused to share their total monthly household income.



Figure 3.9b Total Monthly Household Income by Educational Level

As education level increased, the proportion of older Singaporeans who reported a total monthly household income of below \$500 and \$500-\$999 decreased. However, those who reported a monthly household income of above \$5000 increased.

	Living Ar	rangement
	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
Total monthly h	ousehold income (v	weighted %)
n	4136	407
<\$500	7.6	33.7
\$500-\$999	8.8	26.3
\$1000-\$1999	16.8	22.6
\$2000-\$2999	9.3	5.9
\$3000-\$3999	7.1	1.8
\$4000-\$4999	5.1	1.0
≥\$5000	16.1	1.6
Don't know/Refused	29.3	7.1

Table	3.9c	Total	Monthly	Household	Income by	Living /	Arrangement
1 ant	5.70	1 Utai	within	mouscholu	income by	Living 1	All angement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

A greater proportion of older Singaporeans living alone reported a total monthly household income of below \$500 (34%) compared to those not living alone (8%). The reverse is observed for monthly household income of above \$5000 –a significantly smaller proportion of those living alone reported as such (2%) compared to those not living alone (16%).

			Age Grou	р	Ge	ender		Ethn	icity	
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
			Inco	me Adequ	acy (we	ighted %)				
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34
Enough money, with some left over	29.5	32.9	26.0	25.2	39.8	20.4	30.2	22.0	28.1	41.5
Just enough money, no difficulty	49.3	48.5	50.1	50.4	39.5	57.9	50.4	48.2	40.0	33.9
Some difficulty to meet expenses	14.6	13.8	15.9	14.5	14.5	14.7	13.0	20.6	24.1	22.2
Much difficulty to meet expenses	3.8	3.1	5.1	3.8	5.4	2.4	3.3	7.0	6.6	2.5

Table 3.10a Income Adequacy by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Respondents were asked if they thought they had adequate income to meet their household monthly expenses. Overall, about 30% of older Singaporeans thought that they had enough money with some left over, however this proportion declined with age, from 60-69 years (33%) to 80 years and above (25%). Nearly half of all older Singaporeans, overall and in all age groups, reported having just enough money and no difficulties. The proportion with some or much difficulty in meeting expenses was the highest for those aged 70-79 years (21%), and lower for those aged 60-69 years (17%) and 80 years and above (18%).

There was an almost equal proportion between females (79%) and males (78%) who reported having enough money (combining the subgroups 'with some left over' and 'just enough'). However, looking closely at the subgroup with some left over, the proportion of females (20%) nearly doubled for males (40%).

Among the three major ethnic groups, the proportion of those who reported either degree of difficulty was highest among Indians (31%), followed by Malays (28%) and Chinese (16%).

		Educational Level Completed Living Arrange								
	None	None Primary Secondary Tertiary Not Living				Living				
		_	_	_	Alone	Alone*				
Income Adequacy (weighted %)										
n 1390 1385 1262 503 4136										
Enough money, with	15.1	26.2	36.3	53.6	30.0	24.6				
some left over										
Just enough money, no	55.0	51.4	48.5	33.7	48.6	55.5				
difficulty										
Some difficulty to meet	18.8	15.7	11.8	8.8	14.4	16.2				
expenses										
Much difficulty to meet	5.3	4.5	2.4	2.3	3.9	2.7				
expenses										

Table 3.10b Income Adequacy by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Income adequacy increased as educational level increased. Of those who reported having enough money or just enough money, those with tertiary education comprised the largest proportion (87%), followed by those with secondary education (85%), primary education (77%), and those with no formal education (70%).

In terms of living arrangements, the proportions of those who reported having either enough or just enough money were similar between older Singaporeans living alone (80%) and those not living alone (79%). However, there was a slightly higher proportion of those not living alone (30%) than those living alone (25%) who had enough money with some left over.

		Age Group						
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above				
	Religion	n (weighted %)	1	1				
n	4549	2020	1501	1028				
Christianity	17.7	16.5	16.5	23.6				
Buddhism/Taoism	54.7	53.5	56.6	55.1				
Islam	11.5	12.7	10.4	9.7				
Hinduism	3.4	3.6	3.4	2.8				
Others	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.8				
No religion	12.1	13.1	12.8	7.5				

Table 3.11a Religion by Age Group

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Majority of older Singaporeans followed Buddhism or Taoism (55%), followed by Christianity (18%), Islam (12%), and Hinduism (3%). Twelve percent of the proportion reporting no religion; this proportion was the highest about those aged 60-69 years (13%) followed by those aged 70-79 years (13%) and those aged 80 years and above (8%).

The distribution of religion by gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A3i-A3j.

Chapter 4: Physical and Functional Health: Descriptive Statistics

This chapter presents descriptive statistics on the age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement of self-rated health, the overall number of and top 5 chronic diseases diagnosed, difficulty with activities of daily living (ADLs) and instrumental ADLs (IADLs), body mass index (BMI), blood pressure values and hand grip strength.

		A	ge Gro	up	Ge	ender		Ethn	icity			
	Total	60-	70-	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
		69	79	above								
	Self-Rated Health (weighted %)											
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34		
Excellent	3.0	3.3	2.8	2.6	3.3	2.7	3.1	2.3	3.9	0.0		
Very	11.4	13.4	10.3	6.7	11.4	11.3	11.6	9.0	10.5	17.2		
Good												
Good	47.5	50.8	46.2	39.4	48.5	46.7	46.8	51.8	48.0	57.6		
Fair	29.9	27.3	31.2	36.2	27.6	32.0	30.1	29.0	30.8	23.8		
Poor	8.0	5.1	9.4	14.6	9.1	7.0	8.2	7.6	6.7	1.5		

 Table 4.1a Self – Rated Health, Overall by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Nearly 4 in 10 older Singaporeans reported their health to be fair or poor. The proportion reporting their health to be fair or poor increased with age, reaching 51% among those aged 80 years and above. This combined proportion (of fair and poor) was similar throughout both genders and all three major ethnicities – males (37%) females (39%), Chinese (38%), Malays (37%) and Indians (38%).

		Educationa	al Level Compl	eted	Living Arra	angement
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living
					Alone	Alone*
		Self-Rat	ed Health (weig	ghted %)		
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407
Excellent	2.0	2.5	3.5	5.7	3.0	3.0
Very Good	8.0	9.5	14.3	16.5	11.2	12.7
Good	43.9	47.3	50.0	50.5	47.5	47.5
Fair	33.4	32.0	27.3	23.5	30.1	28.2
Poor	12.4	8.4	5.0	3.9	7.9	8.5

Table 4.1b Self–Rated Health, Overall by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

An education gradient was observed for self-rated health. As educational level increased, the proportion of older Singaporeans who rated their health as fair or poor decreased while the proportion who rated their health as very good or excellent increased. Self-rated health status was similar between both living arrangements.

The distribution of self-reported vision and hearing status by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level, and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A4a-A4b.

			Age Group			ender		Ethn	icity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
				above								
	Number of Chronic Diseases											
n	4546	2019	1501	1026	2117	2429	3355	708	449	34		
Mean	2.1	1.8	2.2	2.5	2.0	2.1	2.0	2.1	2.7	1.8		
SD	1.5	1.4	1.5	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.6	1.6		
Number of Chronic Diseases (weighted %)												
None	17.8	21.7	14.9	10.7	18.8	16.9	18.6	16.1	9.6	17.9		
At Least 1	82.2	78.3	85.1	89.3	81.2	83.1	81.4	83.9	90.4	82.1		
0	17.8	21.7	14.9	10.7	18.8	16.9	18.6	16.1	9.6	17.9		
1	21.7	24.7	18.9	16.8	22.2	21.2	22.0	19.4	17.1	35.4		
2	22.9	22.3	23.9	23.3	21.5	24.2	23.2	22.8	19.4	21.6		
≥3	37.6	31.3	42.3	49.3	37.5	37.8	36.2	41.7	54.0	25.1		

Table 4.2a Number of Chronic Diseases (Mean, None/At Least One and Categorized) by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Chronic disease statuses were based on older Singaporeans' self-reporting if they have 'ever been diagnosed' of a condition/disease by a health professional, using a list of common conditions/diseases as a guide. Nearly 40% of older Singaporeans reported that they had ever had 3 or more chronic diseases. While this proportion increased with age and was highest among the Indians, it was comparable between males and females.

Table 4.2b Number of Chronic Diseases (Mean, None/At Least One and Categorized) by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Education	ted	Living Arr	angement						
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living					
					Alone	Alone*					
Number of Chronic Diseases											
n 1389 1384 1262 503 4134 40											
Mean	2.3	2.0	1.9	2.0	2.1	2.2					
SD	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.6					
Number of Chronic Diseases (weighted %)											
None	14.5	19.6	19.7	16.1	18.0	15.6					
At Least 1	85.6	80.4	80.3	83.9	82.0	84.4					
0	14.5	19.6	19.7	16.1	18.0	15.6					
1	19.0	20.8	23.2	26.0	21.6	21.9					
2	23.7	22.2	22.9	23.2	23.0	22.5					
≥3	42.8	37.4	34.2	34.7	37.4	40.0					

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The proportions of the number(s) of chronic diseases were more or less similar across strata defined by education level and living arrangement.

The top 5 chronic diseases among older Singaporeans are reported below.

		A	ge Grou	р	Ge	ender	Ethnicity								
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others					
				above											
	High Blood Pressure or Hypertension														
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)															
n 4549 2020 1501 1028 2117 2432 3358 708 449 34										34					
Yes	55.8	47.6	63.5	67.8	56.0	55.6	55.4	58.0	62.3	33.3					
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)														
n	2644	979	974	961	1206	1438	1934	410	286	14					
Yes	96.3	96.3	96.9	95.5	96.4	96.3	96.2	96.3	98.2	100.0					
		Hospita	lised due	to condi	tion in t	he past 6	months (w	eighted %	6)						
n	2549	944	944	661	1161	1388	1857	397	281	14					
Yes	1.1	1.2	0.7	1.4	1.0	1.2	1.1	1.1	1.0	0.0					
		Ν	Number	of times h	nospitali	sed in the	past 6 mor	nths							
n	27	13	6	8	12	15	20	4	3	0					
Mean	1.4	1.5	1.6	1.1	1.2	1.6	1.4	1.3	2.4	0.0					
SD	0.9	0.8	1.4	0.4	0.9	0.9	0.8	0.5	2.3	0.0					

Table 4.3a High Blood Pressure or Hypertension by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

More than half (56%) of older Singaporeans had been diagnosed with high blood pressure, with the highest proportion among those aged 80 and above. Of those diagnosed, nearly all of them reported having been treated, whereas nearly none of them had been hospitalised due to this condition in the past 6 months. Among those who were hospitalised, the average number of hospitalisations in the past 6 months was 1.4.

Table 4.3b High B	lood Pressure or Hypertension by Educational Le	vel and Living Arrangement
	Educational Level Completed	Living Arrangement

		Educationa	tional Level Completed Living Arrang									
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living						
					Alone	Alone*						
High Blood Pressure or Hypertension												
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
n 1390 1385 1262 503 4136 407												
Yes	62.3	57.2	50.5	50.3	55.7	57.3						
Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)												
n	888	807	678	264	2395	247						
Yes	95.8	96.7	96.4	96.7	96.3	97.1						
H	Iospitalised	l due to cond	ition in the pa	st 6 months (weig	ghted %)							
n	851	781	655	255	2307	240						
Yes	0.9	1.7	1.0	0.0	1.1	1.0						
Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months												
n	8	13	6	0	24	3						
Mean	1.6	1.2	1.6	0.0	1.5	1.0						
SD	1.0	0.9	0.9	0.0	0.9	0.0						

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The proportion of older Singaporeans diagnosed with high blood pressure was the highest among those with no formal education (62%). This proportion decreased as education level increased.

		A	Age Group		Ge	Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
				above								
	Taking prescribed medication for high blood pressure (weighted %)											
n	2648	980	974	694	1206	1442	1938	410	286	14		
Yes	95.7	95.3	96.0	96.0	95.1	96.2	95.6	95.4	97.8	88.2		
No	3.7	4.1	3.8	2.9	4.4	3.2	3.8	4.3	16.0	11.8		
Not taking	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.0	0.6	0.0		
regularly												
Not	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.0	0.0		
prescribed												
medication												

 Table 4.3c Prescription Medication for High Blood Pressure or Hypertension by Age Group,

 Gender, Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Nearly 96% of older Singaporeans diagnosed with high blood pressure reported that they were taking prescribed medication for it. This proportion was similar across all age groups, genders and the three major ethnicities.

 Table 4.3d Prescription Medication for High Blood Pressure or Hypertension by Educational

 Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	eted	Living Arrangement							
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living					
					Alone	Alone*					
Taking prescribed medication for high blood pressure (weighted %)											
n	2398	247									
Yes	96.3	95.1	95.7	96.0	95.6	96.3					
No	3.1	3.9	4.1	4.0	3.8	3.0					
Not taking	0.3	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.1					
regularly											
Not prescribed	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.6					
medication											

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

This proportion of older Singaporeans diagnosed with high blood pressure who reported that they taking their prescribed medication for it was also similar (~95-96%) across strata defined by education level and living arrangement.

		Α	ge Grou	р	Ge	ender	Ethnicity							
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others				
				above				_						
	High Blood Cholesterol or Lipids													
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)														
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34				
Yes	49.2	46.3	51.4	54.7	46.3	51.8	47.9	55.5	60.3	38.7				
Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)														
n	2334	966	804	564	1023	1311	1653	391	274	16				
Yes	95.0	93.3	97.1	95.9	95.2	94.8	94.8	95.5	96.0	92.8				
		Hospital	lised due	to condi	ition in	the past 6	months (w	eighted %	%)					
n	2225	905	779	541	978	1247	1571	375	264	15				
Yes	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.0				
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months													
n	6	4	1	1	1	5	4	1	1	0				
Mean	1.7	1.8	1.0	2.0	2.0	1.6	1.7	1.0	2.0	0.0				
SD	0.9	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0				

Table 4.4a High	Blood Cholesterol or	· Lipids by A	ge Group,	Gender and	Ethnicity
		1 v	o i /		•

About half of older Singaporeans had been diagnosed with high blood cholesterol by a medical professional (49%). Among the three major ethnicities, this proportion was the highest among the Indians, followed by the Malays and Chinese. Nearly all (95%) who had been diagnosed reported being treated for the condition.

			Educationa	l Level Compl	eted	Living A	rrangement					
		None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living					
						Alone	Alone*					
High Blood Cholesterol or Lipids												
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
	n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407					
Yes		54.6	47.4	46.3	48.8	49.3	49.3					
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)											
	n	768	684	616	260	2125	208					
Yes		95.7	94.6	95.9	92.1	94.9	96.0					
]	Hospitalis	ed due to co	ndition in the	past 6 months	(weighted %)						
	n	735	650	592	242	2024	201					
Yes		0.3	0.4	0.2	0.0	0.3	0.0					
		Nu	mber of tim	es hospitalised	in the past 6 n	nonths						
	n	2	3	1	0	6	0					
Mean		2.7	1.2	1.0	0.0	1.7	0.0					
SD		0.7	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.9	0.0					

Table 4.4b High Blood Cholesterol or Lipids by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The proportion who had been diagnosed with high blood cholesterol was the highest for those with no formal education (55%), and marginally lower (46-48%) for those with higher education levels.

		A	Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
				above								
	Taking prescribed medication for high cholesterol (weighted %)											
n	2336	966	804	566	1023	1313	1655	391	274	16		
Yes	93.1	90.7	96.4	93.9	92.6	93.5	92.6	95.4	96.5	86.9		
No	6.3	8.7	3.5	4.7	7.3	5.6	6.7	4.3	3.5	13.1		
Not taking	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.6	0.0	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.0		
regularly												
Not	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0		
prescribed												
medication												

Table 4.4c Prescription Medication for High Cholesterol or Lipids by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Almost all (93%) older Singaporeans who had been diagnosed with high blood cholesterol were taking prescribed medication for it.

 Table 4.4d Prescription Medication for High Cholesterol or Lipids by Educational Level and

 Living Arrangement

		Educatior	Living Arrangement								
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living					
					Alone	Alone*					
Taking prescribed medication for high cholesterol (weighted %)											
n	769	685	615	260	2126	208					
Yes	94.5	93.7	93.3	88.3	93.0	94.5					
No	5.1	5.8	5.9	11.3	6.4	5.5					
Not taking regularly	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.0	0.3	0.0					
Not prescribed	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.5	0.1	0.0					
medication											

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Across education levels, the proportion of those taking prescribed medication for high blood cholesterol was the lowest for those with tertiary education.

		A	Age Group		Ge	ender	Ethnicity						
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others			
				above									
	Cataract												
	Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34			
Yes	30.9	19.4	38.7	53.4	30.5	31.3	31.9	22.5	32.5	25.0			
			Treate	d with m	edicine	or surgery	v (weighted	l %)					
n	1524	390	599	535	697	827	1183	171	160	10			
Yes	78.9	69.2	83.7	83.7	84.3	74.2	78.6	80.2	80.6	77.7			
Hospitalised due to condition in the past 6 months (weighted %)													
n	1224	272	502	450	592	632	944	139	133	8			
Yes	1.4	0.4	1.9	1.6	1.2	1.5	1.5	1.0	0.4	0.0			

Table 4.5a	Cataract by	Age Group,	Gender an	d Ethnicity
		a		

Nearly one-third of older Singaporeans had been diagnosed with cataract. This proportion increased with age, and was lower among the Malays and Others relative to the Chinese and Indians. The proportion who had been treated for cataract also increased with age, and was higher among males (84%) than females (74%).

Table 4.5b Cataract by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

			Educationa	l Level Compl	leted	Living Arrangement		
		None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*	
				Cataract				
		Diagn	osed by a me	edical profession	onal (weighted %	()		
	n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407	
Yes		38.3	28.1	27.2	30.2	30.3	37.4	
		Trea	ted with me	dicine or surge	ery (weighted %)			
	n	554	421	374	172	1357	165	
Yes		82.3	80.2	74.3	75.9	78.4	82.8	
	Н	ospitalised	due to condi	tion in the pas	t 6 months (weig	shted %)		
	n	463	341	285	133	1085	137	
Yes		1.6	1.7	1.0	0.6	1.3	1.2	

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Those with no formal education comprised of the largest proportion that had been diagnosed with cataract as well as had been treated for it were the highest across all education levels. These levels were also were higher for those living alone (37%) versus not living alone (30%).

		A	.ge Grou	р	Gender		Ethnicity						
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others			
Joint Pain, Arthritis, Rheumatism or Nerve Pain													
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)													
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34			
Yes	28.7	25.4	29.6	37.8	26.0	31.1	28.6	27.5	32.9	25.4			
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)												
n	1358	541	459	385	575	783	977	201	151	9			
Yes	70.8	68.2	74.8	70.7	75.7	67.2	70.0	74.0	77.4	60.5			
		Hospita	lised due	e to cond	ition in	the past 6	months (w	eighted %	6)				
n	977	356	343	278	443	534	703	152	116	6			
Yes	4.2	4.4	3.5	4.7	4.5	3.9	4.2	3.3	3.0	18.0			
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months												
n	39	15	10	14	17	22	29	5	4	1			
Mean	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.0	1.0	1.1	1.0	1.5	1.7	1.0			
SD	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.0	0.2	0.5	0.0	0.8	1.1	0.0			

Nearly 3 in 10 (29%) older Singaporeans had been diagnosed with joint pain, arthritis, rheumatism or nerve pain. This proportion increased with age, was higher for females versus males, and was the highest for Indians across ethnicities.

 Table 4.6b Joint Pain, Arthritis, Rheumatism or Nerve Pain by Educational Level and Living

 Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Compl	eted	Living Arra	ingement						
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living						
		_		-	Alone	Alone*						
Joint Pain, Arthritis, Rheumatism or Nerve Pain												
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407						
Yes	33.2	26.5	27.4	27.6	28.5	31.5						
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)											
n	473	389	351	144	1223	135						
Yes	71.1	71.8	69.3	71.1	70.6	73.0						
Н	ospitalised	due to condi	tion in the pas	t 6 months (weig	hted %)							
n	344	281	249	102	877	100						
Yes	4.9	3.7	4.9	1.8	4.4	2.5						
Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months												
n	17	10	10	2	36	3						
Mean	1.1	1.1	1.0	1.7	1.1	1.0						
SD	0.3	0.3	0.0	1.4	0.4	0.0						

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

While older Singaporeans with no formal education were most likely to have been diagnosed with joint pain, arthritis, rheumatism or nerve pain, the proportion who had been treated for the condition was similar across education levels (Primary and above).

		A	Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
High Blood Sugar or Diabetes												
	Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)											
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34		
Yes	25.1	23.3	27.1	26.9	26.9	23.5	23.2	30.6	43.8	17.6		
			Treated	with mee	dicine or	r surgery ((weighted ⁴	%)				
n	1220	507	428	285	598	622	797	214	201	8		
Yes	93.4	93.2	94.2	92.7	92.7	94.2	92.5	96.8	96.1	100.0		
		Hospita	lised due	e to condi	tion in t	he past 6	months (w	eighted %	6)			
n	1147	475	406	266	560	587	737	208	194	8		
Yes	1.9	2.1	1.7	1.6	1.9	1.8	1.9	2.5	1.5	0.0		
Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months												
n	22	11	7	4	12	10	14	5	3	0		
Mean	1.6	1.4	2.0	1.5	1.6	1.7	1.6	1.2	2.8	0.0		
SD	1.0	0.7	1.5	0.6	1.1	0.9	0.9	0.5	2.0	0.0		

Table 4.7a High Blood Sugar or Diabetes by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

One in four of older Singaporeans reported having been diagnosed with high blood sugar or diabetes. This proportion was higher for those aged 70 years and above, versus 60-69 years, higher for males than females, and highest for Indians across all ethnicities. Overall as well as across age groups, gender and ethnicities, more than 90% of those diagnosed with high blood sugar or diabetes reported being treated with medicine or surgery for it.

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement							
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*						
High Blood Sugar or Diabetes												
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407						
Yes	27.0	25.1	23.5	24.5	25.2	23.7						
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)											
n	385	373	331	129	1115	105						
Yes	95.4	94.8	92.0	88.4	93.4	94.3						
E	Iospitalised	l due to cond	lition in the pa	st 6 months (wei	ghted %)							
n	368	355	306	116	1048	99						
Yes	2.4	2.8	1.1	0.0	1.8	3.1						
	Num	ber of times	hospitalised ir	the past 6 mont	ths							
n	9	9	4	0	19	3						
Mean	1.6	1.7	1.3	0.0	1.6	1.5						
SD	0.9	1.2	0.5	0.0	1.0	1.1						

Table 4.7b High Blood Sugar or Diabetes by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Among older Singaporeans who had been diagnosed with and treated for high blood sugar or diabetes, those who received tertiary education and those who were not living alone were less likely to be hospitalised due to high blood sugar or diabetes within the past 6 months.

		A	ge Grou	р	Ge	ender	Ethnicity					
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
				above								
	Taking prescribed medication for high blood sugar or diabetes (weighted %)											
n	1224	508	428	288	598	626	801	214	201	8		
Yes	91.8	91.5	92.7	90.8	91.2	92.4	90.3	96.7	96.0	100.0		
No	7.4	7.5	7.1	7.3	8.3	6.5	8.6	3.3	3.3	0.0		
Not taking	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
regularly												
Not	0.6	0.7	0.2	0.7	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.0	0.7	0.0		
prescribed												
medication												

 Table 4.7c Prescription Medication for High Blood Sugar or Diabetes by Age Group, Gender,

 Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Among older Singaporeans who had been diagnosed with high blood sugar or diabetes, 92% reported taking their prescribed medication. The proportion was similar across age groups and gender, although it was higher for the Indians and Malays across ethnicities.

 Table 4.7d Prescription Medication for High Blood Sugar or Diabetes by Educational Level and

 Living Arrangement

		Educationa	eted	Living Arrangement									
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*							
Taking prescribed medication for high blood sugar or diabetes (weighted %)													
n	387	374	331	129	1118	105							
Yes	93.2	90.3	94.0	87.9	91.6	94.4							
No	6.1	7.9	5.8	12.1	7.5	5.6							
Not taking regularly	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0							
Not prescribed medication	0.3	1.4	0.2	0.0	0.6	0.0							

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Among older Singaporeans who had been diagnosed with high blood sugar or diabetes, across education levels, those with tertiary education were least likely to take their prescribed medication.

The distribution of other chronic diseases assessed from the survey participants, by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level, and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A4c-A4au.

Activities of daily living (ADL) difficulty

Activities of daily living (ADL) difficulty were measured in terms of difficulty in performing daily self-care activities due to a health or physical condition without the assistance of a person or assistive device. Respondents were asked whether they found an activity difficult or not difficult (reported in Table 4.8.1a) and among those who reported that an activity was difficult, they were asked how difficult it was for them to perform this activity by themselves (reported in Appendix Table 4av-4aw).

			Age Grou	ıp	G	ender		Ethn	icity				
Difficulty in	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others			
ADL Difficulty (weighted %)													
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34			
Take a bath/shower	5.1	1.4	3.9	19.5	3.0	7.1	5.0	6.0	6.3	3.4			
Dress up	4.1	1.1	3.3	15.7	2.8	5.3	4.0	4.4	5.6	3.4			
Eat	1.7	0.6	1.3	6.0	1.4	2.0	1.6	2.2	2.1	1.5			
Stand up from a bed/chair; sitting down on a chair	6.9	2.5	5.6	23.4	3.3	10.0	6.4	10.0	9.1	5.3			
Walk (around the house)	7.5	2.2	6.4	26.5	4.5	10.1	7.1	11.1	7.6	5.3			
Use the sitting toilet	3.6	0.9	3.0	13.7	2.6	4.6	3.5	5.2	3.7	1.5			
			Number	of ADL D	Difficulty	(ies) (weigh	ted %)						
No ADL difficulty	90.7	96.6	91.8	69.5	94.7	87.1	91.1	87.5	88.3	94.7			
1-2 ADL difficulties	4.4	2.1	4.5	11.5	2.2	6.2	4.2	5.6	5.2	1.9			
≥3 ADL difficulties	4.9	1.3	3.7	18.7	3.1	6.5	4.6	6.9	6.5	3.4			

Table 4.8.1a ADL	Difficulty by	Age Group,	Gender and Ethnicit	y – Part (i)

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

About 9% of older Singaporeans reported experiencing difficulty with at least one ADL; 4% experienced difficulty with 1-2 ADLs and 5% with 3 or more ADLs.

The largest proportion was for difficulty in walking around the house (8%), followed by difficulty with standing up from a bed/chair or sitting down on chair (7%). The proportion with any ADL difficulty increased by age, doubling from the 60-69 years age group to the 70-79 years age group, and rising sharply for those aged 80 years and above. More females (13%) reported at least one ADL difficulty than males (5%). The proportion with at least one ADL difficulty was highest among the Malays (13%), followed by the Indians (12%), Chinese (9%) and Others (5%).

		Educational	Level Compl	eted	Living Arr	angement						
Difficulty in	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*						
ADL Difficulty (weighted %)												
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407						
Take a bath / shower	11.1	3.5	2.4	2.2	5.1	5.5						
Dress Up	8.5	2.7	2.0	2.6	4.1	4.5						
Eat	3.1	1.1	1.2	1.1	1.8	1.2						
Stand up from a bed / chair; sitting down on a chair	14.4	4.8	3.5	2.8	6.7	8.6						
Walk (around the house)	15.7	5.8	3.0	3.6	7.4	8.3						
Use the sitting toilet	7.7	2.6	1.6	1.2	3.6	3.7						
Number of ADL Difficulty(ies) (weighted %)												
No ADL difficulty	81.2	92.7	95.6	95.7	90.7	90.0						
1-2 ADL difficulties	7.9	4.0	2.2	2.3	4.3	4.5						
\geq 3 ADL difficulties	10.7	3.2	2.2	2.1	4.9	5.5						

Table 4.8.1b ADL Difficulty by Educational Level and Living Arrangement – Part (i)

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Across education levels, older Singaporeans with no formal education were the most likely to have experience at least one ADL difficulty (19A further 11% of them reported difficulty with 3 or more ADLs versus 2-3% of those with higher education levels. The proportion reporting at least one ADL difficulty was similar across living arrangements.



Figure 4.8.2 Requirement of Assistance/Device for ADL by Gender

Among older Singaporeans who reported at least one ADL difficulty, a higher proportion of males (34%) needed human assistance in performing these activities compared to females (25%). On the other hand, the proportion of females needing device assistance was higher (27%) compared to males (24%), and the proportion needing both human and device assistance was also higher among females (29%) compared to males (24%).

The distribution of the requirement of assistance or device for ADL by age group, ethnicity, education level and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A4ax-A4ay.

Instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) difficulty

IADL difficulty was measured in terms of difficulty in performing daily activities of independent living considered more complex than ADL, due to a health or physical condition and without the assistance of a person or assistive device. Respondents were asked whether they found an activity difficult or not difficult (reported in table 4.8.3a) and among those who reported that an activity was difficult, they were asked how difficult it was for them to perform this activity by themselves (reported in Appendix Table A4az-4aaa). Individuals who reported that they did not perform the activity due to a non-health reason (possibly due to gender roles etc.) were considered not to have difficulty due to a health/physical reason.

		A	Age Grou	սթ	Gender		Ethnicity			
Difficulty in	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
	I	I	IADL	Difficult	y (weigh	ted %)		1	1	1
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34
Prepare own meals	6.4	2.0	5.1	23.1	3.3	9.1	6.2	8.3	7.4	3.4
Leave the home to	9.9	3.0	9.3	33.6	5.9	13.4	9.2	15.2	13.6	3.4
purchase necessary										
items or medication										
Take care of financial	3.1	0.8	2.5	11.4	2.1	3.9	3.1	3.7	2.5	1.5
matters e.g. paying										
utilities (electricity,										
water)										
Use the phone	4.5	0.9	4.0	17.3	3.2	5.7	4.4	6.0	4.3	3.4
Dust, clean-up and	7.5	2.6	6.8	24.3	3.8	10.6	7.2	10.0	8.2	3.4
other light housework										
Take public transport	11.3	3.0	11.0	39.0	7.5	14.7	10.4	17.7	15.9	3.4
to leave home										
Take medication as	4.7	0.8	3.6	19.5	3.6	5.7	4.7	5.3	4.9	1.5
prescribed										
Use the Internet for e-	8.0	6.3	8.2	13.0	10.0	6.2	7.9	10.7	5.8	1.5
mail or other purpose										
e.g. making purchases										
or travel reservations,										
communicating with										
relatives & friends or										
searching for										
information										
	I	Num	ber of IA	DL Diffi	culty(ies) (weighte	d %)	I	1	1
No IADL difficulty	79.8	89.9	79.3	47.9	82.4	77.4	80.7	71.8	75.4	94.7
1-2 IADL difficulties	11.6	8.0	13.4	19.8	12.5	10.8	11.0	15.6	15.3	1.9
\geq 3 IADL difficulties	8.6	2.1	7.4	32.0	5.1	11.7	8.2	12.6	9.3	3.4

 Table 4.8.3a IADL Difficulty Status (Due to Health/Physical Reason) by Age, Group, Gender and

 Ethnicity – Part (i)

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

About 20% of older Singaporeans reported having at least one IADL difficulty. Of them, 12% had difficulty with 1-2 ADLs and 9% with 3 or more ADLs. The IADLs for which difficulty were reported the most were those that required going out, i.e. taking public transport and leaving the home to purchase necessary items or medication. As with ADL difficulty, the proportion of those with at least one IADL difficulty increased with

age, doubling from the 60-69 year age group to the 70-79 year age group, and rising sharply for those aged 80 years and above. More females than males reported at least one IADL difficulty (23% versus 18%) with the highest differences for 3 or more IADL difficulties (12% versus 5%). The proportion with at least one IADL difficulty was the highest among the Malays (28%), followed by the Indians (25%), Chinese (19%) and Others (5%).

]	Educational	Level Compl	eted	Living Arra	angement
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407
	IAD	L Difficulty	(weighted %)		
Prepare own meals	14.3	4.8	2.3	2.3	6.4	6.9
Leave the home to purchase necessary items or medication	20.8	7.7	4.3	4.3	9.8	11.0
Take care of financial matters such as paying utilities (electricity, water)	6.4	2.4	1.3	1.5	3.0	3.4
Use the phone	10.0	3.5	1.5	1.5	4.8	2.1
Dust, clean up and other light housework	15.7	6.4	2.8	2.3	7.3	9.1
Take public transport to leave home	24.4	9.1	4.5	3.9	11.3	12.4
Take medication as prescribed	10.6	3.3	1.7	1.9	4.9	3.3
Use the Internet for e-mail or for any other purpose, such as making purchases or travel reservations, communicating with relatives and friends, or searching for information	13.9	8.7	4.0	2.4	8.0	6.9
Nur	nber of l	ADL Diffic	ulty(ies) (weig	ghted %)		
No IADL limitation	61.5	80.2	90.8	93.5	79.7	80.7
1-2 IADL limitations	19.0	13.5	6.1	3.5	11.8	9.5
\geq 3 IADL limitations	19.4	6.2	3.1	3.0	8.5	9.8

Table 4.8.3b IADL Limitation Status (Due to Health/Physical Reasons) by Educational Level and Living Arrangement – Part (i)

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't know' are not shown.

An education gradient was observed for IADL difficulties. The proportion who reported at least one IADL difficulty was the highest for those with no formal education (38%), followed by those with primary education (20%), secondary education (9%) and tertiary education (7%). The most common IADL difficulty among those with no formal education, primary education and secondary education, was taking the public transport. Whereas it was leaving the home to purchase necessary items or medications for those with tertiary education. The proportion with at least one IADL difficulty was similar between those living alone and those not living alone.



Figure 4.8.3 Requirement of Assistance/Device for IADL by Gender

Among those with at least one IADL difficulty, a higher proportion of males (43%) than females (13%) did not need assistance to perform the activity. The proportion of those needing human assistance to perform the activity was higher among females (56%) compared to males (33%). The proportion of those needing both types of assistance was also higher among females (24%) compared to males (14%).

The distribution of requirement of assistance or device for IADL difficulty by age group, ethnicity, education level and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A4aab-A4aac.

Body Mass Index (BMI)

BMI (weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared) was calculated using measured weight and height of the survey participants. Two classifications of BMI were used – the WHO version and a version adapted for Asian body types. The below pie charts measure the classifications of older Singaporeans according to the two classifications.



		A	Age Grou	р	Ge	nder	Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
n	3854	1821	1298	735	1723	2131	2841	599	385	29
Mean	24.4	24.9	24.0	23.1	24.2	24.5	23.9	26.9	26.7	25.2
SD	4.6	4.5	4.6	4.4	4.1	4.9	4.1	6.4	4.8	4.6
		BM	[Categor	ies (WHO) classif	ication) (w	veighted %)		
Underweight	6.6	4.7	7.4	12.4	6.4	6.7	7.2	4.1	1.2	7.7
Normal	53.9	51.5	56.3	58.2	56.5	51.9	57.2	37.9	38.3	39.0
weight										
Pre-obesity	30.2	33.3	27.5	23.9	29.8	30.6	28.9	34.5	40.0	39.3
Obesity	9.3	10.5	8.8	5.5	7.3	10.9	6.7	23.5	20.5	14.0
		BM	I Categor	ies (Asia	n classif	ication) (w	eighted %)		
Underweight	6.6	4.7	7.4	12.4	6.4	6.7	7.2	4.1	1.2	7.7
Normal	32.0	28.6	35.2	38.9	30.6	33.2	34.3	21.9	20.6	20.6
weight										
Pre-obesity	41.5	44.6	38.7	35.3	45.4	38.4	42.5	35.2	38.8	38.3
Obesity	19.9	22.1	18.8	13.5	17.6	21.7	16.0	38.8	39.4	33.4

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The average BMI of older Singaporeans was 24.4 kg/m². The average BMI was lower among those aged 80 years and older compared to those in the younger age groups, similar between males and females, and higher for Malays and Indians than Chinese and Others.

Based on the Asian BMI categorization, the most prevalent group was pre-obesity (42%), and nearly 20% of older Singaporeans had obesity. In general, Singaporeans aged 80 years and above tended to be underweight or normal weight, whereas those

aged 60-69 years tended to have pre-obesity or obesity. A higher proportion of Malays (39%), Indians (39%) and Others (33%) had obesity as compared to the Chinese (16%).

	E	ducational L	evel Complete	ed	Living Arrangement				
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*			
n	1148	1174	1082	447	3501	349			
Mean	24.2	24.5	24.4	24.3	24.4	24.0			
SD	4.8	4.6	4.5	4.0	4.6	4.6			
BMI Categories (WHO classification) (weighted %)									
Underweight	8.1	6.7	6.2	3.9	6.2	10.2			
Normal weight	52.1	53.0	54.8	57.7	54.0	53.7			
Pre-obesity	29.7	31.0	30.0	29.9	30.4	27.9			
Obesity	10.0	9.2	9.0	8.6	9.4	8.3			
	BN	/II Categories	(Asian classi	fication) (we	eighted %)				
Underweight	8.1	6.7	6.2	3.9	6.2	10.2			
Normal weight	34.4	30.2	30.8	34.1	32.1	31.2			
Pre-obesity	38.1	41.7	43.7	43.3	41.9	37.6			
Obesity	19.5	21.4	19.3	18.7	19.8	21.0			

Table 4.9c BMI, Mean and Categories, by Education Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The average BMI was similar across strata defined by education and living arrangement using the WHO classification. However, when classified using the Asian BMI categorization, older Singaporeans with no formal education were more likely to be underweight, and this proportion decreased with education. And in terms of living arrangement, those living alone were more likely to be underweight (10% versus 6%) than those not living alone.

Blood Pressure

		A	Age Grou	ıp	Ge	nder	Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
Systolic Blood Pressure (based on mean of last two of three readings)											
n	4373	1989	1448	936	2026	2347	3222	684	434	33	
Mean	138.4	136.8	139.6	142.1	139.9	137.2	138.3	141.5	137.3	133.6	
SD	19.8	19.3	19.9	21.0	19.3	20.3	19.5	22.1	19.8	21.3	
	Diastolic Blood Pressure (based on mean of last two of three readings)										
Mean	75.1	77.1	73.7	70.4	76.1	74.1	74.8	77.4	74.9	75.2	
SD	11.2	10.8	11.1	11.3	11.3	11.1	11.1	12.3	11.4	9.9	

Table 4.10a Blood Pressure Values by Age Group and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

While the mean values of systolic blood pressure increased with age, those for diastolic blood pressure declined with age. Both mean values were slightly higher for males versus females, and the highest for Malays across ethnicities.

]	Educational	Living Arrangement									
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*						
Systolic Blood Pressure (based on mean of last two of three readings)												
n	1312	1335	1229	491	3976	393						
Mean	140.0	139.2	137.6	135.3	138.5	137.7						
SD	20.9	19.8	19.3	18.2	20.0	18.8						
Diastolic	Diastolic Blood Pressure (based on mean of last two of three readings)											
Mean	73.2	75.5	76.3	75.3	75.1	74.1						
SD	11.5	11.2	11.2	10.3	11.3	10.8						

Table 4.10b Blood Pressure by Education Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

While the mean values of systolic blood pressure decreased with increasing education level, those for diastolic blood pressure were largely similar across education levels. Both mean values were comparable across living arrangement strata.

Hand Grip Strength

Hand grip strength was measured using a Smedley spring-type dynamometer (Hand Grip Meter 6103, Tanita, Tokyo, Japan) among all survey participants who consented to the anthropometric and performance measurement and had not had any physical condition/problem related to their hand in the past six months.

	Age Group			р	Ge	ender	Ethnicity					
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
	Hand Grip Strength (Mean value for dominant hand from two measurements)											
n	4297	1971	1425	901	2006	2291	3177	665	422	33		
Mean	21.1	23.3	20.1	15.3	26.9	16.0	21.3	20.0	19.8	23.0		
SD	7.8	7.7	6.9	6.2	6.6	4.4	7.8	7.5	7.4	7.8		

 Table 4.11a Hand Grip Strength by Age Group and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The average hand grip strength among older Singaporeans was 21.1 kg. The average value decreased with age, was lower among females versus males, and was higher for the Chinese compared to Malays and Indians.

]	Educational	Level Comple	eted	Living Arr	angement				
	None	Primary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*					
Hand Grip Strength (Mean value for dominant hand from two measurements)										
n	1270	1324	1217	481	3904	389				
Mean	16.7	21.6	23.2	24.3	21.3	19.2				
SD	6.4	7.3	7.7	7.6	7.8	7.1				

 Table 4.11b Hand Grip Strength by Education Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

An education gradient was observed in hand grip strength, with mean values increasing with education. Older Singaporeans who lived alone had a lower average hand grip strength (19.2kg) compared to those not living alone (21.3kg).

Chapter 5: Psychological Health: Descriptive Statistics

In this chapter, we look at the overall descriptive statistics for depressive symptoms, personal mastery, quality of life and cognitive status as well as stratified by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement.

Depressive Symptoms

Depressive status was assessed using the 11-item CES-D scale (detailed in Chapter 2: Methodology). A score of 7 and above was considered to represent clinically relevant depressive symptoms.

 Table 5.1a Depressive Symptom Status (Mean CES-D Score and Clinically Relevant Symptoms) by Age

 Group, Gender and Ethnicity

			A	Age Grou	ıp	Ge	nder		Ethr	nicity	
		Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
					above						
			Center o	of Epiden	niologic S	Studies D	epression	(CES-D) Se	core		
r	1	2033	985	697	351	991	1042	1518	303	197	15
Mean		3.0	2.8	3.2	3.7	3.1	2.9	2.9	3.1	3.8	3.3
SD		3.2	3.0	3.4	3.2	3.0	3.3	3.1	3.1	3.8	4.4
Symptoms		11.7	10.1	13.2	15.0	10.9	12.4	11.1	12.7	18.7	8.7
clinically											
relevant											
(weighted %)											

About 12% of older Singaporeans had clinically relevant depressive symptoms. The prevalence of clinically relevant depressive symptoms increased with age, was slightly higher for females than males, and highest for the Indians across ethnicities.

Table 5.1b Depressive Symptom S	Status (Mean	CES-D Scor	e and	Clinically	Relevant	Symptoms)	by
Educational Level and Living Array	ngement						

		Educationa	l Level Compl	eted	Living A	rrangement
	No	Primary	imary Secondary Tertiary Not Livi Alone		Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
	Center	r of Epidemi	iologic Studies	Depression (CES-D) Score	
n	541	634	616	241	1828	202
Mean	3.6	3.1	2.7	2.5	2.9	3.8
SD	3.4	3.4	2.7	2.8	3.1	3.7
Symptoms clinically relevant (weighted %)	17.0	12.0	8.6	8.2	10.9	19.2

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The prevalence of clinically relevant depressive symptoms decreased as education level increased. Older Singaporeans who lived alone were twice as likely as those who did not live alone to have clinically relevant depressive symptoms.

Personal Mastery

This was assessed using the Pearlin Mastery scale (detailed in Chapter 2: Methodology). The total score can range from 0 to 15 with higher scores indicating greater personal mastery.

			Age Gro	up	Ge	ender		Ethn	icity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
				above								
Pearlin Mastery Score												
n	n 1969 974 672 323 981 988 1470 295 189 15											
Mean	9.2	9.3	9.1	9.0	9.2	9.3	9.2	9.3	8.9	9.2		
SD	2.2	2.3	2.2	2.2	2.4	2.0	2.2	2.3	2.6	2.4		
					weight	ed %						
Lowest	44.2	42.6	45.1	50.3	51.0	37.7	42.6	48.1	56.1	65.0		
tertile												
Middle	41.2	41.1	42.5	37.6	28.9	53.1	43.2	36.7	24.6	17.8		
tertile												
Highest	14.6	16.3	12.4	12.1	20.1	9.2	14.2	15.2	19.2	17.2		
tertile												

Table 5.2a Personal Mastery (Pearlin Mastery Score – Mean and Tertile) by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Higher score indicate higher levels of personal mastery.

About 85% of older Singaporeans had a personal mastery score classified into the lowest or middle tertile of the score's distribution. About half of the males were in the lowest tertile, whereas about half of the females were in the middle tertile. Between the three major ethnic groups in Singapore, Indians were more likely to be in the lowest tertile.

 Table 5.2b Personal Mastery (Pearlin Mastery Score – Mean and Tertile) by Educational Level and Living

 Arrangement

		Education	al Level Comple	ted	Living Arra	angement			
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*			
Pearlin Mastery Score Pearlin Mastery Score n 505 616 608 240 1774 192 Mean 9.1 9.0 9.4 9.5 9.2 9.1 SD 2.0 2.2 2.2 2.7 2.2 2.4									
n	505	616	608	240	1774	192			
Mean	9.1	9.0	9.4	9.5	9.2	9.1			
SD	2.0	2.2	2.2	2.7	2.2	2.4			
			weighted %						
Lowest tertile	40.8	47.2	42.2	48.3	44.2	45.1			
Middle tertile	51.6	40.8	39.6	27.2	41.5	37.7			
Highest tertile	7.6	12.0	18.1	24.6	14.4	17.2			

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Higher score indicated higher levels of personal mastery.

Personal mastery was positively associated with education level; the proportion in the highest tertile was twice as high for those with tertiary education than those with no formal education. The proportion in the highest tertile was also higher for those who lived alone versus those who did not live alone.

Quality of Life

Quality of Life was assessed using the Control, Autonomy, Self-realization and Pleasure scale (detailed in Chapter 2: Methodology). The total score can range from 0 to 36, with a higher score indicating a higher quality of life.

 Table 5.3a Control, Autonomy, Self-realization and Pleasure Scale (CASP) Score by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		1	Age Gro	սթ	Ge	nder		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above							
		Control,	Autono	my, Self-ro	ealizatio	n and Plea	isure Scale ((CASP) So	core		
n	4037	1986	1384	667	1975	2062	3013	601	391	32	
Mean	27.1	27.9	26.6	24.7	25.5	28.6	27.1	26.9	26.4	29.7	
SD	6.3	6.0	6.5	6.3	6.1	6.1	6.3	5.8	6.8	5.4	

The average quality of life scores decreased with age, were higher for females than males, and comparable across the three major ethnicities.

 Table 5.3b Control, Autonomy, Self-realization and Pleasure Scale (CASP) Score by Educational Level and

 Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Compl	eted	Living Arra	angement				
	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living				
Control Autonomy Solf realization and Placence Socie (CASP) Secre										
	itrol, Autor	iomy, Sen-re	alization and P	leasure Scale (CA	ASP) Score					
n	1051	1280	1216	489	3653	379				
Mean 25.8 26.3 27.9 29.4 27.2 26.2										
SD	6.7	6.3	5.9	5.3	6.3	6.6				

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The average quality of life scores increased as education level increased and were slightly higher for those who did not live alone than those who lived alone.

Cognitive Status

Cognitive Status was assessed using the Abbreviated Mental Test (AMT) – Singapore (detailed in Chapter 2: Methodology).

		1	Age Grou	p	Ge	nder	Ethnicity					
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
	Abbreviated Mental Test (AMT) Score											
n	4209	1995	1420	794	2001	2208	3138	630	409	32		
Mean	9.2	9.6	9.2	7.7	9.6	8.9	9.3	9.1	9.0	9.8		
SD	1.4	0.8	1.3	2.4	0.9	1.6	1.4	1.5	1.5	0.6		

Table 5.4a AMT score by Age Group and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Older Singaporeans aged 80 and above had poorer cognitive function, indicated by lower average AMT scores, than those in the younger age groups. The average AMT scores were higher for males than females, and comparable across the three major ethnicities.

]	Educational	Level Comp	leted	Living Ar	rangement					
	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*					
Abbreviated Mental Test (AMT) Score											
n	1177	1315	1223	491	3812	391					
Mean 8.2 9.3 9.7 9.8 9.3 9.1											
SD	2.0	1.2	0.7	0.5	1.4	1.5					

Table 5.4b AMT score by Education Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

A slight gradient by education level in average AMT scores was observed; those with tertiary education had the highest average score.

Chapter 6: Health Behaviours: Descriptive Statistics

This chapter reports the descriptive statistics, overall and by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement, for smoking, physical activity, participation in cancer screenings (blood stool test, Pap smear test, and mammogram) and in tests for chronic diseases (blood pressure check, blood test for diabetes or blood sugar level, and blood test for cholesterol or lipid level). We further provide descriptive statistics for prescription medication use, medication adherence, health insurance, and contact with health professionals and services.

Smoking

Respondents were first asked if they had smoked at least 100 cigarettes in their lifetime, defining those who had not as 'never smoker'. Those who responded that they had were asked if they now smoked every day or on some days (defined as 'current smoker') or not at all (defined as 'ex-smoker').

		A	Age Grou	ıp	Ge	nder		Ethn	icity			
	Tota	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
	l			above								
	Smoking (weighted %)											
n	4528	2012	1495	1021	2110	2418	3343	704	448	33		
Never	74.4	74.2	72.7	78.2	48.9	96.8	75.5	67.5	75.6	47.5		
Smoker												
Ex-	14.5	13.1	16.4	15.9	29.4	1.5	14.2	15.9	13.8	26.4		
smoker												
Current	11.1	12.8	10.9	5.9	21.7	1.7	10.2	16.6	10.6	26.1		
smoker												

Table 6.1a Smoking by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

About 3 in 4 older Singaporeans were never smokers; this proportion was lower among those aged 60-69 (74%) and 70-79 years (73%) compared to those aged 80 years and above (78%). On the other hand, a higher proportion of those aged 60-69 years were current smokers (13%) compared to those aged 70-79 years (11%) and those aged 80 years and above (6%).

Most females were never smokers (97%), compared to about half of the males (49%). The proportion of never smokers was higher among the Chinese and Indians (76%) compared to Malays (68%) and Others (48%).

Table 6.1b	Smoking by	Educational	Level and I	jving Ar	rangement
1 4010 0.10	Smoking by	Luucational	Level and I	21 Y III 5 Y II	angement

	1	Educational	Level Compl	Living Arrangement		
	None Primary		Secondary Tertiary		Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
		Smo	oking (weighte	ed %)		
n	1381	1379	1259	501	4117	406
Never Smoker	81.1	68.2	73.0	78.1	74.2	76.7
Ex-smoker	9.7	17.2	15.6	15.9	14.4	15.2
Current smoker	9.2	14.6	11.4	6.0	11.4	8.1

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The proportion of never smokers was higher among older Singaporeans with no formal education (81%) and tertiary education (78%) compared to those with secondary education

(73%) and primary education (68%). The proportion of current smokers was the lowest among those with tertiary education (6%) and highest for those with primary education (15%). Smoking status of those living alone and those not living alone were similar.

Physical Activity

Physical activity was measured using the Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) which asked respondents about the time they spend in a typical week doing vigorous and moderate activities at work and leisure, as well as the time spent during travel and sedentary behaviour. Respondents whose total physical activity Metabolic Equivalent (MET) minutes per week were greater or equal to 600, were classified as meeting the World Health Organisation (WHO) recommendation on physical activity for health.

		Age Group		Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
	Total Physical Activity (weighted %)									
n	2240	1005	739	496	1048	1192	1657	346	219	18
Meets WHO	66.4	75.6	67.1	34.7	74.1	59.6	68.1	52.1	62.0	77.6
recommendations										
Does not meet WHO	33.6	24.4	32.9	65.3	25.9	40.4	31.9	47.9	38.0	22.4
recommendations										

Table 6.2a Physical Activity by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Two-thirds of older Singaporeans met the WHO recommendations on physical activity for health. This proportion decreased with age, was lower among females (60%) compared to males (74%), and was the lowest among Malays (52%), compared to Indians (62%), Chinese (68%), and Others (78%).

		Educationa	l Level Compl	Living Arrangement						
	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*				
Total Physical Activity (weighted %)										
n	667	697	617	255	2052	187				
Meets WHO recommendations	46.9	32.1	30.5	16.4	33.4	35.8				
Does not meet WHO recommendations	53.1	67.9	69.5	83.3	66.6	64.2				

Table 6.2b Physical Activity by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The intensity of physical activity declined as education level increased, with only 16% of those with tertiary education meeting the WHO recommendations on physical activity for health, compared to 47% of those with no formal education. The proportion was similar among those living alone and those not living alone.

Participation in Cancer Screening

Blood Stool Test

The <u>MOH Clinical Practice Guidelines for Cancer Screening</u>, 2010 and recommendations from the <u>National University Cancer Institute</u>, <u>Singapore</u> state that those aged 50 years or older should undergo screening for colorectal cancer annually.

	Age Group			Ge	ender	Ethnicity			
Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
			above				-		
		Last	Blood St	tool Tes	t (weighte	d %)			
2277	1020	754	503	1059	1218	1682	351	226	18
20.9	22.8	19.9	16.6	25.1	17.1	21.3	14.4	20.8	37.8
26.1	25.2	27.9	25.7	22.1	29.7	27.7	15.7	24.1	14.3
51.5	51.3	51.3	52.2	51.4	51.5	49.6	67.2	52.4	47.9
	Total 2277 20.9 26.1 51.5	A Total 60-69 2277 1020 20.9 22.8 26.1 25.2 51.5 51.3	Age Grou Total 60-69 70-79 2277 1020 754 20.9 22.8 19.9 26.1 25.2 27.9 51.5 51.3 51.3	Age Group Total 60-69 70-79 80 & above Last Blood St 2009 22.8 19.9 16.6 26.1 25.2 27.9 25.7 51.5 51.3 51.3 52.2	Age Group GG Total 60-69 70-79 80 & Male above Z277 1020 754 503 1059 20.9 22.8 19.9 16.6 25.1 26.1 25.2 27.9 25.7 22.1 51.5 51.3 51.3 52.2 51.4	Age Group Gender Total 60-69 70-79 80 & Male above Female Last Blood Stol Test (weighte 2277 1020 754 503 1059 1218 20.9 22.8 19.9 16.6 25.1 17.1 26.1 25.2 27.9 25.7 22.1 29.7 51.5 51.3 51.3 52.2 51.4 51.5	Age Group Gender Gender Total 60-69 70-79 80 & above Male best of the test of	Age Group Gender Ethn Total 60-69 70-79 80 & above Male Female Chinese Malay 2277 1020 754 503 1059 1218 1682 351 20.9 22.8 19.9 16.6 25.1 17.1 21.3 14.4 26.1 25.2 27.9 25.7 22.1 29.7 27.7 15.7 51.5 51.3 51.3 52.2 51.4 51.5 49.6 67.2	Age Group Gender Ethnicity Total 60-69 70-79 80 & Male above Female Chinese Malay Indian 2277 1020 754 503 1059 1218 1682 351 226 20.9 22.8 19.9 16.6 25.1 17.1 21.3 14.4 20.8 26.1 25.2 27.9 25.7 22.1 29.7 27.7 15.7 24.1 51.5 51.3 51.3 52.2 51.4 51.5 49.6 67.2 52.4

Table 6.3a Blood Stool Test by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Nearly half of older Singaporeans, overall, and across age groups, gender and ethnicities had never undergone screening for colorectal cancer. The proportion of those who underwent the screening within the last year was the highest for those aged 60-69 years (23%) versus 70-79 years (20%) or 80 years and above (17%). The proportion was higher among males (25%) compared to females (17%), and the highest among Others (38%), followed by Chinese and Indians (21%) and lowest among Malays (14%).

Table 6.3b Blood Stool Test by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educational	Level Comple	Living Arrangement						
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living				
					Alone	Alone*				
Last Blood Stool Test (weighted %)										
n	684	709	623	257	2084	191				
Within the last 1 year	17.4	15.8	22.7	35.9	21.3	16.1				
More than 1 year ago 23.5 24.4 29.0 29.7 26.4 22										
Never	56.0	58.2	47.9	33.6	50.8	59.2				

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The proportion of older Singaporeans who had never undergone a blood stool test decreased as education level increased, and was higher for those living alone versus those not living alone. Those with tertiary education were the most likely to have gone for a blood stool test within the last 1 year (36%), compared to those with secondary education (23%), no formal education (17%) and primary education (16%). This proportion was higher among those not living alone (21%) compared to those living alone (16%).

Pap Smear Test

The <u>MOH Clinical Practice Guidelines for Cancer Screening</u>, 2010 and recommendations from the <u>National University Cancer Institute</u>, <u>Singapore</u> state that all women who have ever had sexual intercourse should undergo screening for cervical cancer through Pap smear test once every 3 years, starting at age 25 years till age 69 years (unless otherwise indicated).

			Age Gro	up	Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
		Last Par	Smear [Fest (weigh	ted %)			
n	1218	516	398	304	906	179	124	9
Within the last 3 years	20.3	30.7	14.6	1.6	20.4	15.1	28.4	13.1
More than 3 years ago	33.1	36.1	36.7	18.9	33.8	31.1	25.0	38.1
Never	44.5	32.8	46.5	72.8	43.6	50.7	45.5	48.8

Table 6.4a Pap Smear Test by Age Group and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Nearly 2 in 5 older Singaporean women had never undergone a Pap smear test, with the proportion increasing with age. Among those aged 60-69 years, only 31% had undergone the test within the last 3 years.

Even among those aged 70-79 years and 80 years and above, only 15% and 2% respectively had undergone the test within the last 3 years; however, we are unable to comment on the appropriateness of this screening given the lack of details on the respondents' reproductive and medical history. Across ethnicities, the proportion of women who had never undergone a Pap smear test was the highest for Malays.

		Educational	Level Compl	Living Arrangement						
	Non	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living				
	e				Alone	Alone*				
Last Pap Smear Test (weighted %)										
n	528	323	266	97	1092	124				
Within the last 3 years	12.3	18.1	29.5	37.3	21.6	7.9				
More than 3 years ago	33.1	33.6								
Never	58.6	46.2	27.2	24.1	43.3	55.6				

Table 6.4b Pap Smear Test by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The proportion of older Singaporean women who had never undergone a Pap smear test decreased by educational level, and was higher among those living alone (56%) compared to those not living alone (43%).
Mammogram

For women aged 50 to 69 years, <u>MOH Clinical Practice Guidelines for Cancer Screening, 2010</u> and recommendations from the <u>National University Cancer Institute</u>, <u>Singapore</u> state that all women should undergo screening for breast cancer through mammograms once every two years (unless otherwise indicated).

			Age Grou	ւթ		Ethn	icity	
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
		Last M	ammagre	above m (weight	ed %)			
		Last	ammogra	ini (weight	.cu /0)			
n	1218	516	398	304	906	179	124	9
Within the last 2	20.9	27.3	19.6	5.9	21.0	19.0	24.9	13.3
years								
More than 2 years	36.9	41.4	39.1	20.9	37.5	32.6	35.3	31.8
ago								
Never	40.5	31.0	40.0	66.8	39.8	45.3	38.8	54.9

Table 6.5a Mammogram by Age Group and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Almost 2 in 5 older Singaporean women never undergone a mammogram, with the proportion increasing with age. Among those aged 60-69 years, only 27% had undergone the test within the last 2 years. Even among those aged 70-79 years and 80 years and above, only 20% and 6% respectively had undergone a mammogram within the last 2 years; however, we are unable to comment on the appropriateness of this screening given lack of details on the respondents' reproductive and medical history. Across ethnicities, the proportion of women who had never undergone a mammogram was the highest for Malays.

Table 6.5b Mammogram by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arr	angement					
	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*					
Last Mammogram (weighted %)											
n	528	323	266	97	1092	124					
Within the last 2 years	14.0	17.7	29.3	38.9	21.0	19.2					
More than 2 years ago	30.6	38.7	41.4	46.9	36.9	37.1					
Never	52.2	42.2	29.0	14.2	40.5	40.1					

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The proportion of older Singaporean women who had never undergone a mammogram decreased by educational level, and was similar between those living alone and not living alone.

Participation in Health Exams/Tests for Chronic Diseases

Blood Pressure Examination

The Ministry of Health, Singapore <u>recommends</u> that adults aged 50 years and above should undergo screening for high blood pressure every 2 years.

		Α	ge Grou	р	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
Last blood pressure check (weighted %)										
n	2277	1020	754	503	1059	1218	1682	351	226	18
Within the	93.9	92.6	95.3	95.1	93.8	93.9	93.9	91.7	96.2	95.9
last 2 years										
More than 2	3.4	4.1	2.7	2.2	3.4	3.3	3.3	4.0	2.4	4.1
years ago										
Never	2.2	2.9	1.5	1.5	2.9	1.7	2.4	2.4	1.0	0.0
n Within the last 2 years More than 2 years ago Never	2277 93.9 3.4 2.2	1020 92.6 4.1 2.9	Last 754 95.3 2.7 1.5	503 95.1 2.2 1.5	1059 93.8 3.4 2.9	1218 93.9 3.3 1.7	1682 93.9 3.3 2.4	351 91.7 4.0 2.4	226 96.2 2.4 1.0	1 95 4. 0.

Table 6.6a Last Blood Pressure Check by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The vast majority of older Singaporeans had a blood pressure examination within the last 2 years, overall as well as across age groups, gender and ethnicities. Nonetheless, this proportion was the lowest for those aged 60-69 years (93%) and for Malays (92%).

		Education	al Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement						
	No	Primary	Secondary	Secondary Tertiary		Living Alone*					
					Alone						
Last blood pressure check (weighted %)											
n	684	709	623	257	2084	191					
Within the last 2											
years	92.8	91.5	96.1	96.8	93.8	94.8					
More than 2 years											
ago	3.6	4.7	2.0	2.5	3.4	2.8					
Never	2.4	3.5	1.5	0.7	2.2	2.5					

 Table 6.6b Last Blood Pressure Check by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The proportion of older Singaporeans who had a blood pressure examination within the last 2 years was very high for all levels of education and across living arrangements, albeit higher among those with secondary (96%) and tertiary education (97%).

Blood Test for Diabetes or Blood Sugar Level

The Ministry of Health, Singapore <u>recommends</u> that adults aged 50 years and above should undergo screening for diabetes every 3 years.

		A	ge Grou	р	Ge	ender		Ethn	icity		
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above							
	Last blood test check for diabetes or blood sugar level (weighted %)										
n	2276	1020	754	502	1059	1217	1682	351	225	18	
Within the	90.2	88.6	92.6	90.9	92.1	88.6	89.9	88.9	95.6	95.9	
last 3											
years											
More than	3.9	5.0	2.5	2.7	2.9	4.7	4.2	2.9	2.5	0.0	
3 years											
ago											
Never	4.7	5.3	3.9	4.0	4.6	4.8	4.8	6.1	1.3	4.1	

Table 6.7a Last Blood Test Check for Diabetes or Blood Sugar Level by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

9 in 10 older Singaporeans had a blood test check for diabetes or blood sugar level within the last 3 years. This proportion was higher among males (92%) compared to females (87%), and higher for Indians (96%) versus Chinese (90%) and Malays (89%), when comparing the three major ethnicities.

 Table 6.7b Last Blood Test Check for Diabetes or Blood Sugar Level by Educational Level and Living

 Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living A	Arrangement						
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living Alone*						
					Alone							
Last blood test check for diabetes or blood sugar level (weighted %)												
n	683	709	623	257	2083	191						
Within the last	87.3	90.0	91.2	94.7	90.4	88.7						
3 years												
More than 3	4.3	3.4	4.4	3.2	3.7	6.0						
years ago												
Never	5.8	5.7	3.9	1.5	4.7	4.3						

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The proportion of older Singaporeans who had a blood test check for diabetes or blood sugar level within the last 3 years was the highest for those with tertiary education (95%).

Blood Test for Blood Cholesterol or Lipid Level

The Ministry of Health, Singapore <u>recommends</u> that adults aged 50 years and above should undergo screening for high blood cholesterol every 3 years.

		A	Age Grou	ıp	Gender					
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
	L	ast blood	d test cho	eck for cl	holester	ol or lipid	level (weigh	ted %)		
n	2277	1020	754	503	1059	1218	1682	351	226	18
Within the last 3 years	90.6	89.1	92.8	91.7	92.6	88.9	90.2	89.9	96.1	95.9
More than 3 years ago	3.8	4.8	2.7	2.5	2.8	4.7	4.0	3.4	2.7	0.0
Never	4.7	5.4	3.8	3.9	4.2	5.1	4.9	4.9	0.8	4.1

Table 6.8a Last Blood Test Check for Blood Cholesterol or Lipid Level by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

9 in 10 older Singaporeans had a blood test check for cholesterol or lipids level within the last 3 years. This proportion was higher among males (93%) compared to females (89%), and higher for Indians (96%) compared to Malays (90%) and Chinese (90%).

 Table 6.8b Last Blood Test Check for Blood Cholesterol or Lipid Level by Educational Level and Living

 Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Comp	eted	Living Arra	angement					
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*					
n	684	709	623	257	2084	191					
Last blood test check for cholesterol or lipid level (weighted %)											
Within the last 3 years	88.2	90.6	91.3	94.1	90.7	90.0					
More than 3 years ago	4.1	3.7	4.2	2.8	3.6	5.9					
Never	5.6	5.1	4.3	2.7	4.7	4.1					

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The proportion of older Singaporeans who had a blood test check for cholesterol or lipids level within the last 3 years was the highest for those with tertiary education (94%).

Prescription Medication Use and Adherence

1 4010 00.	/ 11050	i iption it	icultatio	n ese by me	c oroup, o	inuci anu	Ethnicity				
			Age Gro	oup	Gen	der		Ethn	icity		
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above				, i			
	Take prescription medications on a regular basis (weighted %)										
n	2277	1020	754	503	1059	1218	1682	351	226	18	
Yes	74.1	66.7	81.4	84.7	72.8	75.4	73.6	75.7	82.7	59.6	
Number of prescription medications											
n	2257	1012	747	498	1050	1207	1665	351	223	18	
Mean	2.3	1.9	2.7	3.2	2.3	2.3	2.4	2.8	2.9	1.4	
SD	2.3	2.1	2.4	2.6	2.4	2.3	2.3	2.6	2.4	1.7	
		Nu	umber of	prescription	n medicatior	is (categor	ies), weight	ted %			
0	26.0	33.5	18.7	15.5	27.5	24.8	26.6	24.3	17.5	40.4	
1-4	59.7	57.2	64.0	59.9	57.0	62.1	60.0	56.3	61.3	56.9	
≥5	14.3	9.4	17.3	24.6	15.5	13.2	13.4	19.4	21.2	2.7	

 Table 6.9a Prescription Medication Use by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Nearly 3 in 4 older Singaporeans took prescription medications on a regular basis, and 14% had polypharmacy (i.e. took 5 or more prescription medications on a regular basis). These proportions increased with age, were relatively similar for females and males, and were the highest among Indians – 83% for over across ethnicities. A similar pattern – for age group, gender and ethnicity – was also observed for the mean number of prescription medications.

		Education	al Level Comple	eted	Living Ar	rangement						
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living Alone*						
					Alone							
	Take prescription medications on regular basis (weighted %)											
n	684	709	623	257	2084	191						
Yes	79.3	74.6	68.2	75.4	74.4	72.3						
Number of prescription medications												
n	675	702	620	256	2064	191						
Mean	2.8	2.3	2.0	2.1	2.3	2.3						
SD	2.5	2.2	2.2	2.4	2.3	2.6						
	Number of prescription medications (categories), weighted %											
0	21.0	25.4	32.0	24.7	25.8	27.7						
1-4	58.9	61.8	56.5	63.9	59.9	57.9						
≥5	20.2	12.8	11.5	11.4	14.3	14.4						

 Table 6.9b Prescription Medication Use by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Across educational levels, those with no formal education comprised of the highest proportions of those who took prescription medications regularly (79%), those who had polypharmacy (20%) and the mean number of prescription medications (3%). An education gradient was observed in the context of polypharmacy; as the proportion of those who had polypharmacy increased, the level of education level decreased. The various indicators for prescription medications were similar between those living alone and not living alone.

				v	0			v			
		A	Age Grou	ւթ	Ge	ender		Ethn	icity		
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
	Forget to take prescription medications at times (weighted %)										
n	1737	690	623	424	787	950	1269	268	190	10	
Yes	26.4	29.2	25.7	20.5	32.9	20.9	25.7	30.5	24.4	59.0	
n .			1000/		0.0	0 1/0					

Table 6.10a Medication Adherence by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The proportion of older Singaporeans who forgot to take their prescription medications at times decreased with age, was higher among males (33%) compared to females (21%), and was the highest for Malays (59%) among the three major ethnicities.

Table 6.10b Medication	Adherence by	Educational	Level and I	Living A	rrangement

	Educationa	Living Arrangement					
None Primary Secondary Tertiary				Not Living Alone	Living Alone*		
Forget to take prescription medications at times (weighted %)							
n 550 540 445 199 1594 142							
21.7	27.6	30.4	26.3	27.1	18.8		
	None 550 21.7	EducationaNonePrimaryForget to t55054021.727.6	Educational Level CompleNonePrimarySecondaryForget to take prescription55054044521.727.630.4	Educational Level CompletedNonePrimarySecondaryTertiaryForget to take prescription medications55054044519921.727.630.426.3	Educational Level CompletedLiving ArrNonePrimarySecondaryTertiaryNot Living AloneForget to take prescription medications at times (weighted %550540445199159421.727.630.426.327.1		

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The proportion of older Singaporeans who forgot to take their prescription medications at times was the lowest for those with no formal education (22%), and lower for those living alone (19%) compared to those not living alone (27%).

Health Insurance

		Δ	Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-	70-	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
		69	79	above				2			
			Н	lealth Ins	urance (weighted %	(0)				
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Medisave account	93.9	96.4	93.7	86.1	95.7	92.3	93.9	94.0	94.7	90.6	
Private health insurance	32.6	43.2	26.2	10.1	35.9	29.7	34.1	23.0	24.7	41.8	
Health benefits through current or previous employer	20.7	29.3	14.0	5.6	27.7	14.6	19.6	24.9	26.1	33.5	

Table 6.11a Medisave Account by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The vast majority of older Singaporeans had a Medisave Account, about one-third had private health insurance and one-fifth had health benefits through their current or previous employer. These proportions decreased with age and was higher among males versus females. Comparing Chinese, Malays and Indians, while the proportion with a Medisave Account was similar, the Chinese proportion had the highest proportion for private health insurance and the lowest for health benefits through their current or previous employer.

		Educationa	Living Arrangement							
	No Primary		Secondary	Secondary Tertiary		Living				
					Alone	Alone*				
	Health Insurance (weighted %)									
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407				
Medisave account	88.1	94.6	97.3	96.9	94.1	92.2				
Private health	16.9	31.0	42.1	49.0	33.5	24.0				
insurance										
Health benefits	8.9	19.0	28.6	32.7	21.2	15.5				
through current or										
previous employer										

Table 6.11b Medisave Account by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The proportion of those with private health insurance and health benefits through current or previous employer increased with education level, and was higher among those not living alone compared to those living alone.

Healthcare Utilisation

				_ _ /	C			E 41	• - • 4	
		P	Age Grou	lp	G	ender		Ethnicity		
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
Healthcare Utilisation (weighted %)										
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34
				In the	past 3 m	onths				
Private general practitioner (GP)	30.5	30.6	30.6	29.9	30.5	30.5	30.2	31.8	30.9	36.3
Doctor at polyclinic	42.1	38.3	46.5	46.0	43.1	41.2	41.5	42.0	48.3	49.3
Doctor at specialist outpatient clinic	24.3	22.7	25.1	27.7	24.8	23.8	24.1	18.9	31.7	37.7
Private specialist	3.8	3.6	3.8	4.0	4.0	3.6	3.8	2.0	3.7	10.6
Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) practitioner or traditional healer	11.0	11.4	11.8	8.3	9.6	12.2	12.7	1.7	2.4	10.7
				In the	past 6 m	nonths				
Hospital emergency room	8.3	6.7	8.4	13.5	7.8	8.9	7.8	10.8	12.2	9.0
In the past 12 months										
Admitted to nursing home	0.5	0.3	0.5	1.2	0.7	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.0
Admitted to public or private	12.4	8.6	14.0	21.3	14.3	10.7	11.4	16.8	15.6	24.7

Table 6.12a Healthcare utilisation by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The most frequent types of health professionals whom older Singaporeans had visited at least once in the 3 months prior to their survey interview (hereafter, past 3 months) were a doctor at a polyclinic (42%), followed by a private general practitioner (GP; 31%). Across all demographic groups as well as overall numbers, a higher proportion of older Singaporeans had consulted specialists at a specialist outpatient clinic compared to private specialists (overall: 24% and 4% respectively). Additionally, 11% of older Singaporeans had consulted Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) practitioners or traditional healers. Overall, 8% of older Singaporeans had visited a hospital emergency room within the past 6 months. Admissions to a nursing home was low overall, at less than 1%. Admission to a public or private hospital in the past 12 months was reported by 12% of respondents.

The proportion with at least 1 visit to a *private GP* in the past 3 months was comparable (~30%) across age groups, gender and the three major ethnicities. The proportion with at least 1 visit to a *doctor at a polyclinic* in the past 3 months was similar among those aged 70-79 years (47%) and 80 years and above (46%), but lower for those aged 60-69 years (38%). This proportion was slightly higher among males (43%) versus females (41%), and highest for Indians (48%) across the three major ethnicities. The proportion with at least 1 visit to a *doctor at a specialist outpatient clinic* in the past 3 months increased with age, but was similar for males and females. Across the three major ethnicities, it was the lowest for Malays (19%) and the highest for

Indians (32%). The proportion with at least 1 visit to a *specialist doctor in private practice* was low, around 4%, across age groups, gender and the three major ethnicities. The proportion who had consulted *Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) practitioners or traditional healers* in the past 3 months was slightly higher in the younger age groups and for females (12%) versus males (10%), and the highest for Chinese (13%) across the three major ethnicities. The proportion of older Singaporeans who had visited a *hospital emergency room* in the past 6 months increased with age, was comparable across gender, and was the highest for Indians (12%) and Malays (11%). The proportion of older Singaporeans who had been *admitted to a public or private hospital* in the past 12 months increased with age, was higher for males versus females, and the lowest for Chinese (13%) across the three major ethnicities.

	-	Educational L	Living Arrangement			
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
	-	Healthcare Ut	ilisation (weigh	ited %)		·
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407
		In the	past 3 months	·		·
Private general practitioner (GP)	31.1	30.2	30.8	29.5	30.8	28.3
Doctor at a polyclinic	45.4	43.6	39.5	36.8	41.9	43.4
Doctor at specialist outpatient clinic	22.5	21.5	24.3	34.8	23.9	28.4
Private specialist	3.1	2.5	3.2	9.8	3.6	4.8
Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM)	11.4	11.0	10.3	11.6	10.8	12.8
		In the	past 6 months	·		·
Hospital emergency room	10.2	8.3	6.9	7.7	8.3	8.4
		In the	past 12 months	·		·
Admitted to nursing home	0.7	0.5	0.5	0.2	0.5	0.5
Admitted to public or private hospital	15.5	13.8	9.5	8.2	12.2	14.2

Tahla 6 17h Haaltheara	utilisation by l	ducational Lava	l and L iving A	rrangamont
1 abic 0.120 incannearc	utilisation by I	Suucanonai Leve	i anu Living A	angement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

While the proportion with at least 1 visit to a *private GP* was similar across education levels, the proportion with at least 1 visit to a *doctor at a polyclinic* decreased with increasing education. Those with tertiary education were most likely to visit *specialist doctors*. Across educational levels, older Singaporeans with no formal education had the highest proportion with at least 1 *hospital emergency room visit* (10%), admission to *nursing home* (1%) and to a *public or private hospital* (16%). Contact with health professionals was largely similar between living arrangements, except for at least 1 visit to specialist doctors, which was higher among those living alone.

The distribution of healthcare utilisation, and the length of last admission to a public or private hospital by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A6a-A6d.

English Health Literacy

		Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
Limited English Health Literacy (HLTS Score below 27) (weighted %)										
	67.4	63.8	71.8	86.7	67.1	67.7	66.0	80.5	70.8	32.8
			Health Li	teracy Te	est for S	ingapore ((HLTS) Sc	ore		
n	1052	643	296	113	597	455	657	209	169	17
Mean	18.6	20.1	16.8	10.2	19.0	18.1	19.4	14.1	16.8	24.7
SD	12.3	11.9	12.5	11.7	12.1	12.5	12.2	11.5	12.9	11.4

 Table 6.13a English Health Literacy (Adequacy and Mean Health Literacy Test for Singapore [HLTS]

 Score) by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Nearly 3 in 4 older Singaporeans had limited English health literacy. This proportion increased with age, was similar between genders, and was the highest among Malays (81%) across ethnicities. The mean HLTS score – where a higher score indicates a greater extent of English health literacy- decreased with age, was similar between genders, and was the lowest among Malays across ethnicities.

Table 6.13b English Health	Literacy (Adequacy	and Mean H	Health Literacy	Test for Singapo	re [HLTS]
Score) by Educational Level	and Living Arrange	ment			

		Educationa	Living Arrangement					
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*		
Limited English Health Literacy (HLTS Score below 27) (weighted %)								
	94.1	89.5	68.9	39.7	67.0	71.0		
		Health	Literacy Test fo	or Singapore ((HLTS) Score			
n	51	266	504	230	962	89		
Mean	8.2	11.8	19.0	25.7	18.7	17.7		
SD	9.1	9.9	11.6	11.6	12.4	11.8		

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

A strong gradient by educational level was observed for limited English health literacy and mean HLTS score. The proportion with limited English health literacy declined from 94% for those with no formal education to 40% for those with tertiary education. In terms of living arrangement, those living alone were more likely to report limited English health literacy than those not living alone.

The distribution of reading ability in English, Chinese, Malay, Tamil and other languages by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement are provided in Appendix Tables A6e-A6n.

Chapter 7: Correlates of Healthcare Utilisation

June May-Ling Lee, Rahul Malhotra

INTRODUCTION

A key implication of an ageing population is the increase in utilisation of healthcare services. However, not all older persons are alike in their healthcare utilisation, and an understanding of the demographic, health and social characteristics of older Singaporeans that correlate with healthcare utilisation is necessary to identify the key drivers.

In conceptualising the correlates of healthcare use, we turn to the Anderson model of healthcare use.³ It posits that three types of inter-related variables – predisposing, enabling and need – explain healthcare use. Predisposing variables are individual characteristics such as age, gender, race and education level, which predicts an individual's propensity to use healthcare services more so than other individuals. Most predisposing variables have low mutability or are non-modifiable in the short term, thus are not be appropriate targets for intervention. Enabling variables refer to conditions that facilitate an individual's use of healthcare services. These conditions are more likely to be modifiable and include factors such as income, health insurance, and accessibility of social support and care. Finally, need is an individual's perception of his/her health status and the need for health care. This variable is also potentially modifiable through interventions such as health education.

Previous studies from Singapore, using administrative or electronic medical record data, ^{1,2} identify some demographic and physical health characteristics, such as age or number of chronic diseases, as correlates of healthcare utilisation. These, somewhat obvious correlates, fall in the predisposing or need domains of the Anderson's model. However, the role of psychological health or social characteristics, such as personal mastery, loneliness or social networks, is less clear. As such, an insight into the presence and direction of association of a wide range of characteristics, especially psychological health or social characteristics, with healthcare utilisation is both timely and required. This will be useful for policymakers and planners of healthcare services in Singapore in at least two ways. First, determination of modifiable psychological health or social characteristics, such as personal mastery^{4,5} or social network, ⁶⁻⁸ over and above physical health characteristics, will help identify additional targets for intervention. Second, delineation of non-modifiable characteristics, such as age, gender and educational status, concurrent with projections of the distribution of such characteristics in future cohorts of older Singaporeans, will enable more informed planning for healthcare service provision.

Healthcare services in Singapore range from primary care services, such as general practitioner (GP) clinics or polyclinics and tertiary care outpatient services, such as private specialists and specialist outpatient clinics to hospital services, such as emergency rooms and inpatient hospital admissions. The relatively low cost of primary care services are expected to

cover screening and management of chronic disease while higher cost tertiary care and hospital services address more complex and acute health needs. Individuals who do not utilise primary care and tertiary outpatient services may turn up at emergency rooms with more severe and complex medical conditions. Therefore, as part of optimising overall healthcare utilisation, shifting the balance from tertiary care services to primary care services is key to manage costs and the growing demand for healthcare services.

Understanding the correlates for use of different types of healthcare services, rather than a single type, provides a more holistic view of the determinants of healthcare utilisation. If we can identify characteristics which are consistently associated with utilisation across the various types, then addressing them if they are modifiable or accounting for them in planning for healthcare services if they are non-modifiable, may have a higher impact than focusing on characteristics that are correlated only with a single type of healthcare service.

Using data from baseline wave (or Wave 1) of the nationally representative "Transitions in Health, Employment, Social engagement and Inter-Generational transfers in Singapore Study (THE SIGNS Study)", we assess the association of a wide range of demographic, social and health characteristics of older Singaporeans with utilisation of various types of healthcare services, viz. primary care outpatient visits, tertiary care outpatient visits, emergency room visits, and acute hospital admissions among community-dwelling older Singaporeans.

METHODS

Analytical sample

Details on the sampling design and response rate of THE SIGNS Study are provided in the Methodology section of the report. The analytical sample for this analysis was restricted to those responding to Version B of the main questionnaire since data on psychological health and social characteristics were collected only in this version. We further excluded proxy interviews (conducted with a family member, if the older person was unable to respond due to health reasons) as proxies were not administered the scales or measures assessing psychological health and social characteristics.

Dependent variable: Healthcare utilisation

We examined 4 types of healthcare utilisation: (i) primary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months; (ii) tertiary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months; (iii) emergency room visit in the last 6 months; and (iv) hospital admission in the last 12 months.

Primary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months were assessed by 2 questions: (a) did you see or talk to a private practitioner (GP) for a health problem in the last 3 months and (b) did you see or talk to a doctor in a polyclinic for a health problem in the last 3 months. For each question, those responding "Yes", were asked to specify the number of visits; the reported number of visits for each question was capped at 12, with values more than 12 (n=2 for question (b)) rounded down to 12. And, the number of visits was coded as 0 for those responding as "No", "Don't know" or "Refused". Finally, the number of visits reported for GPs and for polyclinics

were summed to arrive at the total number of primary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months. Those who reported "Don't know" or "Refused" to both questions (a) and (b) were excluded from the analyses (n=6).

Tertiary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months were assessed by 2 questions in: (a) did you see or talk to a doctor at a specialist outpatient clinic for a health problem in the last 3 months and (b) did you see or talk to a private specialist for a health problem in the last 3 months. For each question, those responding "Yes", were asked to specify the number of visits; the reported number of visits for each question was capped at 12 visits, with values more than 12 (n= 4 and 1, for questions (a) and (b) respectively) rounded down to 12. And, the number of visits was coded as 0 for those responding "No", "Don't know" or "Refused". Finally, the number of visits reported for specialist outpatient clinics and for private specialists were summed to arrive at the total number of tertiary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months. Those who reported "Don't know" or "Refused" to both questions (a) and (b) were excluded from the analyses (n=11).

Hospital emergency room visit in the last 6 months was assessed by asking, 'During the last 6 months, did you go to a hospital emergency room for help with a health problem you were facing?' While those responding "Yes" were asked about the number of visits, 82% of them reported only 1 visit. Due to lack of variability in the number, hospital emergency room visit in the last 6 months was thus considered as a binary variable (yes/no) in further analysis.

Hospital admission in the last 12 months (yes/no) was assessed by asking, 'During the last one year, were you admitted to a public or private hospital (by admitted, I mean you were kept in a hospital for at least one night in a hospital bed)?'

Potential correlates of healthcare utilisation

Demographic characteristics

These included age (60-69/ 70-79/ \geq 80 years), gender (male/ female), ethnicity (Chinese/ Malay/ Indian/ Other), education (no formal/ primary/ secondary or ITE or vocational/ above secondary), housing type (HDB 1-2 rooms/ HDB 3 rooms/ HDB 4 rooms/ HDB 5 room and above or HUDC or Executive/ Private and others), employment status (working full-time/ working part-time/ retired and-or not working/ never worked), perceived income adequacy (enough money, with some left over *or* just enough money, no difficulty/ some or much difficulty to meet expenses), private health insurance (yes/ no) and health benefits from current or previous employer (yes/ no).

Physical health characteristics

These were number of activities of daily living (ADL) limitations $(0/1/2/\ge3)$ and number of chronic health conditions diagnosed by a health professional $(0/1/2/\ge3)$. Assessed ADLs included taking a bath, dressing up, eating, standing up and sitting down from a bed/chair, walking around the house, going out of the house and using the toilet. For each ADL the respondent was considered to have a limitation if he/she reported that he/she f it difficult to

perform the activity alone without the assistance of a person or assistive device due to his/her health or physical state.

Psychological health characteristics

These included clinically relevant depressive symptoms, personal mastery and cognition. Clinically relevant depressive symptoms were assessed using a modified version of the 11-item Center for Epidemiologic studies for Depression (CES-D) scale, where each item was scored 0 to 2 (none/rarely; sometimes; often) depending on how often the respondent felt that way during the past week.⁹ The total score ranged from 0 to 22. A higher score indicates a greater extent of depressive symptoms. A cut-off of 7 was used to categorise respondents into clinically relevant depressive symptoms (yes/no). For personal mastery, a five-item version of the Pearlin Mastery Scale was used.¹⁰ Responses for each item, scored on a 4-point agree-disagree format, were summed up to form a single score (higher score indicates higher personal mastery). The score was categorised into tertiles for further analysis. Cognition was assessed using the Abbreviated Mental Test (AMT).¹¹ Its score was used as a continuous variable in the analysis; a higher score indicating better cognition.

Social characteristics

These included living arrangement, loneliness and social network. Living arrangement was classified as living alone or only with a foreign domestic worker (FDW) or maid; living with spouse only; living with child only; living with spouse and child and living with others. Loneliness was determined using the University of California Los Angeles 3-item loneliness scale, in which each item measures a specific dimension of loneliness: (i) relational connectedness, (ii) social connectedness and (iii) self-perceived loneliness. The respondent rated each item on a Likert Scale from 0 to 4. The scale score ranges from 0 to 12, with a higher score indicating a higher level of loneliness. For our analysis, scores were categorised as not lonely (score of 0)/ sometimes lonely (score 1-3) / lonely (score>3). Social network was assessed using a modified version of the Lubben Revised Social Network Scale.¹² The scale consists of 12 items assessing network size, frequency of contact, closeness, and perceived support from friends (six items) and relatives (six items). Each item was scored on a six-point scale from 0 to 5 (higher scores indicate stronger network). The cumulative score, ranging from 0 to 60, was divided into tertiles for further analysis.

Statistical analysis

The unadjusted and adjusted association of the potential correlates detailed above with the number of primary care and tertiary care outpatient visits was assessed using two-part regression models. These models are used when the distribution of the outcome has a mix of discrete and continuous features, such as for number of outpatient visits, where many respondents would have no visit (thus, a '0' value) and then among those who had at least 1 visit, there would be a right-skewed distribution of the number of visits. In such situations, the use of standard linear regression methods is not recommended. In our case, in the two-part regression models for primary care outpatient visits and for tertiary care outpatient visits, the 1st part was a logistic regression model estimated on the entire sample, where the dependent

variable equalled 1 if the respondent had at least 1 visit and 0 otherwise, and the 2nd part was generalised linear model (GLM) estimated on only respondents with \geq 1 visit. We developed the two-part regression models using the *twopm* command in Stata; due to over dispersion of the outcome, we used the *glm* command with a log link and negative binomial family. The two-part model allowed for a single joint statistical significance test and an overall predicted value for both parts of the model.

The unadjusted and adjusted association of the potential correlates detailed above with emergency room visit in the last 6 months (yes/no) and with hospital admission in the last 12 months (yes/no) was determined using logistic regression models.

For each of the 4 healthcare utilisation outcomes, we first considered each potential correlate individually in the appropriate regression model (two-part or logistic) to obtain the unadjusted coefficients (Results provided in Appendix Tables A7A to A7D). Then, the adjusted coefficients were determined by including all the potential correlates together in the appropriate regression model.

RESULTS

Outcome: Primary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months

Distribution of number of primary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months is provided in Figure 7.1. The number ranged from 0 to 12 visits, with 38.2% respondents having no visit and 39.3% having only 1 visit.



Figure 7.1. Distribution of primary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months (N=1880)

In the adjusted analyses (Table 7.1), only the marginal effect (i.e. the number of primary care outpatient visits were higher or lower relative to the reference group of the characteristic) for number of chronic health conditions and number of tertiary care outpatient visits on primary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months was significant. Relative to those with no chronic health condition, those with 1, 2 and \geq 3 conditions had 0.41, 0.57, and 0.62 *more* primary care visits – the higher number of visits was driven by a significantly higher chance of having at least 1 visit.

For each additional tertiary care visit, primary care visits *increased* by 0.12 – the increase was the result of significantly higher number of tertiary care visits among those who had at least 1 visit.

While housing type, living arrangement and personal mastery were not associated with the total number of primary care visits, they were associated with the chances of having at least 1 primary care visit. Those living with child only (versus living with child and spouse) had significantly *higher* likelihood of having at least 1 primary care visit and those living in private and other housing (versus HDB 3 room) and in the highest (versus lowest) tertile of personal mastery had significantly *lower* likelihood of having at least 1 primary care visit.

Characteristics	Two-part model for number of primary care outpatient visits						
	Logit	Negative	Overall				
		binomial					
Ν	1880	1159	1880				
	Regression	Coefficients	Marginal Effects (number of				
			visits versus reference group)				
Housing Type							
HDB 1-2 rooms	-0.05	-0.09	-0.12				
HDB 3 room		Re	eference				
HDB 4 rooms	-0.01	-0.04	-0.04				
HDB 5 room and above/ HUDC/	-0.18	-0.03	-0.10				
Executive							
Private and others	-0.45*	-0.18	-0.33				
Living arrangement							
Living alone or with FDW/maid	-0.14	-0.11	-0.15				
With spouse only	0.21	-0.05	0.02				
With child only	0.35*	-0.002	0.12				
With child and spouse		Re	eference				
With others only	0.28	0.12	0.24				
Number of chronic health conditions							
0 condition		Re	eference				
1 condition	1.17***	-0.06	0.41**				
2 conditions	1.53***	-0.04	0.57***				
3 or more conditions	1.60***	-0.02	0.62***				
Personal mastery							
Lowest tertile		Re	eference				
Middle tertile	0.004	0.11	0.12				
Highest tertile	-0.53**	0.08	-0.12				
Number of tertiary care outpatient	0.07	0.09**	0.12**				
visits in last 3 months							

 Table 7.1. Older person characteristics associated with primary care (general practitioner and polyclinic)

 outpatient visits in the last 3 months: Results of the adjusted two-part model +

*<0.05; **<0.01 ***<0.001

⁺Other characteristics included in the model, which did not have a significant association: age, gender, ethnicity, education, ADL limitations, employment status, income adequacy, private health insurance, health benefits from current or previous employers, clinically significant depressive symptoms, loneliness, social network and cognition.

Outcome: Tertiary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months

Distribution of number of tertiary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months is provided in Figure 7.2. The number of visits ranged from 0 to 12, with 72.6% of respondents having no visit and 18.7% having only 1 visit.



Figure 7.2. Distribution of tertiary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months (N=1880)

In the adjusted analyses (Table 7.2), the marginal effect (i.e. the number of tertiary care outpatient visits were higher or lower, relative to the reference group of the characteristic) of living arrangement, number of chronic health conditions, personal mastery, and number of primary care outpatient visits on tertiary care outpatient visits in the last 3 months, was significant. Those residing in private housing (versus HDB 3 room flats) and with \geq 3 chronic health conditions (versus none) had 0.34 and 0.35 *more* tertiary care visits, respectively – the higher number of visits was driven by significantly higher chance of having at least 1 visit. For each unit increase in primary care visits, tertiary care visits *increased* by 0.08 – the increase resulting from significantly higher chance of having at least 1 visit. Those in the highest (versus lowest) tertile of personal mastery had 0.24 *fewer* tertiary care visits – the reduction resulting from significantly lower chance of having at least 1 visit.

Additionally, ethnicity, education, receipt of health benefits from current or previous employer, and loneliness were associated with having at least 1 tertiary care visit. Older persons who were Malay (versus Chinese), living with others only (versus living with spouse and child) and were sometimes and mostly lonely (versus not lonely) had a significantly *lower* likelihood of having at least 1 tertiary care outpatient visit in the last 3 months. On the other hand, those with above secondary education (versus no formal education), living alone or with a FDW/maid (versus living with spouse and child), 1 chronic health condition (versus none), receiving health benefits from current or previous employer, and higher cognition score had a significantly *higher* likelihood of having at least 1 tertiary care outpatient visit in the last 3 months.

Table 7.2. Older person characteristics ass	ociated with tertiary care (specialist outpatient clinic and
private specialist) outpatient visits in last 3	months: Results of the adjusted two-part model ⁺

Variables	Two-part model for number of tertiary care outpatient vi				
	Logit	Negative binomial	Overall		
Ν	1880	510	1880		
	Regression Coefficients		Marginal Effects (number of visits versus reference group)		
Ethnicity					
Chinese		R	eference		
Malay	-0.47**	-0.04	-0.14		
Indian	0.11	-0.04	0.01		
Others	-0.17	-0.03	-0.06		
Education					
No formal education		R	eference		
Primary	0.16	-0.09	0.01		
Secondary/ITE/Vocational	0.32	-0.16	0.02		
Above Secondary	0.67**	-0.17	0.12		
Housing Type					
HDB 1-2 rooms	-0.29	0.06	-0.05		
HDB 3 room		R	eference		
HDB 4 rooms	0.09	0.18	0.10		
HDB 5 room and above/ HUDC/	0.17	0.17	0.12		
Executive					
Private and others	0.62**	0.28	0.34*		
Living arrangement					
Living alone or with FDW/maid	0.51*	0.07	0.20		
With spouse only	0.07	0.08	0.06		
With child only	-0.08	-0.05	-0.04		
With child and spouse		R	eference		
With others only	-0.67*	0.01	-0.16		
Number of chronic health conditions					
0 condition		R	eference		
1 condition	0.45*	-0.01	0.11		
2 conditions	0.40	-0.06	0.08		
3 or more conditions	1.20***	-0.002	0.35***		
Health benefits from current or					
previous employer					
No		R	eference		
Yes	0.34*	0.01	0.11		
Loneliness					
Not lonely		R	eference		
Sometimes lonely	-0.30*	0.02	-0.08		
Mostly lonely	-0.55**	0.14	-0.10		
Personal Mastery					
Lowest tertile	-	R	eference		
Middle tertile	-0.24	-0.04	-0.09		
Highest tertile	-0.68***	-0.14	-0.24**		
Number of primary care outpatient visits in last 3 months	0.23***	0.03	0.08***		
Cognition	0.14*	0.03	0.06		
	V I	0.00	0.00		

*<0.05; **<0.01 ***<0.001 + Other characteristics included in the model, which did not have a significant association: age, gender, ADL limitations, employment status, income adequacy, private health insurance, clinically significant depressive symptoms and social network.

Outcome: Hospital emergency room visit in the last 6 months

A total of 9% of the respondents had a hospital emergency room visit in the last 6 months (Figure 7.3).



Figure 7.3. Distribution of hospital emergency room visit (yes/no) in the last 6 months (N=1879)

Table 7.3 provides the older person characteristics that had a statistically significant association with for hospital emergency room visit in the last 6 months in the adjusted logistic regression analysis. The odds were significantly *higher* for older persons who were Malay (versus Chinese), and had 2 and 3 or more ADL limitations (versus none), and increased significantly with an increase in the number of primary care and tertiary care outpatient visits. Conversely, the odds were significantly *lower* for older persons with who lived with others (versus with spouse and children), were mostly lonely (versus not lonely), and had the highest (versus lowest) tertile of personal mastery.

Table 7.3. Older person characteristics associated with hospital emergency room visit in the last 6 months: Results of the adjusted logistic regression model (N=1879)⁺

Characteristics	Adjusted Odds Ratio
Ethnicity	
Chinese	Reference
Malay	1.64*
Indian	1.68
Others	0.78
Living arrangement	
Living alone or with FDW/maid	1.05
With spouse only	0.96
With child only	1.05
With child and spouse	Reference
With others only	0.29*
ADL limitations	
0	Reference
1	1.89
2	3.49*
3 or more	3.13**
Loneliness	
Not lonely	Reference

Sometimes lonely	0.85
Mostly lonely	0.48*
Personal mastery	
Lowest tertile	Reference
Middle tertile	0.66*
Highest tertile	0.47*
Number of primary care visits in last 3 months	1.17**
Number of tertiary care visits in last 3 months	1.38***

*<0.05; **<0.01 ***<0.001

⁺ Other characteristics included in the model, which did not have a significant association: age, gender, education, housing type, employment status, number of chronic conditions, income adequacy, private health insurance, health benefit from current or previous employer, clinically significant depressive symptoms, social network and cognition.

Outcome: Hospital admission in the last 12 months

About 13% of the respondents had a hospital admission in the last 12 months (Figure 7.4).

Figure 7.4. Distribution of hospital admission (Yes /No) in the last 12 months (N=1873)



Table 7.4 provides the adjusted odds ratio for older person characteristics that had a statistically significant association with hospital admission in the last 12 months. The odds were significantly *higher* for older persons who were Malay (versus Chinese), lived alone or with FDW/maid (versus with spouse and child), had 2 and 3 or more ADL limitations (versus none) and had 3 or more chronic health conditions (versus none) and increased significantly with an increase in the number of primary care and tertiary care outpatient visits. Conversely, the odds were *lower* for older persons who were female (versus male) and had the highest (versus lowest) tertile of personal mastery.

Characteristics	Adjusted Odds Ratio
Gender	
Male	Reference
Female	0.49***
Ethnicity	
Chinese	Reference
Malay	2.02***
Indian	1.02
Others	0.52
Living arrangement	
Living alone or with FDW/maid	2.02*
With spouse only	1.06
With child only	1.27
With child and spouse	Reference
With others only	0.88
ADL limitations	
0	Reference
1	1.45
2	4.62**
3 or more	3.40**
Number of chronic health conditions	
0 condition	Reference
1 condition	1.05
2 conditions	1.62
>=3 conditions	2.12**
Personal mastery	
Lowest tertile	Reference
Middle tertile	0.92
Highest tertile	0.45**
Number of primary care visits in last 3 months	1.10*
Number of tertiary care visits in last 3 months	1.45***

Table 7.4. Older person characteristics associated with hospital admission in the last 12 months: Results of the adjusted logistic regression model (N=1873)⁺

*<0.05; **<0.01 ***<0.001

⁺ Other characteristics included in the model, which did not have a significant association: age, education, housing type, employment status, income adequacy, private health insurance, health benefit from current or previous employer, loneliness, clinically significant depressive symptoms, social network and cognition.

DISCUSSION

Our analysis revealed several older person characteristics, in demographic, physical health, psychological health and social domains, to be associated with utilisation of the various types of healthcare services. While some, like gender and education were associated with utilisation of only 1 type of service, personal mastery, loneliness, Malay ethnicity, number of chronic health conditions, and number of ADL limitations were associated with utilisation of 2 or more services.

The association of physical health characteristics, i.e. number of chronic health conditions (associated with more primary care and tertiary care outpatient visits, and greater odds of hospital admission) and number of ADL limitations (associated with greater odds of hospital emergency room visit and of hospital admission) with several types of healthcare utilisation is not surprising. In fact, these are associations which one would expect a priori, thus they lend confidence in the results of our analysis.

We also observed the use of the 4 types of healthcare services to be linked with each other. Older persons who had tertiary care outpatient visits were also more likely to have primary care outpatient visits, and vice-versa. And, both tertiary care and primary care outpatient visits were associated with higher odds of emergency room visit and hospital admission. One possible explanation is that older persons with higher healthcare utilisation have more advanced stages of health conditions, which we could not fully account for in our analysis, and thus have a higher likelihood of utilizing all 4 types of healthcare services. An alternative explanation could be the referral system in the current healthcare model in Singapore, wherein to receive subsidised services, individuals have to go to primary care (i.e. polyclinics) for referral to tertiary care. This inadvertently results in the need to utilise both primary and tertiary outpatient care for a single health issue.

What is relatively novel in the local setting, and more interesting, is the role played by personal mastery – the extent to which individuals feel in control of their lives¹⁰ – in healthcare utilisation. For each of the 4 considered types of healthcare services, older persons who had higher personal mastery had lower utilisation, either in terms of number of visits or the odds of having at least 1 visit/admission. Our finding is aligned with previous studies from other countries. A longitudinal study among Americans aged 50 years and above found that respondents with high mastery over their health and finances had lower odds of doctor visits and hospitalisation.¹³ Higher levels of personal mastery have been reported to be associated with resilience outcomes, such as pain management¹⁴ and self-rated health.¹³ In terms of a possible mechanism for such findings, several studies on stress (i.e. caregiving and negative life events) suggest that high personal mastery may protect individuals from depression and even reduce their cardiovascular risk via biological stress response mechanisms such as sympathetic arousal.^{15,16} Thus, our observed link of higher personal mastery with lower utilisation of all four types of healthcare services, it is a potential focus for interventions among older adults, especially those who consume healthcare services frequently.

Correlates of Healthcare Utilisation

Loneliness has been linked to healthcare use previously. In contrast to international studies, conducted in the west,^{17,18} we found that loneliness was associated with lower likelihood of tertiary care outpatient visits and emergency room visits. Our results corroborate previous local findings, which reported chronic and recently-developed loneliness to be associated with 24% and 30% lower odds of physician visits compared to never being lonely.¹⁹ The difference in findings across local and international studies may be due to cultural differences. Singapore is a collectivist society, placing a high importance on relationships, whereas people in the west prioritize autonomy and personal goal. It is likely that while lonely older persons in the west may independently seek out support, lonely older persons in Singapore may fear troubling other people around them with their healthcare visits, thus our observation.

We observed Malay older persons, regardless of income and education level, to be more likely to use emergency room and hospital inpatient services, albeit they had lower odds of using tertiary care outpatient services. This suggests that they may not be seeking healthcare services early and are only using these services when their medical conditions are at a more advanced and complex stage. Other local studies also report Malays to have more health risks and lower health screening uptake.^{20,21} More effort should be taken to outreach to Malay older persons to increase their use of primary and tertiary care outpatient services, which may reduce their use of hospital based services. While we did adjust for educational status and housing type, residual confounding by socio-economic status can also be an alternative explanation for our observation. We also acknowledge that our analysis is unable to determine the cultural and socio-economic factors, such as health literacy and health beliefs, which may be contributing to the variability in the type of healthcare services being used across ethnicities – future studies should address this.

In summary, low personal mastery and poor physical health were associated with a higher use of all four considered types of healthcare services, loneliness was associated with a lower use of tertiary care outpatient and emergency room services, and being of Malay ethnicity, perhaps a proxy for socio-economic status, was associated with greater use of emergency room and hospital inpatient services and lower use of tertiary care outpatient services. Personal mastery is a modifiable factor, making it a potential target for preventive intervention for older adults, especially those who consume healthcare services frequently, and maybe even earlier, for middle aged adults before they enter old age. The results also suggest the existence of a vulnerable population of lonely older adults who do not access the healthcare system. As such, programs such as the community network for seniors can help to identify these individuals, and enable them to seek early and appropriate healthcare services. On the whole, healthcare utilisation is a product of physical health, psychological and social factors. Planning for Singapore's healthcare system will benefit from being attentive to the role played by psychological factors, such as personal mastery, and social factors, such as loneliness, ethnicity and socio-economic status, in addition to the commonly considered physical health factors, in influencing healthcare utilisation among older Singaporeans.

REFERENCES

- 1. Low LL, Lee KH, Hock Ong ME, et al. Predicting 30-Day Readmissions: Performance of the LACE Index Compared with a Regression Model among General Medicine Patients in Singapore. *Biomed Res Int.* 2015;2015:169870.
- 2. Low LL, Tay WY, Ng MJ, Tan SY, Liu N, Lee KH. Frequent hospital admissions in Singapore: clinical risk factors and impact of socioeconomic status. *Singapore Med J*. 2018;59(1):39-43.
- 3. Andersen RM. Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: does it matter? *J Health Soc Behav.* 1995;36(1):1-10.
- 4. Samoocha D, Bruinvels DJ, Elbers NA, Anema JR, van der Beek AJ. Effectiveness of web-based interventions on patient empowerment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Med Internet Res.* 2010;12(2):e23.
- 5. Shapira N, Barak A, Gal I. Promoting older adults' well-being through Internet training and use. *Aging Ment Health.* 2007;11(5):477-484.
- 6. Tarazona-Santabalbina FJMDP, Gómez-Cabrera MCP, Pérez-Ros PP, et al. A Multicomponent Exercise Intervention that Reverses Frailty and Improves Cognition, Emotion, and Social Networking in the Community-Dwelling Frail Elderly: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*. 2016;17(5):426.
- 7. Dickens AP, Richards SH, Greaves CJ, Campbell JL. Interventions targeting social isolation in older people: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. 2011;11:647.
- 8. Poscia A, Stojanovic J, La Milia DI, et al. Interventions targeting loneliness and social isolation among the older people: An update systematic review. *Exp Gerontol.* 2018;102:133-144.
- 9. Kohout FJ, Berkman LF, Evans DA, Cornoni-Huntley J. Two shorter forms of the CES-D (Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression) depression symptoms index. *J Aging Health*. 1993;5(2):179-193.
- 10. Pearlin LI, Schooler C. The structure of coping. J Health Soc Behav. 1978;19(1):2-21.
- 11. Sahadevan S, Lim PP, Tan NJ, Chan SP. Diagnostic performance of two mental status tests in the older chinese: influence of education and age on cut-off values. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2000;15(3):234-241.
- 12. Lubben J, Gironda M. *Measuring social networks and assessing their benefits*. Hampshire, England: Ashgate Publishing; 2004.
- Ezeamama AE, Elkins J, Simpson C, Smith SL, Allegra JC, Miles TP. Indicators of resilience and healthcare outcomes: findings from the 2010 health and retirement survey. *Qual Life Res.* 2016;25(4):1007-1015.
- 14. Kurtz ME, Kurtz JC, Given CW, Given BA. Patient optimism and mastery-do they play a role in cancer patients' management of pain and fatigue? *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2008;36(1):1-10.
- 15. Roepke SK, Mausbach BT, Aschbacher K, et al. Personal mastery is associated with reduced sympathetic arousal in stressed Alzheimer caregivers. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2008;16(4):310-317.
- 16. Mausbach BT, Patterson TL, Von Kanel R, et al. The attenuating effect of personal mastery on the relations between stress and Alzheimer caregiver health: a five-year longitudinal analysis. *Aging Ment Health*. 2007;11(6):637-644.
- 17. Gerst-Emerson K, Jayawardhana J. Loneliness as a public health issue: the impact of loneliness on health care utilisation among older adults. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(5):1013-1019.
- 18. Newall N, McArthur J, Menec VH. A longitudinal examination of social participation, loneliness, and use of physician and hospital services. *J Aging Health*. 2015;27(3):500-518.
- 19. Lim KK, Chan A. Association of loneliness and healthcare utilisation among older adults in Singapore. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2017;17(11):1789-1798.
- 20. Wong HZ, Lim WY, Ma SS, Chua LA, Heng DM. Health Screening Behaviour among Singaporeans. *Ann Acad Med Singapore*. 2015;44(9):326-334.
- 21. Singapore; MoH. National Health Survey 2010. Singapore: Ministry of Health Singapore; 2010.

Chapter 8: Social Engagement: Descriptive Statistics

In this chapter, we look at the distribution of living alone, reasons for living alone, loneliness, social network, religiosity and attendance of social activities, overall and by age group, gender, ethnicity, education and living arrangement.

Living Alone

		Age Group			G	ender	Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				Living A	rrangemei	nt (weighted '	%)			
n	4543	2018	1499	1026	2114	2429	3352	708	449	34
Living alone*	8.8	6.3	10.7	13.5	6.2	11.1	9.3	5.7	5.3	16.0

Table 8.1a Living Alone by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

A total of 9% of older Singaporeans lived alone. This proportion increased with age, was higher for females compared to males, and was the highest for the Chinese (9%) than Malays (6%) and Indians (5%).

Table 8.1b Living Alone by Educational Level

	Educational Level Completed								
None Primary Secondary Tertiary									
Living Arrangement (weighted %)									
n	1388	1383	1261	503					
Living alone*	10.0	8.5	7.5	10.1					

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The proportion of older Singaporeans who lived alone was higher for those with no formal education as well as those with tertiary education, compared to those with primary or secondary education.

10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

45.7%



Figure 8.1c Reasons for Living Alone

Percentages exceed 100% as multiple responses were allowed.

Among those who lived alone, the top three reasons for doing so were that they chose to live alone (46%), they had outlived their family members (20%) and they had never had children (17%).

5%

0%

Loneliness

Loneliness was assessed using the UCLA 3-item loneliness scale (detailed in Chapter 2: Methodology). Those with scores of 0, 1-3 and 4 and above, were classified as not lonely, sometimes lonely and mostly lonely respectively.

		Age Group			Ge	ender	Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
				Loneliness	(weighte	ed %)				
n	2030	986	692	352	988	1042	1516	303	196	15
Not Lonely	66.1	67.8	65.5	59.6	62.7	69.3	66.9	59.9	61.8	76.6
Sometimes	21.8	21.6	21.9	22.4	23.8	19.9	21.6	23.9	21.7	17.6
Lonely										
Mostly Lonely	12.1	10.7	12.6	18.0	13.5	10.8	11.5	16.2	16.5	5.8

Table 8.2a Loneliness by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Nearly a third of older Singaporeans (34%) reported being sometimes or mostly lonely. This proportion increased with age, reaching 40% among those aged 80 years and above. More males (37%) reported being sometimes or mostly lonely relative to females (31%). Across ethnicities, this proportion was the highest for Malays and Indians (around 40%).

Table 8.2b Loneliness by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

	•											
	1	Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement							
	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*						
	Loneliness (weighted %)											
n	543	632	614	240	1825	202						
Not Lonely	67.0	64.7	68.3	62.4	67.0	56.7						
Sometimes Lonely	20.5	20.2	22.1	27.4	21.6	23.5						
Mostly Lonely	12.5	15.1	9.6	10.2	11.3	19.8						

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Across educational levels, the proportion of older Singaporeans who reported sometimes or mostly lonely was the highest among those with tertiary education. This proportion was nearly 10% higher among those who lived alone (43%) compared to those not living alone (33%).

Social Network outside the household

Social network outside the household was assessed using the Lubben Social Network Scale Revised (LSNS-R) (detailed in Chapter 2: Methodology). The score ranges from 0 to 60, and the distribution of the continuous scale as well as a categorization by tertiles are presented below. A higher mean score and tertile indicate a greater extent of respondents' social network outside the household.

			Age Gro	սթ	Ge	ender		Ethn	icity	
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
		Lubb	en Socia	l Network	Scale Re	vised (LSN	S-R) Score			
n	4039	1970	1384	685	1960	2079	3017	597	393	32
Mean	26.6	27.6	26.3	23.0	26.6	26.6	26.4	27.5	27.3	31.0
SD	11.2	11.0	11.4	10.8	11.3	11.1	11.1	11.1	12.2	11.2
				we	eighted %	, D				
Lowest tertile	33.5	29.9	35.4	45.4	34.3	32.8	34.3	28.2	33.0	22.7
Middle tertile	32.1	32.2	31.4	32.9	30.1	33.9	31.7	36.9	31.2	26.2
Highest tertile	34.4	37.8	33.2	21.6	35.6	33.4	34.0	34.9	35.8	51.1

Table 8.3a Lubben Social Network Scale Revised (LSNS-R) Score (Continuous and T	Certiles) by Age
Group, Gender and Ethnicity	

The extent of social network outside the household, exemplified by the mean score of LSNS-R and the proportion in the highest LSNS-R tertile, was highest among older Singaporeans aged 60-69 years, and declined with age. The extent was similar for males and females, and across ethnicities except for Others.

 Table 8.3b Lubben Social Network Scale Revised (LSNS-R) Score (Continuous and Tertiles) by

 Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educatio	nal Level Comp	Living Ar	Living Arrangement			
	None Primar		Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*		
		Lubben So	cial Network Sc	ale Revised (LSN	NS-R) Score			
n	1060	1281	1209	488	3654	380		
Mean	23.3	25.1	28.2	32.4	26.7	25.6		
SD	10.6	10.8	11.0	10.9	11.2	11.6		
			weigl	nted %				
Lowest tertile	43.5	38.1	28.5	16.2	32.9	39.2		
Middle tertile	34.3	32.9	30.7	29.3	32.5	28.4		
Highest tertile	22.2	29.0	40.8	54.5	34.6	32.5		

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The extent of social network outside the household, represented by the mean score of LSNS-R and the proportion in the highest LSNS-R tertile, increased with rising educational level. Regarding living arrangement, a higher proportion of those who were living alone (39%) were in the lowest LSNS-R tertile compared to those who were not living alone (33%), suggesting that those who lived alone had a lower extent of social network outside the household compared to those not living alone.

Social Activities

The frequency of participation in four distinct types of social activities was assessed.

		1	Age Grou	սթ	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
n	2272	1000	747	525	1058	1214	1676	357	223	16
Attend Re	sidents'	Commit	tee (RC)	/ Neighbo	ourhood	Committ	ee (NC) / C	Communi	ty Club (CC) /
C	ommun	ity Devel	opment	Council (O	CDC) / N	Neighbour	hood even	t (weight	ed %)	
At least weekly	5.3	5.1	6.0	4.8	2.9	7.4	5.5	2.9	3.1	18.4
Occasionally	11.4	11.1	13.3	8.8	9.8	12.8	11.6	9.3	12.8	8.8
Not at all	83.1	83.8	80.3	85.8	87.2	79.4	82.6	87.5	84.1	72.8
	Att	tend Seni	ior Activ	ity Centre	e for exe	rcise/activ	ities (weig	hted %)		
At least weekly	6.6	5.0	8.1	8.7	5.6	7.4	6.9	4.6	5.2	3.4
Occasionally	6.2	4.9	9.1	4.9	6.0	6.3	6.6	3.1	6.0	0.0
Not at all	87.0	90.0	82.6	85.6	88.3	85.8	86.2	91.4	88.8	96.6
	At	ttend chu	irch, mo	sque or ot	her plac	es of wors	ship (weigh	nted %)		
n	2277	1020	754	503	1059	1218	1682	351	226	18
At least weekly	23.3	25.0	21.8	20.9	25.1	21.8	18.5	49.8	39.8	61.0
Occasionally	48.0	51.6	51.7	29.0	47.3	48.6	51.5	21.9	44.0	31.1
Not at all	28.3	22.9	26.1	49.7	27.5	28.9	29.6	27.3	15.4	7.9
		Go	for a wa	lk (for exe	rcise pu	rpose) (w	eighted %)			
At least weekly	45.1	46.3	47.7	36.2	48.7	41.9	45.8	38.3	48.7	29.5
Occasionally	7.4	8.1	7.3	5.6	6.3	8.4	7.2	9.1	4.4	26.8
Not at all	47.3	45.5	44.9	57.6	45.0	49.3	46.8	52.6	46.9	43.7

 Table 8.4a Attendance of Social Activities by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Around three-quarters older Singaporeans attended a church, mosque or other place of worship at least weekly or occasionally (71%) compared to the other three social activities. The proportion who attended places of worship at least weekly decreased with age, was comparable between genders and was the highest among Malays compared to Chinese and Indians. Older Singaporeans who attended neighbourhood events at least weekly or occasionally was the highest among those aged 70-79 years, females, and Chinese (17%) compared to Malays (12%) and Indians (16%).

The proportion of older Singaporeans who attended senior activity centre for exercise or activities at least weekly or occasionally was higher among those aged 70-79 years compared to those aged 80 years and above, comparable between genders, and highest among the Chinese. Finally, those aged 60-79 years were more likely to go for a walk for exercise at least weekly. This proportion was higher among males and Indians.

Overall, religious participation is the most prominent social activity among older Singaporeans relative to the other three activities. Furthermore, the Malays' participation in social networks outside the household are most likely to be defined by their religious affinities, as seen from their high attendance rate at places of worship.

		Educationa	Living Arra	angement							
	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living					
		-			Alone	Alone*					
n	706	676	639	246	2052	216					
Attend Reside	Attend Residents' Committee (RC) / Neighbourhood Committee (NC) / Community Club (CC) /										
Comm	nunity Deve	lopment Coun	cil (CDC) / Neig	ghbourhood event	(weighted %)						
At least weekly	3.9	4.5	7.2	6.0	4.9	9.7					
Occasionally	10.6	9.5	12.0	16.6	10.9	16.2					
Not at all	85.2	85.9	80.8	76.9	84.0	74.1					
	Attend Sen	ior Activity Co	entre for exercis	se/activities (weigh	nted %)						
At least weekly	7.0	5.6	7.2	6.3	6.0	12.3					
Occasionally	8.9	4.3	5.4	6.4	5.5	12.5					
Not at all	83.5	89.9	87.3	87.3	88.2	75.2					
	Attend chu	urch, mosque (or other places	of worship (weight	ted %)						
n	684	709	623	257	2084	191					
At least weekly	12.4	20.6	31.7	34.3	22.2	35.6					
Occasionally	51.8	52.3	43.9	39.1	49.0	36.8					
Not at all	35.2	26.6	24.1	26.4	28.4	26.7					
Go for a walk (for exercise purpose) (weighted %)											
At least weekly	37.8	46.5	48.4	50.3	45.4	41.2					
Occasionally	5.8	6.1	10.4	7.4	7.4	8.1					
Not at all	55.7	47.4	41.2	42.3	47.0	50.8					

Table 8.4b Attendance of Social Activities by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

An education gradient was observed for going for a walk for exercise and attending places of worship at least weekly, with those with no formal education being the least likely to participate in the aforementioned activities. On the other hand, older Singaporeans who lived alone were more likely to attend a place of worship at least weekly (36%) compared to those not living alone (22%).

The distribution of attendance of religious services, praying in private places and importance of religion in life by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level, and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A8a-A8b.

Chapter 9: Correlates of Social Networks and Participation

Peter Kay Chai Tay

INTRODUCTION

The lack of social connectedness has been highlighted as a critical issue to address among older Singaporeans¹ given its association with physical and mental health outcomes. Studies have highlighted that being socially connected to other people is related to having fewer depressive symptoms² and better self-rated physical health.³ Furthermore, social connectedness uniquely predicts health and well-being of older people more than social support.⁴

In THE SIGNS Study – I, social connectedness is conceptualised to encompass both social networks and social participation, similar to previous studies.^{3,4} Social networks refers to the frequency of interaction one has with relatives and friends living outside the household⁵ and social participation refers to the frequency of attending communal events, activities at the Senior Activity Centres (SACs), going for walks for exercising purposes, and attending activities at places of worship. This conceptualisation of social participation is in recognition that social connectedness for older Singaporeans is often fostered in these communal settings.

The correlates for social connectedness are multifactorial and can include sociodemographic factors, as well as physical and mental health factors. For instance, women tend to have weaker social networks compared to men, and weaker social networks is related to more depressive symptoms.⁶ Older people from low socio-economic backgrounds and having weak social networks also tend to experience depression.⁷

In the context of age-related losses, one would expect poorer health and disabilities to impact older people's social connectedness.^{3,8} Thus, individuals with deteriorating physical health and functions may change the types of social activities they engage in.^{8,9} As such, it is critical to examine how losses in physical health and functional limitations lead to changes in social networks and participation in social activities among older people. In this analysis, poorer physical health is measured by the number of chronic conditions and functional limitations are measured by limitations on the Activities of Daily Living (ADL) and Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL). The psychosocial correlates of social connectedness, such as loneliness and social isolation, may be more nuanced. Older people, for example, may even feel lonely and isolated even though they live with their families or participate in social activities.¹⁰ Weaker social networks are related to poorer perceived mental and physical health.^{3,11} Thus, it is necessary to examine the impact of social networks on potential outcomes such as loneliness and depressive symptoms. Similarly, older people who participate in social activities may have fewer and less intense experiences of loneliness and depression. Previous research has shown positive effects of social participation on psychosocial wellbeing.^{12,13} For instance, a local study found that most community-dwelling older people who participated in SAC activities made more friends and their social connectedness appeared to be associated with fewer depressive symptoms.¹⁴

In this study, using data from THE SIGNS Study - I, we aim to develop a deeper understanding into the correlates of social connectedness for older Singaporeans. Defined as social networks and participation, an understanding of the impact of these correlates will enable us to develop both more pro-active and targeted interventions at the social networks and social participation of older Singaporeans that can ameliorate or prevent the negative effects of their weak social connections.

METHODS

The analytical sample involved a sub-sample of THE SIGNS Study - I respondents (N=1910), who answered the relevant study variables described in Table 9.1.

¥	N=1910	
Sociodemographics		
Gender	%	
Male	50.8	
Female	49.2	
Age	%	
60-69	49.8	
70-79	34.2	
80-89	14.9	
90+	1.1	
Ethnicity	%	
Chinese	74.6	
Malay	14.9	
Indian	9.7	
Others	0.8	
Marital Status	%	
Married	69.5	
Widowed/divorced/separated	23.6	
Never married	7.0	
Education Level	%	
No formal education	25.0	
Primary	31.3	
Secondary	31.3	
Tertiary	12.4	
Housing Type	%	
1-2 room HDB	8.3	
3 room HDB	24.3	
4-5 room HDB and others	67.4	
Living Arrangements	%	
Alone	8.4	
With spouse only	23.6	
With child only	16.4	
With child and spouse	44.4	
With others only (including FDWs)	7.2	
Income Adequacy	%	
Enough money to meet expenses	82.2	
Difficulty to meet expenses	17.8	
Physical and Functional Health		
Number of chronic conditions	Mean (SD)	
	2.07 (1.53)	
ADL Limitation	%	
No limitations	94.3	
1-2 limitations	3.2	

Table 9.1. Sample statistics

	N=1910
\geq 3 limitations	2.4
IADL Limitation	%
No limitations	84.8
1-2 limitations	10.6
\geq 3 limitations	4.6
Psychosocial Hea	alth
Depressive symptoms	Mean (SD)
	3.06 (3.18)
Mastery	Mean (SD)
·	5.80 (2.21)
Loneliness	%
Not lonely	64.0
Sometimes lonely	22.4
Mostly lonely	13.2
Social Connected	ness
Social Networks outside the household	Mean (SD)
	26.82 (11.07)
Social Participation: RC, CC, etc.	%
Not at all	82.1
Occasionally	12.4
At least weekly	5.4
Social Participation: SAC	%
Not at all	86.4
Occasionally	6.5
At least weekly	6.9
Social Participation: Walking	%
Not at all	45.3
Occasionally	7.3
At least weekly	47.3
Social Participation: Religious Activities	%
Not at all	14.7
Occasionally	22.4
At least weekly	12.7

Note. Religious activities variable is based on a separate sub-sample (N=2266).

Measures

Social connectedness is presently conceptualized as the presence of social networks and social participation.

Dependent Variables

Social networks outside the household. This was assessed using the revised Lubben Social Networks Scale (LSNSR).^{5,15} The scale consists of twelve items; six for social networks with friends and another six with relatives beyond the household, eliciting the frequency of contact and level of closeness for each group of people. Each item is scored on a six-point scale, from 0 to 5. The scores are summed with higher scores indicating greater social networks outside the household.

Social participation. We elicited the frequency of participation in four activities including attending residents' committee (RC)/Neighbourhood Committee (NC)/Community Club (CC)/Community Development Council (CDC)/neighbourhood event, attending senior activity centre for exercise/activities, going for a walk for exercise purposes and attending church, mosque or other places of worship. The participants indicated whether they never

attend '1,' attend less than once a month '2,' attend once monthly '3,' attend once weekly '4,' or attend everyday '5'. The responses were categorized as 'not at all' (rated 1), 'once a month or less' (rated 2 or 3), and 'every week or everyday' (rated 4 or 5).

Independent Variables

Psychosocial health of the participants in terms of loneliness and depressive symptoms, were assessed as associates for social connectedness. Mastery was included as a covariate.

Loneliness. The UCLA 3-item loneliness scale was used to assess participants' level of loneliness.¹⁶ The participants were asked "How often do you feel you lack companionship?" "How often do you feel left out?" and "How often do you feel isolated from others?" Each question is scored on a 5-point scale indicating never '0,' rarely '1,' occasionally '2,' fairly often '3,' or always '4'. Based on a score range of 0-12, participants were categorized into 'not lonely' '0,' for scores of 0, 'sometimes lonely' '1,' for scores of 1 to 3, and 'mostly lonely' '2' for scores of 4 to 12.

Depressive symptoms. The 11-item version of the Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D) scale was used to assess participants' depressive symptoms.¹⁷ The CES-D scale includes eleven items each rated as none/rarely '0,' sometimes '1,' or often '2'. A total score obtained by summing up the scores for the eleven items was retained as a continuous variable given that dichotomizing the variable would reduce the power for analysis.¹⁸

Mastery. The participants' mastery level was assessed using the Pearlin Mastery scale,¹⁹ based on the level of agreement or disagreement for five items. Response choices include strongly disagree '0,' disagree '1,' agree '2,' and strongly agree '3'. The items are reverse scored and summed such that higher scores indicate higher levels of mastery.

Sociodemographic variables. These included gender, age, ethnicity, marital status, education level, housing type, living arrangements (alone, with child/ren, spouse, or others including as foreign domestic worker) and income adequacy (enough money or having difficulty meeting expenses).

Statistical Analysis

We conducted multiple linear regression to predict social networks outside the household and multinomial logistic regression to predict social participation at community centres (CCs), resident centres (RCs), senior activity centres (SACs), walking for exercising purposes and religious activities.

RESULTS

The multiple regression findings for the prediction of the strength of social networks outside the household are summarised in Table 9.2. People who were older, particularly those aged 80-89 years (compared to those aged 60-69 years), those were never married, and those staying in 1-2 room HDB tended to have weaker social networks. On the other hand, Malays, those living with their spouse, people with secondary or tertiary education and people staying in 4-5 room HDB or above tended to have stronger social networks. The analysis also highlighted that older Singaporeans with more chronic conditions and more ADL limitations reported stronger social networks compared to those without. However, only those with more IADL limitations reported weaker social networks. In addition, those with weaker social networks reported more depressive symptoms and were lonelier.

adults (aged 00+),		
	N=1894	
Socio-demographics		
Age (60-69)	0.01 (54)	
70-79	-0.81 (.54)	
80-89	-2.56 (.74)**	
≥90	-1.07 (2.31)	
Gender		
Female	0.48 (.50)	
Ethnicity (Chinese)		
Malay	2.53 (.67)***	
Indian	1.44 (.81)	
Others	2.51 (2.62)	
Marital Status (Married)		
Widowed/Divorced/Separated	0.86 (1.73)	
Never married	-4.09 (1.96)*	
Living arrangement (with child/spo	use)	
Alone	2.82 (1.90)	
Spouse only	2.74 (.61)***	
Child only	0.40 (1.74)	
Others only	2.76 (1.92)	
Education (No formal education)		
Primary	1.13 (.65)	
Secondary	2.24 (.68)**	
Tertiary	6.51 (.87)***	
Housing Type (3 room HDB)		
1-2 room HDB	-2.87 (.95)**	
4-5 room and above	1 43 (58)*	
Income adequacy (Enough money)	1.10 (.00)	
Difficulty to meet expenses	-0.41 (65)	
Physical and Funct	ional Health	
Chronic conditions	0.36(16)*	
ADL limitations (None)	0.50 (.10)	
1-2 limitations	3 37 (1 43)*	
>3 limitations	1.67(1.84)	
IADI limitations (None)	1.07 (1.07)	
1_2 limitations	1 55 (80)	
>3 limitations	-6.71(1.44)***	
-5 minutions Psychosocial	Health	
Depressive symptoms	-0.80(09)***	
Loneliness (Not lonely)	0.00 (.07)	
Sometimes lonely	-1.54 (.58)**	

 Table 9.2. Factors associated with the strength of social networks outside the household among older adults (aged 60+), in Singapore

	N=1894
Mostly lonely	_3 02 (78)***
Mastery	-5.02(.78)
Iviasiel y	0.00 (.12)

p*<.05, ** *p*<.01, * *p*<.001.

Note. Unstandardized Coefficients, B (Standard errors) are reported. Variable names in parentheses refer to the referent groups.

The multinomial logistic regression findings for social participation are summarised in Table 9.3 and 9.4. Women, those who were living alone, those with secondary education and those living in 1-2 room HDB were more likely to participate in social activities at RC, CC and other community agencies. People aged 70 years and above, those who were living alone and those living in 1-2 room HDB were more likely to participate in social activities at the SACs. On the other hand, Malays and those with any education were less likely to. Women tended to walk for exercise more frequently than men while people who expressed difficulty in meeting financial expenses tended to walk less frequently than those without financial difficulty. Those in the older age group tended to attend religious activities less frequently, but Malays and Indians, and people with secondary or tertiary education tended to attend religious activities at least once weekly. Older Singaporeans with more chronic conditions tended to attend religious activities more, but not other social activities. It was also noted that those with more ADL and IADL limitations were less likely to participate in social activities at RCs, CCs, walking and attend religious activities compared to those without ADL or IADL limitations.

With regards to psychosocial health, individuals who participated in social activities at RCs, CCs and take walks were lonelier than those who do not participate. Additionally, social participation was observed to be unrelated to depressive symptoms.
		RC, CC, e	etc. (N=1901)		SAC (N=1900)			
Sociodemographics	0	ccasionally	At le	east weekly	Oc	casionally	At least weekly	
	Odds	95% CI	Odds ratio	95% CI	Odds	95% CI	Odds ratio	95% CI
	ratio				ratio			
Age (ref: 60-69)								
70-79	1.39	(1.00 - 1.93)	1.41	(0.87 - 2.29)	1.83**	(1.19 - 2.82)	1.76*	(1.14 - 2.72)
80-89	1.25*	(0.79 - 1.97)	1.89	(1.00 - 3.58)	1.08	(0.57 - 2.03)	2.18**	(1.27 - 3.75)
≥90	3.68	(0.90 – 15.01)	1.43	(0.16 – 12.95)	6.43*	(1.39 - 29.83)	1.20	(0.14 – 10.29)
Gender (ref: Males)								
Female	1.78***	(1.31 - 2.42)	3.06***	(1.90 - 4.93)	1.04	(0.69 - 1.56)	1.36	(0.91 - 2.02)
Ethnicity (ref: Chinese)								
Malay	0.87	(0.56 - 1.34)	0.50	(0.23 - 1.08)	0.35**	(0.16 - 0.77)	0.75	(0.42 - 1.33)
Indian	1.34	(0.84 - 2.15)	0.62	(0.26 - 1.50)	1.05	(0.55 - 2.00)	0.85	(0.43 – 1.66)
Others	1.03	(0.21 - 4.95)	0.91	(0.11 – 7.78)	-	-	0.86	(0.11 - 7.01)
Marital Status (ref: Married)								
Widowed/Divorced/Separated	0.58	(0.19 - 1.72)	0.42	(0.11 - 1.52)	0.35	(0.12 - 1.08)	1.39	(0.26 - 7.57)
Never married	0.47	(0.14 - 1.56)	0.11	(0.02 - 0.57)	0.31	(0.09 - 1.10)	1.58	(0.26 - 9.62)
Living arrangement (ref: with								
child/spouse)								
Alone	2.51	(0.79 - 7.92)	5.01*	(1.21 - 20.73)	5.39**	(1.60 – 18.19)	0.83	(0.14 - 5.00)
Spouse only	1.03	(0.71 - 1.48)	1.46	(0.85 - 2.50)	1.16	(0.70 - 1.91)	1.16	(0.71 - 1.88)
Child only	0.93	(0.31 - 2.82)	1.84	(0.49 - 6.89)	1.64	(0.52 - 5.13)	0.58	(0.11 - 3.25)
Others only	1.37	(0.42 - 4.44)	3.71	(0.85 - 16.1)	3.54*	(1.04 - 12.01)	0.87	(0.14 - 5.24)
Education (ref: No formal								
education)								
Primary	0.94	(0.62 - 1.40)	1.36	(0.74 - 2.51)	0.44**	(0.26 - 0.73)	0.92	(0.55 - 1.55)
Secondary	1.12	(0.74 - 1.70)	2.03*	(1.11 - 3.72)	0.45**	(0.27 - 0.76)	1.30	(0.78 - 2.19)
Tertiary	1.55	(0.95 - 2.54)	1.85	(0.86 - 3.98)	0.44*	(0.22 - 0.86)	1.05	(052 - 2.10)
Housing Type (ref: 3 room HDB)								
1-2 room HDB	1.89*	(1.09 - 3.25)	2.26*	(1.05 - 4.87)	2.80**	(1.40 - 5.58)	3.00***	(1.66 - 5.41)
4-5 room and above	1.30	(0.88 - 1.91)	1.05	(0.61 - 1.83)	1.67	(0.99 - 2.82)	0.81	(0.51 - 1.30)
Income adequacy (ref: Enough								
money)								
Difficulty to meet expenses	0.76	(0.49 - 1.16)	0.61	(0.30 - 1.25)	0.91	(0.53 - 1.55)	0.85	(0.49 - 1.46)
Physical and Functional Health								
Chronic conditions	0.94	(0.86 - 1.04)	0.90	(0.77 - 1.04)	1.04	(0.92 - 1.18)	1.07	(0.95 - 1.21)
ADL limitations (ref: None)								
1-2 limitations	1.04	(0.41 - 2.65)	0.90	(0.19 – 4.24)	0.59	(0.12 - 2.88)	1.39	(0.49 - 4.00)

Table 9.3. Factors associated with older adults (aged 60+) social participation at Residents' Community Club (CC) etc. and Senior Activity Centre (SAC) for exercise/activities. Occasionally and At Least Weekly versus Not at All.

		RC, CC, e	etc. (N=1901)			SAC (N	=1900)	
\geq 3 limitations	0.40	(0.05 - 3.28)	2.97	(0.43 - 20.53)	2.00	(0.33 - 12.20)	1.37	(0.31 - 6.06)
IADL limitations (ref: None)								
1-2 limitations	1.04	(0.64 - 1.69)	0.28*	(0.08 - 0.92)	0.55	(0.26 - 1.15)	0.70	(0.36 - 1.37)
\geq 3 limitations	0.19*	(0.04 - 0.92)	0.57	(0.10 - 3.15)	0.15*	(0.03 - 0.93)	0.79	(0.25 - 2.51)
Psychosocial Health								
Depressive symptoms	0.94	(0.89 - 1.00)	0.92	(0.83 - 1.01)	0.97	(0.89 - 1.05)	0.93	(0.86 - 1.01)
Loneliness (ref: Not lonely)								
Sometimes lonely	1.85***	(1.32 - 2.59)	1.12	(0.65 - 1.95)	1.76*	(1.12 - 2.76)	0.93	(0.58 - 1.51)
Mostly lonely	2.38***	(1.52 - 3.71)	1.87	(0.95 - 3.68)	1.93*	(1.06 - 3.52)	1.47	(0.82 - 2.63)
Mastery	1.03	(0.95 - 1.11)	1.02	(0.91 - 1.15)	1.02	(0.92 - 1.13)	1.02	(0.92 - 1.12)

*p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001. Note. Odds ratios and (95% confidence intervals) are reported.

Table 9.4. Factors associated with older adults (ag	d 60+) social participation	for walking for exercis	se purposes and attending	; religious activities
Occasionally and At Least Weekly versus Not at All.				

		Walking for exerci	se purposes (N	=1902)	А	Attending religious activities (N=2186)			
Sociodemographics	(Occasionally	At le	At least weekly		casionally	At least weekly		
	Odds	95% CI	Odds ratio	95% CI	Odds	95% CI	Odds ratio	95% CI	
	ratio				ratio				
Age (ref: 60-69)									
70-79	1.34	(0.88 - 2.05)	1.28	(1.02 - 1.61)	0.84	(0.65 - 1.08)	0.98	(0.73 - 1.32)	
80-89	0.98	(0.52 - 1.84)	1.13	(0.83 - 1.54)	0.39***	(0.28 - 0.55)	0.86	(0.59 - 1.24)	
≥ 90	0.94	(0.11 - 8.40)	0.72	(0.25 - 2.04)	0.13***	(0.06 - 0.31)	0.26*	(0.09 - 0.76)	
Gender (ref: Males)									
Female	1.63*	(1.10 - 2.43)	0.94	(0.76 - 1.16)	1.11	(0.87 - 1.42)	0.93	(0.71 - 1.22)	
Ethnicity (ref: Chinese)									
Malay	1.13	(0.68 - 1.90)	0.88	(0.66 - 1.17)	0.46***	(0.33 - 0.66)	3.57***	(2.58 - 4.93)	
Indian	0.75	(0.35 - 1.57)	1.10	(0.79 - 1.55)	2.01**	(1.29 - 3.13)	5.01***	(3.17 - 7.93)	
Others	2.21	(0.42 - 11.62)	0.91	(0.29 - 2.83)	2.06	(0.39 – 11.06)	6.60*	(1.36 - 32.05)	
Marital Status (ref: Married)									
Widowed/Divorced/Separated	0.37	(0.09 - 1.50)	0.72	(0.34 - 1.51)	1.50	(0.70 - 3.21)	1.57	(0.66 - 3.74)	
Never married	1.13	(0.24 - 5.27)	0.58	(0.25 - 1.34)	1.08	(0.45 - 2.61)	1.24	(0.46 - 3.36)	
Living arrangement (ref: with									
child/spouse)									
Alone	1.36	(0.30 - 6.20)	0.86	(0.38 - 1.95)	0.56	(0.23 - 1.32)	1.58	(0.60 - 4.13)	
Spouse only	1.12	(0.70 - 1.80)	0.97	(0.75 - 1.26)	0.85	(0.64 - 1.14)	1.23	(0.89 - 1.70)	
Child only	1.07	(0.26 - 4.33)	1.20	(0.57 - 2.34)	0.65	(0.30 - 1.39)	0.64	(0.27 - 1.53)	
Others only	1.13	(0.24 - 5.42)	1.06	(0.47 - 2.41)	0.54	(0.23 - 1.28)	0.55	(0.20 - 1.47)	

		Walking for exerci	ise purposes (1	N=1902)	А	ttending religious	activities (N	=2186)
Education (ref: No formal		-	• • •	,			Ì	
education)								
Primary	1.06	(0.62 - 1.81)	1.21	(0.92 - 1.59)	0.78	(0.58 - 1.05)	1.32	(0.91 - 1.90)
Secondary	1.68	(0.99 - 2.84)	1.44*	(1.08 - 1.92)	0.64**	(0.46 - 0.88)	2.12***	(1.44 - 3.13)
Tertiary	0.97	(0.47 - 2.00)	1.40	(0.97 - 2.01)	0.46***	(0.30 - 0.69)	1.79*	(1.12 - 2.89)
Housing Type (ref: 3 room HDB)								
1-2 room HDB	0.79	(0.33 - 1.86)	1.06	(0.71 - 1.57)	0.83	(0.53 - 1.30)	0.98	(0.60 - 1.59)
4-5 room and above	1.36	(0.83 - 2.21)	0.95	(0.75 - 1.22)	0.93	(0.71 - 1.21)	1.06	(0.78 - 1.45)
Income adequacy (ref: Enough								
money)								
Difficulty to meet expenses	0.48*	(0.27 - 0.86)	0.54***	(0.41 - 0.72)	1.00	(0.76 - 1.31)	0.92	(0.67 - 1.26)
Physical and Functional Health								
Chronic conditions	1.04	(0.92 - 1.19)	1.06	(0.99 - 1.14)	1.12**	(1.04 - 1.20)	1.09	(1.00 - 1.18)
ADL limitations (ref: None)								
1-2 limitations	0.67	(0.21 - 2.11)	0.55	(0.29 - 1.03)	0.73	(0.42 - 1.26)	0.91	(0.48 - 1.73)
\geq 3 limitations	1.19	(0.27 - 5.20)	0.42	(0.17 - 1.10)	0.53*	(0.28 - 1.00)	1.06	(0.51 - 2.17)
IADL limitations (ref: None)								
1-2 limitations	1.66	(0.95 - 2.91)	0.69*	(0.49 - 0.98)	0.57***	(0.41 - 0.77)	0.53**	(0.37 - 0.77)
\geq 3 limitations	0.42	(0.10 - 1.75)	0.57	(0.30 - 1.09)	0.24***	(0.14 - 0.40)	0.19***	(0.10 - 0.35)
Psychosocial Health								
Depressive symptoms	1.05	(0.97 - 1.13)	0.97	(0.93 - 1.01)	-	-	-	-
Loneliness (ref: Not lonely)								
Sometimes lonely	2.26***	(1.47 - 3.46)	1.42**	(1.11 - 1.83)	-	-	-	-
Mostly lonely	1.70	(0.87 - 3.32)	2.44***	(1.74 - 3.42)	-	-	-	-
Mastery	0.87**	(0.79 - 0.95)	0.92**	(0.87 - 0.97)	-	-	-	-

*p<.05, **p<.01, **p<.01. Note. Odds ratios and (95% confidence intervals) are reported. Attending religious activities variable comes from a different subsample (N=2266) which did not answer questions on their psychosocial health.

DISCUSSION

Given the strong link between social connectedness and older persons' overall health and wellbeing, we investigated the correlates of social connectedness as defined by two key dimensions, namely social networks outside the household and social participation. Understanding the impact of these on a broad spectrum of older Singaporeans will help us to understand the specific levers and interventions that can be developed to facilitate older Singaporeans' social connectedness.

A significant finding is that indeed as per the wider literature, older Singaporeans' social networks outside the household did impact their mental health, with those having weaker social networks being lonelier and more likely to be depressed compared to those with stronger social networks. The picture was more varied with loneliness; we found that there is no correlation between loneliness and frequent participation in social activities but did find that older persons with lower participation tended to be lonelier. Interestingly, this seems to suggest that those who are lonely were in some ways making the effort to participate, probably to alleviate their loneliness. This inference is in some ways corroborated by the findings which highlighted that older persons with weaker social networks, namely those from lower SES and living alone, tended to participate more in social activities.

The SIGNS Study – I highlighted a number of significant barriers and facilitators to social connectedness among older Singaporeans. One of the most important barriers to older Singaporeans' social connectedness both in-terms of their social network outside the household and their social participation are their IADL limitations. With increasing longevity, we can expect the number of older persons with such limitations to increase, which points to the urgent need to plan for ageing in place to enable older persons to remain connected despite their IADL limitations. It is critical to facilitate these older persons' social connectivity to mitigate further risk to their overall well-being. Both hardware and software access need to be ramped up.

With hardware, the neighbourhood environment should be further improved/redesigned to allow for greater ease of mobility by those with IADL limitations. Social and community agencies and facilities like the SACs should co-sited with where older persons live. Mobility aides and community transport schemes need to be scaled up substantially as transportation is also a major impediment to access to medical services (see chapter on healthcare utilisation).

In terms of software, social and community agencies can intensify outreach efforts to those with weaker social connections either by virtue of their functional limitations or social circumstances such as those who are older, not married, and living in 1 and 2 rooms flats, based on our findings. The study's findings also highlighted the need for these agencies to organise activities and programmes that are more targeted and responsive to the varied needs of their target clienteles such as men who tended to participate less than women and Malays who tended not to participate in SACs. The study findings also corroborates previous research.¹⁴

The SIGNS Study highlighted religious activity as a significant facilitator of social participation. It is evident that participation in religious activities is an important factor in the lives of older Singaporeans such that even those who are sick, as defined by their chronic conditions, who tended not to participate in other social activities, continued with their religious participation. Malays, Indians and the more educated, who tended not to participate in SAC and activities at the RC and CC, did participate in religious activities on a weekly basis. As such it is worthwhile harness the potential of these religious platforms to enhance the social connectedness of older Singaporeans.

REFERENCES

- 1. Lim Y, Han J, Cunico K. Lonely and 'waiting to die', Singapore's elderly poor find hope in many helping hands. 2017; <u>https://www.channelnewsasia.com/news/cnainsider/lonely-and-</u>waiting-to-die-singapore-s-elderly-poor-find-hope-in-8844768. Accessed 12 Oct 2018, 2018.
- 2. Donaldson J, Smith CJ, Balakrishnan B, Kadir MM, Mudaliar S. *Elderly Population in Singapore*. Singapore: Singapore Management University;2015.
- 3. Cornwell EY, Waite LJ. Social Disconnectedness, Perceived Isolation, and Health among Older Adults. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*. 2009;50:31-48.
- 4. Ashida S, Heaney CA. Differential Associations of Social Support and Social Connectedness With Structural Features of Social Networks and the Health Status of Older Adults. *Journal of Aging and Health.* 2008;20:872-893.
- 5. Lubben JE, Gironda M. Measuring social networks and assessing their benefits. In: Phillipson C, Allan G, Morgan D, eds. *Social Networks and Social Exclusion: Sociological and Policy Perspectives*: Ashgate; 2004:20-34.
- 6. Chan A, Malhotra C, Malhotra R, Østbye T. Living arrangements, social networks and depressive symptoms among older men and women in Singapore. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*. 2011;26:630-639.
- 7. Wee LE, Yong YZ, Chng MWX, et al. Individual and area-level socioeconomic status and their association with depression amongst community-dwelling elderly in Singapore. *Aging & Mental Health.* 2014;18:628-641.
- 8. Baltes PB. Theoretical propositions of life-span developmental psychology: On the dynamics between growth and decline. *Developmental Psychology*. 1987;23:611-626.
- 9. Baltes PB, Baltes MM. Plasticity and variability in psychological aging: Methodological and theoretical issues. In: Guski G, ed. *Determining the Effects of Aging on the Central Nervous System*. Berlin: Schering; 1980:41-66.
- 10. Gubhaju B, ØStbye T, Chan A. Living arrangements of community-dwelling older Singaporeans: Predictors and consequences. *Ageing and Society*. 2017:1-25.
- 11. Luo Y, Hawkley LC, Waite LJ, Cacioppo JT. Loneliness, health, and mortality in old age: A national longitudinal study. *Social science & medicine (1982)*. 2012;74:907-914.
- 12. McMunn A, Nazroo J, Wahrendorf M, Breeze E, Zaninotto P. Participation in sociallyproductive activities, reciprocity and wellbeing in later life: Baseline results in England. *Ageing and Society*. 2009;29:765-782.
- 13. Toepoel V. Ageing, Leisure, and Social Connectedness: How could Leisure Help Reduce Social Isolation of Older People? *Social Indicators Research*. 2013;113:355-372.
- 14. Ministry of Social and Family Development 2015. "Report on the Centre for Ageing Research and Education (CARE) Senior Activity Centres Study". Unpublished.
- 15. Lubben JE. Assessing social networks among elderly populations. *Family & Community Health.* 1988;11:42-52.
- 16. Hughes ME, Waite LJ, Hawkley LC, Cacioppo JT. A short scale for measuring loneliness in large surveys results from two population-based studies. *Research on Aging*. 2004;26:655-672.
- 17. Kohout FJ, Berkman LF, Evans DA, Cornoni-Huntley J. Two Shorter Forms of the CES-D Depression Symptoms Index. *Journal of Aging and Health.* 1993;5:179-193.
- 18. Bhandari M, Lochner H, Tornetta P. Effect of continuous versus dichotomous outcome variables on study power when sample sizes of orthopaedic randomized trials are small. *Archives of Orthopaedic and Trauma Surgery*. 2002;122:96-98.
- 19. Pearlin LI, Schooler C. The Structure of Coping. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*. 1978;19:2-21.

Chapter 10: Provision and Receipt of Transfers: Descriptive Statistics

In this chapter, we provide descriptive statistics on provision and receipt of transfers and their distribution overall and by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement.

				8	· · · · · · ·	-)				
		A	Age Group			ender	Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
Provision	of transf	ers to fa	mily me	mbers (i	ncluding	spouse), re	elatives, frie	nds, or a f	foreign do	mestic
			worke	r in the p	oast 12 m	onths (weig	ghted %)			
n	2272	1000	747	525	1058	1214	1676	349	216	31
Monetary	26.6	35.1	21.8	8.0	38.5	16.1	25.3	32.0	35.4	26.2
support										
Housework	38.8	45.7	37.8	18.7	48.0	30.8	38.8	42.5	37.6	21.7
help										
Material	34.2	41.8	30.2	17.3	42.7	26.8	33.8	34.3	37.0	45.7
support										
Emotional	40.9	48.0	38.0	23.7	53.0	30.3	39.8	47.8	44.4	44.8
support										

Table 10.1a Provision of Transfers by Age Group, Gender, Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The most prevalent type of provision of transfers was the provision of emotional support (41%). In general, those aged 60-69 years were more likely to provide support compared to the other age groups. Regarding gender difference, males were more likely to provide support.

		Educational Le	evel Completed	Living Arrangement		
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
Provision of	f transfers to fa	mily members (including spous	se), relatives, fri	ends, or a forei	gn domestic
		worker in the	past 12 months	(weighted %)		
n	706	676	589	296	2052	216
Monetary	15.9	25.0	30.7	43.2	28.1	12.3
support						
Housework	33.5	39.5	41.6	42.6	41.7	10.5
help						
Material	27.8	31.0	38.6	45.3	36.3	14.5
support						
Emotional	29.2	39.4	45.3	59.1	43.3	18.3
support						

Table 10.1b Provision of Transfers by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid.

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Older Singaporeans who had tertiary education and those who were not living alone were also more likely to provide support.

		1	Age Group G		Ge	nder Ethnicity			icity	
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
Receipt of the	ransfers	to famil	y memb	ers (inclu	ding spous	se), relative	s, friends, o	r a foreigr	n domestic	worker
			i	n the past	12 month	s (weighted	l %)			
n	2272	1000	747	525	1058	1214	1676	349	216	31
Monetary support	60.9	52.7	68.5	73.1	51.1	69.5	60.7	64.9	64.2	35.3
Housework help	56.5	52.9	56.3	68.7	62.0	51.7	55.8	58.2	69.5	41.1
Material support	57.6	52.0	60.7	70.6	54.3	60.6	57.4	59.2	63.3	43.5
Emotional support	59.1	57.0	60.0	64.6	49.5	67.5	58.5	63.2	64.0	47.8

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Around 57 to 61% of respondents received transfers within the 12 months prior at the point of the survey. In general, those aged 80 years and above were more likely to receive support. Regarding gender difference, females were more likely to receive monetary and emotional support, whereas males were more likely to receive housework help. We also observed that older Singaporeans who were not of the three major ethnicities ('Others') were less likely to receive support.

		Educational	Level Complete	ed	Living Arrangement		
	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living	
					Alone	Alone*	
Receipt of trans	sfers to far	nily members (i	ncluding spouse	e), relatives, frie	ends, or a foreig	n domestic	
		worker in the	past 12 months	(weighted %)			
n	706	676	589	296	2052	216	
Monetary support	74.7	66.3	54.0	35.7	62.5	45.8	
Housework help	58.2	56.1	55.2	57.0	60.2	21.2	
Material support	67.8	58.5	51.4	48.0	59.5	39.8	
Emotional	64.7	59.1	54.8	56.3	60.7	43.8	
support							

Table 10.2b Receipt of Transfers by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid. Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Older Singaporeans who had tertiary education were also less likely to receive monetary and material support. In terms of living arrangements, those who lived alone tended not to receive support, particularly housework help, compared to those not living alone.

Chapter 11: Predictors of Support Provision to Family Members

Grand Hak-Land Cheng

INTRODUCTION

Despite their declining health and functioning, older adults are not passive and are often productive, making contributions to their family and society.¹⁻³ In 2016, the Singapore government invested S\$3 billion into the 'Action Plan for Successful Ageing' to create opportunities where older Singaporeans are able to be active in their personal and social lives through contributive activities such as volunteering and employment building trainings and workshops.⁴ These activities have been found to be beneficial in alleviating loneliness and stimulating cognitive function, essentially improving overall well-being^{5,6 7-9}

When it comes to contributory behaviors of older adults, the provision of support older adults and their family members, such as those of financial, housework and emotional natures have not been sufficiently studied.¹ This knowledge gap is particularly disconcerting for Singapore, a country where family values and cohesion are important pillars for Singapore society.¹⁰ A recent study¹¹ used data from the second wave (conducted in the year 2011) of the Panel on Health and Ageing of Singaporean Elderly (PHASE) and found that depending on the type of support, 10 to 39% of older adults provided support to their family members within the prior year (at the point of the study). The study also found that 30 to 80% of older adults had received family support. Older adults who received support from family members were likely to also be reciprocating and providing support. In the current analyses, we utilise data from the THE SIGNS Study – I to investigate older Singaporeans' support provision to family members.

The Singapore government's policy on care of older people is that it should be principally provided by the family. It is thus common place in Singapore for older Singaporeans to receive support from their family members.¹¹ Hence, it is important to understand how receiving support relates to the provision of support. Similar to prior research,¹¹ we anticipate a positive association between receiving support from and providing support to family members. This expectation is based on the reciprocity norm.¹² As people return favors for those received, reciprocity forms the basis for social bonding and trust including the family context.

To understand the dynamics that shape support provision, we document how sociodemographic factors and health status relate to support provision to and from family members. The data indicates which sub-populations transfer more and which transfer less. Given the gendered division of labor, especially in Asia where men are more likely to be the breadwinners and women the homemakers,¹² we also anticipate that gender will play a role in the dynamics of support provision in Singapore.

Education and employment status are factors that could influence the probability of support provision; for example, those with higher income and savings would have

more means to provide support. Marriage, living with someone, and stronger family networks outside the household have also been found to provide more opportunities for support provision. Hence, we also look into these factors predict support provision. With regards to physical health, we anticipate a negative association between poor health and support provision among older adults, as poor health could limit the capacity for helping.

METHOD

The analytical sample included 2,008 older Singaporeans who answered all study variables. Table 11.1 reports the descriptive characteristics of this analytical sample.

Dependent variables	
Provided financial support, n (%)	819 (40.8)
Provided housework support. n (%)	782 (38.9)
Provided emotional support, n (%)	835 (41.6)
Predicting variables	(1110)
Received financial support, n (%)	1438 (71.6)
Received housework support, n (%)	1083 (53.9)
Received emotional support, n (%)	1148 (57.2)
Age, n (%)	
60-69	977 (48.7)
70-79	690 (34.4)
80 and above	341 (17.0)
Female gender, n (%)	1029 (51.3)
Ethnicity, n (%)	
Chinese	1496 (74.5)
Malay	292 (14.5)
Indian	190 (9.5)
Other	30 (1.5)
Education, n (%)	
None	527 (26.3)
Primary	628 (31.3)
Secondary	563 (28.0)
Post-secondary	290 (14.4)
Housing type, n (%)	
1-2 room HDB	166 (8.3)
3 room HDB	485 (24.2)
4-5 room HDB/ private	1357 (67.6)
Employed, n (%)	694 (34.6)
Married, n (%)	1371 (68.3)
Living alone, n (%)	163 (8.1)
Family networks outside the household, n (%)	
Lowest tertile	747 (37.2)
Middle tertile	600 (29.9)
Highest tertile	661 (32.9)
Depressive symptoms, mean (SD) (scale range: 0 to 22)	3.13 (3.23)
Chronic diseases, mean (SD)	2.09 (1.54)
ADL limitations, n (%)	
No limitations	1872 (93.2)
1-2 limitations	81 (4.0)
\geq 3 limitations	55 (2.7)
IADL limitations, n (%)	
No limitations	1683 (83.8)

Table 11.1. Descriptive statistics of the analytical sample (N= 2008)

110 (0.0)
113 (5.6)
212 (10.6)

Note: The reported % may not sum to 100 due to rounding.

Measures

Dependent variables included the provision of financial (money, food, clothes or other material goods), housework, and emotional support. Respondents reported whether they had provided these three types of support to any of their family members in the past 12 months.

Predicting variables included receipt of financial support, housework support, and emotional support. Similar to support provision, respondents indicated whether they had received these 3 kinds of support from any of their family members in the past 12 months.

Sociodemographic variables included age, gender, ethnicity, education level, housing type, employment status, marital status, living alone, and family networks outside the household. The modified Lubben social network scale¹³ assessed strength and quality of social networks with friends and relatives outside the household. We included the questions on relatives to capture strength and quality of family networks outside the household.

For health, we measured depressive symptoms using the 11-item Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression (CES-D) Scale.¹⁴ We also considered a number of chronic diseases (maximum= 20), ADL limitations (maximum= 6), and IADL limitations (maximum= 7).

Statistical analysis

We developed 3 logistic regression models. Each model focused on a certain dependent variable (provision of financial, housework, or emotional support). The dependent variable was regressed on a total of 16 predicting variables, which included receipt of (financial, housework, emotional) support, sociodemographic (age, gender, ethnicity, education level, housing type, employment status, marital status, living alone, family networks outside the household), and health status (depressive symptoms, chronic diseases, ADL limitations, IADL limitations).

RESULTS

In our sample, 39% to 42% of older adults had provided financial, housework, and emotional support to their family members in the past 12 months (Table 11.1). A higher proportion had received support (54% to 72%) from their family members. Table 11.2 reports the bivariate association among different kinds of support provision and support receipt. We found that all types of support receipt were positively correlated with support provision.

	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.
1. Provided financial support	-					
2. Provided housework support	.59	-				
3. Provided emotional support	.62	.66	-			
4. Received financial support	.13	.21	.20	-		
5. Received housework support	.20	.22	.27	.47	-	
6. Received emotional support	.14	.22	.32	.57	.45	-

Table 11.2. Correlation between support provision and support receipt (N= 2008)

Note: All relationships were significant (p < .001).

Table 11.3 shows the logistic regression findings for the prediction of provision of financial support. Receipt of financial, housework, and emotional support were positively associated with provision of financial support. Regarding sociodemographic factors, older Singaporeans were more likely to provide financial support when they were more educated, employed, married, and had stronger family networks outside the household. Simultaneously, older age, living alone and females were negatively related with provision of financial support. Regarding health, those with ADL limitations were less likely to offer financial support.

Table 11.3. Predicting provision of financial support (no provision of financial support as the reference group; N=2008)

Received financial support 1.70^{***} Received housework support 1.43^{**} Received emotional support 1.42^{**} Age (ref.: 60-64) 1.42^{**} 70-79 0.62^{***} 80 and above 0.52^{***} Female gender 0.56^{***} Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese) $Malay$ Malay 1.28 Indian 1.23 Other 0.66 Education (ref.: none) $Primary$ Primary 0.79 Secondary 0.94 Post-secondary 1.64^{**} Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB) 1.08 3 room HDB 1.08 4-5 room HDB/ private 0.83 Employed 2.26^{***} Married 1.40^* Living alone 0.32^{***} Family networks (ref. lowest tertile) $Middle tertile$ Middle tertile 1.29 Highest tertile 1.01 Chronic diseases 1.01 ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations) 22^{***}		Odds ratio (OR)
Received housework support 1.43^{**} Received emotional support 1.42^{**} Age (ref.: 60-64) 1.42^{**} 70-79 0.62^{***} 80 and above 0.52^{***} Female gender 0.56^{***} Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese) $Malay$ Malay 1.28 Indian 1.23 Other 0.66 Education (ref.: none) $Primary$ Primary 0.79 Secondary 0.94 Post-secondary 1.64^{**} Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB) 1.08 3 room HDB 1.08 4-5 room HDB/ private 0.83 Employed 2.26^{***} Married 1.40^* Living alone 0.32^{***} Family networks (ref. lowest tertile) $Middle tertile$ Middle tertile 1.29 Highest tertile 1.01 Chronic diseases 1.01 ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations) 22^{***}	Received financial support	1.70***
Received emotional support 1.42^{**} Age (ref.: 60-64) 70-79 0.62^{***} 80 and above 0.52^{***} Female gender 0.56^{***} Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese) Malay 1.28 Indian 1.23 Other 0.66 Education (ref.: none) Primary 0.79 Secondary 0.94 Post-secondary 1.64^{**} Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB) 3 room HDB 1.08 $4-5$ room HDB/private 0.83 Employed 2.26^{***} Married 1.40^* Living alone 0.32^{***} Family networks (ref. lowest tertile) Middle tertile 1.01 Alighest tertile 1.01 Apprendix 1.01 Apprendix 1.01 Apprendix 1.01 Apprendix 1.01	Received housework support	1.43**
Age (ref.: 60-64) 70-79 0.62^{***} 80 and above 0.52^{***} Female gender 0.56^{***} Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese) 1.28 Malay 1.23 Other 0.66 Education (ref.: none) 0.79 Primary 0.79 Secondary 0.94 Post-secondary 1.64^{**} Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB) 3 room HDB3 room HDB 1.08 4-5 room HDB/private 0.83 Employed 2.26^{***} Married 1.40^* Living alone 0.32^{***} Family networks (ref. lowest tertile) 1.01 Middle tertile 1.29 Highest tertile 1.01 Chronic diseases 1.01 ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations) 0.01^{***}	Received emotional support	1.42**
$70-79$ 0.62^{***} 80 and above 0.52^{***} Female gender 0.56^{***} Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese) 1.28 Malay 1.23 Other 0.66 Education (ref.: none) 0.79 Primary 0.79 Secondary 0.94 Post-secondary 1.64^{**} Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB) 1.08 3 room HDB 1.08 $4-5$ room HDB/ private 0.83 Employed 2.26^{***} Married 1.40^* Living alone 0.32^{***} Family networks (ref. lowest tertile) 1.01 Middle tertile 1.29 Highest tertile 1.01 Chronic diseases 1.01 ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations) 20^{***}	Age (ref.: 60-64)	
80 and above0.52***Female gender0.56***Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese)	70-79	0.62***
Female gender0.56***Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese)1.28Malay1.28Indian1.23Other0.66Education (ref.: none)0.79Primary0.79Secondary0.94Post-secondary1.64**Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)1.083 room HDB1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.01Middle tertile1.29Highest tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)22***	80 and above	0.52***
Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese)1.28Malay1.23Indian1.23Other0.66Education (ref.: none)79Primary0.79Secondary0.94Post-secondary1.64**Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)1.083 room HDB1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.60***Middle tertile1.29Highest tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)20#**	Female gender	0.56***
Malay1.28Indian1.23Other0.66Education (ref.: none)79Primary0.79Secondary0.94Post-secondary1.64**Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)1.083 room HDB1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.60***Middle tertile1.29Highest tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)20###	Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese)	
Indian1.23Other0.66Education (ref.: none)0.79Primary0.79Secondary0.94Post-secondary1.64**Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)1.083 room HDB1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.60***Middle tertile1.29Highest tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)28***	Malay	1.28
Other0.66Education (ref.: none)PrimaryPrimary0.79Secondary0.94Post-secondary1.64**Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)1.083 room HDB1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.60***Middle tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)20***	Indian	1.23
Education (ref.: none)0.79Primary0.79Secondary0.94Post-secondary1.64**Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)1.083 room HDB1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.60***Middle tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)20***	Other	0.66
Primary0.79Secondary0.94Post-secondary1.64**Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)3 room HDB1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.60***Middle tertile1.29Highest tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)20***	Education (ref.: none)	
Secondary0.94Post-secondary1.64**Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)3 room HDB1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.60***Middle tertile1.29Highest tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)22***	Primary	0.79
Post-secondary1.64**Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)1.083 room HDB1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.60***Middle tertile1.29Highest tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)28###	Secondary	0.94
Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB) 3 room HDB1.08 1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.29Middle tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)22###	Post-secondary	1.64**
3 room HDB1.084-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.29Middle tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)22###	Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)	
4-5 room HDB/ private0.83Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.29Middle tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)22###	3 room HDB	1.08
Employed2.26***Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.29Middle tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)22###	4-5 room HDB/ private	0.83
Married1.40*Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.29Middle tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)22###	Employed	2.26***
Living alone0.32***Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)1.29Middle tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)22***	Married	1.40*
Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)Middle tertileHighest tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)	Living alone	0.32***
Middle tertile1.29Highest tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)22****	Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)	
Highest tertile1.60***Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)22****	Middle tertile	1.29
Depressive symptoms1.01Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)2000000000000000000000000000000000000	Highest tertile	1.60***
Chronic diseases1.01ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)224444	Depressive symptoms	1.01
ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)	Chronic diseases	1.01
	ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)	
1-2 limitations .23***	1-2 limitations	.23***
\geq 3 limitations .10***	\geq 3 limitations	.10***
IADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)	IADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)	
1-2 limitations 1.23	1-2 limitations	1.23

 \geq 3 limitations 0.71

Note: * *p*< 0.05, ** *p*< 0.01, *** *p*< 0.001.

Receipt of financial, housework, and emotional support were positively associated with provision of housework support (Table 11.4). Individuals who were older, female, living alone, had any ADL limitations, and had any IADL limitations were less likely to provide housework support.

Table 11.4. Predicting provision of housework support (no provision of housework support as the reference group; N= 2008)

	Odds ratio (OR)
Received financial support	2.05***
Received housework support	1.32*
Received emotional support	2.17***
Age (ref.: 60-64)	
70-79	0.74*
80 and above	0.44***
Female gender	0.45***
Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese)	
Malay	1.23
Indian	0.93
Other	0.48
Education (ref.: none)	
Primary	0.87
Secondary	0.95
Post-secondary	0.91
Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)	
3 room HDB	1.00
4-5 room HDB/ private	0.91
Employed	1.24
Married	1.07
Living alone	0.15***
Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)	
Middle tertile	1.12
Highest tertile	1.05
Depressive symptoms	1.01
Chronic diseases	0.98
ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)	
1-2 limitations	0.19***
\geq 3 limitations	0.09**
IADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)	
1-2 limitations	0.90
\geq 3 limitations	0.33**

Note: * *p*< 0.05, ** *p*< 0.01, *** *p*< 0.001.

Respondents who received housework and emotional support were more likely to provide emotional support (Table 11.5). Malays, those with higher education levels, and those who were employed were more likely to provide emotional support. In contrast, those who were older, female, living alone, and had ADL limitations were less likely to provide emotional support.

	Odds ratio (OR)
Received financial support	1.34
Received housework support	1.44**
Received emotional support	5.15***
Age (ref.: 60-64)	
70-79	0.75*
80 and above	0.65*
Female gender	0.30***
Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese)	
Malay	1.62**
Indian	1.19
Other	1.14
Education (ref.: none)	
Primary	0.90
Secondary	1.30
Post-secondary	2.00***
Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)	
3 room HDB	0.80
4-5 room HDB/ private	0.73
Employed	1.51**
Married	1.24
Living alone	0.32***
Family networks (ref. lowest tertile)	
Middle tertile	1.07
Highest tertile	1.23
Depressive symptoms	1.00
Chronic diseases	1.06
ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)	
1-2 limitations	0.31***
\geq 3 limitations	0.25**
IADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)	
1-2 limitations	0.99
\geq 3 limitations	0.56

Table 11.5. Predicting provision of emotional support (no provision of emotional support as the reference group; N=2008)

Note: * *p*< 0.05, ** *p*< 0.01, *** *p*< 0.001.

DISCUSSION

Around 40% of respondents provided some types of support to their family members in the past 12 months, and over half of them received some types of family support. Older Singaporeans provided family support to the extent that they received family support. The positive association between receipt of support and provision of support points to the significance of reciprocity norm.^{11,12} It also corroborates our understanding that family cohesion is a key cultural value for many Singaporeans.¹⁰

Furthermore, older Singaporeans who had higher education levels, employed, and had better functional health (fewer ADL and IADL limitations) were more likely to provide support to their kin. At the same time, older age and greater functional limitations were associated with a lower chance of offering help. These observations altogether suggest that older people who have more resources and capability have a stronger tendency to offer help to their kin and vice versa. These findings attest to the strong desire of older Singaporeans to provide support - in all its different forms - to the next generation with the main impediments being their own limited resources.

Another positive finding is that those who are married and live with someone had a higher likelihood of offering help to their kin, suggesting that co-residence has benefits. In addition, strength and quality of family networks outside the household were positively related to support provision. These findings suggest that the more the older adults are socially connected, the more they are likely to contribute.

Dissecting the findings further, we found that there are gender and ethnic differences with support provision among older Singaporeans. We found that older males were more likely to provide financial, housework and emotional support to family members compared to their female counterparts. Whilst this may seemingly be counter-intuitive based on traditional caring roles of females in the family, it is consistent with the key finding that those who are more educated, employed and in better health are more likely to provide support. Older males, versus females in Singapore, tend to be more educated, employed and in better health. Among the ethnicities, we found that Malays tended to provide more emotional support to their kin than the Chinese, which suggests cultural differences in family dynamics play an important role in predicting the type of support provided.

In summary, the findings on support provision among older adults are highly encouraging, and augur well for intergenerational relations in Singapore. Older Singaporeans provide support especially when they have the financial means and are in good health. With Singapore's successful ageing framework, which seeks to improve the overall wellbeing of older adults through initiatives that aim to enhance their health, social and economic status, we can expect that new cohorts of older Singaporeans will continue to provide support to younger generations. The inclination to provide support as pointed out, is augmented when older adults are socially connected both within their homes and beyond.

REFERENCES

- 1. Liu S, Zhang W, Wu L-h, Wu B. Contributory behaviors and life satisfaction among Chinese older adults: Exploring variations by gender and living arrangements. *Social Science & Medicine*. in press.
- 2. Wu B, Chi I, Mjelde-Mossey LA, Silverstein NM. Gender differences in contributory behaviors among the oldest-old Chinese in Shanghai. *Ageing International*. 2008;32(1):65-77.
- 3. Wu B, Yue Y, Silverstein NM, Axelrod DT, Shou LL, Song PP. Are contributory behaviors related to culture? Comparison of the oldest old in the United States and in China. *Ageing International*. 2005;30(3):296-323.
- 4. Singapore Ministerial Committee on Ageing. "I feel young in my Singapore!" Action plan for successful ageing. Singapore: Singapore Ministry of Health; 2016.
- 5. Perlman D, Peplau LA. Toward a social psychology of loneliness. In: Duck S, Gilmour R, eds. *Personal Relationships*. Vol 3. London, UK: Academic Press; 1981:31-56.
- 6. Carr DC, Kail BL, Matz-Costa C, Shavit YZ. Does becoming a volunteer attenuate loneliness among recently widowed older adults? *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences.* 2018;73(3):501-510.
- 7. Menec VH. The relation between everyday activities and successful aging: A 6-year longitudinal study. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences.* 2003;58(2):S74-S82.
- 8. Simone P, Scuilli M. Cognitive benefits of participation in lifelong learning institutes. *LLI Review*. 2006;1:144-151.
- 9. Xue B, Cadar D, Fleischmann M, et al. Effect of retirement on cognitive function: the Whitehall II cohort study. *European Journal of Epidemiology*. in press.
- 10. Hong S-I, Chokkanathan S, Rozario PA. Activity patterns associated with health status in later life among Singaporeans. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*. in press.
- T11. Verbrugge LM, Ang S. Family reciprocity of older Singaporeans. *European Journal of Ageing.* in press.
- 12. Verbrugge LM, Chan A. Giving help in return: family reciprocity by older Singaporeans. *Ageing and Society.* 2008;28(1):5-34.
- 13. Lubben J, Gironda M. Measuring social networks and assessing their benefits. In: Phillipson C, Allan G, Morgan D, eds. *Social networks and social exclusion: Sociological and policy perspectives*. Burlington, VT: Ashgate; 2004:20-34.
- 14. Kohout FJ, Berkman LF, Evans DA, Cornoni-Huntley J. Two shorter forms of the CES-D depression symptoms index. *Journal of Aging and Health*. 1993;5(2):179-193.

Chapter 12: Work and Retirement: Descriptive Statistics

This chapter reports the descriptive statistics on current work status, reasons to be working, early retirement, and reasons for early retirement, overall and by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement.

		Age Group		Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
			Cur	rent Wo	rk Stat	us (weight	ed %)			
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34
Working full-time	24.3	37.5	13.7	1.7	35.7	14.3	23.8	24.8	29.3	32.2
Working part-time	12.5	16.2	11.5	2.2	11.8	13.1	13.5	6.2	8.7	7.7
Retired and/or not working	54.8	43.1	65.5	72.7	52.2	57.1	55.0	55.6	50.4	55.0
Never worked	8.3	3.2	9.4	22.9	0.3	15.4	7.6	13.3	11.7	5.1

Table 12.1a Current Work Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Overall, 24% of older Singaporeans worked full-time, and 13% worked part-time, with both proportions declining with age. A lower proportion of females worked full-time (14%) compared to males (36%) but a slightly higher proportion worked part-time (13%) compared to males (12%). About 8% older Singaporeans overall had never-worked; 23% of those aged 80 years and above never worked compared to only 3% of those aged 60-69 years; 15% of females never worked compared to less than 1% of males. The Chinese had the lowest proportion of full-time work (24%) among the three major ethnicities but had the highest proportion of part-time work (14%).

		Educationa	Living Arrangement			
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
		Current W	ork Status (w	eighted %)		
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407
Working full- time	11.6	25.1	33.2	29.9	25.1	15.5
Working part- time	10.6	12.4	12.7	16.2	12.3	14.2
Retired and/or not working	58.6	55.9	50.7	53.3	54.3	60.7
Never worked	19.0	6.5	3.4	0.6	8.2	9.5

Table 12.1b Current Work Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The proportion of older Singaporeans who worked either full-time or part-time increased with education, ranging from 22% among those with no formal education to 46% among those with secondary and among those with tertiary education. A lower proportion of older Singaporeans living alone worked full-time (16%) compared to those not living alone (25%) but a higher proportion of those living alone worked part-time (14%) compared to those not living alone

(12%). The proportion of those never worked was highest among those with no formal education (19%), declining sharply for those with primary or higher education.

The distribution of current and longest engaged occupation by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level, and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A12a-A12b and A12f-A12g.

Figure 12.1c Reasons to Be Working



only to participants who are working full-time or part-time Percentages exceed 100% as multiple responses were allowed.

All survey participants who were working either full-time or part-time were asked about their reasons for working. The most common reason for working was reported to be income (included in 77% of the responses), followed by maintenance of good health (50%), and enjoying work (41%). Social contact and contribution to society were included in 31% and 18% of the responses respectively.

		A	Age Group		Gender		Ethnici		Gender Ethnicity		
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
	Early Retirement (weighted %)										
n	2623	868	1012	743	1209	1414	1962	410	232	19	
Yes	38.6	51.0	34.3	22.3	25.8	48.9	38.0	43.8	40.6	33.6	

Table 12.2a Early Retirement among Retired/Not Working by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Older Singaporeans who reported that they had retired or were currently not working were asked if they had retired early. The proportion of those who reported that they had retired early was 39% overall, and the highest among those aged 60-69 years (51%), and lower for those aged 70-79 years (34%) and 80 years and above (22%). The proportion of females who had retired early (49%) was nearly twice that of males (26%). Malays had the highest proportion of those who had retired early (44%), followed by Indians (41%), Chinese (38%) and Others (34%).

 Table 12.2b Early Retirement among Retired/Not Working by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	Living Arrangement					
	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*		
Early Retirement (weighted %)								
n	835	817	683	282	2363	258		
Yes	32.2	40.0	42.6	41.9	39.0	35.9		

The proportion of those retiring early was the lowest for older Singaporeans with no formal education (32%), but similar across other educational levels. Those living alone had a lower proportion of early retirement (36%) compared to those not living alone (39%).



Figure 12.2c Reasons for Early Retirement among Retired/Not Working

*Asked only to participants who are retired and/or not working, and who took early retirement Percentages exceed 100% as multiple responses were allowed.

Respondents who reported that they had retired early were asked their reasons for taking early retirement. The most frequently cited reason was caregiving responsibilities specifically taking care of a family member, relative, or friend (45%), followed by the respondents' own ill health (26%). Reasons related to the workplace, i.e. made redundant/had no choice (14%), fed up with job and wanted a change (7%), and offered early retirement incentive (2%) when combined, formed the third most frequently cited reason.

The proportion of employment seeking among the retired or not working, and reasons for doing or not doing so, is provided in Appendix Tables A12c-A12e. The proportion of those who never worked and their reasons for not seeking employment is provided in the Appendix Tables A12h-A12i.

Chapter 13: Correlates of Work and Early Retirement

Abhijit Visaria

INTRODUCTION

A key aspect of promoting successful ageing is affording the opportunity to older adults to voluntarily work, while also maintaining their social contacts and an active lifestyle. For individuals there may also be obvious financial benefits, because the longer the period of time spent in formal employment, the shorter the duration of dependence on savings and others for meeting regular expenses. Research also suggests that the work environment and other contextual factors, before and during the time of exiting the workforce, play a strong role in whether retirement is beneficial or has adverse consequences for psychological and physical health;^{1,2,3} For example, if workers retire from the workforce involuntarily, or when they perceive little control during this period of transition, they have higher stress and worse physical health after retirement.⁴ Extant research shows that older workers do contribute to the larger economy; that productivity, profits or wage levels are not negatively associated with a larger proportion of older works; and that mixed-age working teams comprising of younger and older workers enhance productivity of all workers.^{5,6,7}

The issue of employment of older workers is an important aspect of understanding an ageing society such as Singapore. A low total fertility rate well below the replacement level and increases in life expectancy over the last five decades have meant that Singapore is a rapidly ageing society. An ageing population implies that the working age population and the old age support ratio will decline, with consequences for the welfare of older adults, as well as economic output and growth.⁸ The old-age support ratio, i.e. the number of persons in the age-group of 20-64 per 1 person aged 65 and above, has steadily declined in Singapore, from 11.4 in 1980, to 8.4 in 2000, 4.2 persons in 2018, and projected to further decline to just over 2 persons aged 20-64 for every 1 person aged 65 and above by 2030.¹⁰

If the total fertility rate in Singapore remains low, and immigration and labour force participation rates remain constant, Singapore will face a shrinking labour force within the next two decades.^{8,11} A key policy lever to cope with the prospects of a declining old age support ratio and a shrinking labour force is to retain existing older workers in the workforce through legislation to extend working age. The results of the current legislation that requires employers to offer re-employment from the ages of 62 to 65 has resulted in an increase in the proportion of older adults in the labour force: among women aged 65 and over, the employment rate has increased from about 4 percent in 1991 to 8 percent in 2006, and to nearly 18 percent in 2017. For older men the rate was at 20 percent in 1991, increased a little to 21 percent in 2006 and to 36 percent in 2017. These changes suggest that there are increasing opportunities as well as reasons for older adults to be engaged in the workforce, and that there may be possibilities of improving these rates even further.

In this chapter, we seek to throw additional light on the prospects for older workers especially women to remain in the workforce, analysing the profile of both older workers and older retirees in Singapore. We analyse three aspects of work and retirement among older adults in Singapore. We study the characteristics of older adults currently working to investigate the social and health correlates of continuing to work. Among those who are currently retired and/or not working, we study the correlates of early retirement and looking for work. In order to make the analysis most meaningful, we examine two specific age cohorts; the young-old, those aged 60-64 years and those aged 65-69 years at the time of the survey. Individuals at these ages have been in the workforce most recently, and it is at these ages that many older adults formally retire from long-held jobs, some transiting from full-time to part-time work, and others responding to re-employment opportunities. It is in providing this cohort of 60-69 year old adults with the opportunity, incentive, and a conducive environment in which they can continue to work if they wish, that there exists potentially the greatest possibility of retaining older adults in the workforce.

Research Questions

The analysis presented in this chapter seeks to answer three research questions:

- 1. Among ever-worked older adults in Singapore, what are the correlates of current employment? Which factors demographic, socioeconomic, and health are correlated with work among older adults?
- 2. Among currently retired and non-working older adults, what are the correlates of early retirement?
- 3. What are the correlates of recently looking for work among ever-worked older adults who are currently retired or not working?

METHODS

Measures of Employment

Current work: In THE SIGNS Study – I, all respondents were asked their current work status. The options provided were working full-time, working part-time, retired and/or not working, never worked, don't know, or refused. In our analysis, we combine the two working categories and operationalize it as 'current work'. We excluded individuals who reported that they had never worked (N=469) to ensure that the study of correlates of current work is made among comparable individuals who have ever worked.

Early retirement: Among those who reported that they are currently retired and/or not working, respondents are asked, "Did you take early retirement, that is did you retire before the normal retirement age?" The measure of early retirement is thus based on the respondents' self-report.

Looking for work: Looking for work is operationalized using the question, "Have you been doing anything to find work during the last four weeks?" asked of all currently retired and/or not working individuals.

Each of these is dichotomized into a yes/no variable.

Explanatory Variables

The explanatory variables that we use in our analysis are demographic characteristics including age, gender, ethnic group, marital status, and the older adult's current living arrangement. We include educational attainment, housing type, and income adequacy as measures of socioeconomic status. Income adequacy is operationalized using the question, "Do you feel that you have adequate income to meet your expenses per month?" Response options include 'enough money, with some left over', 'just enough money, no difficulty', 'some difficulty to meet expenses', and 'much difficulty to meet expenses'. We reclassify these options into two categories: enough money and any difficulty. In all multivariate analysis, we include a variable for the occupation in which individuals report that they spent the longest, to control for any differences in employment decisions and work trajectories that may depend on the nature of the industry. Given the wide range of specific occupations reported by survey respondents outside of the major categories (professional, administrative and managerial, associate professional and technician, clerical, sales and services, production and related, cleaners and labourers, and homemaker), the multivariate analysis controls for occupation, but the results are not reported.

Statistical Analysis

We first study the bivariate relationship between each of the three employment variables and the independent variables of interest. Given the dichotomous nature of the employment variables, we use logistic regression models to analyse the bivariate relationships in a multivariate framework. THE SIGNS Study – I dataset includes rich information on the reasons reported by older persons for currently working, for early retirement, as well as for currently looking for work. We present the distribution of these variables by age group and by gender in each of the three results section to provide more detail about the motivations and context of working and retired older adults in Singapore.

RESULTS

Current Employment

We present the bivariate relationship between current work and the independent variables of interest in Table 13.1. Overall, the bivariate distribution clearly shows that a substantial proportion of older men as well as older women are currently working either full-time or part-time. In the full analytical sample, about 45 percent men and 31 percent women are currently employed. As one may expect, the proportion of both men and women who are working is higher at younger ages, with about 73 percent of men and 51 percent women in the 60-64 age group working, compared to 60 percent of the men and 38 percent women in the 65-

69 age group. Within different ethnic groups, the proportion of working older adults is lower among Malays compared to others.

The bivariate relationship between education and current work is especially interesting. We see that when we compare the two age groups of 60-64 and 65-69 years, the proportion is the least different for those with no formal education. In absolute terms, the difference between the two age cohorts is about 6.5 percentage points among those with no formal education, compared to 10 percentage points among those with some primary education, 12 percentage points among those with some secondary education, and 22 percentage points among those with JC/polytechnic/university or other tertiary education attainment. Older adults with no formal education stay on longer in the workforce compared to others.

Table 13.1: Bivariate distribution of current full-/part-time work among ever-worked older Singaporeans by age groups, 2016-2017

Demographics	60-64	65-69	A 11 2000	
Demographics Condor	years	years	All ages	
Male	72 0	50 /	45.0	
Fomelo	50.0	29.1	45.0 21.4	
Ethnia group	50.9	36.1	51.4	
Chinese	62.4	50.0	28.5	
Malay	02.4 52.5	50.9 45 7	36.J	
Indian	55.5 70.3	45.7	30.4 42.1	
Others	70.3	40.9	45.1	
Marital Status	//.0	57.5	40.0	
Currently married	64.0	51 /	42-1	
Widowed/appereted/diversed	52.7	J1.4 41.7	45.1	
Never merried	52.7	41.7	23.1	
	55.1	47.9	57.9	
Living arrangements	54.6	10 1	21.6	
Living alone	55.2	48.4	31.0 26.1	
Living with spouse only	55.5	48.7	30.1 22.9	
	49.0	40.4	22.8	
Living with child and spouse	66.7	52.7	4/.1	
Living with others	61.2	4/.1	38.3	
Socioeconomic Status				
Education	55.0	40.2	07.5	
No formal education	55.8	49.3	27.5	
Primary	58.2	47.7	38.0	
Secondary/vocational/ITE	64.7	53.0	44.9	
JC/Polytechnic/University and above	66.7	44.6	44.5	
Housing type				
HDB 1-2 rooms	66.7	39.1	32.7	
HDB 3-4 rooms	58.9	55.6	38.5	
HDB 5 room	62.5	50.0	41.0	
Private and others	58.1	37.3	28.7	
Income adequacy				
Enough	63.2	51.0	39.8	
Some/much difficulty to meet monthly expenses	55.4	43.0	33.9	
Social Networks				
Lowest tertile	58.2	49.6	34.7	
Middle tertile	60.0	49.7	37.4	
Higher tertile	65.7	49.4	43.6	
Physical/Functional Health				
No ADL limitations	62.9	50.5	40.4	
Any ADL limitations	23.1	20.7	8.7	
No IADL limitations	63.2	51.1	42.3	

Any IADL limitation	43.5	37.3	19.1
No chronic conditions	69.8	56.7	54.4
Any chronic conditions	59.2	48.0	35.4
Observations	923	946	3615

The bivariate relationship does not show a significant difference between social network tertiles, with about 60-65 percent of older adults within each tertile currently employed. With health factors, we can see that among older adults with any ADL, IADL limitations, or chronic conditions, the proportion of those who work is sharply lower compared to those without these limitations or chronic conditions.

These relationships between work and demographic, socioeconomic, and health factors are subsequently analysed in a multivariate framework, the results of which are presented in Table 13.2. When we account together for the full set of independent variables, we see that there remains a strong effect of gender in all age groups. Women are significantly less likely to be currently working in the overall sample and at both 60-64 and 65-69.

With the 60-64 age group, Indians are twice as likely as the Chinese to be currently working. We do not have evidence for a statistically significant or consistent association between current work status and marital status or living arrangements, except that individuals who live only with a spouse are less likely, compared to those who live with a spouse and a child, to be currently working. Poor health at these ages precludes employment; we also see a negative relationship between work and ADL limitations and between work and the presence of a chronic health condition in the age group of 60-64 years.

For the 65-69 age group, i.e. those who have crossed the retirement age but may still be eligible for reemployment, tertiary educated older adults are 50% less likely to be currently working compared to those without a formal education. We also see evidence for a non-linear relationship between work and housing type, which as discussed above, is a proxy for economic status. Compared to those living in 3-room HDB apartments, individuals who may be worse off and live in 1-2 room apartments as well as those who live in private and other types of housing are less likely to work. The results also show that those with a difficulty in meeting their household monthly expenses are in fact less likely to work compared to those who report that they have enough or even a surplus income. We also see that independent of other factors, individuals are less likely to work as they age, for each additional year within this 5-year age interval of 65-69 years is associated with 14% lower odds of current work.

Table 13.2: Results of logistic regression models predicting current full-/part-time work among ever-worked older Singaporeans by age groups, 2016-2017

Demographics Age (in years) Gender (Ref. = Male)	60-64 years	65-69 years	All
Age (in years) Gender (Ref. = Male)	0.98	years	
Gender (Ref. = Male)	11 94	0.96**	
Gender (Rel. = Male)	0.70	0.80^^	0.8/***
F1.	0 17444	0 11444	0 50***
	0.4/***	0.41***	0.50***
Etnnic group (Ref. = Chinese)	0.70	0.01	0.01
Malay	0.78	0.91	0.81
Indian	2.04**	0.97	1.35*
Others	1.63	0.76	0.98
Marital status (Ref. = Currently married)			
Widowed/separated/divorced	0.79	0.78	0.80
Never married	0.58	0.64	0.62
Living arrangement (Ref. = with child and spouse)			
Alone	0.89	1.68	1.17
With spouse only	0.61*	0.95	0.83
With child only	0.88	1.10	0.86
With others	1.14	1.48	1.35
Socioeconomic Status			
Education (Ref. = No formal education)			
Primary	0.75	0.64	0.75*
Secondary/vocational/ITE	0.82	0.72	0.81
JC/Polytechnic/University and above	0.81	0.50*	0.91
Housing type (Ref. = HDB 3 rooms)			
HDB 1-2 rooms	1.52	0.47*	0.86
HDB 4-5 rooms	0.93	0.73	0.82*
Private housing and others	0.57	0.37**	0.46***
Income adequacy (Ref = Enough)	0.07	0.01	0.10
Some/much difficulty	0.74	0.68*	0 74**
Social Networks	0.74	0.00	0.74
Social networks (Ref. = Lowest tertile)			
Middle tertile	1.16	1.07	1.01
Higher tertile	1.41	1.04	1.13
Physical/Functional Health			-
ADL limitations (Ref. = None)	0.29*	0.40	0.33***
IADL limitations (Ref = None)	0.58	0.69	0.64***
Chronic conditions (Ref. = None)	0.63**	0.82	0.57***

Statistically significant results are highlighted in bold.

All models control for the occupation in which respondents spent the longest.

Given the cross-sectional nature of the data, we do not purport here to make any causal inferences about the effect of these socioeconomic characteristics on work. However, the results offer some clues about the possible directions of these relationships. Educational attainment and, to a certain extent housing type, are likely to be a function of past socioeconomic status and achievements for older adults. Given this, it is possible that those in the 65-69 age cohort with tertiary education and those who currently live in private housing have accumulated the means that afford them the privilege of not needing to work. At the same time, individuals in circumstances that are more modest, defined in terms of smaller housing, or those faced with income inadequacy may not have had the opportunity to accumulate savings.

In Figure 13.1, we present the reasons for working by gender. THE SIGNS Study – I questionnaire offered respondents the option of choosing multiple response categories so that they could articulate all reasons for working. The percentages presented in Figure 13.1 pertain to the number of men (n=899) and women (n=552) in the sample who were currently working and chose that particular reason.



Figure 13.1: Reasons for working among currently working older adults aged 60+ (n=1451)

Note: Multiple responses allowed, therefore the percentages do not add up to 100.

A key take-away from Figure 13.1 is that income is the most widely cited reason for working for both men and women at older ages. The second largest proportion of responses pertain to social contact. Interestingly, nearly 50% of the women report that enjoying work is the reason for work, relative to about 20% of the men. More women also report social contact, maintenance of good health, and contributing to society, as reasons for working compared to men. These results suggest that for women, work provides, or at least is seen to provide, social

and health benefits, beyond being an income-generating activity. Men are less likely to report these additional benefits from work.



Figure 13.2: Reasons for working among currently working older adults aged 60-69 (n=1075)

In Figure 13.2, we examine the reasons for working for the two age groups of 60-64 (n=588) and 65-69 (n=487) separately. The distribution of responses is roughly similar for the two age groups, but we note some differences in the top three reasons. One, income is a little more widely felt reason for working at the younger 60-64 ages. Two, a higher frequency of those aged 65-69 years report that they 'enjoy working' compared to those aged 60-64 years. And three, the importance of work providing social contact is marginally higher at older ages.

Early Retirement

In Table 13.3, we see the bivariate distribution of early retirement and the independent variables of interest. For the rest of this section, we will use the term retired to refer to individuals who are both retired and stopped working.

Women are more likely compared to men to report that they retired before the normal retirement age. Nonetheless, about half of all men already retired in the 60-64 age group report that they retired early. The proportion declines to about a third of the men and about half of the women in 65-69 age group. There are no significant differences among ethnic groups in either age group, although in the full sample, fewer Chinese older adults reported that they retired early.

The bivariate distribution in Table 13.3 does not suggest many demographic or socioeconomic differences in the proportions of individuals at 60-64 reporting early retirement. We do note, however, that among health factors, 85% of individuals with any ADL limitation reported early retirement compared to 63% of individuals any ADL limitations. In addition, 60-64 year olds with any chronic conditions are more likely to have retired early compared to

individuals without any chronic condition. At ages 65-69, older adults living with a child only, report early retirement compared to those in other living arrangements, suggesting that there may be an association between early retirement and dependency on children in the absence of a spouse. About 56 percent of the 65-69 year old individuals report early retirement, compared to 42 percent of the currently married in the same age group.

Table 13.3: Bivariate distribution of early retirement among older Singaporeans currently retired/not working, by age groups, 2016-2017

		(5 (0	
Demographics	60-64 vears	65-69 vears	All ages
Gender		jeuro	4965
Male	51.2	32.3	22.8
Female	71.3	56.3	52.8
Ethnic group^	, 1.0	00.0	02.0
Chinese	63.3	44.4	36.6
Malay	65.8	49.3	42.3
Indian	65.5	49.0	42.6
Marital Status			
Currently married	64.8	42.2	36.6
Widowed/separated/divorced	61.0	56.3	40.8
Never married	63.3	52.1	40.2
Living arrangements			
Living alone	63.2	45.5	34.6
Living with spouse only	59.7	40.9	33.9
Living with child only	62.5	62.1	41.1
Living with child and spouse	67.4	42.0	38.7
Living with others	56.0	54.8	44.7
Socioeconomic Status			
Education			
No formal education	58.1	49.2	32.8
Primary	64.8	43.2	39.0
Secondary/vocational/ITE	65.9	45.4	40.2
JC/Polytechnic/University and above	62.2	49.3	41.4
Housing type			
HDB 1-2 rooms	57.9	42.5	26.8
HDB 3-4 rooms	54.1	48.5	36.3
HDB 5 room	68.8	45.9	40.4
Private and others	56.0	41.3	39.5
Income adequacy			
Enough	65.2	47.0	38.3
Some/much difficulty to meet monthly expenses	60.0	40.5	37.1
Social Networks			
Lowest tertile	64.4	41.6	37.9
Middle tertile	61.8	47.7	36.2
Higher tertile	65.6	47.3	40.0
Physical/Functional Health			
No ADL limitations	62.7	44.8	37.5
Any ADL limitations	85.0	63.6	44.3
No IADL limitations	63.7	45.3	38.6
Any IADL limitation	66.7	48.3	35.7

No chronic conditions	70.5	42.3	40.1
Any chronic conditions	62.6	46.4	37.7
Observations	339	455	2112

Notes:

 $^{\rm The}$ "others" ethnic group category drops out in the analytical sample stratified by age groups because there is no variance in the dependent variable for 'others' because of their small sample size.

Table 13.4 presents odds ratios from the multivariate logistic regression models predicting early retirement. In the 60-64 age group as well as 65-69 age group, women had 2.5 times higher odds of early retirement compared to men. Among the younger cohort of older adults, those with higher education including secondary and tertiary levels of education compared to those with no formal education were between 2.5 and 4 times more likely to have retired early. Compared to individuals in 3-room HDB apartments, those in 4-5 room HDB apartments were more likely to have retired early, but older adults in private housing were not statistically more or less likely compared to those in 3-room HDB apartments to retire early. Our analysis also shows that current health status in terms of ADL or IADL limitations or chronic health conditions is not associated with older adults' early retirement in the past for older adults aged 60-64 or 65-69. For the full sample of all older adults on the other hand, we do see that the presence of an ADL limitation is associated with 63% higher odds of early retirement. This suggests a positive relationship between early retirement and adverse health at older ages in this sample.

Table 13.4: Results of logistic regression models predicting early retirement among olderSingaporeans currently retired/not working by age, 2016-2017

	Odds Ratios			
Demographics	60-64 years	65-69 years	All Ages	
Age (in years)	1.09	0.85*	0.93***	
Gender (Ref. = Male)				
Female	2.46**	2.65***	3.25***	
Ethnic group (Ref. = Chinese)				
Malay	0.74	1.17	1.12	
Indian	0.69	1.23	1.10	
Marital status (Ref. = Currently married)				
Widowed/separated/divorced	1.29	0.30	1.19	
Never married	1.95	0.41	0.87	
Living arrangement (Ref. = with child and spouse)				
Alone	0.84	3.36	0.99	
With spouse only	0.73	0.84	0.92	
With child only	0.54	5.78	0.92	
With others	0.55	5.61	1.41	
Socioeconomic Status				
Education (Ref. = No formal education)				
Primary	2.04	0.97	1.46**	
Secondary/vocational/ITE	2.56*	1.26	1.42*	
JC/Polytechnic/University and above	4.03*	2.04	1.91**	
Housing type (Ref. = HDB 3 rooms)				
HDB 1-2 rooms	1.63	0.95	0.72	
HDB 4-5 rooms	1.87*	0.88	1.14	
Private housing and others	1.02	0.78	1.19	
Income adequacy (Ref. = Enough)				
Some/much difficulty	0.84	0.69	0.96	
Social Networks				
Social networks (Ref. = Lowest tertile)				
Middle tertile	0.88	1.38	0.76*	
Higher tertile	0.92	1.41	0.85	
- Physical/Functional Health				
ADL limitations (Ref. = None)	4.25	2.18	1.63*	
IADL limitations (Ref. = None)	1.07	1.05	1.12	
Chronic conditions (Ref. = None)	0.77	1.15	1.00	
Observations	339	455	2112	

Note: **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001.

All models control for the occupation in which respondents spent the longest.

In Figure 13.3, we present the distribution of the reasons for early retirement for men and women. We see at the outset that among women who had retired early, nearly 60% of the responses are that they retired in order to take care of a family member, relative, or friend. In contrast, the category with the most responses for men is their own ill health. Most responses (37%) for early retirement for men pertain to work-related factors including: being made redundant, being offered early retirement incentive by the employer, and being fed up with a job, and seeking a job change. For women, these reasons make up only about 17% of the reasons for early retirement. About 10% of men and 4% of women report being financially secure as the reason for early retirement.





In Figure 13.4, we present the distribution of the reasons for early retirement for the 60-64 and 65-69 age groups. The reasons for early retirement across these two age cohorts are broadly similar. Interestingly, enjoying life while still young and fit forms about 7% of the reasons for early retirement for 65-69 year old individuals, compared to only about 2% for those in the 60-64 age group. It is possible that this is an effect of a post-facto re-examination of the reasons for early retirement in the context of their current lives. In order to study reasons for early retirement in more detail, future research studies may be designed that allow for collecting this data closer to the actual event of exiting the workforce.



Figure 13.4: Reasons for early retirement among older adults aged 60-69 who reported that they retired early (n=449)

Looking for work

We analyse the correlates of looking for work among those who ever-worked, and are currently retired, or not working. Only 89 respondents out of the total 2,623 older adults retired and/or not working report that they have been doing anything to find work during the four weeks preceding the survey. Given this small number, we present results of our analysis for the entire sample instead of stratifying it into different age groups.

In Table 13.5, we present the bivariate distribution of the dependent and independent variables in the analytical sample. Overall, the proportion of currently retired older adults looking for work is low. Interestingly, we see that more men have been trying to find work in the four weeks preceding the survey (about 5%) compared to women (about 3%). Relatively older adults of Indian and other ethnic groups are looking for work compared to the Chinese and Malay ethnic groups. We also see that older adults who report that they have any difficulty in meeting household expenses are more likely to have been looking for work. Individuals without ADL or IADL limitations and without chronic health conditions are more likely to be looking for work relative to those with these health factors.

Table 13.5: Bivariate distribution of looking for work in last four weeks among older Singaporeanscurrently retired/not working, 2016-2017 (n=2001)		
Demographics	All ages	
Gender	¥	
Male	5.4	
Female	2.6	
Ethnic group		
Chinese	4.0	
Malay	3.3	
Indian	5.8	
Others	6.3	
Marital Status		
Currently married	4.5	
Widowed/separated/divorced	3.2	
Never married	3.2	
Living arrangements		
Living alone	2.3	
Living with spouse only	4.5	
Living with child only	4.4	
Living with child and spouse	4.1	
Living with others	3.3	
Socioeconomic Status		
Education		
No formal education	3.3	
Primary	4.2	
Secondary/vocational/ITE	4.2	
JC/Polytechnic/University and above	4.8	
Housing type		
HDB 1-2 rooms	4.3	
HDB 3-4 rooms	5.5	
HDB 5 room	4.0	
Private and others	1.0	
Income adequacy		
Enough	3.1	
Some/much difficulty to meet monthly expenses Social Networks	7.6	
Lowest tertile	4.9	
Middle tertile	3.8	
Higher tertile	3.4	
Physical/Functional Health		
No ADL limitations	4.4	
Any ADL limitations	0.6	
No IADL limitations	4.2	
Any IADL limitation	3.4	
No chronic conditions	7.0	
------------------------	------	
Any chronic conditions	3.6	
Observations	2001	

In Table 13.6, we present the results of the multivariate logistic regression analysis. Our results are similar to the analysis for employment and reasons for early retirement. We include four age intervals in this analysis, and see that as expected, compared to the 60-64 age group, all older age groups have significantly lower odds of looking for work. We see that women have 50% lower odds of looking for work compared to men. Compared to living with the spouse and a child, older adults who live with a child only have 5.8 times higher odds of looking for work. Although there is no statistically significant relationship between education and looking for work, we see that older adults of a higher economic status, measured in terms of their housing type, are less likely to be looking for work. At the same time, individuals who report that they have some or much difficulty in meeting monthly household expenses are more than twice as likely to be looking for work compared to older adults who have an adequate income. The presence of one or more chronic conditions is associated with lower odds of looking for work. We also include a covariate in the model for whether the individual reported that he/she had retired early, and we find a negative association between early retirement and finding for work. Individuals who retired early have significantly lower odds of looking for work, compared to those who retired at the usual retirement age, suggesting that the reasons for early retirement are compelling and operate over a long period of time.

Demographies	Odds Ratios
Demographics Age group (Ref = 60, 64 years)	All Ages
Age group (Ref. – 60-64 years)	0.76***
70.74 years	0.26***
70-74 years	0.07***
/3 and above	0.07***
Famelo	0.50*
Female	0.50*
Etimic group (Kei. – Chinese)	0.60
Malay	0.60
Indian	1.55
Others Marital status (Bafi = Currently married)	1.12
Marital status (Ref. = Currently marited)	0.21
widowed/separated/divorced	0.31
Never married	0.28
Living arrangement (Ref. = with child and spouse)	1.47
Alone	1.47
With spouse only	1.25
With child only	5.77**
With others	2.07
Education (Ref. = No formal education)	0.05
Primary	0.95
Secondary/vocational/ITE	1.07
JC/Polytechnic/University and above	1.63
Housing type (Ref. = HDB 3 rooms)	
HDB 1-2 rooms	0.84
HDB 4-5 rooms	0.54*
Private housing and others	0.11**
Income adequacy (Ref. = Enough)	
Some/much difficulty	2.17**
Social Networks	
Social networks (Ref. = Lowest tertile)	
Middle tertile	0.71
Higher tertile	0.57
Physical/Functional Health	
ADL limitations (Ref. = None)	0.13
IADL limitations (Ref. = None)	1.31
Chronic conditions (Ref. = None)	0.49*
Early retirement	0.30***
Duration of employment in total	1.01

Table 13.6: Results of logistic regression models predicting looking for work in last four weeks among older Singaporeans currently retired/not working, 2016-2017 (n=2001)

Observations

2001

Note: **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001.

All models control for the occupation in which respondents spent the longest.

DISCUSSION

Life expectancy at the age of 60 in Singapore is currently at 27 years for women and 23.2 years for men.¹⁴ If the current statutory retirement age of 62 years were to remain constant, older Singaporean men can expect to be out of the workforce for an average of 21 years and older Singaporean women an average of 25 years. However, the analysis in this chapter shows that compared to men, women are significantly more likely to retire early and more likely to be outside the workforce even in the 60-64 years age-group. Their years outside the workforce can therefore be expected to be even longer than 25 years. The social, material, and financial resources that women will need to spend these years in comfort will be substantial. We find consistent gender effects across all the analysis: women are more likely to have retired early, less likely to be currently working, and also less likely than men to be currently looking for work. To the extent that formal employment contributes to material and financial resources, a shorter period of formal employment for women due to time spent out of the workforce earlier in their lifetimes, early retirement, or a lower likelihood of looking for work at older ages has a direct impact on the amount of the savings that they will have generated via their own as well as employer contributions to their central provident fund accounts.¹⁵

The age-distribution of women's employment rates in Singapore shows that after peaking at about 90% at the ages of 25-29, women's employment rates decline steadily, with the rate of decline increasing after the age of 45-49 years. A challenge and pressing domain for Singapore policymakers to address is how to enable these women to return to the workforce.

Older women are more likely to report family-related factors as the reason for early retirement, specifically taking care of a family member, relative, or friend. It is likely that women's reasons for leaving the workforce are similar at younger age groups as well. From a policy perspective, this suggests that increasing the opportunity for women to remain in the workforce at all ages requires a specific focus on addressing women's caregiving responsibilities. The possibility of enabling women to tap on alternate caregiving resources such as childcare agencies and foreign domestic workers need to explored and encouraged further especially for those with responsibilities for their ageing relatives including spouses and parents. Further research is needed to understand how women who remain in the workforce manage their "second-shift" or the twin responsibilities of work and caregiving to facilitate developing the appropriate support that will enable these women to continue to work.

The most frequently cited reason by men for early retirement relates to their health. The multivariate analysis also showed a positive association between health limitations and current work, and between chronic conditions and current work, as well as looking for work. Worse health at older ages may be leading individuals to drop out of the workforce. It is also possible

that a past and potentially early exit from the workforce has led to worse health among the 60-64 years old cohort. Over the years the government has been ramping up its health promotion and disease prevention efforts which may mean that future cohorts of older Singaporeans will be healthier than the current ones. These initiatives could be stepped up even further with more intensive on-site programmes, whether in the community or workplace to facilitate participation. In addition to these proactive health programmes where the outcomes are more long-term, a more direct intervention would be in terms of modifications that can be organised at the workplace to make it more elder friendly and accommodating of age-related limitations. Work processes can also be similarly organised such as flexible arrangements, part time work and job sharing which can incentivise the desire and willingness for work. The importance of developing initiatives and incentives to make workplaces more amenable for older persons becomes more urgent when we consider the second main reason why older men stop working. As highlighted earlier, 37% of men who retired early cited work related factors for their decision namely - being made redundant, fed up and seeking change, and offered retirement incentive. Concerted efforts must be mounted by employers to encourage older Singaporeans to work longer.

Another aspect to the findings with relevance to public policy in Singapore is that in the 60-64 years age group, a significant proportion of men (27%) and women (49%) is not working. The Retirement and Reemployment Act (RRA) 2012 in Singapore mandated reemployment of eligible employees aged 62 up to the age of 65 years, and the RRA (Amendment) Act 2017 increased the reemployment age to 67 effective 1 July 2017. Although the policy of re-employment has reduced the potential time outside the workforce, it would apply only to cohorts of individuals who are still within the workforce. Older adults who were in the 60-64 years age group at the time of THE SIGNS Study – I in 2016-2017 were younger than 62 years in 2012 and among them, all working individuals would have been eligible for reemployment until 65. The proportion of men (73%) and women (51%) who reported either part-time or full-time work in the age group of 60-64 years suggests that there are opportunities for the RRA to more effective. It is also possible that the proportion of those working may have been even lower in the absence of the RRA, and further research is needed to determine to what extent the RRA encourages older workers to remain in the workforce.

Our analysis also shows that compared to those who report adequate income, individuals who report difficulty in meeting monthly household expenses are less likely to be currently employed, but more likely to be looking for work. Both findings suggest that employment is associated with financial well-being. Current employment can enable older adults to have income adequacy. Many older adults may be dependent on their current incomes, and not have the necessary accumulated savings to sustain themselves outside the workforce. At the same time, among those who are already retired or not working, older adults who are looking for work may precisely be those who have difficulty in meeting their monthly expenses. Employment at older ages when seen from the perspective of successful ageing often implies that older adults should be provided the opportunity to work in order to maintain their social connections, to remain engaged and contribute to society. At the same time however,

employment at older ages for others may relate to the precariousness of their financial situation and the need for an income just to meet regular expenses.

In Singapore overall, there is a tremendous opportunity for the government as well as industries and unions to harness local human capital as well as contribute globally to other ageing societies with practical innovations and policy interventions that make employment *work* for everyone especially older workers. Showcasing examples of age-friendly workplaces and distilling the key principles of good practices can encourage older workers and motivate other employers to adapt them more widely. As this analysis shows it remains important to address the challenges faced by older workers to remain in the workforce.

REFERENCES

- 1. Meng A, Nexo MA, Borg V. The Impact of Retirement on Age Related Cognitive Decline: A Systematic Review. *BMC Geriatrics*. 2017; 17(160).
- 2. van der Heide I, van Rijn RM, Robroek SJW, et al. Is Retirement Good for your Health? A Systematic Review of Longitudinal Studies. *BMC Public Health*. 2013; 13:1180.
- 3. Reitzes DC, Mutran EJ, Fernandez ME. Does Retirement Hurt Well-being? Factors Influencing Selfesteem and Depression among Retirees and Workers. *The Gerontologist*. 1996; 36(5): 649-656.
- 4. van Solinge H. Health Change in Retirement: A Longitudinal Study Among Older Workers in the Netherlands. *Research on Aging*. 2007; 29:225-256.
- 5. Mahlberg B, Freund I, Cuaresma, JC, Prskawetz A. Ageing, Productivity, and Wages in Austria. *Labour Economics*. 2013; 22:5-15.
- 6. Vandenberghe V. Are Firms Willing to Employ a Greying and Feminizing Workforce? *Labour Economics.* 2013; 22: 30-46.
- 7. Göbel C, Zwick T. Are Personnel Measures Effective in Increasing Productivity of Old Workers? *Labour Economics*. 2013; 22: 80-93.
- 8. Park D, Lee S-H, Mason A. Why does Population Aging Matter So Much for Asia? Population Aging, Economic Growth, and Economic Security in Asia. In: Park D, Lee S-H, Mason A, eds. *Aging, Economic Growth, and Old-Age Security in Asia.* Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar.
- 9. Ministry of Trade and Industry. *Population Trends 2017.* Singapore: Department of Statistics, Ministry of Trade and Industry; 2017.
- 10. National Population and Talent Division. 2018. *Population in Brief 2018*. Singapore: National Population and Talent Division Strategy Group.
- 11. McDonald P, Kippen R. Labor Supply Prospects in 16 Developed Countries, 2000-2050. *Population and Development Review*. 2001; 27(1): 1-32.
- 12. Ministry of Manpower. *Labour Force in Singapore 2017*. Singapore: Manpower Research and Statistics Department, Ministry of Manpower; 2018.
- 13. Lang TT. Population Aging, Older Workers and Productivity Issues: The Case of Singapore. *Journal of Comparative Social Welfare*. 2011; 27(1): 17-33.
- 14. Department of Statistics. *Complete Life Tables for Singapore Resident Population*. Singapore: Ministry of Trade and Industry; 2018.
- Hingorani S. The Unequal, Unnoticed Life of a Female Worker. *Channel News Asia* Commentary. 2018: 5 November. Available at:

https://www.channelnewsasia.com/news/commentary/gender-equality-equal-pay-singapore-work-cpf-life-savings-10877958.

Chapter 14: Lifelong Learning: Descriptive Statistics

In this chapter, we provide descriptive statistics on the number of courses/trainings taken in the last 12 months and primary reason for course/training engagement, overall and by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement.

		Age Group		Ge	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
Number of courses/trainings taken in the last 12 months (weighted %)										
None	86.6	82.0	88.6	98.1	86.0	87.2	87.0	85.9	84.5	81.6
1	8.1	10.9	7.2	0.8	8.9	7.5	8.0	9.1	8.9	7.7
2	3.1	4.4	2.3	0.2	3.0	3.2	3.0	3.9	3.0	5.5
3 or more	2.0	2.6	1.8	0.4	2.2	1.8	1.9	1.1	3.7	5.2

Table 14.1a Number of Courses/Trainings Taken by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Nearly 9 in 10 (87%) of older Singaporeans did not take any course/training in the last 12 months. The 13% who took courses/trainings comprised of 8% who took only 1 course/training and 5% who took more than 2 courses/trainings. The proportion who took any courses/trainings declined with age. The proportion of those who took only 1 course/training was slightly lower for females (8%) than males (9%), but the gender distribution was similar among those who took 2 or more courses/trainings. Indians and Others were the most likely to have taken any courses/trainings and had the highest proportion of having taken 3 or more courses/trainings.

Table 14.1b Number o	of Courses/Trainings	Taken by Educational	Level and Living Arrangement
----------------------	----------------------	----------------------	------------------------------

		Educationa	Living Arra	ngement			
	None	Primary Secondary Tertiary		Not Living Alone	Living Alone*		
Number of courses/trainings taken in the last 12 months (weighted %)							
None	95.0	89.8	81.8	72.1	86.9	84.2	
1	3.2	6.4	12.0	14.1	8.0	9.5	
2	1.1	2.9	3.8	6.5	3.1	3.0	
3 and above	0.3	0.8	2.5	7.4	1.9	3.1	

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

The proportion of older Singaporeans who had taken any course/training as well as those who took 2, or 3 or more courses/trainings increased with education. The majority of older Singaporeans with no formal, primary or secondary education who took a course, had taken only 1 course/training. However, among those with tertiary education, an equal proportion took 1 and 2 or more courses/trainings. A higher proportion of older Singaporeans living alone took 1 or 3 or more courses/trainings compared to those not living alone.

		Age Group		Ge	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
	Pri	mary rea	son for (Course/T	raining	Engagem	ent (weight	ted %)		
n	533	369	148	16	278	255	379	89	60	5
Only Job-	48.0	51.5	40.2	16.4	65.3	31.1	42.5	63.2	78.6	78.0
related										
Only non job-	47.9	44.0	56.4	83.6	31.2	64.3	53.6	32.4	14.6	22.0
related										
Both job and	4.1	4.5	3.4	0.0	3.6	4.6	3.9	4.5	6.8	0.0
non job-related										

Table 14.2a Primary reason for Course/Training Engagement by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

The proportion of those took courses/trainings for only job-related reasons was the highest among older Singaporeans aged 60-69 years (52%). They were also most likely to have taken courses/trainings for both job- and non job-related reasons (5%). Among males, two-thirds who took courses/trainings took them for only job-related reasons and one-third took only for non job-related reasons, whereas the proportions were reversed for females. A greater proportion of Malays (63%) and Indians (79%) took courses/trainings for only job-related reasons relative to Chinese (43%).

Table 14.2b Primary reason for Course/Training Engagement by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

	E	ducational l	Living Arrangement			
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
Primary reason for Course/Training Engagement (weighted %)						
n	54	128	220	131	480	53
Only Job-related	41.8	48.1	50.2	46.7	48.8	40.9
Only non job-related	56.2	49.9	46.1	46.0	46.9	57.2
Both job and non job- related	2.1	2.0	3.7	7.3	4.4	1.9

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

The proportion of those taking courses/trainings for only job-related reasons and only non jobrelated reasons was similar among those with primary and tertiary education. Among those with no formal education, more than half (56%) took courses/trainings for only non job-related reasons. The proportion of those who took courses/trainings for both types of reasons increased with rising educational level. Among those living alone, a majority (57%) took courses/trainings for only non job-related reasons, while the proportion stating job- and non job-related reasons was similar among those not living alone.

Chapter 15: Impact and Determinants of Lifelong Learning among Older Singaporeans

Veronica Shi Min Goh, Ad Maulod

INTRODUCTION

The phenomenon of older adult learning has received considerable interest and attention in multiple sectors including education, health and employment. Older adult learning has also become a key feature in policies promoting productive and healthy ageing. The World Health Organization (WHO), for example, has identified learning as a key functional enabler to the healthy ageing process and has recommended initiatives to encourage older adults to learn and to facilitate learning opportunities and processes.¹

In the field of educational gerontology, research suggests potential benefits associated with older adult learning—such as increased life satisfaction,^{2,3} higher levels of wellbeing,^{4,5} and expanded social networks, increased civic and social engagement.⁶ Additionally, studies also highlight that the benefits of older adult learning may extend beyond the duration of learning.

In Singapore, lifelong learning has been promoted as a solution to the country's acute labour and skills shortage in the workforce. This objective has been communicated through the launch of numerous initiatives such as SkillsFuture SG and Workforce Singapore under the Continued Education Training 2020 Masterplan agenda.⁷ Singaporeans are encouraged to continue learning and/or upgrading their skills to remain relevant and engaged in the community.⁸ Since most of the courses offered in the Post-Education Training (PET) and Continued Education Training (CET) landscape tend to be skills-driven and job-related, numerous scholars have remarked upon the rational and pragmatic approach to lifelong learning in Singapore, driven by the needs of the future economy.^{9,10}

At the same time, there is growing realization that learning objectives or needs may differ across the life-course. The Action Plan for Successful Ageing (2015) for instance, has considered older Singaporeans' needs to continue learning in both job-related and non-job related (recreation) domains. In consultative feedback sessions, older Singaporeans mentioned wanting opportunities to learn for both work and interest/ pleasure in their later lives. They believed that learning keeps their minds active and helps them stay connected with their family, friends and also take stock of current affairs.¹¹

In the current learning landscape, a wide variety of courses have been offered to older Singaporeans; categorized broadly in terms of their learning objectives and outcomes—as (i) "Job-related courses" and (ii) "Non-job related courses".

"Job-related courses" refer to PET and CET initiatives designed to enhance peoples' employability through skills mastery and applications in changing labour markets. For example, through the Employability Skills Workforce Skill Qualification (WSQ), an older worker can

enhance their technical skills and competencies in a new industry such as early childhood care and education.¹² On the other hand, "Non-job related courses" refer to courses developed primarily for older adults to pursue personal, social or recreational learning that caters to their interests or hobbies and not necessarily for employment. The launch of the National Silver Academy (NSA), the nation-wide lifelong learning programme for older Singaporeans, in mid-2016 addresses such gaps in the post-secondary education landscape by engaging the diverse interests and learning preferences of older Singaporeans and removing prerequisites that are based on educational or training certifications.

In this chapter, we seek to identify the demographic, social and health determinants of engagement in learning and of the primary reason or motivation, whether job-related or non-job related, to engage in learning – this would enable an understanding of how learning can be more relevant in the lives of older Singaporeans. We also explore the relationship of learning with psychosocial outcomes.

METHODS

Measures

The *Methodology* chapter of this report provides and discuss the measurement of sociodemographic characteristics, health status and psychosocial measures used in our analysis.

Study participants' self-reported on course enrolment (either attended or were attending courses) in the last 12 months from the study interview date – those who attended or were attending were classified as 'Yes' for the outcome of "engagement in learning", else 'No'. To arrive at the primary reason or motivation to engage in learning, participants self-reported, for each course they had attended/were attending, if they took/were taking it primarily for job-related or non-job related reasons. For example, an older adult could have attended a cleaning course for job-related reasons as it was a pre-requisite before he or she could start work as a cleaner. On the other hand, attending a course such as Chinese calligraphy, could serve as a channel for the older adult to delve deeper into his or her personal interests outside of work, thus an older adult would choose his/her motivation as non-job related. Those who reported only one type of reason (job-related or non-job related reasons" or "non-job related reasons", based on the selected reason. Those who took 2 or more courses and selected both types of reasons, were classified based on the reason selected for majority of the courses.

Analysis

The association of demographic, social and health characteristics with engagement in learning (Yes/No) and with the primary reason or motivation to engage in learning (job-related or non-job related) reasons were explored using logistic regression models. Linear, logistic or ordered logistic regression models (unadjusted as well as adjusted [for gender, age, ethnic group, marital status, education, living arrangement, employment status, income adequacy, self-rated health status, ADL and IADL limitations, and volunteering]) investigated the relationship between learning (Yes/No) and psychosocial measures.

RESULTS

Nearly 9 in 10 (87%) of older Singaporeans did not engage in learning, i.e. did not attend any course in the last 12 months.

I. Significant association of gender, education levels, ethnicity, age-cohort, employment and health status with engagement in learning

Comparing older Singaporeans who engaged in learning with those who did not, it was noted that those who engaged were more likely to be younger (age 60-69 years); women; have formal education; Malay; working full-time; have self-reported good/excellent health status and vision status and no IADL limitations (i.e. better functional status) (Table 15.1).

II. Characteristics associated with the primary reason or motivation to engage in learning (job-related vs non-job related)

In refining the analysis further to understand the characteristics of older Singaporeans who are learning for job related reasons against non-job related reasons, we observed that men, those of Malay and Indian ethnicity, and those working full-time were more likely to engage in learning for job-related reasons.

	Odds ratio				
		Primary reason or motivation to engage in learning			
Demographic, social and health factors	Engagement in learning – Yes (<i>versus</i> No)	 job-related (versus non-job related) 			
Ν	4485	510			
Gender (ref: Male)					
Female	1.30*	0.31***			
Age (ref: 60-69)					
70 - 79	0.90	0.91			
80 and above	0.25***	0.35			
Ethnic group (ref: Chinese)					
Malay	1.36*	3.12**			
Indian	1.17	2.76*			
Others	0.80	1.86			
Marital status (ref: Married)					
Widowed	0.94	0.60			
Separated/Divorced	1.09	1.75			
Never married	0.99	3.58			
Education level (ref: No formal education)					
Primary	1.58*	1.40			
Secondary (Secondary/Vocational/ITE)	2.62***	1.34			
Tertiary (JC/Polytechnic/University)	4.53***	0.98			
Housing type (ref: 3 room HDB flat)					
1-2 room HDB flat	0.92	0.92			
4 room HDB flat	1.14	0.62			
5 room HDB flat	1.18	0.57			
Private housing & Shophouse	1.10	1.27			
Living arrangement (ref: Not living alone)					
Living alone or with maid only	1.46	0.71			
Employment status (ref: Working full-time)					
Working part-time	0.79	0.42**			
Retired and/or not working	0.33***	0.037***			
Never worked	0.09***	-			
Income adequacy (ref: Enough money)					
Difficulty to meet expenses	1.05	1.79			
Missing	0.75	-			
Number of chronic diseases (ref: 0)					

Table 15.1: Demographic, social and health factors associated with engagement in learning, and the primary reason or motivation to engage in learning

Impact and Determinants of Lifelong Learning Among Older Singaporeans

1-2	1.04	1.09
3+	1.07	0.82
State of health (ref: Excellent/Very Good)		
Good	0.85	0.85
Fair	0.95	0.59
Poor	0.45*	3.11
ADL limitations (ref: 0)		
At least one ADL difficulty	0.99	0.27
IADL limitations (ref: 0)		
At least one IADL difficulty	0.67*	0.71
Vision (ref: Excellent/Very Good/Good)		
Fair/Poor	0.70**	1.22
Hearing (ref: Excellent/Very Good/Good)		
Fair/Poor	0.94	0.82
* .0.07 ** .0.01 *** .0.001		

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

III. Effect of engagement in learning with psychosocial outcomes

Tables 15.2 to 15.5 present the effect of engagement in learning on several psychosocial measures, namely: social networks outside the household, depressive symptoms, loneliness and quality of life. Quality of life is further broken down into items measuring control, autonomy, self-realization and pleasure – Tables 15.6 to 15.9)

The unadjusted results showed that engagement in learning was associated with increased social networks, in terms of number and quality of social connections such as with friends and family members, quality of life as well as sense of control, autonomy, self-realization and pleasure. Taking courses was linked with reduced depressive symptoms, such as feeling sad or having poor appetite. However, in the adjusted analyses, after controlling for potential confounders, learning was positively associated with only social networks.

Table 15.2: The effect of engagement in learning on social networks

Odds ratio					
	Model 1	Model 2			
N	4033	4033			
Engagement in learning – Yes (versus No)	2.20***	1.37***			

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Dependent variable: 3-categorical summary measure of Lubben's social network scale (reference group: weak social networks (first tertile score))

Table 15.3: The effect of engagement in learning on depressive symptoms

	Odds ratio		
	Model 1	Model 2	
Ν	2023	2023	
Engagement in learning – Yes (versus No)	0.50**	0.78	

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Dependent variable: Dichotomized summary measure of CES-D scale (reference group: symptoms not clinically relevant (score less than 7))

Table 15.4: The effect of engagement in learning on loneliness

	Odds ratio	
	Model 1	Model 2
Ν	2011	2011
Engagement in learning – Yes (versus No)	0.83	1.02

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Dependent variable: Dichotomized summary measure of UCLA loneliness scale (reference group: not lonely (score of 0))

Table 15.5: The effect of engagement in learning on quality of life

	Regression coefficients	5
	Model 1	Model 2
N	4032	4032
Engagement in learning – Yes (versus No)	2.37***	0.42

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Dependent variable: Summary score of Control, Autonomy, Self-realization and Pleasure scale

Table 15.6: The effect of engagement in learning on control

	Regression coefficien	ts
	Model 1	Model 2
Ν	4040	4040
Engagement in learning – Yes (versus No)	0.95***	0.13

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Dependent variable: Summary score of Control domain from the Control, Autonomy, Self-realization and Pleasure scale

Table 15.7: The effect of engagement in learning on autonomy							
	Regression coeff	icients					
	Model 1	Model 2					
Ν	4031	4031					
Engagement in learning – Yes (versus No)	0.63***	0.14					

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Dependent variable: Summary score of Autonomy domain from the Control, Autonomy, Self-realization and Pleasure scale

Table 13.6. The chect of engagement in learning on sen-realization	Table	15.8:	The effect of	f engagement	in learning	on self-realization
--------------------------------------------------------------------	-------	-------	---------------	--------------	-------------	---------------------

	Regression coeffic	ients	
	Model 1	Model 2	
Ν	3714	3714	
Engagement in learning – Yes (versus No)	0.35***	0.09	

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Dependent variable: Summary score of Self-realization domain from the Control, Autonomy, Self-realization and Pleasure scale

Table 15.9: The effect of engagement in learning on pleasure

0	
Iodel 1	Model 2
850	3850
46***	0.06
8	odel 1 1 50 2 46*** 6

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Dependent variable: Summary score of Pleasure domain from the Control, Autonomy, Self-realization and Pleasure scale

DISCUSSION

WHY ARE OLDER ADULTS NOT LEARNING?

One of the most significant observation from THE SIGNS Study – I was that older Singaporeans were not engaging in learning. This important issue warrants further scrutiny given the resounding data on the positive impact of lifelong learning. Our data also reveals particular sociodemographic and health traits that characterised older Singaporean learners. In this section, key findings are elaborated with the following objectives:

- a. Explore the impact of lifelong learning on older Singaporeans; and
- b. Identify the determinants of lifelong learning for older Singaporeans, through an analysis of the characteristics of older learners/non-learners and their patterns of course/non-course engagement. An understanding of these determinants will enable us to understand the possible barriers to learning faced by older Singaporeans which might account for the low uptake of learning among them.

In our discussion, we also bring in insights from the NSA evaluation study, a longitudinal study, conducted by CARE, evaluating the benefits of older adult learning at the NSA.

Impact of Older Adult Learning in Singapore

One of the key findings from THE SIGNS Study – I is that social networks outside the household were stronger among those who engaged in learning versus those who did not. However, due to the cross-sectional design of the study, it is not plausible to conclude this association as causal — i.e. engagement in learning leads to enhancement of older people's social networks, as the reverse may be as likely. Taken as such, older learners who attended courses may also be individuals with stronger social networks and likely to participate in courses because of their involvement in their social networks. Nonetheless, the significant association between learning and social networks reveals an important facet of learning as a form of social engagement for older people. Supportive social networks may facilitate learning among older adults and engagement in learning may facilitate better social networks among older adults.

The impact of learning on social support and social participation, however, is evident in a longitudinal study, conducted by CARE, evaluating the benefits of older adult learning at the NSA. The NSA evaluation study measured gains in social capital among NSA study participants (aged 50 years and above). It did so by looking at percentage changes in informational support (extent to which older people know about where and who to go for advice or support to deal with problems or what to do in terms of crisis, and the belief that the information received is useful and relevant to their lives); civic engagement attitude and behavior (involvement in volunteering activities, doing work that makes a difference to others, contributing to charitable organizations as well as keeping up to date with community events and affairs); and loneliness. And, it was observed that among NSA course attendees, there were significant positive changes, from pre-course to post-course as well as 6 months post-course, in informational support and civic engagement.

Taken together, findings from both THE SIGNS – I Study and NSA evaluation study amplify the positive impact of learning on older learners' social networks, access to social support, social participation and contributions to the community. In this regard, older adult learning programmes have the potential to remedy issues of social isolation among older Singaporeans. These impacts provide a strong ground for the continuation of lifelong learning initiatives such as the NSA and SkillsFuture for older Singaporeans. The knowledge and social connections gained through learning will serve further to consolidate their psycho-social resources.

Identifying barriers to learning among older Singaporeans

Understanding the demographic, social and health determinants of engagement in learning and of the primary reason or motivation to engage in learning, allowed us to gain insights into the barriers (and facilitators) to learning. This can inform policy and social measures needed to enhance the role and impact of lifelong learning in Singapore.

a) Educational advantages correlate with birth-cohort and impact learning activities in later life

One important determinant of engagement in learning in THE SIGNS – I study was the age group of the older person, with higher engagement among the younger old (aged 60-69 years) compared to those older. This likely reflects a birth cohort effect, such that the greater access that the younger cohorts of older persons had to education probably influenced their predisposition or motivation to learn in their later life.¹³

A birth cohort effect, siding with the younger-old in terms of higher education levels, was also observed in the NSA evaluation study. The vast majority of the NSA evaluation study participants (n=558) were aged 50-59 (42%) or 60-69 years (44.5%) and/ or had tertiary education (55%). It is evident that earlier gains in terms of literacy and educational opportunities conferred cumulative advantages that facilitated learning in later life. Conversely, due to the lack of access to formal education in their earlier lives, older-old Singaporeans faced cumulative disadvantages over their life-course as they may lack the relevant human capital resources (e.g. literacy skills) to engage in courses in later life.

b) Poor health and negative age perception affect motivations to learn

Another significant determinant of engagement in learning was health status. Those in "poor" health, as defined through self-reported poor state of health, presence of at least one IADL difficulty and/or fair or poor vision or hearing, were less likely to engage in learning; all of these health factors invariably affect learning intention and behaviour.

In the qualitative component of the NSA evaluation study, the impact of negative age perceptions related to declining health and cognitive functions was evident. Older-old participants tend to express more learning challenges and difficulties compared to their younger-old counterpart. Some of their concerns with learning include feeling too old to learn, poor memory because of old age and teaching content too difficult or abstract to process because of old age. These negative perceptions, coupled with poor health status and hearing/ vision impairments, formed a major stumbling block to learning in later life, especially among the older-old Singaporeans.

c) Being employed is both a facilitator and barrier to learning in later life

Findings on older adult engagement in learning in THE SIGNS Study – I reveal full-time employment as both a facilitator and barrier to continued learning in later life. In terms of a facilitator, working older adults may have access to learning opportunities through their jobs. Additionally, the qualitative component of the NSA evaluation study also showed that younger-old participants who were engaged in full/ part-time employment were more interested in learning in order to improve work outcomes or employability compared to non-working or retired participants.

At the same time, being engaged in full/part-time employment may also present a barrier to taking courses in later life. In the qualitative component of the NSA evaluation study, older participants who were still working cited time and work schedules as a major barrier that impedes their continued participation in the NSA which was developed primarily to cater to learning for recreation and interest rather than for work related skills. If time is a major barrier, older people who are still working are more likely to prioritize learning for job-related reasons over learning for recreation (e.g. i.e. learning for non-job related reasons). They may also bypass learning opportunities completely whether for job or non-job related reasons.

Another major reason why older adults are not learning is to the types and variety of courses available in the older adult learning landscape. Prior to the NSA, only introduced in 2016, the range of non-job related courses were rather limited and relatively costly. In comparison, job related courses—largely due to the national emphasis on retraining and reskilling through initiatives such as SkillsFuture—were much more accessible, both in terms of availability and cost. Given this context, it might take some time before patterns of older adult learning incline towards non "job-related" motivations as more affordable recreational courses catered to older adults are being offered and promoted.

d) Gendered barriers to older adult learning

Older women were more likely to take up courses for non-job related reasons (or less likely to engage in courses for job-related reasons) compared to older men. This observation highlights how learning activities in later life are gendered and may be the outcome of cumulative disadvantages in earlier life.

The lag in taking courses for non-job related reasons among older women can be explained through a lower workforce participation compared to men and consequently, access to job-related courses. Among THE SIGNS Study – I participants, only 14% of older women were still working compared to 36% of older men. Further, a substantial number of women exited the workforce throughout the life-course. Similar gendered patterns were also observed from the national data on labour force participation.¹⁴

Conversely, older female learners may also engage in learning as a way to compensate for the lack of educational opportunities in their earlier lives, considering that educational opportunities for sons culturally preceded daughters.⁸

Additionally, the qualitative component of the NSA evaluation study also found that older men and women have different preferences and motivations for learning. Older male learners expressed interest in production-oriented or achievement-oriented learning activities that are often prevalent in "job-related" courses while older female learners preferred taking courses that would improve their social and emotional competencies.

e) Socioeconomic barriers to older adult learning

Another possible barrier highlighted by THE SIGNS Study – I was the influence of socioeconomic status on individuals' learning. Irrespective of ethnicity, those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds, exemplified by lower education levels, were less likely to take courses. Ethnicity was also associated with both the outcomes, however, we think that this likely reflects residual or unmeasured confounding by socio-economic status, since we do observe in THE SIGNS Study – I that those who occupy a lower socio-economic status are more likely to be Malays and Indians.

Taking up courses for job-related reasons seemed to be driven by socioeconomic considerations. Those of lower SES were more likely to engage in learning activities in later life to upgrade their skills to remain employable and ensure retirement income adequacy and security. In this regard, the cumulative lack of economic and social resources impact older people's intentions to learn in later life.¹⁵

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Findings from both the wider literature on lifelong learning as well as the Singapore data from THE SIGNS Study – I and the NSA evaluation study point towards the positive impacts of lifelong learning. This evidence provide strong justifications for the continuation of such efforts for older Singaporeans.

The rate of participation in lifelong learning is low. The low rate may be attributed to the fact that the availability of lifelong learning opportunities was, until very recently, largely limited to job-related courses and may have excluded a significant proportion of potential older learners who are no longer working or may not be eligible for such work skills-based courses. It was only with the introduction of the NSA that non-job related courses became widely available. As such, we can expect that the participation rate will improve over the years with the continuation of both SkillsFuture and the NSA.

Nonetheless, THE SIGNS Study – I and the NSA evaluation study have highlighted significant barriers to learning faced by older Singaporeans. Those in the older-old age group; having lower socio-economic status and in poorer health were likely to be excluded from learning opportunities. These constitute the very same segments of the population that can benefit the most from such opportunities.

There is an urgent need for lifelong learning initiatives to be more targeted and hence inclusive. Policies/programmes need to take into consideration the different developmental and learning needs of older adults across (a) age-cohorts—pedagogical and course content needs for older vs younger baby boomers; (b) gender—different preferences for learning between men and women, including those who are working/ not working; (c) educational levels—different pedagogical approach for older adults who are illiterate, (d) ethnic communities—language preferences and cultural sensitivities and (f) levels of functional health status—classroom and learning environments should be sensitive to the needs of those with visual, hearing and cognitive impairment. The marketing and promotion strategies of such lifelong learning programmes must be similarly refined such that they reach out to the differentiated needs of older adults in Singapore.

The design of courses for older adults should be age-friendly to accommodate the needs of frail seniors and those with various impairments. Some possibilities could be learning venues that are highly accessible and course content that is friendly to older adults who are less IT-savvy and includes, for example, larger fonts or audio-notes for people with visual or hearing impaired.

Outreach efforts for and the appeal of job-related courses should speak more to the aged and women to increase their representation in such courses. Efforts need to be made to address age- and gender- related prejudice to enhance training opportunities for those older and older women in the workforce. On the other hand, the range, outreach and marketing of non-job related courses should speak more to the aged and men to increase their representation in such courses. These strategies should also provide more options that cater to the way older Singaporean men prefer to learn. Some suggestions include designing non-job related courses with highly structured pedagogical content accompanied by some form of certification since older men tend to be more achievement/ task-oriented and value recognition as well as validation for their efforts in continued learning.

Learning in later life was positively associated with enhanced social networks, hence, learning programmes could potentially be an effective intervention in alleviating social isolation and disengagement among older Singaporeans. Learning modes and platforms can be re-organised to be more inclusive and accessible to those who tend to be excluded yet are the most vulnerable – the older ages, the poor, the illiterate and the frail. Additional provisions can include home-learning programmes, learning through gamification or learning through meal provisions. In Singapore, centres that provide daily meals to older adults can also include mini-lessons that can interest older adults to engage in learning. If transportation is a barrier to learning, making transportation free to learning centres may benefit the poor and frail older adults who require financial and physical assistance to get to these centres. Providing free transportation through a ride-sharing app has been rather effective in increasing the quality of life of older adults as shown in a small pilot study conducted in the US.¹⁶

Finally, just like younger people, older adults need to be able to recognize the viability and positive impact of lifelong learning on their lives. Course providers should assist in the process, for example, through highlighting course-specific benefits of learning in their information materials to enable older persons to make an informed selection based on their actual needs.

To sum up, current initiatives to older adult learning in Singapore are still in the developmental stages. Patterns of older adult learning in THE SIGNS Study – I are useful in directing and refining future interventions to lifelong learning.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. *World report on ageing and health*. World Health Organization; 2015.
- 2. Bynner J, Hammond C. The benefits of adult learning: Quantitative insights. 2004.
- 3. Yamashita T, López EB, Stevens J, Keene JR. Types of Learning Activities and Life Satisfaction among Older Adults in Urban Community-Based Lifelong Learning Programs. *Activities, Adaptation & Aging.* 2017;41(3):239-257.
- 4. Jenkins A, Mostafa T. The effects of learning on wellbeing for older adults in England. *Ageing & Society*. 2015;35(10):2053-2070.
- 5. Narushima M, Liu J, Diestelkamp N. The association between lifelong learning and psychological well-being among older adults: implications for interdisciplinary health promotion in an aging society. *Activities, Adaptation & Aging.* 2013;37(3):239-250.
- 6. Schuller T, Preston J, Hammond C, Brassett-Grundy A, Bynner J. *The benefits of learning: The impact of education on health, family life and social capital.* Routledge; 2004.
- 7. Tan J. The Prospect of Future Skill Development in Singapore. *Advances in the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning.* 2015;2(1).
- 8. Thang LL, Leng CF, Yow A, Cai Y. *Lifelong Learning Among Older Adults in Singapore*. Singapore: Fei Yue Community Services;2012.
- 9. Cheong E, Wettasinghe MC, Murphy J. Professional development of instructional designers: A proposed framework based on a Singapore study. *International Journal on E-learning*. 2006;5(2):197-219.
- 10. Kumar P. Lifelong learning in Singapore: Where are we now? *International Journal of Lifelong Education*. 2004;23(6):559-568.
- 11. About National Silver Academy. 2018; <u>http://www.nsa.org.sg/</u>. Accessed 19 October, 2018.
- 12. SkillsFuture Singapore. Singapore Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ). 2018; http://www.ssg.gov.sg/wsq.html. Accessed 5 November, 2018.
- 13. Roy S. Baby Boom Generation in Singapore and its Impact on Ageing. *International Science Index 8 (3).* 2014.
- 14. Ministry of Manpower. Labour Force in Singapore 2016. Ministry of Manpower;2016.
- 15. Findsen B, Formosa M. Participation for and Barriers to Learning. In: *Lifelong Learning in Later Life*. Springer; 2011:117-130.
- 16. USC Centre for Body Computing. 2018, 12 June. USC CBC Case Study: AARP Foundation. United Healthcare and Lyft. "Study explores increasing senior health and well-being through transportation." Retrieved 10 Dec 2018 from: <u>https://www.uscbodycomputing.org/research-studies/2018/6/12/429qibdxmz6c7fpvki8k2fsrc0ug7r</u>

Chapter 16: Volunteering and Monetary Donation: Descriptive Statistics

This chapter reports descriptive statistics for formal and informal volunteering, overall and by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level and living arrangement.

Formal Volunteering

1 4510 10114	requen	<i>cy</i> 0110		anteening	, oj 1150	010429, 00	naer ana Be	innenty		
		Age Group		Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
		Forn	nal volur	teering in	1 the pas	t 12 months	s (weighted 9	%)		
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	692	431	68
At least once a week	4.7	5.4	4.9	1.6	4.7	4.6	4.5	4.1	4.1	18.2
Less than once a week but at least once a month	3.1	3.8	3.1	0.5	2.8	3.3	2.9	2.8	4.9	4.7
Less than once a month	3.3	4.2	3.2	0.9	3.7	3.0	3.5	2.0	4.5	0.8
One-off	2.5	3.8	1.1	1.1	2.6	2.5	2.4	2.3	3.5	6.9
None	85.8	82.1	87.1	95.1	85.9	85.7	86.1	88.3	83.0	69.4

fable 16.1a Frequency of Forma	Volunteering by Age Group,	Gender and Ethnicity
--------------------------------	----------------------------	----------------------

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

About 14% of older Singaporeans engaged in formal volunteering in the past 12 months. Older Singaporeans aged 80 years and above (4%), and those who are not Chinese, Malay and Indian (31%) had a low and high tendency respectively of formal volunteering.

Table 16.1b	Frequency o	f Formal '	Volunteering	by Educational	Level and	Living Arrangemen	t
				~			-

		Educational	Living Arrangement							
	No	Primary	Secondary	Secondary Tertiary		Living				
					Alone	Alone*				
Formal volunteering in the past 12 months (weighted %)										
n	1390	1385	1157	608	4136	407				
At least once a week	1.4	2.1	6.2	13.2	4.4	7.5				
Less than once a week but	1.2	1.9	5.0	5.5	3.0	3.5				
a least once a month										
Less than once a month	1.5	2.9	4.0	6.4	3.5	2.1				
One-off	0.9	1.5	4.5	4.2	2.6	2.4				
None	93.8	90.9	80.1	70.4	85.9	84.5				

*Living alone includes those who live alone only or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid.

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

An education gradient was observed for engaging in formal volunteering, with older Singaporeans who had received tertiary education most likely to have done so. The proportion who engaged in formal volunteering between those living alone and not living alone were comparable.



Percentages exceed 100% as multiple responses were allowed.

Among respondents who had volunteered formally in the last 12 months, the three most common ways of volunteering were organizing or helping to run an activity or event (48%), visiting people (32%), befriending or mentoring people (24%).

			Age Grou	р	Ge	nder		Ethn	icity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
	Informal volunteering in the past 12 months (weighted %)											
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	692	431	68		
Everyday	0.8	0.8	1.0	0.3	0.7	0.9	0.8	1.5	0.4	0.0		
At least once a week	4.0	4.8	4.0	1.0	5.3	2.8	4.0	2.2	3.6	10.1		
Less than once a week but a least once a month	3.0	3.9	2.7	0.5	3.0	3.0	2.5	4.4	6.3	6.5		
Less than once a month	5.9	7.7	4.8	2.2	4.9	6.9	6.0	4.9	6.2	8.4		
One-off	5.8	7.6	5.0	1.7	9.4	2.7	5.9	5.0	6.1	6.7		
None	79.4	74.2	81.5	92.6	75.9	82.5	79.7	80.8	76.8	68.3		

Informal Volunteering

Table 16 2a Frequency	of Informal	Volunteering h	v Age G	Gernand Ger	der and Ethnicity
Table 10.2a Frequency	of informat	v orunteer mg o	у лде о	noup, oci	fuct and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

About 20% of older Singaporeans engaged in informal volunteering in the past 12 months. Those aged 80 years and above had a lower tendency to do so versus those younger. Females were more likely to engage in informal volunteering relative to males.

		Educational	Living Arrangement							
	None	None Primary Secondary Tertiary				Living				
					Alone	Alone*				
Informal volunteering in the past 12 months (weighted %)										
n	1390	1385	1157	608	4136	407				
Everyday	0.3	0.8	0.7	2.0	0.8	0.3				
At least once a week	1.9	2.8	5.7	7.0	4.0	3.5				
Less than once a week but a	1.4	1.7	4.4	6.0	3.0	2.3				
least once a month										
Less than once a month	3.0	5.3	7.6	9.7	5.9	6.8				
One-off	2.6	4.8	6.6	12.5	5.9	4.8				
None	89.3	84.0	73.9	61.8	79.2	81.6				

 Table 16.2b Frequency of Informal Volunteering by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid. Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

An education gradient was observed for engaging in informal volunteering as well, with older Singaporeans who had received tertiary education most likely to have done so.

Figure 16.2c Types of Informal Volunteering



Percentages exceed 100% as multiple responses were allowed.

Among respondents who had volunteered informally in the last 12 months, the three most common ways of volunteering were helping a person keep in touch with someone who had difficulty getting out and about (55%), helping a person in shopping, collecting pension or paying bills (22%), and helping transport or escort someone (17%).

16.3 Monetary Donation

The distribution of monetary donation by age group, gender, ethnicity, educational level, and living arrangement is provided in Appendix Tables A16a-A16d.

Chapter 17: Predictors of Formal and Informal Volunteering

Grand Hak-Land Cheng

INTRODUCTION

Volunteering is a productive activity that benefits older persons' health outcomes¹, and has been linked to better cognitive functioning² and subjective wellbeing.³ It has also been associated with less healthcare use⁴ as well as lower risks of loneliness,⁵ cardiovascular disease,⁶ physical disability,⁷ and mortality.⁸ Hence, it is meaningful to examine the predictors of volunteering.

Formal volunteering is defined as unpaid contributions to organizations or established entities, whereas informal volunteering refers to direct (i.e., not through a formal organization) assistance to non-household individuals including friends and neighbours.⁹ Research on volunteering in Western countries typically focus on formal volunteering. In the U.S., 23.5% of individuals aged 65 years and over formally volunteered in the past 12 months.¹⁰ In the U.K. and Australia, the formal volunteering rate in the age group was around 40% and 20%, respectively.^{11,12} In Singapore, one main data source for senior volunteering is the National Volunteer and Philanthropy Centre (NVPC) Annual Giving Survey.¹³ In 2016, the volunteering rate (including both formal and informal) was 20% for those between 55 and 64 years old and 19% for those 65 years and older. Particularly significant is the substantial increase in the prevalence for those 65 years and older, jumping from 9% in 2014 to 19% in 2016.

In this study, we utilise THE SIGNS Study – I data to address the diverse predictors of volunteering among older Singaporeans. The government has invested S\$3 billion to encourage older persons to take part in various social activities,¹⁴ with one target being to recruit an additional 50,000 older volunteers. In revealing factors positively correlated with volunteering, we identified levers for encouraging this productive activity.

Our study is based on a widely used theoretical framework that integrates formal and informal volunteering, and that posits three kinds of capital – human capital, social capital, and cultural capital.¹⁵ According to this framework, individuals who are facilitated or empowered by more capital or resources are more likely to volunteer. We consider these three types of capital and expect a positive linkage between them and the probability of formal and informal volunteering among older Singaporeans.

Predictors of volunteering

Human capital. Human capital refers to individual resources that contribute to production and output, for example, education. Education imparts knowledge and skills, and is an important predictor of volunteering.¹⁵ Household income is another form of human capital. In general, individuals with higher incomes may be in a better position to contribute to society because they have more resources.¹⁵ Similarly, better health is a resource that may allow more opportunity to volunteer. Individuals with better mental

and physical health have been found to be more likely to volunteer.^{15,16} In this study, we assess health status using number of depressive symptoms, chronic diseases, limitations in activities of daily living (ADL limitations), and limitations in instrumental activities of daily living (IADL limitations). We expect poorer health to be associated with a lower likelihood of volunteering.

Social capital. Social capital is defined as "the aggregate of the actual or potential resources which are linked to possession of a durable network of more or less institutionalized relationships of mutual acquaintance or recognition".¹⁷ An individual has more social capital if he/she is married, lives with someone, and has stronger social networks with friends and relatives outside the household. We predict that being married, co-residence, and stronger social networks are associated with a higher probability of volunteering.

Work status is commonly regarded as a type of social capital because the expanded networks as a result of having co-workers may increase volunteering opportunities. In addition, employees may be approached by their organizations for volunteering activities.^{9,16} Hence, we expect that employees are more likely to volunteer than their non-working counterparts.

We also consider social participation as a form of social capital. Involvement in residents' committees (RC)/ neighbourhood committees (NC)/ community clubs (CC), and community development council (CDC)/ neighbourhood events may provide more opportunities for volunteering and hence attendance should be associated with a higher probability of volunteering. Similarly, older adults may be more likely to volunteer if they visit senior activity centre (SAC) frequently because they will come into contact with senior's in need. Senior activity centres are centres that provide social activities for older adults living in rental housing. A large part of their activities are run by volunteers which may encourage volunteering.

Cultural capital. Cultural capital refer to beliefs and attitudes that favour morals and benevolence.¹⁶ People who have religious beliefs are more likely to volunteer presumably because religious beliefs typically cultivate the ideas of loving and helping others.¹⁵ Hence, we predict that compared to those who have religious beliefs, nonreligious people should be less likely to engage in volunteering.

METHOD

Table 17.1 reports the descriptive characteristic of the analytical sample (N= 1972) who answered all study variables.

Dependent variables	
Earmal valuation $n (0/)$	
Nore	1714(96.0)
None Loss then ence a month	1/14(80.9) 112(57)
At least area a month	115(3.7) 145(7.4)
At least once a month $u_{0}(x)$	145 (7.4)
Informal volunteering, n (%)	1504 (00.0)
None	1594 (80.8)
Less than once a month	229 (11.6)
At least once a month	149 (7.6)
Predicting variables	
Education, n (%)	515 (0(1)
None	515 (26.1)
Primary	617(31.3)
Secondary	554 (28.1)
Post-secondary	286 (14.5)
Housing type, n (%)	1(2(0,2)
1-2 room HDB	163 (8.3)
3 room HDB	4// (24.2)
4-5 room HDB/ private	1332 (67.6)
Depressive symptoms, mean (SD) (scale range: 0 to 22)	3.12 (3.22)
Chronic diseases, mean (SD)	2.10(1.55)
ADL limitations, n (%)	
No limitations	1841 (93.4)
1-2 limitations	78 (4.0)
≥ 3 limitations	53 (2.7)
IADL limitations, n (%)	
No limitations	1656 (84.0)
1-2 limitations	207 (10.5)
\geq 3 limitations	109 (5.5)
Married, n (%)	1345 (68.2)
Living alone, n (%)	162 (8.2)
Social networks outside the household, n (%)	
Lowest tertile	670 (34.0)
Middle tertile	629 (31.9)
Highest tertile	673 (34.1)
Employed, n (%)	678 (34.4)
Attending RC / NC / CC / CDC / neighbourhood event, n (%)	
None	1629 (82.6)
Less than once a month	159 (8.1)
At least once a month	184 (9.3)
Attending SAC, n (%)	
None	1713 (86.9)
Less than once a month	79 (4.0)
At least once a month	180 (9.1)
No religion, n (%)	207 (10.5)
Age, n (%)	
60-69	957 (48.5)
70-79	676 (34.3)
80 and above	339 (17.2)
Female gender, n (%)	1009 (51.2)
Ethnicity, n (%)	
Chinese	1468 (74.4)
Malay	288 (14.6)
Indian	187 (9.5)
Other	29 (1.5)

Note: The reported % may not sum to 100 due to rounding.

Measures

Formal and informal volunteering. We adopted the volunteering measures used in the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing.¹⁸ We used a 3-level ordinal scale for analysis (0 = no volunteering, 1 = volunteering less than once a month, 2 = volunteering at least once a month). For formal volunteering, respondents were asked in the last 12 months, how often they have given any unpaid help to any groups, clubs or organizations in any of the following ways: (1) raising or handling money/ taking part in sponsored events, (2) leading the group / member of a committee, (3) organizing or helping to run an activity or event, (4) visiting people, (5) befriending or mentoring people, (6) educating / teaching / coaching, (7) providing information / counselling, (8) secretarial, administrative or clerical work, (9) providing transport / driving, (10) representing, (11) campaigning, and (12) other practical help (e.g., helping out at school, shopping). They were reminded to include any time spent at home or elsewhere helping with the groups, clubs and/ or organizations, but to exclude giving money and anything that was a requirement of their job.

For informal volunteering, we asked the respondents how often they, as individuals, have offered any of the following unpaid help to other people including friends, neighbours or someone else, but not relatives in the last 12 months:¹⁸ (1) keeping in touch with someone who has difficulty getting out and about (visiting in person, telephoning or emailing), (2) doing shopping, collecting pension or paying bills, (3) cooking, cleaning, laundry, gardening or other routine household jobs, (4) decorating or doing any kind of home or car repairs, (5) babysitting or caring for children, (6) sitting with or providing personal care (e.g., washing, dressing) for someone who is sick or frail, (7) looking after a property or a pet for someone who is away, (8) writing letters or filling in forms, (9) representing someone (e.g., talking to government agency, or to a doctor), and (10) transporting or escorting someone (e.g., to a hospital or to an outing). They were reminded that this help should be apart from any help given through a group, club or organization.

Human, social, and cultural capital. For human capital, we included education level, household type, depressive symptoms (measured by the 11-item version of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression [CES-D] Scale),¹⁹ the number of presence of any of 20 chronic diseases, 6 ADL limitations, and 7 IADL limitations. For social capital, we included marital status, living alone, social networks outside the household (measured by the modified Lubben social network scale),²⁰ work status, attendance in RC/ NC/ CC/ CDC/ neighbourhood event, and attendance in SAC. Cultural capital was represented by no religion (vs. having religious beliefs).

Demographic variables. These included age, gender, and ethnicity.

Statistical analysis

We conducted multinomial logistic regression to predict formal and informal volunteering. We did not perform ordered logistic regression because the proportional odds assumption was not met.

RESULTS

Results revealed that 13.1% of our sample reported being formal volunteers in the last 12 months, and that 19.2% reported engaging in informal volunteering during this same period of time (Table 17.1). The overall (formal and/ or informal) volunteering rate was 25.9%.

Older Singaporeans who were more educated, had stronger social networks outside the household, and attended RC / NC / CC / CDC / and neighbourhood events, as well as SACs frequently tended to be formal volunteers. Also, females were more likely to be formal volunteers than males. In contrast, individuals who had no religious beliefs had a lower chance of formal volunteering (Table 17.2).

Individuals who were more educated, had stronger social networks outside the household, and attended RC / NC / CC / CDC / neighbourhood event, as well as SAC frequently tended to be informal volunteers (Table 17.3). In contrast, those who were in older age, and those who had more depressive symptoms were not likely to engage in informal volunteering.

	Odds ratio					
	Volunteering less	Volunteering at				
	than once a	least once a				
	month	month				
Education (ref.: none)						
Primary	1.52	1.52				
Secondary	3.44**	4.12***				
Post-secondary	4.42***	5.08***				
Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)						
3 room HDB	0.61	1.16				
4-5 room HDB/ private	0.76	1.17				
Depressive symptoms	1.04	0.94				
Chronic diseases	0.91	1.03				
ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)						
1-2 limitations	0.45	0.88				
\geq 3 limitations	3.93	1.12				
IADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)						
1-2 limitations	0.39	0.58				
\geq 3 limitations	0.00	0.20				
Married	1.02	1.22				
Living alone	0.79	1.81				
Social networks (ref. lowest tertile)						
Middle tertile	2.72**	1.94*				
Highest tertile	4.60***	3.50***				
Employed	1.42	1.30				
Attending RC / NC / CC / CDC / neighbourhood event						
(ref.: none)						
Less than once a month	2.80**	1.49				
At least once a month	1.80	3.13***				
Attending SAC (ref.: none)						
Less than once a month	0.81	0.69				
At least once a month	1.98*	1.54				
No religion	0.41*	0.24**				
Age (ref.: 60-64)						
70-79	0.84	1.20				
80 and above	1.12	1.10				
Female gender	0.93	2.00**				
Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese)						
Malay	0.77	1.13				
Indian	0.99	1.38				
Other	0.60	2.98				

Table 17.2. Predicting forma	volunteering (no volu	nteering as the referen	ce group; N= 1972)

Note: * *p*< 0.05, ** *p*< 0.01, *** *p*< 0.001.

Volunteering less than once a monthVolunteering at least once a monthEducation (ref.: none)1.20Primary1.20Secondary1.78*Post-secondary3.40***2.67**
than once a monthleast once a monthEducation (ref.: none)1.20Primary1.20Secondary1.78*Post-secondary3.40***2.67**
monthmonthEducation (ref.: none)1.20Primary1.20Secondary1.78*Post-secondary3.40***2.67**
Education (ref.: none) Primary 1.20 1.18 Secondary 1.78* 1.49 Post-secondary 3.40*** 2.67**
Primary 1.20 1.18 Secondary 1.78* 1.49 Post-secondary 3.40*** 2.67**
Secondary 1.78* 1.49 Post-secondary 3.40*** 2.67**
Post-secondary 3.40*** 2.67**
•
Housing type (ref.: 1-2 room HDB)
3 room HDB 1.22 0.47
4-5 room HDB/ private 0.89 0.71
Depressive symptoms 1.00 0.91*
Chronic diseases 1.03 1.00
ADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)
1-2 limitations 0.41 1.05
\geq 3 limitations 0.00 3.53
IADL limitations (ref.: no limitations)
1-2 limitations 1.20 0.54
\geq 3 limitations 0.70 0.13
Married 0.83 0.86
Living alone 0.90 0.77
Social networks (ref. lowest tertile)
Middle tertile 1.91** 1.55
Highest tertile 3.62*** 3.97***
Employed 1.13 1.1
Attending RC / NC / CC / CDC / neighbourhood event
(ref.: none)
Less than once a month 2.05** 1.87*
At least once a month 0.98 1.65
Attending SAC (ref.: none)
Less than once a month 1.62 0.82
At least once a month 2.24** 1.09
No religion 1.21 1.09
Age (ref.: 60-64)
70-79 0.67* 0.83
80 and above 0.52* 0.45*
Female gender 0.81 0.91
Ethnicity (ref.: Chinese)
Malay 0.67 1.35
Indian 1.00 1.38
Other 0.56 1.42

1 a 0 0 1 / 10 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Table 17	7.3. Predicting	informal vol	unteering (no	volunteering as	s the reference s	group: N= 1972)
--------------------------------------------	----------	-----------------	--------------	---------------	-----------------	--------------------------	-----------------

Note: * *p*< 0.05, ** *p*< 0.01, *** *p*< 0.001.

DISCUSSION

Our study has shown that 26% of older Singaporeans reported volunteering (13% for formal, 19% for informal) in the last 12 months. These data are similar to those collected by the National Volunteer and Philanthropy Centre (NVPC) which reported 20% of the individuals aged 55 to 64, and 19% of those aged 65 and older volunteered. The NVPC data shows that the proportion of older persons who volunteer in Singapore is the lowest compared to other age groups. The number of volunteers among those aged 55 to 64 has been steadily decreasing since 2012.¹³ This may be due to the concomitant increase in employment rates among older workers as a result of the 2012 Re-employment and Retirement Act which brought the re-employment age up to 65 years.

Notwithstanding the efforts to engage older Singaporeans in the workforce, efforts to promote voluntarism should continue to be enhanced given its multiple benefits.¹ With increasing longevity, volunteerism can be a powerful resource for continued engagement and productivity for older persons with positive impacts on the wider society as a whole. Here, based on the findings of our study, we highlight some possible levers for promoting volunteerism in Singapore.

Higher education is related to higher likelihoods of volunteering, perhaps because more educated people are empowered by their skills and knowledge to volunteer. As future cohorts of older Singaporeans will be more educated, we can expect to see a continued increase in the prevalence of volunteering. Education through lifelong learning opportunities is an additional lever that can be used to promote volunteering. Hence, the newly launched National Silver Academy, through its learning mandate is a potentially rich platform to inculcate older persons' interest to volunteer.

Our findings also suggest that stronger social networks and more social participation are positively correlated with volunteering. Volunteering can also promote social networks and social participation; with each having a multiplier effect on the other. Efforts on both these fronts - promoting volunteering and social engagement - should be mounted together. The recent Community Network of Seniors (CNS) programme that has befriending as its core thrust is a big step in this direction. The programme's aim of connecting both active and frailer older persons with the wider community would impact positively on their social networks and volunteer interests. With over 80% of the population living in public housing, there is an abundance of opportunities for promoting community activities at very local levels – moving from the constituencies and precinct levels to the block and even floor levels.

There are two demographic factors significantly influence the probability of senior volunteerism: gender and age. Males tend to participate less in formal volunteering compared to females. The oldest-old are significantly less likely to volunteer informally compared to the young-old. The lower participation rate among older males has been a concern on the ground for a while. Opening up avenues that encourage older males to volunteer would be a productive goal. As Singaporeans live longer and healthier lives, creating possibilities which are meaningful for everyone is an important endeavour. Volunteering possibilities as with other avenues for social engagements need to be highly creative and targeted to meet the diverse needs of older Singaporeans.

A significant impediment to volunteering is the older persons' poor mental health as manifested by number of depressive symptoms. The many initiatives which address the holistic well-being of older adults under the Successful Ageing Plan may eventually enhance the tendency to volunteer in this age group.

The volunteering rate among older Singaporeans is healthy with around 1 in 4 older adults being involved in a formal and/or informal capacity. While the prevalence might not be as high as among the younger cohorts of Singaporeans, older persons also (as shown in previous chapters) engage in support transfers with their families and actively partake within their familial networks. With education and social networks and participation fuelling volunteering efforts, we can expect the volunteering rate to keep

increasing through the years.

REFERENCES

- 1. Anderson ND, Damianakis T, Kroger E, et al. The benefits associated with volunteering among seniors: A critical review and recommendations for future research. *Psychological Bulletin.* Nov 2014;140(6):1505-1533.
- 2. Proulx CM, Curl AL, Ermer AE. Longitudinal associations between formal volunteering and cognitive functioning. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences.* 2018;73(3):522-531.
- 3. Pilkington PD, Windsor TD, Crisp DA. Volunteering and subjective well-being in midlife and older adults: The role of supportive social networks. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*. Mar 2012;67(2):249-260.
- 4. Kim ES, Konrath SH. Volunteering is prospectively associated with health care use among older adults. *Social Science & Medicine*. Jan 2016;149:122-129.
- 5. Carr DC, Kail BL, Matz-Costa C, Shavit YZ. Does becoming a volunteer attenuate loneliness among recently widowed older adults? *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences.* 2018;73(3):501-510.
- 6. Burr JA, Han S, Lee HJ, Tavares JL, Mutchler JE. Health benefits associated with three helping behaviors: Evidence for incident cardiovascular disease. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences.* 2018;73(3):492-500.
- 7. Carr DC, Kail BL, Rowe JW. The relation of volunteering and subsequent changes in physical disability in older adults. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*. 2018;73(3):511-521.
- 8. Okun MA, Yeung EW, Brown S. Volunteering by older adults and risk of mortality: A metaanalysis. *Psychology and Aging*. 2013;28(2):564-577.
- 9. Lee Y-j, Brudney JL. Participation in formal and informal volunteering: Implications for volunteer recruitment. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership.* 2012;23(2):159-180.
- 10. United States Department of Labor. Volunteering in the United States 2015. 2016; https://www.bls.gov/news.release/volun.toc.htm. Accessed November 21, 2018.
- 11. The National Council for Voluntary Organisations. UK civil society almanac 2018 Volunteer profiles. 2018; https://data.ncvo.org.uk/a/almanac18/volunteer-profiles-2015-16-2/. Accessed November, 21, 2018.
- 12. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Older Australia at a glance Civic & social participation. 2018; https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/older-people/older-australia-at-a-glance/contents/social-and-economic-engagement/civic-and-social-participation. Accessed November, 21, 2018.
- The National Volunteer & Philanthropy Centre. Individual giving survey 2016 findings. 2017; https://www.nvpc.org.sg/?p=resources/individual-giving-survey-2016-findings. Accessed November, 21, 2018.
- 14. Singapore Ministerial Committee on Ageing. "*I feel young in my Singapore!*" Action plan for successful ageing. Singapore: Singapore Ministry of Health; 2016.
- 15. Wilson J, Musick M. Who cares? Toward an integrated theory of volunteer work. *American Sociological Review*. 1997;62(5):694-713.
- 16. Principi A, Galenkamp H, Papa R, et al. Do predictors of volunteering in older age differ by health status? *European Journal of Ageing*. 2016;13(2):91-102.
- 17. Bourdieu P. The forms of capital. In: Richardson JG, ed. *Handbook of theory and research for the sociology of education*. New York, NY: Greenwood Press; 1986:241-258.
- 18. Rouxel P, Tsakos G, Demakakos P, Zaninotto P, Chandola T, Watt RG. Is social capital a determinant of oral health among older adults? Findings from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *PLOS ONE*. 2015;10(5):e0125557.
- 19. Kohout FJ, Berkman LF, Evans DA, Cornoni-Huntley J. Two shorter forms of the CES-D depression symptoms index. *Journal of Aging and Health*. 1993;5(2):179-193.
- 20. Lubben J, Gironda M. Measuring social networks and assessing their benefits. In: Phillipson C, Allan G, Morgan D, eds. *Social networks and social exclusion: Sociological and policy perspectives*. Burlington, VT: Ashgate; 2004:20-34.

Appendices

			Age Group		Gender		Ethnicity				
		Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				Citi	zenship	Status (*	weighted '	%)			
	n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34
Singapore Citizen		97.4	97.0	97.9	98.1	96.7	98.1	98.0	97.8	94.4	74.2
Singapore Permanent Resident		2.6	3.0	2.2	1.9	3.4	1.9	2.0	2.3	5.7	25.8

Appendix Table A3a Citizenship Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A3b Citizenship Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

	Education	Living Arrangement						
None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*			
Citizenship Status (weighted %)								
1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407			
99.2	97.4	97.9	92.7	97.3	98.4			
0.8	2.6	2.1	7.3	2.7	1.6			
	None 1390 99.2 0.8	Educationa None Primary Citizens 1390 1385 99.2 97.4 0.8 2.6	Educational Level CompleNonePrimarySecondaryCitizenship Status (weig13901385126299.297.497.90.82.62.1	Educational Level Completed None Primary Secondary Tertiary Citizenship Status (weighted %) 1390 1385 1262 503 99.2 97.4 97.9 92.7 0.8 2.6 2.1 7.3	Educational Level CompletedLiving ArraNonePrimarySecondaryTertiaryNot Living AloneCitizenship Status (weighted %)139013851262503413699.297.497.992.797.30.82.62.17.32.7			

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

		Educationa	l Level Complet	Living Arrangement					
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*			
Ethnicity (weighted %)									
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407			
Chinese	86.7	81.4	80.0	85.4	82.5	87.5			
Malay	8.8	10.6	11.9	2.7	9.9	6.2			
Indian	4.4	6.7	6.9	6.5	6.3	3.7			
Others	0.1	1.3	1.2	5.3	1.3	2.6			

Appendix Table A3c Ethnicity by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)
			Age Group			ender	Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
			Prop	erty Own	ership (w	eighted %)			
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34
Subject	18.5	17.8	18.7	20.4	16.1	20.6	19.1	14.0	17.9	17.3
Child in the household	12.8	6.1	14.0	32.2	6.0	18.8	12.3	18.3	13.2	6.5
Joint ownership with spouse	47.3	57.9	43.2	20.3	55.9	39.7	48.4	40.5	44.3	37.1
Joint ownership with other household member	8.9	6.9	10.1	13.0	6.6	10.8	8.8	9.1	10.9	4.8
Other household member(s)	6.9	6.0	7.9	7.8	8.7	5.2	6.4	9.6	7.8	12.6
Child outside household	0.4	0.2	0.7	0.8	0.3	0.6	0.3	0.7	0.9	7.0
Others outside household	0.6	0.8	0.1	0.7	0.8	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.8	6.8
Public Rental Flat	4.5	4.1	5.2	4.7	5.3	3.8	4.1	7.4	4.2	8.0

Annendix Table A3d Property Ownership by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A3e Property Ownership by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

	E	Educational Level Completed				Arrangement					
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*					
Property Ownership (weighted %)											
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407					
Subject	16.3	17.4	20.1	22.3	13.2	72.9					
Child in the household	24.7	11.6	7.1	2.9	13.9	1.4					
Joint ownership with spouse	32.1	47.0	56.7	59.3	51.7	2.0					
Joint ownership with other	12.2	9.3	6.8	5.5	9.3	4.3					
household member											
Other household member(s)	6.9	8.4	5.4	6.5	7.5	0.5					
Child outside household	55.0	0.3	0.2	1.2	0.4	0.6					
Others outside household	32.0	0.7	0.5	1.3	0.5	1.7					
Public Rental Flat	6.8	5.3	3.1	0.8	3.4	16.0					

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A3f Marital Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

]]	Educational	Level Compl	Living Arrangement									
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*							
	Marital Status (weighted %)												
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407							
Married	50.1	68.2	77.4	76.6	73.0	4.2							
Widowed	42.1	17.7	10.1	8.4	18.6	46.6							
Separated from spouse	0.3	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.4	2.0							
Divorced	2.1	4.7	3.8	4.6	2.8	13.1							
Never married	5.3	8.6	8.1	9.8	5.2	33.7							

		A	Age Grou	р	Ge	ender	Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
			Numb	er of Per	sons Liv	ing in the	Household	1		
n	4543	2018	1499	1026	2114	2429	3352	708	449	34
Mean	3.3	3.8	3.2	3.5	3.4	3.3	3.3	3.9	3.7	2.9
SD	1.7	1.6	1.7	1.8	1.6	1.7	1.6	1.9	1.8	1.5

Appendix Table A3g Number of Persons Living in the Household by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A3h Number of Persons Living in the Household by Educational Leve	el and Living
Arrangement	

		Education	nal Level Com	Living Arrangement								
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living Alone*						
	Alone Number of Persons Living in the Household											
	1000	1000			Household	10 -						
n	1388	1383	1261	503	4136	407						
Mean	3.5	3.3	3.3	3.2	3.6	1.2						
SD	1.8	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.6	0.4						

Appendix Table A3i Religion by Gender and Ethnicity

	Ge	nder	Ethnicity										
	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others							
	Religion (weighted %)												
n	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34							
Christianity	14.7	20.3	19.1	0.0	15.6	61.3							
Buddhism/	54.1	55.3	65.6	0.5	0.4	13.1							
Taoism													
Islam	11.6	11.4	0.3	99.2	24.3	21.3							
Hinduism	3.4	3.4	0.0	0.3	55.1	0.0							
Others	0.3	0.7	0.3	0.0	4.7	0.0							
No religion	15.9	8.8	14.5	0.0	0.0	4.3							

Appendix Table A3j Religion by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	leted	Living Arrangement		
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living
					Alone	Alone*
		Reli	gion (weighted	1 %)		
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407
Christianity	10.2	12.0	24.0	33.1	16.9	25.8
Buddhism/	70.4	61.5	42.4	32.7	55.3	48.5
Taoism						
Islam	10.6	12.9	13.8	4.5	11.8	8.5
Hinduism	2.2	4.0	3.6	4.2	3.6	1.9
Others	46.0	0.5	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.6
No religion	5.9	9.0	15.5	25.2	11.8	14.1

		Age Group			Gender]	Ethnicity					
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others			
				above									
Vision Status (weighted %)													
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34			
Excellent	1.4	1.7	1.1	1.2	1.6	1.3	1.5	0.8	1.8	0.0			
Very Good	8.1	9.3	8.2	4.4	8.3	8.0	8.3	6.0	7.3	15.0			
Good	59.7	63.6	59.1	47.9	58.0	61.1	59.3	62.5	61.8	54.7			
Fair	24.1	22.4	23.5	30.5	24.9	23.4	24.1	25.1	21.4	26.9			
Poor	6.4	2.9	7.9	14.9	7.0	5.8	6.5	5.4	7.3	3.4			
Loss of vision	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.6	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.0			
in both eyes													
				Hearing	Status (wei	ghted %)							
Excellent	1.6	2.0	1.2	1.1	1.8	1.5	1.5	1.5	3.6	0.0			
Very Good	9.4	11.7	8.5	4.0	8.2	10.5	9.6	6.4	9.7	19.3			
Good	63.2	66.4	66.5	46.4	60.6	65.5	62.6	67.5	63.5	67.9			
Fair	18.2	16.6	16.6	26.5	21.0	15.8	18.6	18.2	15.2	9.4			
Poor	7.1	3.1	7.1	20.2	8.2	6.2	7.3	6.1	7.7	3.4			
Not able to	0.3	0.1	0.1	1.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.0	0.0			
hear in both													
ears													

Appendix Table A4a Vision and Hearing Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A4b Vision and Hearing Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Compl	eted	Living Arra	Living Arrangement		
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*		
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407		
		Vision	Status (weight	ted %)		1		
Excellent	0.8	0.8	1.8	3.5	1.4	2.0		
Very Good	6.1	7.6	8.5	13.3	8.2	8.0		
Good	55.4	59.1	63.4	62.0	59.4	62.4		
Fair	30.0	26.0	22.9	15.6	24.4	21.2		
Poor	10.1	6.4	3.3	5.3	6.4	6.2		
Loss of vision in	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2		
both eyes								
		Hearin	g Status (weigl	nted %)				
Excellent	1.1	1.3	1.8	3.1	1.6	2.0		
Very Good	6.0	7.8	12.1	14.7	9.1	12.5		
Good	61.0	64.6	63.4	64.5	63.4	61.2		
Fair	19.0	19.8	18.0	13.0	18.2	18.0		
Poor	11.9	6.1	4.6	4.5	7.2	6.0		
Not able to hear	0.7	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.2		
in both ears								

		A	Age Grou	ıp	Ge	ender	Ethnicity						
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others			
Heart Attack, Angina, Myocardial Infarction													
		I	Diagnose	d by a me	edical pr	ofessional	l (weighted	%)					
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34			
Yes	7.4	5.2	9.7	9.8	10.8	4.3	6.6	9.3	15.3	1.3			
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)												
n	377	120	154	103	255	122	241	67	68	1			
Yes	95.6	96.7	95.4	94.2	97.5	91.4	96.2	93.0	94.7	100.0			
		Hospita	lised due	e to condi	tion in t	he past 6	months (w	eighted %	6)				
n	360	116	147	97	248	112	232	62	65	1			
Yes	8.0	9.2	6.7	8.4	9.9	3.6	6.6	17.3	8.0	0.0			
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months												
n	32	12	11	9	27	5	16	11	5	0			
Mean	1.7	1.4	1.5	2.8	1.7	2.1	1.8	1.9	1.2	0			
SD	1.5	1.5	0.8	2.0	1.5	1.4	1.5	1.9	0.5	0			

Appendix Table A4c Heart Attack, Angina, Myocardial Infarction by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4d Heart Attack, Angina, Myocardial Infarction by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	al Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement								
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living							
					Alone	Alone*							
Heart Attack, Angina, Myocardial Infarction													
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)													
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407							
Yes	7.1	7.9	7.2	6.9	7.4	6.6							
Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)													
n	105	124	105	42	347	30							
Yes	94.4	95.1	97.0	96.4	96.2	89.5							
	Hospitalise	d due to conc	lition in the pa	ast 6 months (we	ighted %)								
n	99	118	101	41	332	28							
Yes	5.2	11.5	5.0	10.9	8.3	4.4							
Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months													
n	6	15	6	4	30	2							
Mean	2.8	1.6	1.4	1.2	1.8	1.0							
SD	2.3	1.5	0.8	0.4	1.5	0.0							

		A	Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
			79	above							
Heart Failure											
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)											
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Yes	1.9	1.3	2.0	3.5	1.9	1.9	1.7	2.5	3.7	1.9	
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)										
n	99	29	35	35	47	52	64	19	15	1	
Yes	90.1	93.3	81.8	95.1	97.3	83.8	88.9	86.4	100.0	100.0	
		Hospita	alised du	ie to condi	ition in t	the past 6	months (w	eighted %	(0)		
n	90	27	30	33	45	45	58	16	15	1	
Yes	16.2	23.1	11.8	12.1	26.6	5.6	17.6	20.2	6.6	0.0	
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months										
n	14	6	4	4	11	3	10	3	1	0	
Mean	1.5	1.6	1.3	1.6	1.5	1.8	1.2	3.2	2.0	0.0	
SD	1.4	2.0	0.5	1.1	1.6	1.2	0.6	3.5	0.0	0.0	

Appendix Table A4e Heart Failure by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4f Heart Failure by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement					
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*				
Heart Failure										
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)										
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407				
Yes	3.0	2.1	1.1	0.7	1.7	3.7				
	Tre	ated with me	dicine or surg	ery (weighted %)					
n	46	31	17	5	81	18				
Yes	91.9	86.2	90.1	100.0	89.6	92.5				
Н	lospitalised	due to condi	ition in the pas	st 6 months (weig	ghted %)					
n	42	28	15	5	74	16				
Yes	19.4	10.9	17.7	16.0	16.6	14.4				
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months									
n	8	3	2	1	12	2				
Mean	1.3	2.5	1.0	2.0	1.6	1.0				
SD	0.7	3.2	0.0	0.0	1.6	0.0				

		1	Age Group		Ge	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				Other Fo	rms of l	Heart Dise	eases				
		-	Diagnose	d by a me	dical pr	ofessional	(weighted	%)			
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Yes	4.5	3.9	4.4	6.5	5.7	3.4	4.3	4.9	6.6	1.5	
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)										
n	222	81	71	70	128	94	149	38	34	1	
Yes	87.1	85.1	89.4	88.1	92.1	79.7	86.4	86.7	93.4	100.0	
		Hospit	alised du	e to condi	tion in t	he past 6 1	nonths (we	eighted %	b)		
n	196	70	65	61	118	78	130	33	32	1	
Yes	9.8	7.9	11.9	10.9	5.7	16.8	9.0	24.2	1.9	0.0	
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months										
n	22	7	8	7	10	12	14	7	1	0	
Mean	1.8	2.2	1.4	1.8	2.5	1.5	1.7	2.2	1.0	0.0	
SD	14	12	07	2.2	2.0	0.8	15	12	0.0	0.0	

Appendix Table A4g Other Forms of Heart Diseases by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4h	Other Forms of Heart	Diseases by Edu	cational Level and I	living
Arrangement				

		Educationa	al Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement					
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*				
Other Forms of Heart Diseases										
	Diag	nosed by a m	edical professi	onal (weighted %	%)					
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407				
Yes	4.4	3.5	4.8	5.8	4.3	5.9				
	Tre	ated with me	edicine or surg	ery (weighted %)					
n	66	56	68	31	197	25				
Yes	88.9	82.4	86.6	92.0	88.1	79.4				
I	Hospitalised	d due to cond	lition in the pa	st 6 months (weig	ghted %)					
n	59	47	60	29	175	21				
Yes	20.2	8.1	6.4	2.2	9.9	9.8				
	Num	ber of times	hospitalised in	the past 6 mont	hs					
n	12	5	4	1	20	2				
Mean	2.0	1.4	1.6	3.0	1.9	1.0				
SD	1.6	0.9	1.4	0.0	1.5	0.0				

		Age Group			Ge	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above							
Cancer (Excluding Skin Cancer)											
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)											
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Yes	4.9	4.6	5.5	4.9	4.2	5.6	4.8	4.3	4.7	14.5	
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)										
n	220	92	79	49	90	130	166	30	20	4	
Yes	91.9	92.3	92.1	90.0	97.2	88.3	91.1	89.9	100.0	100.0	
		Hospita	lised due	e to condi	tion in t	he past 6 i	nonths (we	ighted %	b)		
n	203	85	74	44	87	116	152	27	20	4	
Yes	9.8	11.7	9.8	3.9	10.4	9.4	8.5	20.2	19.6	0.0	
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months										
n	21	11	8	2	10	11	12	5	4	0	
Mean	2.6	3.4	1.7	1.0	2.1	3.1	3.1	1.8	1.3	0.0	
SD	2.5	3.0	1.2	0.0	1.9	3.0	2.9	0.5	0.5	0.0	

Appendix Table A4i Cancer	(Excluding Skin Cancer) by Ag	ge Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4j Canc	er (Excluding Skin	Cancer) by	Educational Level and	d Living
Arrangement				

		Educationa	l Level Comple	eted	Living	Arrangement				
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*				
Cancer (Excluding Skin Cancer)										
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)										
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407				
Yes	4.1	4.3	5.4	7.2	4.8	5.7				
Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)										
n	54	61	70	35	197	22				
Yes	92.9	94.2	90.3	89.7	90.9	100.0				
	Hospitali	sed due to co	ondition in the	past 6 months	s (weighted 9	%)				
n	51	57	63	32	180	22				
Yes	10.5	10.3	11.2	5.5	8.1	23.7				
	Nu	umber of tin	ies hospitalised	l in the past 6	months					
n	5	7	6	3	16	5				
Mean	3.8	2.4	2.3	1.4	2.9	2.0				
SD	4.4	2.3	1.4	0.6	2.9	1.3				

		A	Age Group		Ge	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above							
	Cerebrovascular Disease (Such as Stroke)										
	Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)										
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Yes	4.7	3.1	6.2	7.3	5.8	3.8	4.6	4.2	7.8	3.9	
			Treated	with med	licine or	surgery (weighted ⁴	%)			
n	238	63	102	73	131	107	169	30	38	1	
Yes	90.7	90.6	94.0	85.3	93.6	86.7	90.3	89.1	93.8	100.0	
		Hospita	lised due	e to condi	tion in t	he past 6	months (w	eighted %	6)		
n	216	58	96	62	123	93	153	27	35	1	
Yes	6.9	10.5	5.6	3.9	6.7	7.2	5.7	15.3	10.3	0.0	
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months										
n	17	7	7	3	11	6	9	4	4	0	
Mean	1.5	1.2	1.8	1.8	1.9	1.0	1.6	1.0	1.8	0.0	
SD	1.1	0.4	1.7	1.2	1.4	0.0	1.0	0.0	2.2	0.0	

Appendix Table A4k Cerebrovascular Disease (Such as Stroke) by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4l Cerebrovascular	Disease (Such	as Stroke) by	Educational Lev	el and Living
Arrangement				

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement				
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*			
	C	Cerebrovascu	lar Disease (Su	ich as Stroke)					
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)									
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407			
Yes	5.7	4.4	4.6	3.5	4.7	4.6			
	Trea	ated with me	dicine or surge	ery (weighted %))				
n	82	66	65	21	218	20			
Yes	90.7	94.3	93.0	75.7	89.8	100.0			
Н	ospitalised	due to condi	tion in the pas	t 6 months (weig	ghted %)				
n	74	62	61	16	196	20			
Yes	3.1	3.4	15.6	4.5	7.2	3.5			
	Numl	ber of times l	nospitalised in	the past 6 month	18				
n	3	3	10	1	16	1			
Mean	2.0	1.9	1.3	1.0	1.5	1.0			
SD	1.7	2.4	0.7	0.0	1.1	0.0			

			Age Grou	ip	Ge	ender		Ethn	icity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others			
Dementia													
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)													
n	466	28	103	335	130	336	310	101	53	2			
Yes	32.7	18.0	33.7	34.3	36.2	31.3	33.7	28.6	29.3	44.4			
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)												
n	150	6	32	112	46	104	104	29	16	1			
Yes	57.6	72.4	72.7	52.1	73.6	50.4	57.0	50.2	72.2	100.0			
		Hospit	alised du	e to cond	lition in	the past 6	months (we	ighted %)				
n	86	4	24	58	34	52	60	15	10	1			
Yes	3.2	0.0	1.9	4.0	6.6	0.9	2.7	0.0	11.9	0.0			
Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months													
n	4	0	1	3	3	1	2	0	2	0			
Mean	13.5	0.0	1.0	1.4	1.4	1.0	1.5	0.0	1.0	0.0			
SD	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.6	0.0	0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0			

Appendix Table A4m Dementia by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4n Dementia by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	I Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement						
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*					
			Dementia								
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)											
n	311	90	43	14	442	23					
Yes	28.1	45.6	35.2	36.9	33.0	28.1					
	Trea	ated with me	dicine or surge	ery (weighted %)						
n	87	39	15	5	143	7					
Yes	60.4	51.2	55.3	82.9	58.4	42.5					
H	ospitalised	due to condi	ition in the pas	t 6 months (weig	ghted %)						
n	52	20	9	4	83	3					
Yes	4.4	2.2	0.0	0.0	3.3	0.0					
	Numl	ber of times l	nospitalised in	the past 6 month	hs						
n	3	1	0	0	4	0					
Mean	1.4	1.0	0.0	0.0	1.4	0.0					
SD	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.0					

		Age Group 60- 70- 80 &		oup	Ge	ender	Ethnicity				
	Total	60-	70-	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
		69	79	above							
Chronic Respiratory Illness (e.g. Asthma)											
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)											
n	n 4549 2020 1501 1028 2117 2432 3358 708 449 34										
Yes	5.2	4.8	5.1	6.8	5.8	4.6	4.6	7.9	8.7	6.3	
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)										
n	258	106	84	68	133	125	165	53	38	2	
Yes	90.7	88.2	97.9	86.3	91.8	89.5	88.7	94.2	98.7	100.0	
		Hospit	alised d	ue to condi	ition in t	the past 6	months (w	eighted %	6)		
n	236	95	82	59	124	112	147	50	37	2	
Yes	9.6	5.6	15.8	9.1	9.2	10.1	9.2	8.1	16.1	0.0	
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months										
n	24	6	12	6	13	11	14	5	5	0	
Mean	1.5	1.1	1.6	1.8	1.7	1.3	1.4	1.6	1.6	0.0	
SD	0.7	0.4	0.6	1.0	0.7	0.7	0.6	0.8	0.9	0.0	

Appendix Table A4o Chronic Respiratory Illness by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4p Chronic Respiratory Illness by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

			Educationa	l Level Comple	eted	Living Arrangement						
]	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*					
			Chronic Resp	oiratory Illness	(e.g. Asthma)	line	Inone					
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
]	n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407					
Yes		5.7	5.9	4.6	3.6	5.2	5.0					
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)											
]	n	87	84	66	20	263	22					
Yes		90.7	97.1	84.8	86.5	90.9	88.6					
	Hos	oitalised	l due to cond	ition in the pas	t 6 months (wei	ghted %)						
]	n	80	81	58	17	217	19					
Yes		12.5	9.3	9.8	0.0	10.1	4.1					
		Num	ber of times	hospitalised in	the past 6 mont	ths						
]	n	10	8	6	0	23	1					
Mean		1.6	1.4	1.4	0.0	1.5	2.0					
SD		0.9	0.5	0.5	0.0	0.7	0.0					

			Age Grou	սթ	Ge	ender	Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
Digestive Illness (Stomach or Intestinal)											
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)											
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Yes	7.6	6.8	7.2	10.8	6.7	8.4	8.0	4.6	5.8	11.4	
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)										
n	340	132	104	104	142	198	277	34	26	3	
Yes	85.9	83.0	89.5	87.2	88.0	84.4	87.0	79.7	92.6	45.5	
		Hospit	alised du	e to condi	tion in tl	he past 6 i	nonths (we	eighted %	b)		
n	294	111	92	91	124	170	242	27	24	1	
Yes	7.7	5.1	12.2	7.0	7.5	7.8	7.5	13.6	7.3	0.0	
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months										
n	25	6	12	7	11	14	19	4	2	0	
Mean	1.3	1.7	1.1	1.0	1.6	1.0	1.1	2.8	1.0	0.0	
SD	0.9	1.6	0.3	0.0	1.4	0.0	0.3	2.6	0.0	0.0	

4	Appendi	x Table	A4q	Digestive	Illness	(Stom	ach or	Intestinal) by	Age Group,	Gender	and Ethnic	ity
Е													

Appendix Table A4r Digestive Illness (Stomach or Intestinal) by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement							
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*						
Digestive Illness (Stomach or Intestinal)												
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
n 1390 1385 1262 503 4136 407												
Yes	8.9	6.6	6.7	9.1	7.3	10.3						
Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)												
n	122	87	85	45	299	40						
Yes	86.8	87.7	89.6	74.5	85.2	90.3						
Н	lospitalised	l due to cond	ition in the pa	st 6 months (wei	ghted %)							
n	107	76	76	34	257	36						
Yes	11.9	7.3	5.1	3.6	8.1	4.9						
Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months												
n	13	7	4	1	23	2						
Mean	1.0	1.2	2.2	1.0	1.3	1.0						
SD	0.0	0.4	2.0	0.0	0.9	0.0						

		A	Age Grou	ıp	Ge	ender	Ethnicity					
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
				above								
Renal/Kidney or Urinary Tract Ailments												
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34		
Yes	8.1	6.2	9.7	11.5	11.5	5.2	8.6	5.5	5.8	11.7		
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)											
n	379	121	143	115	250	129	303	44	27	5		
Yes	84.1	84.7	83.6	84.2	88.7	75.4	83.1	84.8	96.1	100.0		
		Hospita	lised due	e to condi	tion in t	he past 6	months (w	eighted %	(0)			
n	321	103	120	98	223	98	253	38	25	5		
Yes	8.4	9.2	8.5	6.9	5.7	14.7	7.0	18.2	19.8	10.9		
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months											
n	n 29 11 11 7 15 14 17 6 5 1											
Mean	1.7	1.6	1.4	2.6	1.3	2.0	1.6	1.2	3.0	1.0		
SD	1.7	0.9	0.7	3.6	0.7	2.2	1.0	0.4	4.4	0.0		

Appendix Table A4s Renal/Kidney or Urinary Tract Ailments by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table	A4t Renal/Kidney	or Urinary	^v Tract	Ailments	by	Educational	Level	and	Living
Arrangement									

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arra	angement
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
		Renal/Kidne	y or Urinary T	Tract Ailments		
	Diag	nosed by a m	edical profess	ional (weighted '	%)	
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407
Yes	7.8	8.8	6.6	10.8	8.3	6.0
	Tre	eated with me	edicine or surg	ery (weighted %	b)	
n	110	122	89	58	350	28
Yes	83.2	88.7	80.0	82.5	84.2	82.6
]	Hospitalise	d due to cond	lition in the pa	st 6 months (wei	ighted %)	
n	92	108	73	48	298	22
Yes	10.1	12.1	3.0	5.2	8.2	12.2
	Nun	nber of times	hospitalised in	the past 6 mont	ths	
n	10	14	3	2	26	3
Mean	2.1	1.7	1.0	1.0	1.7	2.0
SD	2.8	1.0	0.0	0.0	1.8	1.2

		Age Group			Ge	ender	Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
Ailments of the Liver or Gall Bladder											
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)											
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Yes	3.3	3.2	3.1	4.2	4.2	2.6	3.6	1.7	2.4	0.0	
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)										
n	148	61	47	40	91	57	125	12	11	0	
Yes	75.2	66.3	81.1	89.2	82.6	64.6	74.5	100.0	63.4	0.0	
		Hospita	alised due	to condit	tion in t	he past 6 i	nonths (we	ighted %	b)		
n	115	41	38	36	77	38	96	12	7	0	
Yes	5.1	0.0	12.0	5.7	6.9	1.8	5.0	0.0	17.1	0.0	
Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months											
n	7	0	5	2	6	1	6	0	1	0	
Mean	1.3	0.0	1.2	1.6	1.3	1.0	1.3	0.0	1.0	0.0	
SD	0.5	0.0	0.4	0.7	0.5	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	

Appendix Table A4u Ailments of the Liver or Gall Bladder by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4v Ailments of the Liver or Gal	all Bladder by Educational Level and Livin	ıg
Arrangement		

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement	
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living
					Alone	Alone*
		Ailments of	the Liver or G	all Bladder		
	Diagn	osed by a me	dical profession	onal (weighted %	ó)	
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407
Yes	2.2	2.9	3.2	7.3	3.3	4.0
	Trea	ted with med	licine or surge	ery (weighted %)		
n	31	38	42	37	130	18
Yes	83.3	71.7	73.2	75.6	73.4	91.0
Ha	ospitalised	due to condi	tion in the pas	t 6 months (weig	(hted %)	
n	27	27	32	29	99	16
Yes	7.6	4.4	4.5	4.6	5.8	0.0
	Numb	er of times h	ospitalised in	the past 6 month	18	
n	2	2	2	1	7	0
Mean	1.6	1.0	1.5	1.0	1.3	0.0
SD	0.7	0.0	0.7	0.0	0.5	0.0

		A	Age Gro	սթ	Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above							
				0	Chronic	Back Pain					
			Diagnos	ed by a n	nedical	profession	al (weighte	ed %)			
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Yes	7.2	6.5	7.4	8.8	6.6	7.6	7.1	3.6	9.4	23.7	
			Treate	d with m	edicine	or surgery	(weighted	%)			
n	327	129	109	89	140	187	249	26	45	7	
Yes	63.9	66.2	63.5	58.8	75.1	55.4	63.9	53.2	77.9	50.5	
		Hospit	alised du	e to con	dition in	the past (5 months (v	weighted	%)		
n	210	86	72	52	105	105	158	14	34	4	
Yes	2.8	0.0	5.6	5.4	2.4	3.1	3.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months										
n	6	0	3	3	3	3	6	0	0	0	
Mean	1.1	0.0	1.0	1.3	1.3	1.0	1.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	
SD	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.5	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	

Appendix Table A4w Chronic Back Pain by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4x Chronic Back Pain by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arr	angement
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
		Cł	ronic Back Pa	ain		
	Diagn	losed by a m	edical professi	onal (weighted 9	%)	
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407
Yes	7.0	6.9	5.9	11.0	7.1	7.7
	Trea	ated with me	dicine or surg	ery (weighted %)	
n	100	95	77	55	294	33
Yes	57.0	72.2	66.2	57.8	64.2	61.2
H	ospitalised	due to condi	ition in the pas	st 6 months (wei	ghted %)	
n	61	65	50	34	190	20
Yes	9.9	1.1	0.0	0.0	3.0	0.0
	Num	ber of times l	hospitalised in	the past 6 mont	hs	
n	5	1	0	0	6	0
Mean	1.1	1.0	0.0	0.0	1.1	0.0
SD	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.0

		A	ge Grou	р	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
					Osteop	orosis				
		D	iagnosed	l by a mo	edical p	rofessiona	l (weighted	l %)		
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34
Yes	4.9	3.7	4.8	8.7	1.6	7.8	5.2	3.0	4.2	1.9
		1	Treated	with me	dicine o	r surgery	(weighted	%)		
n	229	71	75	83	32	197	186	21	21	1
Yes	81.0	78.3	83.9	82.0	62.9	84.2	81.9	86.6	69.4	0.0
		Hospital	ised due	to condi	ition in 1	the past 6	months (w	eighted %	%)	
n	187	55	63	69	21	166	154	18	15	0
Yes	1.0	1.0	1.3	0.7	0.0	1.2	0.5	3.5	9.1	0.0
		N	umber o	of times l	nospital	ised in the	past 6 mo	nths		
n	3	1	1	1	0	3	1	1	1	0
Mean	1.8	3.0	1.0	1.0	0.0	1.8	1.0	1.0	3.0	0.0
SD	1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Appendix Table A4y Osteoporosis by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4z Osteoporosis by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	al Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement		
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*	
			Osteoporosis				
	Diag	nosed by a m	edical professi	onal (weighted %	6)		
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407	
Yes	5.8	3.4	5.1	6.0	4.7	7.1	
	Tre	ated with me	dicine or surge	ery (weighted %))	-	
n	80	51	66	31	198	31	
Yes	84.7	76.4	84.6	72.6	80.9	81.9	
Н	lospitalised	l due to cond	ition in the pas	st 6 months (weig	ghted %)	-	
n	69	39	55	23	163	24	
Yes	0.6	0.0	1.3	2.9	1.2	0.0	
	Num	ber of times	hospitalised in	the past 6 montl	hs	-	
n	1	0	1	1	3	0	
Mean	1.0	0.0	1.0	3.0	1.8	0.0	
SD	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.2	0.0	

		A	Age Grou	ıp	Ge	Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
			Fra	actures of	the Hip	, Thigh an	nd Pelvis					
]	Diagnose	d by a me	edical pr	ofessional	(weighted	%)				
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34		
Yes	2.8	1.7	1.5	8.8	2.0	3.5	2.8	1.8	3.8	2.3		
			Treated	with mee	licine or	· surgery (weighted 9	%)				
n	146	35	26	85	44	102	112	14	19	1		
Yes	87.5	91.6	89.4	84.4	90.8	85.9	88.1	93.2	90.3	0.0		
		Hospita	lised du	e to condi	tion in t	he past 6 i	months (we	eighted %	(0)			
n	128	32	23	73	40	88	98	13	17	0		
Yes	13.4	9.9	17.3	14.4	20.7	9.6	13.6	27.8	0.0	0.0		
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months											
n	17	3	3	11	9	8	13	4	0	0		
Mean	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.0	0.0		
SD	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		

Appendix Table A4aa Fractures of the Hip, Thigh and Pelvis by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4ab Fractures of the Hip,	Thigh and Pelvis by	Educational Level	and Living
Arrangement			

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement						
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living					
					Alone	Alone*					
		Fractures of	f the Hip, Thig	gh and Pelvis							
	Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)										
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407					
Yes	5.4	1.9	1.5	2.3	2.7	4.1					
	Trea	ated with me	dicine or surg	ery (weighted %)						
n	80	31	23	11	126	20					
Yes	86.1	97.5	94.2	64.6	89.6	74.0					
Н	lospitalised	due to condi	ition in the pa	st 6 months (wei	ghted %)						
n	69	30	21	7	113	15					
Yes	13.8	12.9	19.3	0.0	13.5	12.1					
	Num	ber of times l	hospitalised in	the past 6 mont	hs						
n	8	4	5	0	15	2					
Mean	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.0	1.0	1.0					
SD	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0					

		A	Age Grou	ıp	Ge	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above							
				0	ther Fra	actures					
		I	Diagnose	d by a me	dical pr	ofessional	(weighted	%)			
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Yes	7.5	6.8	7.6	9.6	6.5	8.4	7.5	6.6	8.7	10.8	
			Treated	with med	licine or	· surgery (weighted %	6)			
n	345	141	112	92	130	215	257	44	40	4	
Yes	80.9	78.7	87.7	75.6	90.0	74.7	78.9	82.6	96.6	100.0	
		Hospita	lised due	e to condi	tion in t	he past 6 i	nonths (we	ighted %	ó)		
n	282	114	98	70	118	164	204	36	38	4	
Yes	4.9	4.4	4.0	7.5	4.6	5.1	4.6	3.5	10.6	0.0	
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months										
n	16	6	5	5	7	9	11	1	4	0	
Mean	1.2	1.3	1.2	1.2	1.1	1.3	1.1	1.0	1.6	0.0	
SD	0.5	0.7	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.7	0.4	0.0	1.1	0.0	

Appendix Table A4ac Other Fractures by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4ad Other Fractures by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement	
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
		(Other Fracture	es		
	Diagr	nosed by a m	edical professi	onal (weighted 9	%)	
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407
Yes	7.4	7.0	7.5	9.1	7.4	8.6
	Tre	ated with me	dicine or surg	ery (weighted %)	
n	106	93	100	45	310	35
Yes	81.0	84.9	81.3	72.2	80.6	83.4
Н	ospitalised	due to condi	ition in the pa	st 6 months (wei	ghted %)	
n	85	80	83	33	253	29
Yes	7.1	4.8	2.5	5.6	5.2	2.3
	Num	ber of times l	hospitalised in	the past 6 mont	hs	
n	7	4	3	2	15	1
Mean	1.3	1.0	1.0	1.7	1.2	1.0
SD	0.5	0.0	0.0	1.3	0.6	0.0

		I	Age Grou	ıp	Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
					Glauce	oma					
]	Diagnose	d by a me	dical pr	ofessional	(weighted	%)			
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Yes	4.0	2.7	5.6	5.5	4.6	3.5	4.2	1.9	4.2	6.4	
			Treated	with med	licine or	· surgery (weighted %	6)			
n	186	49	83	54	101	85	152	14	18	2	
Yes	84.4	80.6	84.7	89.9	88.4	79.9	82.1	100.0	100.0	100.0	
		Hospita	alised du	e to condi	tion in t	he past 6 1	nonths (we	eighted %	b)		
n	161	40	72	49	92	49	127	14	18	2	
Yes	1.7	5.2	0.0	0.0	3.1	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
		•	Number	of times h	ospitali	sed in the	past 6 mon	ths			
n	2	2	0	0	2	0	2	0	0	0	
Mean	1.0	1.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
SD	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	

Appendix Table A4af Glaucoma by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4ag Glaucoma by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	Living Arrangement							
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living				
					Alone	Alone*				
			Glaucoma							
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)										
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407				
Yes	3.8	4.3	4.0	3.9	3.9	6.0				
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)									
n	50	60	53	23	162	24				
Yes	78.4	88.1	83.0	91.0	85.3	78.4				
H	ospitalised	due to condit	tion in the past	t 6 months (weig	hted %)					
n	41	54	45	21	141	20				
Yes	0.0	2.5	3.0	0.0	2.0	0.0				
	Numb	er of times h	ospitalised in 1	the past 6 month	S					
n	0	1	1	0	2	0				
Mean	0.0	1.0	1.0	0.0	1.0	0.0				
SD	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0				

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Appendix Table A4ah Age-Related Muscular Degeneration by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		A	.ge Grou	р	Ge	ender	Ethnicity					
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
	Age-Related Muscular Degeneration											
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
n	9	1	1	7	0	9	9	0	0	0		
Yes	51.5	0.0	100.0	57.8	0.0	51.5	51.5	0.0	0.0	0.0		
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)											
n	5	0	1	4	0	5	5	0	0	0		
Yes	100.0	0.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		

		Educationa	l Level Compl	eted	Living Arra	ngement						
	None	e Primary Secondary Tertiary		Not Living Alone	Living Alone*							
Age-Related Muscular Degeneration												
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
n	4	1	1	2	8	0						
Yes	50.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	56.8	0.0						
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)											
n	2	0	1	2	5	0						
Yes	100.0	0.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0						

Appendix Table A4ai Age-Related Muscular Degeneration by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Appendix Table A4aj Autoimmune Disorder by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		A	Age Group)	Ge	ender	Ethnicity					
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
				above								
				Auto	immune	e Disorder	•					
		Ι	Diagnosed	by a me	dical pr	ofessional	(weighted	%)				
n	6	2	0	4	2	4	6	0	0	0		
Yes	35.4	49.0	0.0	23.6	100.0	0.0	35.4	0.0	0.0	0.0		
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)											
n	2	1	0	1	2	0	2	0	0	0		
Yes	1.0	100.0	0.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
		Hospita	lised due	to condi	tion in t	he past 6 1	nonths (we	eighted %	b)			
n	2	1	0	1	2	0	2	0	0	0		
Yes	64.2	100.0	0.0	0.0	64.2	0.0	64.2	0.0	0.0	0.0		
	Number of times hospitalised in the past 6 months											
n	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0		
Mean	3.0	3.0	0.0	0.0	3.0	0.0	3.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
SD	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		

Appendix Table A4ak Autoimmune Disorder by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	al Level Compl	eted	Living Arra	ngement
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living
					Alone	Alone*
		Auto	oimmune Disor	der		
	Diagi	nosed by a me	dical professio	nal (weighted %)		
n	2	1	0	2	5	0
Yes	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	40.4	0.0
	Tre	ated with mee	licine or surge	ry (weighted %)		
n	0	0	0	2	2	0
Yes	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.0
F	Iospitalised	due to condi	tion in the past	6 months (weigh	ted %)	
n	0	0	0	2	2	0
Yes	0.0	0.0	0.0	64.2	64.2	0.0
	Num	ber of times h	ospitalised in t	he past 6 months		
n	0	0	0	1	1	0
Mean	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.0	3.0	0.0
SD	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

		A	ge Grou	р	Ge	nder		Ethn	icity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
		1	Chroni	c Skin C	onditions	(e.g. eczer	na, psorias	is)?		1		
	Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)											
n	10	5	1	4	2	8	8	1	1	0		
Yes	63.2	77.4	100.0	17.5	100.0	50.8	58.5	100.0	100.0	0.0		
			Treate	d with n	nedicine o	or surgery	(weighted ⁽	%)				
n	6	4	1	1	2	4	4	1	1	0		
Yes	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0		

Appendix Table A4al Chronic Skin Conditions by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4am Chronic Skin Conditions by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

			Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arr	angement
		None	Primary	Secondary	TertiaryNot Living Aloneczema, Psoriasis)onal (weighted %)1910.0(8.0	Living Alone*	
		Chr	onic Skin Co	nditions (e.g.]	Eczema, Psorias	is)	
		Diag	nosed by a m	edical profess	ional (weighted	%)	
	n	3	2	3	1	9	0
Yes		23.4	47.8	100.0	100.0	68.0	0.0
		Tre	ated with me	edicine or surg	gery (weighted %	()	
	n	1	1	3	1	6	0
Yes		100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0
Yes		100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Appendix Table A4an Epilepsy by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		A	ge Group)	Ge	nder		Ethn	icity	
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
					Epile	psy				
		Ι	Diagnosed	l by a me	dical pr	ofessional	(weighted	%)		
n	6	2	1	3	1	5	5	1	0	0
Yes	27.8	37.1	100.0	0.0	100.0	17.7	14.5	100.0	0.0	0.0
			Treated	with mea	licine or	· surgery (weighted ⁹	%)		
n	2	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0
Yes	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	0.0
		Hospita	lised due	to condi	tion in t	he past 6 i	months (we	eighted %	()	
n	2	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0
Yes	55.8	100.0	100.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0
		ľ	Number o	f times h	ospitali	sed in the	past 6 mor	nths		
n	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
Mean	2.0	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.0	0.0	2.0	0.0	0.0
SD	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

		Educationa	l Level Comp	leted	Living Arr	angement
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
			Epilepsy			
	Diag	nosed by a m	edical profess	ional (weighted	%)	
n	3	1	0	1	5	0
Yes	32.8	0.0	0.0	100.0	32.3	0.0
	Tre	eated with me	edicine or surg	gery (weighted %	()	
n	1	0	0	1	2	0
Yes	100.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	100.0	0.0
I	Hospitalise	d due to cond	lition in the pa	st 6 months (wei	ighted %)	
n	1	0	0	1	2	0
Yes	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	55.8	0.0
	Num	ber of times	hospitalised in	n the past 6 mon	ths	
n	1	0	0	0	1	0
Mean	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.0	0.0
SD	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Appendix Table A4ao Epilepsy by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Appendix Table A4ap Thyroid Disorder by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		A	ge Grou	р	Ge	ender		Ethn	icity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
]	[hyroid]	Disorder						
	Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)											
n	90	40	26	24	13	77	69	7	13	1		
Yes	95.7	97.1	100.0	85.9	100.0	95.0	94.9	100.0	100.0	100.0		
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)											
n	86	36	26	21	13	73	65	7	13	1		
Yes	95.0	94.3	96.9	94.6	100.0	94.1	94.1	100.0	100.0	100.0		
		Hospit	alised du	e to cond	lition in	the past 6	months (w	eighted %	ó)			
n	82	37	25	20	13	69	61	7	13	1		
Yes	5.3	6.4	6.6	0.0	10.5	4.3	6.0	0.0	3.9	0.0		
			Number	of times	hospital	ised in the	past 6 mor	nths				
n	4	2	2	0	1	3	3	0	1	0		
Mean	1.6	1.5	1.6	0.0	2.0	1.3	1.4	0.0	4.0	0.0		
SD	1.0	0.7	1.7	0.0	0.0	1.1	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0		

Appendix Table A4aq Thyroid Disorder by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Compl	eted	Living Arra	angement
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living
					Alone	Alone*
		Т	hyroid Disordo	er		
	Diag	nosed by a m	edical profession	onal (weighted %	b)	
n	34	22	26	7	82	7
Yes	94.4	93.3	100.0	100.0	96.2	100.0
	Tre	ated with me	dicine or surge	ery (weighted %)		
n	32	21	26	7	79	7
Yes	97.2	100.0	93.0	83.3	95.5	89.7
F	Iospitalised	l due to condi	ition in the pas	t 6 months (weig	hted %)	
n	31	21	24	6	76	6
Yes	15.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.4	27.2
	Num	ber of times	hospitalised in	the past 6 month	S	
n	4	0	0	0	2	2
Mean	1.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	2.4
SD	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.1

			Age Grou	р	Ge	ender		Ethn	icity	
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
					Migra	ine				
			Diagnos	ed by a me	edical pr	ofessional	(weighted	%)		
n	6	3	0	3	1	5	5	0	1	0
Yes	35.6	60.2	0.0	0.0	100.0	26.3	26.3	0.0	100.0	0.0
			Treated	d with mee	dicine or	surgery (weighted %	(0)		
n	2	2	0	0	1	1	1	0	1	0
Yes	35.5	35.5	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.0

Appendix Table A4ar Migraine by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Appendix Table A4as Migraine by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Compl	eted	Living Arr	angement						
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living						
					Alone	Alone*						
			Migraine									
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)												
n	2	2	1	0	5	0						
Yes	0.0	34.9	100.0	0.0	40.6	0.0						
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)											
n	0	1	1	0	2	0						
Yes	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0	35.5	0.0						

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Appendix Table A4at Parkinsonism by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
	Parkinsonism										
	Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %)										
n	19	5	8	6	9	10	15	2	2	0	
Yes	0.8	78.0	100.0	39.8	100.0	59.0	75.6	100.0	100.0	0.0	
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)										
n	15	4	8	3	9	6	11	2	2	0	
Yes	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	

Appendix Table A4au Parkinsonism by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	Living Arrangement						
	None	Primary	Not Living	Living					
					Alone	Alone*			
			Parkinsonism						
Diagnosed by a medical professional (weighted %) (weighted %)									
n	6	6	5	1	17	1			
Yes	65.3	79.4	100.0	100.0	80.1	100.0			
	Treated with medicine or surgery (weighted %)								
n	4	5	5	1	14	1			
Yes	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0			

		Age Group		Gender			 Ethn	icity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above							
How difficult do you find it to perform this activity by yourself? (weighted %)											
				Take	a bath / sl	hower					
n	293	32	69	192	77	216	211	48	32	2	
Somewhat difficult	36.3	37.3	49.5	31.2	29.5	38.8	32.8	49.2	53.8	56.1	
Very difficult	24.8	29.9	17.3	26.3	28.4	23.5	25.8	23.9	18.3	0.0	
Unable to perform	37.3	29.0	33.2	40.9	42.1	35.6	39.5	27.0	27.9	43.9	
Dress Up											
n	237	23	59	155	74	163	170	36	29	2	
Somewhat difficult	41.8	37.8	49.1	39.9	39.8	42.7	38.9	48.0	61.2	56.1	
Very difficult	22.9	26.3	15.6	24.9	21.2	23.6	24.0	22.1	15.6	0.0	
Unable to perform	33.4	30.7	35.3	33.2	39.1	30.8	34.7	29.9	23.2	43.9	
'					Eat						
n	100	13	23	64	36	64	68	19	12	1	
Somewhat difficult	36.3	14.5	48.2	38.7	35.7	36.7	33.4	65.7	27.9	0.0	
Very difficult	25.7	40.9	22.2	22.0	24.9	26.1	28.8	5.6	27.9	0.0	
Unable to perform	33.	35.5	29.5	34.1	39.4	29.9	32.1	28.6	44.2	100.0	
-1		Sta	and up fr	om a bed	/ chair; si	tting down	on a chair				
n	395	58	102	235	89	306	264	77	51	3	
Somewhat difficult	65.1	69.6	73.1	59.9	57.9	67.1	64.4	66.6	68.1	71.7	
Very difficult	18.3	18.9	13.0	20.5	18.4	18.3	18.8	18.1	16.3	0.0	
Unable to perform	15.5	9.3	13.9	18.2	23.7	13.1	15.3	15.3	15.6	28.3	
				Walk (a	around the	e house)					
n	431	51	117	263	119	312	301	86	41	3	
Somewhat difficult	59.7	56.3	74.2	54.1	58.6	60.1	57.8	68.3	61.7	71.7	
Very difficult	23.6	28.3	11.8	27.6	23.1	23.8	25.7	16.0	18.0	0.0	
Unable to perform	15.6	12.9	14.0	17.1	18.4	14.6	15.1	15.8	20.3	28.3	
		1	1	Use t	he sitting	toilet		11			
n	213	20	53	140	68	145	149	41	22	1	
Somewhat difficult	46.1	41.6	52.8	44.5	48.7	44.9	44.8	56.3	45.0	0.0	
Very difficult	25.7	30.7	24.3	25.2	23.7	26.7	26.9	24.3	16.2	0.0	
Unable to perform	25.9	21.7	23.0	28.0	27.6	25.2	25.5	19.4	38.8	100.0	

Appendix Table A4av ADL Limitation Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity – Part (ii)

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

		Educatio	Living Arrangement					
	Non	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living		
	e				Alone	Alone*		
How diffi	cult do g	you find it to j	perform this ac	tivity by yourself?	(weighted %)			
		Ta	ke a bath / sho	wer				
<u> </u>	174	60	39	12	266	26		
Somewhat difficult	36.1	33.8	44.8	32.6	35.2	48.8		
Very difficult	24.0	33.0	21.6	6.1	24.8	25.5		
Unable to perform	38.7	30.5	33.7	61.4	38.6	25.8		
			Dress Up					
n	135	47	33	16	214	22		
Somewhat difficult	43.7	35.8	48.4	41.3	41.9	43.0		
Very difficult	23.4	26.8	21.2	7.4	21.7	35.0		
Unable to perform	31.4	33.8	30.4	51.2	34.7	22.1		
Eat								
n	49	21	19	7	92	7		
Somewhat difficult	41.4	22.2	52.5	0.0	37.8	18.5		
Very difficult	22.4	46.1	26.8	0.0	26.4	18.3		
Unable to perform	32.1	23.0	20.7	100.0	31.7	63.3		
	Stan	d up from a b	ed / chair; sitti	ng down on a chai	ir			
n	228	84	57	19	351	43		
Somewhat difficult	65.1	65.0	72.2	50.7	64.2	73.7		
Very difficult	20.9	17.2	12.8	10.1	19.1	11.9		
Unable to perform	13.0	15.8	15.0	39.2	15.6	14.4		
	·	Wal	k (around the h	iouse)	·			
n	249	100	53	22	390	40		
Somewhat difficult	60.9	57.9	58.7	61.5	60.1	57.3		
Very difficult	25.5	24.6	22.8	5.6	23.2	27.9		
Unable to perform	12.8	15.9	18.5	32.9	15.8	14.8		
	Use the sitting toilet							
n	124	46	28	8	193	19		
Somewhat difficult	50.4	40.6	50.1	7.8	46.9	40.0		
Very difficult	26.4	33.0	17.8	0.0	25.7	26.9		
Unable to perform	21.5	22.8	32.1	92.2	25.3	33.2		

Appendix Table A4aw ADL Limitation Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement – Part (ii)

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A4ax Requirement of Assistance/Device for ADL by Age Group and Ethnicity

		Age Group			Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	60-69 70-79 80		Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above					
n	521	76	148	297	359	97	62	3	
Human Assistance	27.3	24.0	22.1	31.1	28.2	21.6	26.9	28.3	
Device Assistance	25.6	21.3	28.1	25.9	26.6	23.5	22.1	0.0	
Both	27.8	15.4	22.8	34.9	26.0	39.5	26.6	36.3	
None	19.3	39.3	27.0	8.1	19.2	15.5	24.4	35.4	

Appendix Table A4ay Requirement of Assistance/Device for ADL by Education Level and Living Arrangement

		Educational	Level Comple	Living Arrangement		
	Non	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living Alone*
	e				Alone	
n	294	121	72	27	473	48
Human Assistance	29.0	19.7	27.8	39.2	28.0	19.8
Device Assistance	26.3	24.5	25.8	27.3	24.0	41.0
Both	31.6	26.2	20.3	12.0	28.5	21.8

None	13.2	29.6	26.1	21.6	19.5	17.4
*Living alone includes those	e who liv	e alone only (80	0%) or with only	a foreign dom	estic worker/ma	nid (20%)

	THAL IA			atus by Aş		p, Genuer		Ethn	1 t (11) i aiter	
	Total	60.60	Age Gro	up on e	Mala	Eamala	Chinago	Etiin Moley	Indian	Othora
	Total	00-09	/0-/9	δU α abovo	Male	remaie	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
T	Jow diffic	ult do v	u find if	above to porfor	n this a	otivity by	voursolf9 (woightod	9/_)	
I	10w unne	un uo yo	ju illu i	Dronomo	ii tiiis a	oola	yoursen: (weighteu	70)	
n	365	46	02	227	28 28	277	261	65	37	2
Somewhat	26.9	36.1	39.2	19.3	31.8	25.4	237	38.2	47.3	0.0
difficult	20.7	50.1	57.2	17.5	51.0	23.4	23.1	50.2	т	0.0
Very difficult	19.0	19.2	16.7	19.8	33.1	14.6	18.3	22.2	12.9	100.0
Unable to	52.6	41.9	43.1	59.5	34.2	58.3	56.1	39.6	39.8	0.0
perform	02.0	11.9	13.1	09.0	31.2	20.5	2011	57.0	59.0	0.0
F		Leave th	e home t	o purchase	necessa	arv items (or medicat	ion	1	
n	577	70	169	338	162	415	387	118	70	2
Somewhat	41.9	53.7	54.3	32.1	47.3	39.8	39.1	47.5	59.7	0.0
difficult										
Very difficult	19.4	18.0	19.3	19.7	25.8	16.9	17.9	25.5	17.9	100.0
Unable to	37.8	26.1	26.4	47.1	27.0	42.0	41.9	26.2	22.4	0.0
perform										
	Take ca	re of fin	ancial m	atters sucl	n as pay	ing utilitie	es (electrici	ity, water	·)	
n	177	18	46	113	57	120	133	31	12	1
Somewhat	23.7	16.8	33.6	21.3	34.2	18.8	23.5	28.2	19.9	0.0
difficult										
Very difficult	26.5	22.9	38.5	22.6	29.7	25.1	25.8	29.6	37.0	0.0
Unable to	46.5	53.6	25.5	53.4	36.2	51.4	47.6	42.3	30.7	100.0
perform										
		1	1	Use t	he phon	e	1	1	1	1
n	260	17	71	172	83	177	189	49	20	2
Somewhat	41.0	56.7	47.0	35.8	37.8	42.6	40.6	50.3	24.1	55.6
difficult	10.2	10.0	14.4	01.4	22.2	12.0	10.2	7.0	20.4	
Very difficult	19.3	18.8	14.4	21.4	32.3	13.0	19.3	7.9	39.4	44.4
Unable to	37.9	18.2	38.5	41.0	29.9	41.7	37.9	41.9	36.5	0.0
perform		1	Deret als			~ 6 4 6				
	421	60	Just, cie	an-up and	other II	gnt nouse	200	70	41	2
n Somewhat	421	54.0	119	242	100	321	299	19	41	2
difficult	33.2	54.0	44.0	20.0	40.0	29.2	29.8	48.7	48.8	0.0
Very difficult	17.8	8.4	22.3	18.0	25.4	15.5	17.4	1/1.0	20.0	100.0
Unable to	47.8	35.5	33.2	59.8	23.4	53.9	51.5	36.5	30.2	0.0
perform	ч7.0	55.5	55.2	57.0	20.0	55.7	51.5	50.5	50.2	0.0
periorin			Takeı	oublic trar	snort te	leave hoi	ne	1	1	
n	667	70	201	396	208	459	439	144	82	2
Somewhat	40.8	50.8	51.2	32.9	48.0	37.6	39.1	45.0	50.8	0.0
difficult										
Very difficult	21.1	22.3	20.2	21.3	25.7	19.1	19.9	25.4	21.1	100.0
Unable to	37.3	25.0	28.3	45.0	26.3	42.1	40.1	29.1	28.1	0.0
perform										
_			Tal	ke medicat	ion as p	rescribed				
n	277	17	68	192	95	182	202	48	26	1
Somewhat	45.8	23.5	46.8	48.6	42.9	47.3	45.9	49.5	40.8	0.0
difficult										
Very difficult	21.6	19.6	23.4	21.2	31.5	16.2	22.0	16.8	17.6	100.0
Unable to	30.9	50.2	29.8	28.6	25.6	33.8	30.0	33.7	41.6	0.0
perform										

Appendix Table A4az IADL Limitation Status by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity – Part (ii)

Use the Internet for e-mail or for any other purpose, such as making purchases or travel reservations, communicating with relatives and friends, or searching for information										
n	401	130	132	139	238	163	289	83	28	1
Somewhat difficult	20.7	22.4	21.0	17.7	9.7	36.0	20.4	21.4	25.8	0.0
Very difficult	19.0	19.1	20.5	17.2	22.0	14.9	18.5	18.1	26.7	100.0
Unable to perform	58.7	56.2	58.5	62.7	68.3	45.3	59.4	58.9	47.5	0.0

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A4aaa IADL Limitation Status by Educational Level and Living Arrangement – Part (ii)

		Educatior	nal Level Comp	leted	Living Arrangement					
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*				
How diffi	cult do y	ou find it to p	erform this acti	ivity by yourself?	(weighted %)					
		Pr	epare own mea	ls						
n	223	81	40	14	332	32				
Somewhat difficult	25.1	29.5	35.2	28.2	26.4	32.8				
Very difficult	14.5	27.9	26.5	17.5	19.5	14.7				
Unable to perform	59.3	40.5	36.1	54.3	52.7	52.5				
	Leave the home to purchase necessary items or medication									
n	334	136	72	28	523	53				
Somewhat difficult	36.6	48.6	55.5	43.2	41.6	44.9				
Very difficult	17.1	26.0	18.5	19.4	19.2	21.5				
Unable to perform	45.5	24.2	25.9	37.4	38.3	33.7				
Take c	are of fir	nancial matter	s such as payin	g utilities (electri	city, water)					
n	105	40	21	9	159	17				
Somewhat difficult	19.6	26.9	41.1	16.9	24.2	20.2				
Very difficult	26.4	36.4	22.7	0.0	27.5	18.7				
Unable to perform	50.9	32.7	36.1	83.1	45.3	61.1				
			Use the phone		· · · ·					
n	160	59	24	10	248	11				
Somewhat difficult	40.2	45.5	43.2	24.1	40.7	53.4				
Very difficult	16.8	22.9	26.1	26.6	16.7	10.8				
Unable to perform	41.6	28.8	30.8	49.4	38.1	35.8				
		Dust, clean-u	p and other ligh	nt housework	· · · ·					
n	249	104	47	14	377	43				
Somewhat difficult	25.0	46.1	53.0	22.5	32.1	42.9				
Very difficult	17.2	18.7	17.3	28.2	17.9	17.4				
Unable to perform	56.9	33.6	29.7	49.4	48.9	39.7				
		Take publi	c transport to l	eave home	· · · ·					
n	394	161	80	25	605	61				
Somewhat difficult	36.5	48.5	55.0	24.5	40.8	41.3				
Very difficult	19.2	24.7	21.0	28.2	20.6	26.6				
Unable to perform	43.6	25.8	24.0	47.4	37.9	32.1				
1	1	Take me	edication as pre	scribed	11					
n	172	57	29	13	258	18				
Somewhat difficult	50.0	41.2	41.4	23.7	45.9	46.7				
Very difficult	18.0	31.7	28.4	15.0	21.9	17.0				
Unable to perform	30.8	24.2	30.3	61.3	30.7	36.3				
Use the Internet for e	-mail or	for any other	purpose, such a	as making purcha	ises or travel re	servations,				
comm	unicating	g with relative	s and friends, o	or searching for in	nformation					
n	202	126	57	14	366	32				
Somewhat difficult	22.9	17.0	21.6	24.1	20.2	26.6				
Very difficult	19.8	18.6	19.6	11.8	19.0	16.2				

Unable to perform	55.9	62.2	58.8	64.1	59.3	57.2
I juing alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)						

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A4aab	Requirement of Assistance/Device	e for IADL by Age Group and Ethnicity
		E41

			Age Group			Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
n	1091	214	357	520	746	219	123	3		
Human Assistance	46.4	45.7	43.6	49.0	47.7	39.6	44.5	63.8		
Device Assistance	8.5	5.3	9.4	9.9	8.5	9.6	6.8	0.0		
Both	19.9	9.7	16.7	28.7	18.5	26.1	23.5	36.3		
None	25.1	39.3	30.3	12.4	25.3	24.8	25.1	0.0		

Appendix Table A4aac Requirement of Assistance/Device for IADI	L by Education Level and Living
Arrangement	

		Educational	Level Compl	Living Arrangement		
	Non	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living
	e				Alone	Alone*
n	589	305	148	43	999	90
Human Assistance	47.9	44.1	44.6	50.9	46.7	44.5
Device Assistance	7.4	9.7	9.1	13.5	8.0	14.2
Both	21.5	15.2	23.6	19.5	19.8	22.5
None	23.3	31.0	22.8	16.0	25.5	18.8

Appendix Table A4aa	ad Limitation in Activitie	s Due to Health H	Problem by Age Group,	Gender and
Ethnicity				

		A	Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
				above							
Li	mited in	activitie	es due to	a health	problen	n in the pa	ist 6 month	s (weigh	ted %)		
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34	
Severely	4.3	1.4	3.6	15.0	3.4	5.1	4.1	5.8	5.1	1.5	
limited											
Limited but	14.8	7.9	17.1	32.9	12.5	16.8	13.0	24.3	22.8	20.7	
not severely											
Not limited	80.7	90.5	79.2	51.5	84.0	77.7	82.7	69.2	71.9	77.8	
at all											

Appendix Table A4aae Limitation in Activities Due to Health Problem by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Comple	eted	Living Arrangement							
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living						
					Alone	Alone*						
Limited	Limited in activities due to a health problem in the past 6 months (weighted %)											
n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407						
Severely limited	8.6	3.1	2.4	1.8	4.4	2.8						
Limited but not	22.5	14.7	10.1	9.0	14.6	17.2						
severely												
Not limited at all	68.6	81.9	87.2	89.2	80.7	79.8						

		Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
			Num	ber of tin	nes in the	past 3 mo	nths			
			Pr	ivate gene	eral pract	itioner (G	P)			
n	1379	618	460	301	644	735	1013	223	132	11
Mean	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.7	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.6	1.8	1.5
SD	1.1	1.2	1.0	1.1	1.2	1.1	1.1	1.4	1.4	1.1
				Docto	or at poly	clinic				
n	1963	788	701	474	944	1019	1422	305	218	18
Mean	1.3	1.2	1.4	1.3	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.3
SD	1.3	0.7	1.9	0.8	1.5	1.0	1.4	0.8	0.7	0.7
			Doc	tor at spe	cialist ou	t <mark>patient cl</mark> i	inic			
n	1126	458	380	288	543	583	830	135	151	10
Mean	1.7	1.7	1.9	1.4	1.7	1.7	1.7	1.9	1.6	1.4
SD	2.6	1.8	4.0	0.9	3.3	1.8	2.6	3.5	2.3	0.7
				Priv	ate speci	alist				
n	166	69	57	40	79	87	128	15	19	4
Mean	1.4	1.3	1.4	1.9	1.5	1.3	1.4	1.2	1.8	1.8
SD	1.5	0.9	1.3	2.7	1.5	1.5	1.4	0.4	2.8	1.1
			Trad	litional Cl	hinese Mo	edicine (T	CM)			
n	439	204	157	78	182	257	414	12	10	3
Mean	3.7	3.9	3.5	3.7	3.1	4.2	3.8	2.4	2.0	1.0
SD	4.9	5.4	4.1	4.5	4.7	5.0	5.0	2.7	2.6	0.0
			Num	ber of vis	its in the	past 6 mo	nths			
				Hospital	emergen	cy room				
n	415	148	132	135	186	229	278	79	55	3
Mean	1.3	1.3	1.2	1.5	1.4	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.0
SD	0.9	0.8	0.5	1.2	0.9	0.8	0.8	0.9	1.5	0.0
			Numb	er of nigl	nts in the	past 12 m	onths			
				Admittee	l to nursi	ng home				
n	25	6	8	11	14	11	20	3	2	0
Mean	25.6	21.7	37.6	20.0	27.9	22.0	27.8	12.6	13.4	0.0
SD	27.6	29.6	38.0	13.7	34.0	13.8	29.0	13.2	20.3	0.0
			Adm	itted to pu	ıblic or p	rivate hos	pital			
n	616	190	210	216	333	283	407	128	74	7
Mean	12.2	10.1	14.6	11.8	12.0	12.4	12.4	13.7	10.3	3.6
SD	22.1	19.6	27.6	16.5	22.2	22.0	22.7	23.6	16.6	2.0

Appendix Table A6a Healthcare Utilisation by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

	I	Educational Le	Living Ari	rangement		
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living
				_	Alone	Alone*
	N	umber of time	s in the past 3 i	months		
	120	Private gener	al practitioner	(GP)	10(1	110
n	430	414	387	148	1261	118
Mean	1.6	1.5	1.6	1.7	1.6	1.6
SD	1.1	1.2	1.0	1.3	1.1	1.0
	(27	Doctor	at polyclinic	104	1707	175
n	637	622	516	184	1/86	175
Mean	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.5	1.3	1.3
SD	1.3	0.7	1.4	2.0	1.3	0.9
	216	Doctor at speci	alist outpatient	clinic	1011	115
n	316	313	319	1/6	1011	115
Mean	1.6	1.7	1.8	1.6	1.6	2.2
SD	2.1	2.0	3.9	1.1	1.8	6.3
		Priva	te specialist	50	1.40	1.7
n	44	34	38	50	148	17
Mean	1.8	1.1	1.4	1.4	1.4	1.4
SD	2.5	0.3	1.0	1.3	1.6	0.7
	<u> </u>	raditional Chi	nese Medicine	(TCM)	• • • •	10
<u> </u>	138	134	114	53	390	49
Mean	3.7	4.0	3.4	3.9	3.7	3.9
SD	4.4	5.5	4.3	5.7	5.0	4.4
	N	umber of visit	s in the past 6 1	nonths		
		Hospital e	emergency roon	n		
n	415	148	122	99	43	376
Mean	1.3	1.4	1.3	1.2	1.4	1.3
SD	0.9	1.1	0.7	0.5	0.9	0.9
	N	umber of night	s in the past 12	months		
		Admitted	to nursing hom	e		
<u> </u>	10	8	6	1	23	2
Mean	14.7	22.3	30.4	75.0	25.8	22.3
SD	14.1	22.3	36.6	0.0	28.4	15.5
	А	dmitted to pub	olic or private h	ospital		
n	227	205	137	43	555	61
Mean	12.7	12.1	10.9	13.8	11.9	14.5
SD	20.1	22.7	19.3	32.7	21.7	25.1

Appendix Table A6b Healthcare Utilisation by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A6c Length of Last Admission to Public or Private Hospital by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		1	Age Grou	ıp	Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
	How long was your last admission to a public or private hospital?										
n	619	190	210	219	334	285	411	127	74	7	
Mean	8.7	7.2	10.3	8.8	8.1	9.4	9.1	8.3	7.8	3.3	
SD	16.1	14.8	19.6	12.6	15.0	17.3	17.3	12.0	12.9	1.7	

Appendix Table A6d Length of Last Admission to Public or Private Hospital by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Comple	Living Arrangement							
	None Primary		Secondary Tertiary		Not Living Alone	Living Alone*					
How long was your last admission to a public or private hospital?											
n	229	206	137	43	557	62					
Mean	8.4	9.0	9.4	6.9	8.3	11.9					
SD	12.3	18.0	19.0	13.4	15.2	22.6					

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Appendix Table A6e English Reading Ability by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		Age Group			Gen	der	Ethnicity					
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	India	Others		
				above					n			
	Are you able to read in English?											
n	2277	1020	754	503	1059	1218	1682	351	226	18		
Yes	47.2	60.4	38.4	20.9	55.9	39.6	42.6	61.9	77.0	94.3		
D (4 11	1000/		C(D C 1/D	1/ 1/ 1	. 1					

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A6f English Reading Ability by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educationa	l Level Complet	Living Arrangement							
	None	Primary	rimary Secondary Tertiary Not Living Alone								
	Are you able to read in English?										
n	684	709	623	257	2084	191					
Yes	6.4	34.8	79.8	90.3	47.0	49.4					

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A6g Chinese Reading Ability by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
Are you able to read in Chinese?										
n	2277	1020	754	503	1059	1218	1682	351	226	18
Yes	63.2	66.6	65.1	48.4	69.4	57.7	75.4	5.1	1.8	0.0

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A6h Chinese Reading Ability by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

			Educationa	l Level Comple	Living Arrangement						
	Total	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*				
	Are you able to read in Chinese?										
n	n 2277 684 709 623 257 2084 191										
Yes	63.2	53.5	74.3	59.8	64.6	63.2	64.1				

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A6i Malay Reading Ability by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
Are you able to read in Malay?										
n	2277	1020	754	503	1059	1218	1682	351	226	18
Yes	26.6	31.5	23.7	16.2	39.0	15.8	17.8	88.6	47.8	37.6
Darcont	age may	not add u	a = 100%	as respons	or of 'Pafi		now' are not	shown		

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

			Educationa	l Level Compl	Living Arrangement						
	Total	Non e	Primary	Secondary Tertiary Not Liv		Not Living Alone	Living Alone*				
	Are you able to read in Malay?										
n	2277	684	709	623	257	2084	191				
Yes	26.6	14.2	27.4	36.7	28.0	27.2	20.3				

Appendix Table A6j Malay Reading Ability by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A6k Tamil Reading Ability by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others	
	Are you able to read in Tamil?										
n	2277	1020	754	503	1059	1218	1682	351	226	18	
Yes	3.7	3.6	3.8	3.5	4.1	3.2	0.2	0.7	56.3	0.0	

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A6I Tamil Reading Ability by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

			Educationa	l Level Compl	Living Arrangement			
	Total	Non	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*	
		e						
				Are you able	to read in Ta	amil?		
n	2277	684	709	623	257	2084	191	
Yes	3.7	1.8	4.3	4.5	4.0	3.9	1.5	

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A6m Reading Ability in Other Languages by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

		1	Age Grou	ıp	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
Are you able to read in any other language?										
n	2277	1020	754	503	1059	1218	1682	351	226	18
Yes	1.4	1.5	1.3	1.5	2.3	0.7	0.5	2.1	6.6	31.4

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A6n Reading Ability in Other Languages by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

			Educationa	l Level Compl	Living Arrangement						
	Total	Non	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*				
	Are you able to read in any other language?										
n	2277	684	709	623	257	2084	191				
Yes	1.4	0.1	0.4	1.2	7.4	1.5	0.9				

Appendix Table A7A. Distribution of older person characteristics, and their association with number of primary care (general practitioner and polyclinic) outpatient visits in the last 3 months: Results of the unadjusted two-part models

Characteristics	%	Two-part model for number of prin		mary care visits	
		Logit	Negative binomial	Overall	
Ν	1880	1880	1159	1880	
		Coef	ficients	Marginal Effects (number of visits versus reference group)	
Age group					
60-69 years	49.89		Reference		
70-79 years	34.20	0.27*	0.01	0.12	
>=80 years	15.90	0.25	0.02	0.12	
Gender					
Male	50.53		Reference		
Female	49.47	0.01	-0.11	-0.11	
Ethnicity					
Chinese	74.47		Reference		
Malay	14.95	0.03	0.07	0.09	
Indian	9.79	0.12	0.01	0.06	
Others	0.80	0.24	-0.19	-0.10	
Education					
No formal education	24.95		Reference		
Primary	31.33	-0.11	-0.06	-0.10	
Secondary/ITE/Vocational	31.33	-0.20	-0.01	-0.09	
Above Secondary	12.39	-0.23	0.08	-0.01	
Housing Type					
HDB 1-2 rooms	8.24	-0.11	-0.16	-0.20	
HDB 3 room	24.20		Reference		
HDB 4 rooms	34.73	-0.07	-0.03	-0.06	
HDB 5 room and above/HUDC/Executive	23.88	-0.21	-0.01	-0.09	
Private and others	8.94	-0.38*	-0.12	-0.27	
Living arrangement					
Living alone or with FDW/maid	9.68	0.07	-0.07	-0.05	
With spouse only	23.67	0.25*	-0.07	0.03	
With child only	16.60	0.39**	-0.01	0.15	
With child and spouse	44.31		Reference		
With others only	5.74	0.28	0.08	0.21	
ADL limitations					
0	94.57		Reference		
1	2.18	0.81*	0.09	0.41	
2	1.01	0.08	0.25	0.34	
3 or more	2.23	0.03	0.33	0.42	
Number of chronic health conditions					
0 condition	18.09		Reference		
1 condition	21.76	1.11***	-0.10	0.39**	
2 conditions	21.97	1.48***	-0.11	0.52***	
3 or more conditions	38.19	1.58***	-0.06	0.61***	
Employment status					
Working full-time	23.46		Reference		

Working part-time	12.07	0.10	-0.05	-0.01
Retired and/or not	57.02	0.10	-0.03	-0.01
working	57.02	0.11	-0.07	-0.05
Never worked	7 45	-0.12	-0.06	-0.11
Income adequacy	7.10	0.12	0.00	0.11
Enough money with some	82.34		Reference	
left over/ Just enough	02.0			
money, no difficulty				
Some difficulty to meet	17.66	-0.06	0.16	0.15
expenses/ Much difficulty				
to meet expenses				
Private Health Insurance				
No	69.20		Reference	
Yes	30.80	-0.01	0.05	0.05
Health benefits from				
current or previous				
employer				
No	78.72		Reference	1
Yes	21.28	0.05	0.13	0.16
Clinically significant				
depressive symptoms				
No	88.24		Reference	1
Yes	11.76	0.33*	0.25*	0.44**
Loneliness				
Not lonely	64.36		Reference	
Sometimes lonely	22.50	0.15	0.16	0.23*
Mostly lonely	13.14	0.07	0.26*	0.32*
Social network				
Lowest tertile	33.09		Reference	
Middle tertile	32.02	0.04	-0.04	-0.02
Highest tertile	34.89	0.03	-0.02	-0.01
Personal mastery				
Lowest tertile	45.05		Reference	
Middle tertile	40.53	-0.15	-0.03	-0.09
Highest tertile	14.41	-0.60***	-0.03	-0.28*
Number of Tertiary	Mean=0.46	0.13**	0.10**	0.16***
outpatient visits				
Cognition score	Mean=	-0.002	-0.05	-0.05
	9.33			

*<0.05; **<0.01 ***<0.001

Appendix Table A7B. Distribution of older person characteristics, and their association with number of tertiary care (specialist outpatient clinic and private specialist) outpatient visits in the last 3 months: Results of the unadjusted two-part models

Characteristics	%	Two-part model for number of tertiary care outpatient visits					
		Logit	Negative binomial	Overall			
		Coet	fficients	Marginal Effects (number of visits versus reference group)			
N	1880	1880	510	1880			
Age group							
60-69 years	49.89		Reference				
70-79 years	34.20	0.13	0.10	0.09			
>=80 years	15.90	0.40**	-0.07	0.10			
Gender							
Male	50.53		Reference				
Female	49.47	-0.10	-0.05	-0.06			
Ethnicity							
Chinese	74.47	0.414	Reference	0.10			
Malay	14.95	-0.41*	0.06	-0.10			
Indian	9.79	0.26	-0.04	0.07			
Others	0.80	0.27	-0.06	0.06			
Education							
No formal education	24.95		Reference	0.00			
Primary	31.33	0.11	-0.15	-0.02			
Secondary/ITE/Vocational	31.33	0.32*	-0.16	0.03			
Above Secondary	12.39	0.85***	-0.09	0.27*			
Housing Type							
HDB 1-2 rooms	8.24	-0.24	-0.01	-0.07			
HDB 3 room	24.20		Reference				
HDB 4 rooms	34.73	-0.01	0.13	0.05			
HDB 5 room and	23.88	0.12	0.03	0.05			
above/HUDC/Executive	8.04	0.76***	0.17	0.20**			
Filvate and others	0.94	0.70***	0.17	0.39**			
Living along or with	0.68	0.40*	0.02	0.12			
EDW/maid	9.08	0.40*	-0.02	0.15			
With spouse only	23.67	0.13	0.07	0.08			
With child only	16.60	-0.12	-0.03	-0.05			
With child and spouse	44.31		Reference				
With others only	5.74	0.60*	-0.05	-0.18			
ADL limitations							
0	94.57		Reference				
1	2.18	0.02	0.72*	0.47			
2	1.01	0.92*	0.02	0.36			
3 or more	2.23	0.83**	0.43	0.71			
Number of chronic health							
conditions							
0 condition	18.09		Reference				
1 condition	21.76	0.62**	0.09	0.18*			
2 conditions	21.97	0.55**	-0.01	0.12			
3 or more conditions	38.19	1.43***	0.10	0.48***			
Employment status							

Working full-time	23.46		Reference			
Working part-time	12.07	-0.37	0.17	-0.04		
Retired and/or not working	57.02	0.21	0.12	0.12		
Never worked	7.45	-0.25	0.07	-0.04		
Income adequacy						
Enough money, with some left over/ Just enough money, no difficulty	82.34	Reference				
Some difficulty to meet expenses/ Much difficulty to meet expenses	17.66	0.20	0.17	0.16		
Private Insurance						
No	69.20		Reference			
Yes	30.80	-0.19	-0.07	-0.09		
Health benefits from current or						
previous employer						
No	78.72		Reference			
Yes	21.28	0.23	-0.02	0.07		
Clinically significant depressive						
symptoms						
No	88.24		Reference			
Yes	11.76	0.27	0.18	0.20		
Loneliness						
Not lonely	64.36		Reference			
Sometimes lonely	22.50	-0.10	0.02	-0.02		
Mostly lonely	13.14	-0.25	0.23	0.02		
Social network						
Lowest tertile	33.09		Reference			
Middle tertile	32.02	-0.02	0.05	0.01		
Highest tertile	34.89	0.13	0.03	0.06		
Personal mastery						
Lowest tertile	45.05		Reference			
Middle tertile	40.53	-0.35**	-0.06	-0.15*		
Highest tertile	14.41	-0.60***	-0.20	-0.27**		
Number of primary care visits	Mean=1.05	0.23***	0.04	0.09***		
Cognition score	Mean= 9.33	0.12*	-0.004	0.04		

*<0.05; **<0.01 ***<0.001

Appendix Table A7C. Distribution of older person characteristics, unadjusted and adjusted odd
ratio for Emergency Room visits during the last six months (N=1879)

Characteristics	%	Unadjusted OR	Adjusted OR
Age group			
60-69 years	49.87	Refere	nce
70-79 years	34.22	1.44*	1.17
>=80 years	15.91	1.39	1.14
Gender			
Male	50.56	Reference	
Female	49.44	1.00	1.21
Ethnicity			
Chinese	74.45	Reference	
Malay	14.95	1.69*	1.64*
Indian	9.79	1.91**	1.68
Others	0.80	0.91	0.78
Education			
No formal education	24.96	Reference	
Primary	31.35	1.02	1.20
Secondary/ITE/Vocational	31.35	0.93	1.11
Above Secondary	12.35	1.12	1.31
Housing Type			
HDB 1-2 rooms	8.25	0.75	0.79
HDB 3 room	24.22	Refere	nce
HDB 4 rooms	34.75	0.74	0.76
HDB 5 room and above/HUDC/Executive	23.84	0.80	0.87
Private and others	8.94	0.87	0.83
Living arrangement			
Living alone or with FDW/maid	9.69	1.23	1.05
With spouse only	23.68	1.11	0.96
With child only	16.55	1.25	1.05
With child and spouse	44.33	Reference	
With others only	5.75	0.32	0.29*
ADL limitations			
0	94.57	Reference	
1	2.18	3.00**	1.89
2	1.01	4.41**	3.49*
3 or more	2.24	6.18***	3.13**
Number of chronic health conditions			
0 condition	18.09	Reference	
1 condition	21.77	1.53	1.22
2 conditions	21.98	1.58	1.32
3 or more conditions	38.16	3.11***	1.72
Employment status			
Working full-time	23.47	Reference	
Working part-time	12.08	1.08	1.15
Retired and/or not working	57.00	1.54*	1.24
Never worked	7.45	1.09	0.85
Income adequacy			
Enough money, with some left over/ Just enough money, no difficulty	82.38	Reference	
Some difficulty to meet expenses/ Much difficulty to meet expenses	17.62	1.96***	1.34
Private Insurance			
No	69.24	Reference	
Yes	30.76	0.58**	0.74
--------------------------------------------	-----------	---------	---------
Health benefits from current or previous			
employer			
No	78.71	Referen	nce
Yes	21.29	1.08	1.29
Clinically significant depressive symptoms			
No	88.29	Referen	nce
Yes	11.71	2.13***	1.38
Loneliness			
Not lonely	64.40	Referen	nce
Sometimes lonely	22.51	1.12	0.85
Mostly lonely	13.09	0.97	0.48*
Social network			
Lowest tertile	33.10	Refere	nce
Middle tertile	32.04	0.78	0.79
Highest tertile	34.86	0.79	0.83
Personal mastery			
Lowest tertile	45.02	Referen	nce
Middle tertile	40.55	0.51***	0.66*
Highest tertile	14.42	0.32***	0.47*
Number of primary care visits	Mean=1.05	1.24***	1.17**
Number of tertiary care visits	Mean=0.46	1.50***	1.38***
Cognition score	Mean=9.33	0.94	1.09

*<0.05; **<0.01 ***<0.001

Characteristics	%	Unadjusted	Adjusted
		OR	OR
Age group			
60-69 years	49.97	Refer	ence
70-79 years	34.12	1.54**	1.16
>=80 years	15.91	2.07***	1.29
Gender			
Male	50.61	Refer	ence
Female	49.39	0.58***	0.49***
Ethnicity			
Chinese	74.48	Refer	ence
Malay	14.95	2.08***	2.02***
Indian	9.77	1.23	1.02
Others	0.80	0.56	0.52
Education			
No formal education	24.93	Refer	rence
Primary	31.29	1.16	1.20
Secondary/ITE/Vocational	31.39	0.73	0.75
Above Secondary	12.39	0.60	0.58
Housing Type			
HDB 1-2 rooms	8.17	1.35	1.31
HDB 3 room	24.24	Refer	ence
HDB 4 rooms	34.76	0.77	0.92
HDB 5 room and above/HUDC/Executive	23.87	0.78	1.19
Private and others	8.97	0.69	1.12
Living arrangement			
Living alone or with FDW/maid	9.61	1.72*	2.02*
With spouse only	23.71	1.20	1.06
With child only	16.60	1.30	1.27
With child and spouse	44.37	Refer	ence
With others only	5.71	0.79	0.88
ADL limitations			
0	94.55	Refer	ence
1	2.19	2.10	1.45
2	1.01	5.44***	4.62**
3 or more	2.24	5.61***	3.40**
Number of chronic health conditions	-		
0 condition	18.10	Refer	ence
1 condition	21.84	1.27	1.05
2 conditions	21.89	1.74*	1.62
3 or more conditions	38.17	3 08***	2 12**
Employment status	00117	2.00	
Working full-time	23 49	Refer	ence
Working part-time	12.12	0.66	0.66
Retired and/or not working	56.91	1 50*	1.02
Never worked	7 47	0.91	0.71
Income adequacy	1.71	0.71	0.71
Enough money with some left over/Just enough 82.38 Defers		rence	
money, no difficulty	02.50		
Some difficulty to meet expenses/ Much difficulty to	17.62	1.92***	1.36
meet expenses			
Private Insurance			

Appendix Table A7D. Distribution of older person characteristics, unadjusted and adjusted odds ratio for hospital admission during the last one year (N=1873)

No	69.19	Refer	ence
Yes	30.81	0.55***	0.82
Health benefits from current or previous employer			
No	78.70	Refer	ence
Yes	21.30	0.89	0.96
Clinically significant depressive symptoms			
No	88.20	Refer	ence
Yes	11.80	1.63*	0.98
Loneliness			
Not lonely	64.39	Refer	ence
Sometimes lonely	22.42	1.11	0.88
Mostly lonely	13.19	1.11	0.65
Social network			
Lowest tertile	33.16	Refer	ence
Middle tertile	31.93	0.89	1.01
Highest tertile	34.92	0.71*	0.87
Personal mastery			
Lowest tertile	45.11	Refer	ence
Middle tertile	40.47	0.65**	0.92
Highest tertile	14.42	0.31***	0.45**
Number of primary care visits	Mean=1.05	1.20***	1.10*
Number of tertiary care visits	Mean=0.46	1.54***	1.45***
Cognition score	Mean=9.33	0.93	1.04

*<0.05; **<0.01 ***<0.001

			Age Gro	up	Ge	ender	Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
<u> </u>	2040	987	698	355	992	1048	1524	304	197	15
	Α	ttendand	e of relig	ious servio	ces in th	e last year	(weighted	%)	1	1
More than once a week	7.4	7.9	7.5	4.8	5.8	8.9	5.2	17.6	18.9	21.8
Once a week	17.9	18.4	16.5	19.4	16.3	19.4	15.0	36.9	27.0	30.4
Two or three times a month	13.7	15.4	12.1	10.2	15.4	12.2	14.1	7.3	17.7	15.6
One or more times a year	33.9	35.1	34.5	26.5	35.1	32.8	37.0	14.4	22.5	23.5
Not at all	26.6	23.0	28.9	37.7	26.8	26.4	28.2	23.4	13.4	8.7
			Praving	in private	places (weighted	%)			
More than once a day	28.4	28.1	29.4	26.9	31.0	25.9	21.1	77.0	54.1	41.6
Once a day	22.9	24.4	20.1	22.9	26.0	19.9	24.1	5.2	26.4	49.8
More than once a week	3.9	3.7	3.8	5.1	2.9	4.9	4.0	3.8	4.9	0.0
Two or three times a month	4.8	4.6	5.0	4.9	4.2	5.3	5.1	2.7	4.7	0.0
One or more times a year	7.5	7.2	7.8	8.4	5.3	9.6	8.1	3.8	4.3	8.6
Not at all	32.4	32.0	33.7	31.2	30.5	34.2	37.6	7.3	5.6	0.0
			Impor	tance of re	ligion (v	veighted %	6)			
Very important	45.3	44.3	45.7	48.9	42.1	48.2	36.6	94.0	85.7	75.2
Somewhat important	40.1	42.5	36.6	37.6	40.0	40.1	46.1	5.7	12.0	24.8
Not at all important	12.4	11.1	15.7	10.2	16.2	8.9	14.7	0.3	1.5	0.0

Appendix Table A8a Attendance of Religious Services, Praying in Private Places and Importance of Religion in Life by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

		Educationa	al Level Compl	eted	Living Arra	rangement	
	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living	
					Alone	Alone*	
n	545	635	617	241	1834	202	
	Attendan	ce of religious	s services in the	e last year (weig	hted %)		
More than once	4.0	5.6	10.7	10.1	7.3	8.4	
a week							
Once a week	13.0	14.4	22.5	24.6	17.9	18.0	
Two or three	14.0	15.5	13.5	9.2	14.3	8.8	
times a month							
One or more	36.1	40.5	28.3	27.6	34.7	26.7	
times a year							
Not at all	31.8	23.8	24.5	28.6	25.3	38.2	
		Praying in I	Private Places (weighted %)			
More than once	19.1	32.2	31.2	30.2	28.2	30.4	
a day							
Once a day	22.0	22.4	25.5	19.2	23.4	18.4	
More than once	3.6	3.7	4.0	5.1	4.0	3.4	
a week							
Two or three	6.0	4.0	4.6	5.1	5.1	2.2	
times a month							
One or more	9.5	7.2	6.6	6.5	7.6	7.1	
times a year							
Not at all	39.8	30.4	28.1	33.9	31.7	38.6	
		Importanc	e of Religion (v	veighted %)			
Very important	36.4	47.3	49.8	46.4	44.8	50.8	
Somewhat	51.0	40.4	34.6	31.9	41.2	30.2	
important							
Not at all	9.4	10.4	13.6	20.2	11.8	17.7	
important							

Appendix Table A8b Attendance of Religious Services, Praying in Private Places and Importance	e
of Religion in Life by Educational Level and Living Arrangement	

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

		A	Age Group	0	Ge	nder		Ethn	icity				
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others			
				above									
	Current Engaged Occupation (weighted %)												
n	1451	1075	330	46	899	552	1087	200	152	12			
Professionals	7.9	7.6	8.9	7.9	9.6	5.3	7.9	3.1	10.1	26.8			
Administrative	8.6	9.7	4.9	4.4	9.2	7.7	8.4	6.8	10.8	23.7			
& managerial													
Associate	10.1	10.9	7.7	2.2	14.7	3.0	9.7	12.7	12.9	6.9			
professionals													
& technicians													
Clerical	4.2	4.3	3.9	0.0	1.1	8.9	4.5	1.7	1.3	10.1			
workers													
Sales &	16.4	17.0	14.7	10.1	12.8	21.8	17.2	8.3	15.6	17.1			
services													
Production &	3.3	3.6	2.4	0.0	1.5	5.9	3.3	5.3	0.9	0.0			
related													
Cleaners &	19.4	16.3	29.5	31.7	13.6	28.1	19.0	29.6	16.3	0.0			
labourers													
Others	30.1	30.5	27.7	43.7	37.4	19.1	30.0	32.5	32.1	15.4			

Appendix Table A12a Current Engaged Occupation by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix	Table	A12b	Current	Engaged	Occupation	by	Educational	Level	and	Living
Arrangem	ent									

		Educationa	al Level Compl	eted	Living Arrangement		
	No	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*	
	С	urrent Enga	ged Occupation	n (weighted %)			
n	246	461	528	216	1346	102	
Professionals	0.0	2.8	5.6	31.8	7.8	9.4	
Administrative & managerial	0.9	1.7	13.1	20.1	9.0	3.8	
Associate professionals & technicians	4.4	9.1	13.9	9.2	10.5	4.8	
Clerical workers	0.7	1.1	8.4	4.3	3.9	7.1	
Sales & services	18.0	21.3	15.1	8.0	16.1	20.0	
Production & related	5.8	4.1	2.9	0.0	3.4	1.4	
Cleaners & labourers	49.1	26.3	7.6	1.3	18.6	29.4	
Others	21.1	33.6	33.6	24.8	30.7	24.0	

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%)

Appendices



Appendix Figure A12c Employment Seeking among Retired/Not Working

*Asked only to participants who are retired and/or not working





*Asked only to participants who are retired and/or not working and seeking employment during the last four weeks Percentages exceed 100% as multiple responses were allowed.



Appendix Figure A12e Reasons for Not Seeking Employment among Retired/Not Working

*Asked only to participants who are retired/not working and <u>not</u> seeking employment during the last four weeks Percentages exceed 100% as multiple responses were allowed.

		A	Age Group)	Gei	nder		Ethr	nicity	
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
Longest Engaged Occupation (weighted %)										
n	4078	1944	1342	792	2108	1970	3053	610	384	31
Professionals	8.9	8.5	10.6	7.0	12.3	5.4	9.0	4.2	11.5	21.8
Administrative &	7.5	9.1	5.9	4.5	9.2	5.9	7.8	4.1	7.9	10.0
managerial										
Associate	10.8	12.1	9.1	9.1	18.8	2.5	10.3	12.7	13.7	18.3
professionals &										
technicians										
Clerical workers	4.5	5.0	4.0	3.8	1.3	7.9	4.4	4.6	3.8	13.7
Sales & services	13.3	13.9	13.4	10.3	9.8	16.8	14.4	7.3	9.2	2.9
Production & related	11.7	13.7	9.1	9.3	3.6	20.0	11.4	16.4	11.3	0.0
Cleaners &	12.4	9.0	14.8	21.3	6.8	18.2	11.4	20.4	15.8	9.4
labourers										
Homemaker	0.7	0.5	0.8	1.3	0.0	1.4	0.6	0.5	0.8	4.0
Others	29.3	27.6	31.6	31.7	37.9	20.5	29.9	28.5	25.6	19.8

Appendix	Table A12f Lo	ngest Engaged	l Occupation b	v Age Group.	Gender and Ethni	icitv
				J		

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

		Educationa	eted	Living Arrangement		
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living Alone	Living Alone*
	Ι	Longest Engag	ged Occupation	(weighted %)		
n	1083	1279	1211	498	3712	360
Professionals	0.5	2.9	9.2	37.2	8.9	9.5
Administrative & managerial	0.8	2.1	12.6	20.7	7.7	6.2
Associate professionals & technicians	5.7	12.7	14.2	7.7	11.0	8.3
Clerical workers	0.8	1.7	10.9	3.5	4.2	7.3
Sales & services	14.3	16.1	13.5	4.3	13.3	12.7
Production & related	16.9	16.3	7.4	1.4	11.9	9.3
Cleaners & labourers	31.4	12.9	2.5	0.1	12.2	15.0
Homemaker	1.1	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.7	1.1
Others	27.6	34.0	28.5	23.9	29.3	29.5

Appendix Table A12g Longest Engaged Occupation by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Figure A12h Never Worked







*Asked only to participants who indicated they have never worked, or responded 'Don't Know/Refused' to current work status.

Percentages exceed 100% as multiple responses were allowed.

Appendix Table Aroa Donation of Money by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity												
			Age Gro	up	Gender		Ethnicity					
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 & above	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others		
Donated money to any groups, clubs or organizations in the last 12 months (weighted %)												
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	708	449	34		
Yes	47.9	55.1	44.6	30.5	50.3	45.8	45.8	58.0	54.0	73.4		

Appendix Table A16a Donation of Money by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A16b Donation of Money by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

			Educationa	Living Arrangement						
		None	Primary	Secondary Tertiary		Not Living Alone	Living Alone*			
Donated money to any groups, clubs or organizations in the last 12 months (weighted %)										
	n	1390	1385	1262	503	4136	407			
Yes		29.5	44.4	58.8	71.5	48.1	46.4			

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

		Age Group			Gender		Ethnicity			
	Total	60-69	70-79	80 &	Male	Female	Chinese	Malay	Indian	Others
				above						
Monetary donation to groups, clubs, or organizations in the past 12 months (weighted %)										
n	4549	2020	1501	1028	2117	2432	3358	692	431	68
At least	7.0	7.6	6.7	5.4	8.2	5.9	5.3	16.1	7.3	36.1
once a week										
Less than	10.0	12.7	7.7	5.7	10.1	9.9	9.2	12.8	15.5	15.7
once a										
week but										
a least										
once a										
month										
Less than	17.9	20.3	17.9	9.8	16.4	19.1	18.5	13.9	16.5	12.1
once a										
month										
One-off	12.9	14.3	12.2	9.6	15.5	10.6	12.8	14.2	13.6	10.2
None	51.7	44.6	55.0	68.4	49.4	53.7	53.7	42.1	46.2	26.0

Appendix Table A16c Frequency of Donation of Money by Age Group, Gender and Ethnicity

Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown.

Appendix Table A16d Frequency of Donation of Money by Educational Level and Living Arrangement

		Educational Lo	Living Arrangement					
	None	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Not Living	Living		
			-	-	Alone	Alone*		
Monetary donation to groups, clubs, or organizations in the past 12 months (weighted %)								
n	n 1390 1385 1157 608 4136 40°							
At least once a week	2.6	4.7	11.7	11.2	7.0	6.4		
Less than once a week	4.5	7.4	14.8	17.0	10.2	8.2		
but a least once a month								
Less than once a month	13.6	19.2	17.8	23.1	17.8	19.1		
One-off	8.6	13.1	14.3	18.1	13.0	12.7		
None	69.8	55.4	40.8	30.1	51.4	53.6		

*Living alone includes those who live alone only (80%) or with only a foreign domestic worker/maid (20%) Percentages may not add up to 100% as responses of 'Refused/Don't Know' are not shown. We summarise the key findings from the Transitions in Health, Employment, Social Engagement and Inter-generational Transfers in Singapore Study (THE SIGNS Study) - I, a nationally-representative survey on transitions in health, employment and social lives of 4549 community-dwelling older Singaporeans, aged 60 years and above. THE SIGNS Study – I was conducted in 2016-2017 by the Centre for Ageing Research and Education (CARE), Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore.

> **Centre for Ageing Research and Education Duke-NUS Medical School** 8 College Road, Singapore 169857 care@duke-nus.edu.sg www.duke-nus.edu.sg/care





Centre for Ageing Research & Education